
Please contact Paul Mountford, Executive Democratic Services Officer
Tel:  01270 686472
E-Mail: paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 

Cabinet
Agenda

Date: Tuesday, 10th March, 2020
Time: 1.00 pm
Venue: Committee Suite 1, 2 & 3, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 

Sandbach CW11 1HZ

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. Part 
2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons indicated on 
the agenda and in the report.

It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision-making meetings are 
audio recorded and the recordings are uploaded to the Council’s website.

PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda.

3. Public Speaking Time/Open Session  

In accordance with paragraph 3.33 of the Cabinet Procedure Rules, a period of 10 
minutes is allocated for members of the public to address the meeting on any matter 
relevant to the work of the Cabinet. Individual members of the public may speak for 
up to two minutes.  The Chairman or person presiding will have discretion to vary this 
requirement where he/she considers it appropriate. Members of the public are not 
required to give notice to use this facility. However, as a matter of courtesy, a period 
of 24 hours’ notice is encouraged.

Members of the public wishing to ask a question at the meeting should provide at 
least three clear working days’ notice in writing and should include the question with 
that notice. This will enable an informed answer to be given.

Public Document Pack

mailto:paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk


4. Questions to Cabinet Members  

A period of 20 minutes is allocated for questions to be put to Cabinet Members by 
members of the Council. A maximum period of two minutes will be allowed for each 
member wishing to ask a question.  The Leader will have discretion to vary this 
requirement where he considers it appropriate.  Notice of questions need not be given 
in advance of the meeting. Questions must relate to the powers, duties or 
responsibilities of the Cabinet. Questions put to Cabinet Members must relate to their 
portfolio responsibilities.

Where a question relates to a matter which appears on the agenda, the Leader may 
allow the question to be asked at the beginning of consideration of that item.

5. Minutes of Previous Meeting  (Pages 5 - 12)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 4th February 2020.

6. Notice of Motion - Council Tax Protocol  (Pages 13 - 26)

To consider a report in response to a Notice of Motion on the adoption of the Council 
Tax Protocol.

7. Crewe Hub Station Update  (Pages 27 - 88)

To consider a report on the Crewe Hub Station.

8. Crewe Hub Area Action Plan Report - Publication Draft Plan  (Pages 89 - 272)

To consider a report on the draft Crewe Hub Area Action Plan.

9. Department for Transport funded Safer Road Fund Schemes  (Pages 273 - 280)

To consider a report on the delivery of three Safer Road Fund Schemes in Cheshire 
East.

10. Municipal Waste Management Strategy Review  (Pages 281 - 336)

To consider a report on a revised draft Municipal Waste Management Strategy.

11. Re-procurement of Low Value Construction Services Framework 2021-2025  
(Pages 337 - 350)

To consider a report on the establishment of a Framework Agreement to commission 
low value construction services.



12. Exclusion of the Press and Public  

The report or a part thereof relating to the remaining item on the agenda has been 
withheld from public circulation and deposit pursuant to Section 100(B)(2) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that the matter may be determined with the 
press and public excluded. 
 
The Cabinet may decide that the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of the item pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
and the public interest would not be served in publishing the information.

PART 2 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITHOUT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 
PRESENT

13. Alliance Environmental Services Ltd - Final Phase  (Pages 351 - 402)

To consider a report on Alliance Environmental Services Ltd – Final Phase.

Membership:  Councillors C Browne (Vice-Chairman), S Corcoran (Chairman), L Crane, 
K Flavell, T Fox, L Jeuda, N Mannion, J Rhodes, A Stott and M Warren



This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet 
held on Tuesday, 4th February, 2020 at Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, 

Middlewich Road, Sandbach CW11 1HZ

PRESENT

Councillor S Corcoran (Chairman)
Councillor C Browne (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors K Flavell, T Fox, L Jeuda, N Mannion, J Rhodes, A Stott and 
M Warren

Councillors in attendance
Councillors Q Abel, S Akers Smith, R Bailey, J Barber, M Benson, C Bulman, 
J Clowes, L Crane, B Evans, J P Findlow, S Hogben, S Holland, M Simon, 
D Stockton, R Vernon and L Wardlaw

Officers in Attendance
Kath O’Dwyer, Acting Chief Executive
Frank Jordan, Executive Director Place 
Mark Palethorpe, Executive Director People
Jane Burns, Executive Director Corporate Services 
Jan Bakewell, Director of Governance and Compliance 
Alex Thompson, Director of Finance and Customer Services
Paul Mountford, Executive Democratic Services Officer

The Chairman referred to Councillor Brian Roberts who had sadly passed 
away on Sunday. Councillor Roberts had served as Portfolio Holder for 
Highways and Waste on the Cabinet. All stood for a minute’s silence as a 
mark of respect.

The Chairman announced that Councillor Laura Crane had been appointed as 
Deputy Cabinet Member for Highways and Waste to support that Portfolio. A 
Deputy Cabinet Member could not take decisions and therefore, for the time 
being, decisions relating to Highways would be taken by the Deputy Leader 
and decisions relating to Waste would be taken by the Portfolio Holder for 
Public Health and Corporate Services. 

98 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

In the interests of openness and transparency, the following non-pecuniary 
interests were declared in relation to items later on the agenda:

Councillor S Corcoran declared an interest as a governor of St Gabriel’s 
Catholic Primary School, Alsager.

Councillor M Warren declared an interest as a governor of Puss Bank 
School, Macclesfield.

Page 5 Agenda Item 5



Councillor L Jeuda declared an interest as a governor of Ash Grove 
Academy, Macclesfield.

Councillor J Rhodes declared an interest as a governor of Vine Tree 
Primary School, Crewe.

Councillor N Mannion declared an interest as a governor of Broken Cross 
Primary Academy and Nursery, Macclesfield.

99 PUBLIC SPEAKING TIME/OPEN SESSION 

Jane Smith asked if the Council would commit to providing two to four 
‘toad crossing’ signs in the Smallwood area.

The Leader undertook to provide a written response.

Sue Helliwell referred to the latest housing figures in the Local Plan for 
Alsager and asked how many had been built or had received planning 
permission.

The Portfolio Holder for Planning replied that as at 31st March 2019, 567 
dwellings had been completed and a further 1,453 had received planning 
permission. Allocated sites without planning permission comprised a 
further 178 dwellings. The total housing supply in Alsager was therefore 
2,198 dwellings. 

Stacey Rowley, on behalf of Bridgemere CE Primary School and Calveley 
Primary Academy, expressed concern about the decision by the Council to 
take the roads close to the schools off the gritting route and said that the 
schools had not been consulted.

Amanda Edwards, headteacher at Whirley Primary School, Macclesfield 
expressed concern that Whirley Road was to be taken off the Council’s 
gritting route and said that there had been no consultation with the school.

Richard Slater, Henbury Parish Council, also expressed concern at the 
decision regarding Whirley Road and asked if the Council had looked at 
the physical characteristics of the location. 

The Deputy Leader responded that the issue of gritting and road 
maintenance would be considered in detail later in the meeting when a 
report on the revised road maintenance policy was considered. He added 
that a detailed assessment had been carried out and he would be making 
the figures public after the meeting.

At the request of the Deputy Leader, a highways officer advised that local 
safety inspectors and highways officers who were familiar with the 
topography and safety issues in each area had been consulted. The 
provision of grit bins could be considered based on a risk assessment.

Page 6



100 QUESTIONS TO CABINET MEMBERS 

Councillor R Vernon commented that 500 residents had signed a petition 
asking for the decision to take Whirley Road, Macclesfield off the gritting 
route to be reconsidered. He added that Whirley Road hosted the No. 19 
bus route linking Prestbury and Greenside Estate to Macclesfield town 
centre and that a number of on-call firefighters lived on Greenside Estate 
and relied on the winter gritting service to turn out.

The Deputy Leader gave a commitment that a Member Panel would be 
established to review the implementation of the policy.

101 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 14th January 2020 be approved as 
a correct record.

102 THIRD QUARTER REVIEW (FINANCE) 2019/20 

Cabinet considered a report on the Third Quarter Review (Finance) 
2019/20. 

The report had been considered by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at its meeting on 3rd February 2020. Councillor J Clowes, 
Chairman of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, presented 
the Committee’s comments on the report to Cabinet. 

The Leader of the Council congratulated the Portfolio Holder for Finance, 
IT and Communication and the Finance team in achieving a balanced 
outcome.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet

1. notes the contents of the report and the mitigating actions to manage 
the forecast outturn;

2. notes the contents of Annex 1 to the report;

3. approves in accordance with Finance Procedure Rules Capital a 
virement over £1,000,000 and up to £5,000,000 (Appendix 4, Annex 
C):

£1,909,959 to amalgamate the Minor Works and Premises Capital 
(Facilities Management) budgets. 

Page 7



103 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020-24 

Cabinet considered a report on the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 
Cheshire East Council for the four years 2020/21 to 2023/24.

The resolutions that Cabinet was requested to recommend to Council 
were set out at Appendix A to the report. The Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) Report (containing the Budget) for the period 2020/21 to 
2023/24 was set out at Appendix C.

The report had been considered by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at its meeting on 3rd February 2020. Councillor J Clowes, 
Chairman of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, reported 
the Committee’s comments to Cabinet.

Cllr Clowes proposed two amendments to the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy on behalf of the Conservative Group. The first related to utilising 
Council-owned land for the creation of new car parking facilities on Macon 
Way, near Crewe Station. The second related to creating new assisted 
living accommodation and support for adults with additional needs on 
existing sites in the Borough, providing improved facilities for current 
service users, offering permanent supported living accommodation for 
young adults with additional needs, and offering the opportunity to provide 
accommodation for local service users whose care needs were currently 
being sourced at high cost outside of Cheshire East.

It was proposed that these proposals be included in the Capital Addendum 
to enable officers to carry out feasibility studies during 2020/21. 

The Portfolio Holder for Finance, IT and Communication thanked the 
Finance officers for their work on the pre-budget consultation and the 
budget itself.

RESOLVED

That 
 
1. subject to resolution 2 below, the items set out in Appendix A to the 

report be recommended to Council; 

2. the amendments proposed by Cllr J Clowes on behalf of the 
Conservative Group as outlined above be recommended to Council as 
amendments to the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020-24 for 
inclusion in the Capital Addendum; 

3. Cabinet notes:

(a)     the summary results of the Budget Consultation, attached at 
Appendix B and the Budget Engagement exercise undertaken by 
the Council, as set out in the attached (Appendix C, Annex 2);

Page 8



(b)     the comments of the Council’s Section 151 Officer, contained 
within the MTFS Report, regarding the robustness of estimates and 
level of reserves held by the Council based on these budget 
proposals (Appendix C, Comment from the Section 151 Officer); 
and

(c)     that the Council’s Finance Procedure Rules will always apply 
should any changes in spending requirements be identified 
(Appendix C).

104 SCHOOL AND EARLY YEARS FUNDING FORMULA FOR 
2020/21 

Cabinet considered a report which set out the process to determine the 
schools funding formula and the early years funding formula for 2020/21.

The Portfolio Holder for Children and Families advised that the proposed 
allocations formula was subject to an application to the Department for 
Education. If DfE approval were not granted, it was proposed that the 
Portfolio Holder be authorised to take a final decision on the schools 
allocation model. This was because the Council was required to set the 
schools budget by 28th February 2020. The Shadow Portfolio Holder for 
Children and Families would be invited to join in that meeting to provide 
proper scrutiny of the decision-making process.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet 

1. with regard to the  Schools Funding Formula:

(a) approves the use of a funding formula that uses the national 
funding formula factors but increases the primary minimum per 
pupil funding value above the headline level of £3,750 to for 
2020/21. A figure of £3,843 has been used in the latest model using 
October 2019 pupil numbers; this is subject to the outcome of the 
Council’s application to the Department for Education to allow this 
change;

(b) approves the 0.5% transfer from schools block to high needs, 
subject to the Council’s application to the Department for Education 
to change the Schools Forum recommendation being successful;

(c) approves the use of +0.5% as the minimum funding guarantee 
percentage, meaning that individual school funding levels should 
increase by +0.5% compared to the 2019/20 level (subject to the 
items included in minimum funding guarantee protection) and 
excluding pupil number changes; and

Page 9



2. with regard to the Early Years Funding Formula:

(a) approves the continued use of the current funding formula and 
agrees to increase the hourly rates by the same percentage 
increase as the increased funding from the Department for 
Education; and

(b) delegates authority to the Executive Director of People to enter 
into revised contracts with providers in accordance with the 
Department for Education funding increase.

3. authorises the Portfolio Holder for Children and Families to take the 
final decision on the schools allocation model if the Department for 
Education rejects the Council’s proposed allocation model.

105 WELL-MANAGED HIGHWAY INFRASTRUCTURE 

Cabinet considered a report on proposed changes to a number of 
highways policies and plans to ensure that they aligned with the Well-
Managed Highway Infrastructure Code of Practice. This would involve the 
adoption of a new approach to the management of highways that was risk-
focussed. The Appendices referred to throughout the report had been 
published on the Council’s website.

The report had been considered by the Environment and Regeneration 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 20th January 2020. 
Councillor J P Findlow, Chairman of the Environment and Regeneration 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, presented the Committee’s comments 
on the report to Cabinet.

During the discussion on this matter, it was suggested by some visiting 
members that the consultation had been inadequate. Some also 
questioned the basis of the decision to remove gritting from roads within 
their wards. 

The Deputy Leader advised that the Department for Transport had made it 
clear that future maintenance funding through the Local Highway 
Maintenance Incentive Fund would be linked to compliance with the new 
Code. The proposed changes to highway maintenance had been 
considered at several overview and scrutiny meetings and the comments 
of the Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
were being addressed. The Deputy Leader advised that a Member Panel 
would be appointed to review the implementation of the maintenance 
programme. He gave an undertaking that the risk assessment criteria and 
scoring matrix would be published on the Council’s website and circulated 
to all members.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet

Page 10



1. approves the adoption of the Resilient Network Approach to Highway 
Safety Inspections; 

2. approves the adoption of the Highway Safety Inspection Policy 2020, 
Code of Practice for Highway Safety Inspections 2020, the Winter & 
Adverse Weather Policy 2020, Adverse Weather Plan 2020/21 and the 
Cheshire East Highways Resilient Network 2020; and

3. delegates authority to the Director of Highways and Infrastructure in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Highways and Waste to make 
minor operational changes to the Highway Safety Inspection Policy, 
Code of Practice for Highway Safety Inspections, the Winter & Adverse 
Weather Policy, Adverse Weather Plan and the Cheshire East 
Highways Resilient Network Strategy from time to time and as 
appropriate.

106 DATA CENTRE LOCAL AREA NETWORK (LAN) AND HOSTING 

Cabinet considered a report on proposals to upgrade the Local Area 
Network and hosting infrastructure and equipment.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet

1. approves the procurement (via further competitions under the RM3808 
Crown Commercial Framework) and the award of a call off contract for 
the purchase of new and replacement of equipment (end of line and 
end of service LAN, WAN, endpoint security); licence extensions and 
maintenance cover for all new and existing Cisco equipment that is still 
serviceable; with an expected total value of up to £7m across both 
councils over a seven year contract period;

2. approves the procurement (via further competitions under the RM6808 
Crown Commercial Framework) and the award of a call off contract for 
the purchase of new and replacement of data hosting services, 
equipment, business continuity and disaster recovery capabilities, 
maintenance and licensing for all new and existing data hosting 
equipment that is still serviceable; with a total expected value of up to 
£7m across both councils over a seven year contract period; and

3. authorises the Executive Director of Corporate Services, in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Finance, IT and Communication, to award 
the call-off contracts, including any contract negotiations.

Page 11



107 PERFORMANCE UPDATE 2019/20 

Cabinet considered a report presenting performance data on a range of 
key performance measures supporting the Council’s six Outcomes in the 
Corporate Plan.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet notes the performance to date against key indicators which 
support the delivery of Council priorities.

Before proposing that the meeting move into private session, the 
Chairman announced that this would be the last Cabinet meeting attended 
by the Acting Chief Executive, Kath O’Dwyer. He thanked her for the 
support she had given to the Cabinet and Cheshire East Council and 
wished her well for the future. 

108 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED
 
That the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following item pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 4 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and the public interest 
would not be served in publishing the information.

109 STAFF PAY - TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

Cabinet considered a report on staff pay terms and conditions.

Non-Cabinet members had been given an opportunity to attend a briefing 
with officers prior to the Cabinet meeting to consider and comment on the 
report.

RESOLVED

That the recommendations in the report be approved. 

The meeting commenced at 1.00 pm and concluded at 3.20 pm

Councillor S Corcoran (Chairman)

Page 12



 

OFFICIAL 

 

                                                                                         
Cabinet 

Date of Meeting:  10 March 2020 

Report Title:  Notice of motion – Council Tax Protocol 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Amanda Stott – Finance, IT and Communication 

Senior Officer:  Alex Thompson – Director of Finance and Customer Services 

 
1. Report Summary 

1.1 The “Council Tax Protocol” (2017) has been developed by the Local 
Government Association and Citizens Advice Bureau.  It aims to help Local 
Authorities (LA’s) in England improve the experience of residents who are in 
arrears with Council Tax whilst also recognising LA requirements in collecting 
debt owed.  

1.2 The Protocol commits signatory LA’s to a number of actions, with the aim of 
preventing people from getting into debt, setting standards for recovery and 
taking appropriate enforcement action. 

1.3 A Notice of Motion (Appendix 1) “For Cheshire East Council to adopt the 
Council Tax Protocol as recommended by the LGA and Citizens’ Advice 
Bureau” was moved by Councillor Flavell at the Council meeting on 19th 
December and referred to Cabinet for consideration. 

1.4 This report provides further details on the Protocol in support of the Notice of 
Motion. 
 

2.      Recommendation 
 

2.1     That Cabinet approve the proposal for Cheshire East Council to sign the         
“Council Tax Protocol”.  
 

3.      Reason for Recommendation 
 

3.1      Signing the Protocol demonstrates the Council’s continued commitment to its 
customers, particularly those most vulnerable, and to the development of a 
responsible, effective and efficient organisation.  

Key Decision N 
 
Date First 

Published: N/A 

Page 13 Agenda Item 6



 

OFFICIAL 

4. Other Options Considered 

4.1. The option not to support the Notice of Motion is not recommended. 

5. Background 

5.1 A revised Council Tax Protocol (see Appendix 2) has been developed by the 
Local Government Association and Citizens Advice Bureau. It builds on previous 
Protocols developed in 2009 and 2013 and has been enhanced following 
consultation with advice agencies, local government representatives and 
enforcement agencies.  

5.2 The charity’s work to design the collection Protocol follows its research showing 
how councils’ handling of arrears can make residents’ problems worse. A 
Citizens Advice study carried out last year found that over two thirds (69%) of 
those in council tax arrears found it harder to clear their debts as a result of the 
council’s actions. Most (71%) had extra charges added to their bills while half 
(48%) had been visited by bailiffs. 

5.3 According to Citizens Advice, intervening early means that councils can stop 
residents reaching ‘crisis point’ which, as well as being harmful to the individual, 
puts a strain on council services. 

5.4 The Protocol commits signatories to a number of actions which are intended to 
provide practical steps to prevent people from getting into debt in the first place 
and ensuring enforcement agents act within the law. 

5.5 The protocol aligns with a fair collection and enforcement policy recently  
introduced within Cheshire East Council. This enables us to identify and offer 
additional support to vulnerable customers. Our approach has been recognised 
at a national level as an example of good practice through a nomination to the 
Institute of Revenues  Rating & Valuation (IRRV) awards. 

5.6 The Protocol covers three key commitments for LA’s: 

 To foster more effective partnership working 

 To improve the information supplied to council tax payers about the billing 
process, how to get support and debt advice and to promote engagement. 

 To ensure greater effort is made at or before the Tribunal Courts and 
Enforcement Act’s compliance stage, including debt and money advice 
referrals and to assess whether vulnerability or hardship applies, so as to 
avoid escalating a debt. 

5.7 A review of the Protocol has confirmed that only minimal changes would be 
required to Cheshire East’s existing processes and procedures to enable us to 
conform to the Protocol. As outlined in the Protocol we already have close 
partnership arrangements with the local Citizens Advice Bureau and with other 
advice and enforcement agencies. We also provide a range of flexible 
repayment options and have conducted a detailed review and enhancement of 
the information we supply to customers.  

5.8 Collection rates for local taxation (Council Tax and Buisness rates combined) are 
currently good at 98.92% over 2 years. 

Page 14



 

OFFICIAL 

5.9 In signing the Protocol we confirm that “We agree to adopt this Protocol in 
Cheshire East as our public commitment to its principles of fairness, 
partnership working and transparency in local authority debt collection”. All of 
which clearly aligns with our Council vision and values. 

 
6. Implications of the Recommendations 

6.1. It is not proposed that this leads to any changes in structures or budgets. 

6.2. Legal Implications 

 The recommendations within the Code are and not statutory and 

therefore not binding, but present elements of ‘good practice’ which is a 

matter for each authority to consider as to whether to adopt or not. 

 The Local Authority remains obliged to ensure it pursues its debts; 

however there is scope to adopt the manner in which this is done. 

 Due to the other statutory duties that the Council is under, for example 

under Homelessness and Child & Adult legislation relating to vulnerable 

residents, to mention but a few such statutory duties, utilising the protocol 

may provide an opportunity to implement new ways of working which are 

aligned to the Council’s ambition, whilst ensuring discharge of its 

statutory duties. 

 The implications upon specific changes can only be ascertained once 

detailed proposals are presented for consideration.  

6.3. Finance Implications 

 Adoption of the Council Tax Protocol is thought to have no impact on the 

Council’s budget or the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

6.4. Policy Implications 

 There are no policy implications with the adoption of the Protocol 

 

6.5. Equality Implications 

 The Protocols primary impact is on customers who are experiencing 

financial difficulties and who are, or are at risk of, getting into debt. 

6.6. Human Resources Implications 

 There are no HR implications with the adoption of the Protocol 

 

Page 15



 

OFFICIAL 

6.7. Risk Management Implications 

 There are no risk management implications with the adoption of the 

Protocol 

6.8. Rural Communities Implications 

 There are no direct implications for rural communities. 

6.9. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children  

 There are no direct implications for children and young people. 

6.10. Public Health Implications 

 Debt is recognised as a significant factor in poor mental health and as a 

cause of suicide. This proposal will contribute to Outcome Two of the 

Cheshire East Partnership’s Five Year Plan, specifically a) reducing the 

levels of depression in adults and b) reduce the suicide rate. 

6.11. Climate Change Implications 

 There are no direct implications for climate change 

7. Ward Members Affected 

 All 

8. Consultation & Engagement 

 Not Required 

9. Access to Information 

 N/A 

10. Contact Information 

 Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 

officer: 

Name: Helen Gerrard 

Job Title: Head of Customer Services 

Email: helen.gerrard@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 

Page 16

mailto:helen.gerrard@cheshireeast.gov.uk


 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix 1 
COUNCIL – 19 DECEMBER 2019 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
Submitted to Council in Accordance with paragraph 1.34 of the Council 
Procedural Rules 
 
Council Tax Protocol 
 
Proposed by Councillor K Flavell 
 
The Citizens’ Advice Bureau, in partnership with the LGA, has developed a 
‘Council Tax Protocol’ which sets out 27 recommendations for dealing with 
Council Tax collection and debt recovery. Its aim is to offer a fairer system 
that ensures that residents struggling with payments are not pushed further 
into debt by poor collection practices. Over 60 Local Authorities have so far 
signed up to the scheme, including Wolverhampton, whose Cabinet member 
Cllr Andrew Johnson states: 
 
“There are all sorts of reasons why people might struggle to pay their council 
tax bills and this protocol is all about how we can work with people to 
support them so that they can pay their bills without getting into greater 
financial difficulties. 
 
We have a duty to collect the money owed, but we want to do so in a fair way 
and only go down the enforcement route when other avenues are exhausted.” 
 
I would like Cheshire East to follow this example and commit to being a more 
caring Council. 
 
Motion: 
That Cheshire East Council adopt the Council Tax Protocol, as recommended 
by the LGA and Citizens’ Advice Bureau. 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Council Tax 
Protocol 
Revised Collection of Council Tax Arrears Good Practice Protocol 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Agreed by: 
Citizens Advice, June 2017 

Local Government Association, June 2017 
 
 

 
   

 

Page 19



 

 
 
Council Tax Protocol 
 

 

We agree to adopt this protocol in ……………………………………………….. 

as our public commitment to its principles of fairness, partnership 

working and transparency in local authority debt collection: 

 

 

Signature 

 

.................................................... 

Local authority representative 

Signature 

 

.................................................... 

Local Citizens Advice / advice 
agency representative 

 
 

Signature 

 

.................................................... 

Enforcement agency 
representative 
(where relevant)  1

Signature 

 

.................................................... 

External contractor 
representative  
(where relevant)1 

 

 
Date: 
   

1 Enforcement agents and external contactors may sign this protocol if they and the authority agree that it is 
appropriate. 

1 

Page 20



 

Council Tax Protocol 
Revised collection of council tax arrears good practice protocol 
 

Council tax payers receive a better level of service when local authorities , 2

enforcement agencies and debt advice agencies work closely together. 

Early intervention and proactive contact with people struggling with bill 

payments can help prevent them incurring further charges and help 

alleviate stress. It can also potentially help reduce both collection costs 

and calls on local public services, particularly mental health services. 

This good practice protocol makes a number of suggestions on how local 

partnerships can be strengthened and residents better supported. 

Developed through partnership work between the national bodies 

representing advice agencies, local government and enforcement 

agencies throughout England and Wales, it builds upon the previous 

protocol, which government recommended local authorities adopt in 

their 2013 guidance. The protocol reflects best practice at local level and 

is intended to facilitate regular liaison on practices and policy concerning 

council tax debt collection. In setting down clear procedures and keeping 

them regularly under review, all parties can ensure that cases of arrears 

are dealt with appropriately whilst complaints are handled efficiently. 

By signing the protocol and adopting the practices set out below, local 

authorities, enforcement agencies and advice agencies can help 

taxpayers pay their council tax bills while accessing debt advice when 

needed. 

 

   

2 Where we use the term ‘local authorities’, this should also be read to cover a local authority’s external 
contractors, where the local authority has contracted out the administration of some or all of its council tax 
collection process. 

2 

Page 21



 

Partnership 
To foster more effective partnership working:  

1. Local authorities, enforcement agencies and advice agencies should meet                 
regularly to discuss practical and policy issues with a recommendation to meet                       
quarterly at officer level and annually with elected members. 

2. All parties should have dedicated contacts accessible on direct lines and 
electronically so that issues can be taken up quickly. 

3. All parties should promote mutual understanding by providing training 
workshops, undertaking exchange visits and sharing good practice. 

4. As local authorities are responsible for the overall collections process, they 
should ensure all their staff, external contractors and enforcement agencies 
receive the appropriate training, particularly on vulnerability and hardship. 

5. Advice agencies, enforcement agencies and local authorities should work 
together to develop a fair collection and enforcement policy, highlighting 
examples of vulnerable people or those who find themselves in vulnerable 
situations, and specifying clear procedures in dealing with them. Contractual 
arrangements with enforcement agents should specify procedures for the local 
authority to take back cases involving vulnerable people. 

6. Local authorities should consider informal complaints as debtors may be afraid 
to complain formally where enforcement agent activity is ongoing. Informal 
complaints received from advice agencies can indicate problems worthy of 
further investigation both locally by the local authority and by referral to 
national bodies.  

 

   

3 

Page 22



 

Information 
To improve the information supplied to council tax payers about the billing 
process, how to get support and debt advice and to promote engagement: 

1. All parties should work together to produce letters that clearly and consistently 
explain how council tax bills have been calculated (including any Council Tax 
Support award). Council tax bills should make clear council tax is a priority debt 
and explain the consequences of not making payment by the date specified. As 
far as possible within the constraints of systems, where a taxpayer has council 
tax arrears, the letters should explain how the debt has been accumulated and 
over which time period, the layout and language of bills and letters should be 
easy to understand, with any letters including a contact phone number and 
email address. All information should also be made available online in a clear 
format.  

2. Local authorities should consider reviewing payment arrangements and offer 
more flexible options, including, subject to practicality, different payment dates 
within the month, spreading payments over 12 months and, potentially, 
different payment amounts to assist those on fluctuating incomes. This can 
allow people to budget more effectively. 

3. Local authorities and enforcement agents should publicise local and national 
debt advice contact details on literature and notices. Advice agencies can help 
by promoting the need for debtors to contact their local authority promptly in 
order to agree payment plans. Parties can work together to ensure the tone of 
letters is not intimidating but encouraging of engagement. 

4. Local authorities should ensure that enforcement agencies have appropriate 
information about the council tax debts they are recovering, so they can put 
this in letters they send to debtors and answer any questions. 

5. Local authorities should consider providing literature about concerns council 
tax debtors may have about enforcement agents and enforcement. Information 
could cover charges enforcement agencies are allowed to make by law, how to 
complain about enforcement agent behaviour or check enforcement agent 
certification and further help available from the local authority or advice 
agencies. 

6. All parties should work together to review and promote better engagement by 
council taxpayers. This should include information on how bills can be reduced 
through reliefs, exemptions and council tax support schemes, advising 
taxpayers that they should contact the local authority if they experience 
financial hardship and the consequences of allowing priority debts to 
accumulate. Information and budgeting tools should be made available on local 
authority and advice agency websites, via social media and at offices of relevant 
agencies. This is an opportunity for joint campaign work. 

4 

Page 23



 

 

Recovery 
If a council tax bill is not paid, then the local authority’s recovery process comes 
into play. While local authorities strive to make early contact with a debtor, the 
first point of engagement by a debtor often only occurs when an enforcement 
agent visits the premises. Greater effort should be made at or before the 
Tribunal Courts and Enforcement Act’s compliance stage, including debt and 
money advice referrals and to assess whether vulnerability or hardship applies, 
so as to avoid escalating a debt. Therefore:  

1. Local authorities and enforcement agencies should work in partnership with 
advice agencies on the content, language and layout of all documents, 
produced by the local authority and agents acting on its behalf which are part 
of the enforcement process. This should aim to ensure that the rights and 
responsibilities of all parties, particularly those of the debtor, are clearly set out. 

2. Enforcement agents should provide the debtor with a contact number and 
email address should they wish to speak to the local authority.  

3. Local authorities should keep all charges associated with recovery under 
regular review to ensure they are reasonable and as clear and transparent as 
possible and reflect actual costs incurred. Enforcement agents should only 
make charges in accordance with council tax collection and enforcement 
regulations, particularly the Tribunal Courts and Enforcement Act.  

4. Local authorities should periodically review their corporate policy on debt and 
recovery, particularly what level of debt (inclusive of liability order fees) should 
have accrued before enforcement agent action, as enforcement will add 
additional costs to a debt. 

5. As part of their corporate policy on debt and recovery, local authorities should 
have a process for dealing with cases that are identified as vulnerable, bearing 
in mind that different local authorities may have different definitions of a 
vulnerable person or household. Any local definition of vulnerability should be 
developed in consultation with advice agencies and enforcement agencies and, 
wherever possible, the local authority should aim to publish clear guidelines on 
what constitutes vulnerability locally. Where a local authority’s vulnerability 
criteria apply, In these cases, debts should be considered carefully before being 
passed to enforcement agencies. Where enforcement agents or other parties 
identify a vulnerable household, recovery action will be referred to the local 
authority.   

6. Local authorities should regularly review and publish their policies which cover 
hardship, including how these relate to council tax arrears. 

5 

Page 24



 

7. Where a household is in receipt of Council Tax Support, the local authority 
should consider matters carefully and determine whether to pass such cases to 
enforcement agents, based on the individual circumstances of the case.  

8. The debtor may have outstanding claims for Universal Credit, Council Tax 
Support or other benefit(s) which are contributing to their arrears. Local 
authorities can suspend recovery once it is established that a legitimate and 
relevant claim is pending.  

9. Local authorities and their enforcement agents should consider offering a 28 
days hold or “breathing space” on enforcement action if debtors are seeking 
debt advice from an accredited advice provider. 

10.Procedures should exist for debt advisers to negotiate payments on behalf of 
the taxpayer at any point in the process, including when the debt has been 
passed to the enforcement agent. In some cases, the debtor may only contact 
an advice agency following a visit from the enforcement agent.  

11.Local authorities and enforcement agents should consider accepting and using 
the Standard Financial Statement (SFS) or Common Financial Statement in 
assessing ability to pay as long as this is consistent with securing value for 
money for all council tax payers. 

12.Each case should be examined on its merits and repayment arrangements 
need to be affordable and sustainable, while ensuring that the debt is paid off 
within a reasonable period. Where appropriate, local authorities should provide 
the flexibility to spread repayments over more than a year, including beyond 
the end of a financial year. 

13.Local authorities should prioritise direct deduction from benefits or attachment 
of earnings in preference to using enforcement agents. This avoids extra debts 
being incurred by people who may already have substantial liabilities.  

14.Clarity should be provided to the debtor and enforcement agency as to which 
debts are being paid off, in what amounts and when, especially where a debtor 
has multiple liability orders. Where appropriate, debts should be consolidated 
before being sent to enforcement agents. 

15.Local authorities should publish a clear procedure for people to report 
complaints about all stages of recovery action. Local authorities will regularly 
monitor and, subject to requirements of commercial confidentiality and the 
Data Protection Act, publish the performance (including complaints) of those 
recovering debts on their behalf and ensure that contractual and legal 
arrangements are met.   

6 

Page 25



 

Free, confidential advice. 
Whoever you are. 
 

We help people overcome their problems and  
campaign on big issues when their voices need  
to be heard. 
 
We value diversity, champion equality, and 
challenge discrimination and harassment. 
 
We’re here for everyone. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

citizensadvice.org.uk 
Published June 2017 

Citizens Advice is an operating name of The National Association of Citizens Advice 
Bureaux. 

Registered charity number 279057. 

7 

Page 26



 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

                                                                                         
Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 10 March 2020 

Report Title:  Crewe Hub Station Update 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Craig Browne, Deputy Leader 

Senior Officer:  Frank Jordan, Executive Director Place 

 
1. Report Summary 

1.1. The delivery of an enhanced Crewe Hub Station provides a significant  

opportunity to deliver social, economic and environmental wellbeing for the 

residents of Crewe and the Borough.  The Council is passionate about 

enhancing what the town already has to offer and offering more opportunities 

to people who live in, work in or visit Crewe – wanting to inspire and change 

lives together for a brighter future and improving the ‘quality of place’, today 

and, for the future 

 

1.2. The Crewe Hub Area Action Plan (Area Action Plan) forms part of the 

Council’s Local Plan providing a detailed planning framework in response to 

opportunities arising from investment in Crewe rail station and the arrival of 

HS2 services to Crewe. A separate report on the Crewe Hub Area Action 

Plan is being considered by Cabinet.  

 

1.3.  The right rail solution at Crewe will create more capacity on the rail network 

and in the local economy, bringing with it a range of opportunity and potential. 

It means better connectivity across the Borough but also across the wider 

region – including the Constellation Partnership, Midlands Engine and 

Northern Powerhouse regions, spreading the benefits of this national 

investment to many other towns. 

 

Key Decision Y 
 
Date First 

Published: 25/9/19 

Page 27 Agenda Item 7



 

OFFICIAL 

1.4. Furthermore, the right investment in the hub station, would enable Crewe to 

become the major gateway rail hub for the North, Midlands, Wales and 

Scotland. 

 

1.5. This report outlines the project development work completed to date which 

identifies the following key interventions required to unlock the potential 

benefits to Crewe, Cheshire East and the wider region.  

1.5.1. Relocation of the main entrance onto Weston Road with direct access 

to a new central transfer deck; 

1.5.2. Rationalisation of station car parking; 

1.5.3. An improved Nantwich Road entrance with enhanced pedestrian and 

cycle facilities to support improved links with the town centre; 

1.5.4. Local highway and junction improvements including the southern link 

road bridge; 

 

1.6. Investment in the Crewe hub station and wider package of supporting 

infrastructure would also support the council’s environment strategy. 

through:: 

 

1.6.1. Promoting walking and cycling for local journeys and between the 

town centre and railway station through the provision of enhanced 

pedestrian and cycling routes and station access; 

 

1.6.2. Promoting the use of public transport through the delivery of 

enhanced bus facilities with improved station access; 

 

1.6.3. Delivering innovative solutions for the provision of the necessary 

utilities including the promotion of low and zero carbon initiatives such 

as district heating systems; 

 

1.6.4. Seeking opportunities to deliver and/or future proof for the latest 

digital connectivity. 

 

1.6.5. Facilitating and promoting sustainable building design through new 

planning policies within the draft Crewe Area Action Plan; 

 

1.6.6. Increasing local green infrastructure and investment in public realm. 

 

1.7. The Council has a lot of ambition for Crewe with significant work already 

underway and completed in the town. This includes significant investment in 

Page 28



 

OFFICIAL 

the local highway network to improve access to the town and the ambitious 

Town Centre Regeneration Framework which includes substantial investment 

in the Market Hall and Royal Arcade. 

1.8. The recently announced Towns Fund, for which Crewe was shortlisted, and 

the establishment of a Crewe Town Board will play a key role in driving 

forward aspects of these plans. 

1.9. The government has been clear that delivering the Council’s full ambitions for 

the hub station and surrounding area, aligned to HS2, will require a local 

contribution. This report also presents the outline funding and financing 

principles that could underpin a local contribution and the proposed 

agreement with Government to achieve this.  

1.10. If Cabinet approve the recommendations within this report, the solutions 

stage and detailed design would be progressed and negotiations with 

Government would commence to inform an investment decision being sought 

from Full Council. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1. That Cabinet: 

2.1.1. Approves the Masterplan Report for the Crewe Hub Station as outlined 

in Appendix 1; 

2.1.2. Notes the feasibility and options stage reports of the Crewe hub station 

and project development presented in Appendices 2 and 3; 

2.1.3. Approves the funding and financing principles set out in Appendix 4 of 

this report as the basis negotiating a Crewe Hub Regeneration and 

Investment Agreement with Government, and as the mechanism to 

underpin any local contribution; 

2.1.4. Authorises the Executive Director of Place to take all necessary 

actions to negotiate and conclude terms with Government and the 

West Coast Franchise operator to secure an appropriate funding and 

financing package to inform an investment decision by Full Council.   

3. Reasons for Recommendations 

3.1. Getting the right station solution for Crewe is critical to unlocking the 

economic, social and environmental potential of the Town.  

3.2. By coordinating the delivery of an enhanced station with a package of local 

supporting highway, public realm and social infrastructure these benefits 

can be maximised for Crewe and the surrounding area. 

Page 29



 

OFFICIAL 

3.3. The Council is preparing a Strategic Outline Business Case using Her 

Majesty’s Treasury appraisal methods to assess the full impacts and 

benefits of an integrated hub station and regeneration scheme and the 

proposed funding and financing package. This will be presented to Cabinet 

for approval ahead of the matter being considered by Full Council.  

4. Other Options Considered 

4.1. The Council could chose not to develop a station solution that supports the 

wider regeneration ambition for Crewe and instead accept the Government 

baseline solution, the do-minimum option. This option is likely to only see 

minimal investment in the Crewe hub station to meet the requirements for 

rail passengers and not necessarily support the emerging Crewe Hub Area 

Action Plan or the regeneration and economic ambitions for the town. 

4.2. The Council could agree to not make a local contribution towards the 

Scheme. This option is unlikely to be supported by Government and as a 

result the scheme would remain unfunded. As a result, Government would 

revert to the do-minimum solution. 

4.3. The Council has considered a range of station design options over the past 

two and a half years that could support the Council’s long-term vision for 

Crewe. Each option has been scrutinised and evaluated through a series of 

stakeholder workshops at each of the three stages of project development 

work: 

4.3.1. Feasibility stage; 

4.3.2. Options stage; and  

4.3.3. Solutions stage 

4.4. The Feasibility and Options stages are now complete and presented in 

Appendices 2 and 3. The Solutions stage work is largely complete and 

subject to final refinements and reporting will be presented to Cabinet ahead 

of a Full Council investment decision. (Note: Appendices 2 and 3 are 

available to view on the Cabinet agenda web page.) 

5. Background 

5.1. Based on robust case making and strong, persistent campaigning by the 

Council, the Government has made substantial changes to the HS2 Crewe 

hub scheme over the past 5 years including; 

 

5.1.1. In 2015, Government announced its intention to re-route the western 

leg of Phase 2 via Crewe to enable  2 HS2 services per hour to call at 

Page 30



 

OFFICIAL 

Crewe by 2027. This is arguably the most significant change to the 

entire scheme since it was first launched. This enabled the Council to 

procure the development of a long term regeneration and masterplan 

framework for the town; 

 

5.1.2. In 2016, the Council successfully challenged the location of the Crewe 

southern tunnel portal as included in the design refinement 

consultation. This helped to secure changes to Phase 2a tunnel portal 

design south of Crewe to avoid the need to disrupt and rebuild the 

A500; 

 

5.1.3. In 2019, a change to the Phase 2a hybrid bill scheme, known as an 

‘Additional Provision’ was proposed to extend Platforms 5 and 6 to 

allow for splitting and joining of HS2 trains at Crewe and enabling HS2 

classic compatible services to Macclesfield and has since been 

adopted as part of the core scheme; 

 

5.1.4. In 2019, through the petitioning process for the Additional Provisions to 

the Phase 2a hybrid bill, DfT Investment Committee endorsed and 

funded additonal work by Network Rail on a revised rail infrastructure 

solution at Crewe (layout G1.3c) that would provide the track, 

signalling and platform solution at Crewe to enable 5/7 HS2 trains per 

hour, in each direction, to call at the station and also allow for growth 

in conventional services. A final sign-off by the Secretary of State is 

expected shortly and will commit the Government to deliver this 

solution; and 

 

 

Crewe HS2 Hub Framework and Masterplan Scenario Report, 2017 

5.2. In 2016, the Council, jointly with Homes England and HS2 Growth 

Partnerships, appointed a consultancy team, led by Arup, to develop a 

comprehensive masterplan framework for Crewe with work commencing in 

May 2016.  

5.3. The framework considered the full spectrum of urban design, planning, 

regeneration, infrastructure, transport, social infrastructure, public realm and 

services needed to deliver sustainable plan-led development and covered a 

boundary that included Crewe Railway Station, Crewe Town Centre and 

Basford.  

5.4. The framework identified the following seven key actions that would underpin 

the future ambitions for Crewe and allow the town and surrounding area to 

Page 31



 

OFFICIAL 

fully capitalise on the opportunities of HS2 and a redeveloped Crewe Railway 

Station. 

5.4.1. Reinvigorating the Crewe Town Centre; 

5.4.2. Linking the station and the town centre; 

5.4.3. Improving the road network; 

5.4.4. Improve permeability of the railway by providing new and 

improved highway, pedestrian and cycle crossings of the rail 

lines; 

5.4.5. Connecting the station with the Cheshire landscape; and 

5.4.6. Creating an integrated green network 

5.5. The masterplan framework provides a robust foundation for regeneration and 

economic development across the town that addresses the key constraints 

and barriers that exist today. The Council recognises the need to address 

these constraints to support regeneration and development around the 

station; with or without HS2 and would seek to pursue these actions even if 

HS2 commitments are not secured. However, the scale and pace of the 

regeneration and benefits would be reduced without the step-change in 

connectivity of HS2. 

5.6. The recently announced Towns Fund and the Crewe Town Board provides 

an opportunity to promote and accelerate critical enablers of these actions 

and realise early benefits to both the hub station area and the town centre.  

5.7. Since this consultation was undertaken, the Council has been working with, 

and where necessary challenging, Government and HS2 Ltd to secure the 

necessary commitments and assurances required to support these proposals 

and provide the catalyst to unlock the scale of potential as outlined in this 

vision. 

5.8. The Council has also worked closely with Network Rail and its consultancy 

team to ensure that the masterplan would align to the emerging station 

concept design, the Council’s draft Area Action Plan and the town centre 

regeneration programme. 

5.9. The masterplan framework Executive Summary is presented in Appendix 

1and the full document will be made available on the Council’s website 

following Cabinet approvals within this report. 

 

 

Page 32



 

OFFICIAL 

Crewe Hub Funding and Financing Principles  

5.10. The Council has commissioned a team of leading consultants to support it in 

developing a strategic outline business case for the Crewe hub proposition. 

5.11. The business case will articulate and quantify the total benefits that 

investment in the Crewe hub station scheme can deliver.  It will outline both 

monetary and non-monetary benefits.  

5.12. The initial analysis shows that the business case will have a positive Benefits 

to Cost Ratio. 

5.13. The business case will include the key commitments and decisions of 

Government and other partners that are required to underpin the scheme and 

unlock a local contribution. These being: 

5.13.1. Government commitment to a rail infrastructure solution at Crewe 

that can allow up to 7 HS2 trains per hour, each way, to call at the 

station; 

5.13.2. Government commitment to Transport for the North’s business case 

for a new Crewe North Connection; required to enable direct HS2 

services between Crewe and Manchester; 

5.13.3. Government investment into Crewe station reflective of its role a 

national HS2 and rail hub  

5.13.4. Department for Transport and Avanti West Coast agreement to 

remove station car parking at Crewe railway station from the West 

Coast franchise with control and operation of station car parking 

being the responsibility of the Council. 

5.13.5. Government to grant Cheshire & Warrington Local Enterprise 

Partnership a Tax Increment Financing mechanism for a new 

Crewe Growth Corridor including a new commercial area adjacent 

to the new hub station enabling the local area to retain 100% of the 

growth in business rates across this area for a defined period. 

5.13.6. Local Majors or equivalent grant funding towards the supporting 

highway infrastructure package; including the Southern Link Road 

Bridge 

5.14. The Strategic Outline Business Case will be presented to Cabinet ahead of a 

Full Council investment decision. 

 

 

Page 33



 

OFFICIAL 

6. Implications of the Recommendations 

6.1. Legal Implications 

6.1.1. Implementing a project of this scale and complexity will have a number 

of legal implications for the Council. 

6.1.2. It is anticipated that the Council will need to enter into a series of 

contractual arrangements with key stakeholders including Network Rail 

and the West Coast Partnership in line with the Council’s constitution 

taking into account any financial constraints. 

6.1.3. The Council is working in partnership with Network Rail for the delivery 

of the interim enhanced HS2 Hub station and the required detailed 

design work will be procured by   Network Rail. The Council is relying 

on Regulation 12 (7) of the Public Procurement Regulations 2015 

which states that arrangements such as these sit outside the public 

procurement regime as the contract establishes or implements a co-

operation between the participating contracting authorities with the aim 

of ensuring that the public services they have to perform are provided 

with a view to achieving objectives they have in common.  Network 

Rail will rely on their framework contracts to procure contractors to 

deliver the detailed design works in accordance with the Utilities 

Regulations that Network Rail are subject to, therefore there will be an 

element of competition in tendering the works. Any future procurement 

of the construction works will be through a Network Rail tender 

process and the Council will have appropriate input in to the 

specification for its element of the works.  

  

6.1.4. Should the Council proceed to procure a design and build contract for 

the multi –storey car park this will need to be done in accordance with 

the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules and the Public Contracts 

Regulations 2015.  

6.1.5. Ongoing legal advice will be needed as this scheme is further 

developed and delivered, particularly if there comes a need to invoke 

statutory processes to assist land assembly and any necessary 

development consents. It is important to ensure that the Council’s legal 

team is adequately resourced to support the continuing demands on it 

and that it issupported by specialist external legal advisors where 

required 

 

 

 

Page 34



 

OFFICIAL 

6.2. Finance Implications 

6.2.1. In order to arrive at a fully costed and credible investment decision 

which will be presented to Full Council  at a later date it is necessary to 

continue with the detailed development work to deliver a design 

solution and an outline finance and funding proposition to form the 

basis of the Strategic Outline Business Case. This would utilise 

existing approved capital budget of £12.4m  

6.2.2. A future Full Council investment decision to approve a local 

contribution towards the Crewe Hub Station and supporting investment 

could see the Council commiting to forward fund a substantial 

investment as identified in the outline proposition. However, any local 

contribution would be predicated on securing the necessary 

commitments from Government, as outlined in the outline proposition, 

in advance of any investment decision. 

6.3. Policy Implications 

6.3.1. The Local Plan Strategy identifies the need for improvements to Crewe 

Railway Station to make it a national hub. 

 

6.3.2. The Local Plan Strategy does not include any HS2 related 

development and therefore does not provide a policy for the ambitions 

for the wider station area. The Local Plan does however reference that 

HS2 will have implications on the Local Plan and that there may be a 

need for an Area Action Plan for the area around the Crewe HS2 hub 

station. 

 

6.3.3. The Draft Crewe Hub Area Action Plan is a Development Plan 

Document that, following approval and adoption, will form a change in 

planning policy for the area over which it is defined. Once adopted, this 

will supersede the policy framework for the area in the existing Local 

Plan Strategy but will not impact the policy framework for the 

remainder of the borough. 

6.4. Equality Implications 

6.4.1. The business case sets out an approach to creating growth and 

prosperity for Crewe and the wider region whilst focusing on delivering 

quality places where people choose to live, learn, work and play.  

 

6.4.2. The station design and masterplan includes proposals that will deliver 

a vibrant mix of good quality and well connected communities and 

Page 35



 

OFFICIAL 

business districts supported by a strong culture, leisure, retail and 

green and open space offer. 

 

6.4.3. The business case accords with the Cheshire East Equalities and 

Diversity Policy in that it seeks to ensure that all residents, 

communities and businesses, existing and new, are able to contribute 

to and benefit from economic success. 

 

6.5. Human Resources Implications 

6.5.1. The continuation of the project development work to a Full Council 

investment decision will be resourced from existing resources and 

funding from the HS2 Capital budget. This will be supplemented by 

external and specialised resources where required. 

6.5.2. The management case of the business case outlines the long term 

resources required to deliver a programme of this scale. The outline 

finding and financing outline proposition will include the funding of the 

long term delivery resources. 

6.6. Risk Management Implications 

6.6.1. Government’s existing proposals for Crewe remain only for 2 HS2 

trains per hour. Whilst the Council has gained significant 

announcements and decisions from Government that would support 

an enhanced HS2 service solution at Crewe over recent years; 

Government still require a local contribution to provide these 

commitments. Approval of the station design and funding and 

financing principles would enable the Council to enter into meaningful 

negotiations with Government to agree a funding and financing 

proposition to support a Full Council investment decision. However, 

Government may still not commit to any further services than the 2 

HS2 trains per hour already planned. In this case, there would not be 

the step-change in connectivity at Crewe to support the level of 

regeneration and growth within the Council’s ambitious plans. In this 

scenario the Council would unlikely be able to afford a local 

contribution towards the station resulting in Government delivering a 

sub-optimal solution for Crewe. If this is the case, the Council may 

need to fund a level of abortive costs of project development work to 

date. 

6.6.2. Government are currently considering the outcomes of an independent 

review of the HS2 scheme, chaired by Douglas Oakervee.  

Page 36



 

OFFICIAL 

6.6.3. Based on the review the Government will conclude whether the 

scheme shoud go ahead or not and if so, whether it should be 

modified at all by only delivering part of the fulll network, whether 

delivery should be delayed or whether there should be significant 

changes to design elements of the scheme to reduce costs. 

6.6.4. A number of the potential scenarios of this review including, a 

reduction in the scheme that does not extend from Crewe to 

Manchester, significant delays to Phase 2a and/or 2b, a reduced level 

of services at Crewe, could all impact the ability to deliver the Council’s 

plans for the area or the validity of the business case. Without 

Government’s support to refine these plans in response to the review 

there may be no viable alternative to the Government’s baseline plans 

for Crewe. If this were the case, the Council may need to fund the 

abortive project development work to date as set out in the Crewe 

Station Development Cabinet Report, 11 June 2019. 

6.6.5. There is a risk that there is no agreed funding and financing package for 

the station and as a result a sub-optimal station is delivered. Initial analysis 

suggests that the business case for the Scheme would have a positive 

benefits to cost ratio when supported by a local contribution. This could 

result in the need for the Council to expense the project development work 

to date. In this instance, in recognition the government imposed restrictions 

on Council capital financing and having to balance annual budgets, the 

Council would consider a number of options, including any or all of the 

following strategies, and relative to spending on particular aspects of the 

scheme to date: 

 

6.6.5.1. Develop a revised and self-funded business case to deliver a 

reduced regeneration and transport access scheme for the area 

on which to capitalise the costs and deliver a much smaller 

proportion of economic benefits; 

 

6.6.5.2. Develop no alternative scheme and write-off costs to date but 

pursue  a special dispensation from Government to enable these 

to be written off within the capital budget and not transferred to 

revenue and subsequently re-prioritise the Place Capital 

Programme; or 

 

6.6.5.3. Develop no alternative scheme and write-off costs directly to the 

revenue account. These costs to be met by significant 

reprioritising the Place Budget to identify necessary savings and 

investment opportunities to minimise exposure of Reserves at a 

future point in time 

Page 37



 

OFFICIAL 

6.6.6. The cost of pursuing the CPO though to implementation is 

difficult to estimate and will depend upon the success of prior 

negotiations with landowners. 

6.6.7. The actual costs incurred for land acquisition/ compensation will 

be determined through the negotiation and CPO processes and 

will be subject to processes defined within the Constitution.   

6.6.8. The Council, in partnership with C&W LEP, is seeking to develop the 

case for a Tax Increment Financing mechanism for Crewe, regardless 

of HS2. If this were successful, it would enable capital investment in 

and around Crewe Railway Station area and allow the project 

development costs incurred to date to be supported by new assets. 

Equally, some of the schemes identified through the work to date have 

merit and alternative funding mechanisms would be sought to deliver 

them as part of an investment programme for Crewe which again 

would enable project development costs to date to be capitalised 

against an asset. 

6.6.9. There is a risk that the West Coast Partnership do not agree to take 

the car parking at Crewe station out of the franchise. In this case, the 

Council would need to forego one of the significant revenue streams 

that would underpin any local contribution. In this scenario, the Council 

would need to either fund these costs from other Council budgets or 

reduce the potential contribution which may result in the Council’s 

plans being unaffordable. 

6.6.10. There is a risk that the Council is not able to acquire the necessary 

land required to deliver the key components of the station and 

masterplan. Without the necessary land avaiable in time the critical 

delivery programme cannot be met and the Council would be faced 

with significant additional costs to deliver the scheme. 

6.6.11. There is potential risk possed by contaminated lands in and around 

AAP areas.  

6.7. Rural Communities Implications 

6.7.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities. 

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children  

6.8.1. There are no direct implications for children and young people. 

 

 

Page 38



 

OFFICIAL 

6.9. Public Health Implications 

6.9.1. The range of jobs that will be created in the short and longer term due 

to the development of the Hub should assist local residents gain 

employment which will have a positive benefit on their health and 

wellbeing. 

6.9.2. The area around Crewe station contains an Air Quality Management 

Area (AQMA). By including appropriate planning measures within the 

scheme an improvement in the air quality in the area could be 

achieved. Such measures could include the creation of a new road to 

divert some traffic away from the “pinch point” at the main entrance to 

the station to greening areas of the site. In addition the development of 

appropriate park and ride facilities along or the periphery of the hub 

may reduce the need for drivers to park close to the station and adding 

to the congestion near the current station entrance. 

6.9.3. The development of the site also provides the opportunity to enhance 

active transport routes including safe cycle routes.  

6.9.4. The development of the site provides an opportunity to install 

renewable energy systems such as Solar Farms and Wind Turbines 

thereby assisting the local authority to achieve its environmental 

targets. Buildings on the site can also be used as platforms for solar 

panels. 

6.9.5. Development of the site and the income generated may also enable 

the development of local commuter train services that would reduce 

car usage and assist with the improvement of air quality. 

6.10. Climate Change Implications 

6.10.1. The hub station design and masterplan solution includes a series of 

proposals to encourage more sustainable travel across the area. This 

includes enhanced cycle and pedestrian links between the station and 

town centre and a new multimodal interchange alongside the new 

primary entrance on Weston Road. 

6.10.2. New development across the Area Action Plan Area will need to be 

designed to support sustainability in accordance with the Crewe Hub 

Area Action Plan Policy IN2: Energy Infrastructure. 

7. Ward Members Affected 

7.1. All Wards and All Ward Members.  

 

Page 39



 

OFFICIAL 

8. Consultation & Engagement 

8.1. Engagement with local ward members and communities and key 

stakeholders will be undertaken as the programme progresses to detailed 

design and as key projects move forward. A full consultation plan will be 

presented to Full Council as part of an investment decision.  

9. Access to Information 

9.1. Supporting information 

9.1.1. Appendix 1: Crewe HS2 Hub Framework and Masterplan 

Scenario Report Executive Summary (attached) 

9.1.2. Appendix 2 - Crewe Hub Station Campus Design and 

Masterplan – Feasibility Stage Report (agenda web page) 

9.1.3. Appendix 3: Crewe Hub Station Campus Design and 

Masterplan – Options Stage Report (agenda web page) 

9.1.4. Appendix 4: Crewe Hub Funding and Financing Principles 

(attached) 

10. Contact Information 

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 

officer: 

Name: Hayley Kirkham 

Job Title: HS2 Programme Director 

Email: hayley.kirkham@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 40

mailto:hayley.kirkham@cheshireeast.gov.uk


14.03.2017
CHHM-ARP-XX-XX-RP-AX-000050

Crewe HS2 Hub 
Framework & 
Masterplan Scenario Report
V.07

P
age 41



1 Executive Summary

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.076 

P
age 42



1 Executive Summary

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 7 

P
age 43



1.1 Preface

The towns and cities in the North of England abound 
with opportunity as the Government drives investment to 
rebalance the UK economy. Whitehall wants to see globally 
competitive centres beyond the traditional powerhouse 
of London and the South East. This Northern Powerhouse 
approach has seen the towns and cities of the North seeking 
out their unique competitive advantages and jostling for 
positions in the newly forming northern hierarchy.

It is this competitive edge alongside major investment 
in infrastructure - at a local, regional and national level - 
that will see both advantages and successes delivered for 
northern towns and cities, including in Crewe.

Strong competition drives towns and cities to perform at their 
best and forge their economic, social and physical identities. 
Never has there been a better time for Crewe to step up to 
the mark and complement its neighbours as well as driving 
growth in its own right rather than simply awaiting the 
introduction of HS2 to the town.

Whilst the arrival of HS2 is some way in the distance, the 
time to act and create a robust, ambitious and compelling 
strategic plan is now. This does not have to be a plan which 
only seeks major interventions: small, considered and 
incremental steps can be just as heroic as one or two major 
developments. Crewe’s future success will pivot on getting a 
number of physical, economic and social interventions right. 
With the ability to develop and deliver places in and around 
Crewe – including residential, cultural educational and 
business uses – the town could soon see itself thriving and 
become one of the North’s success stories.

To enable this rejuvenation and regeneration, Crewe sees it 
future as a town which can offer three core components:

Transformational Connectivity 

The plan sets out a framework which allows for ease of 
movement, both through digital and physical infrastructure. 
Today, as our contemporary lifestyles seek convenience and 
ease, physical connectivity is about vehicles, people, goods 
and services. Non-physical connectivity is about information, 
data, digital connectivity and fast access to all these things. 
The arrival of HS2 leverage these underlying assets already 
found in Crewe.

Redefining Amenity of Place

Crewe sits at the heart of the beautiful Cheshire landscape, 
but has in recent times lost this relationship with its 
surroundings. By the rediscovery of the east and west green 
corridors, and the joining of these spaces into a landscape 
experience at the new station, Crewe can once again be a 
place enhanced by its landscape and access to green and 
open space.

Political Certainty 

This plan looks at how to create the conditions for creating 
market interest and commitment, key to this will be clear and 
easy to navigate political direction, and certainty in terms of 
economic development and planning policy throughout the 
hierarchy of government decision making.

Within this plan, there is a strong understanding of Crewe’s 
rich engineering and railway history alongside a thorough 
assessment of Crewe’s socio-economic conditions. This 
background evidence is important to underpin the investment 
decisions and proposals made throughout this document.

The plan also includes commentary on the local, regional and 
national context in which it operates. The aspiration for Crewe 
to be a rising northern star cannot be realised by simply 
examining the local political, social and economic context, 
and ‘looking in’. Rather it needs to ensure that it understands 

Crewe’s role in a much wider context. Crewe’s success can 
hinge on its relationship supporting the Northern economic 
powerhouses such as Liverpool and Manchester, and will 
benefit from watching their markets. Crewe could be a 
magnet for new and emerging businesses who may find 
they are unable to afford the upward trend in the property 
market being witnessed in cities such as Manchester. By 
being adept at showcasing Crewe’s market opportunities and 
its fantastic local, regional and national connectivity (one of 
the best locations in the country for rail connectivity) Crewe 
could see its business and residential base increasing year 
on year; especially by carefully managing and nurturing its 
relationship with its neighbours.

This plan sets out a dual approach in creating growth and 
prosperity for Crewe and the wider region by setting an 
exceptional standard of design, focussing upon both town 
centre and Crewe Hub. A rich offering in its local high street 
(curated with events and activities and an enlivened night 
time economy) will be strongly supported and enhanced by 
a major centre created around an upgraded HS2 station. By 
working in synergy, these two places will put the heart back 
into Crewe and provide for a significant opportunity for a 
successful station location which links the town seamlessly 
to both the North and South of the country.

As HS2 makes its journey to Crewe, it will find a town with a 
world class station, acting as the gateway to rich education 
provision, housing, leisure and business offer. A town 
where major employers rub shoulders with SMEs in design, 
innovation and engineering harking back to Crewe’s role as a 
cornerstone of the UK rail industry.

Planning Context

The Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy is due to be adopted 
in early 2017. The Local Plan Strategy sets strategic priorities 
for the development of the area, along with planning policies 
and development sites identified to guide development up 
to 2030. The Local Plan Strategy will be accompanied by the 

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.078 8 

P
age 44



site Allocations and Development Policies Document which 
the Council are currently preparing. This document will 
allocate the remaining sites proposed for future development 
and provide detailed policies to be used when considering 
planning applications. Collectively, alongside the Minerals 
and Waste Development Plan Document, once adopted these 
documents will comprise the Cheshire East Local Plan. 

The Local Plan Strategy sets out provision to allow Crewe 
to accommodate in the order of 65 hectares of employment 
land and 7,700 new homes. This includes the Strategic Sites 
set out in the Local Plan Strategy but also from non-strategic 
sites which will be allocated in the emerging Site Allocations 
and Development Plan Document. The Local Plan Strategy 
therefore guides development in Crewe up to2030.

The Framework Masterplan builds on this vision for Crewe. 
As such, the quantum of development proposed for specific 
residential sites in the Eastern, Western and Southern 
Masterplan Areas fall within the limits set by the Local 
Plan Strategy and development is intended to comply with 
any site specific principles set by the Local Plan Strategy. 
Whilst the Framework Masterplan is policy compliant in this 
regard, the intention is to make Crewe HS2-ready in order to 
capitalise on the opportunities which HS2 will create, and 
therefore includes proposals beyond the scope of the Local 
Plan Strategy (given that the LPS takes an “HS2 policy off” 
approach). This is particularly the case within the Central 
Masterplan Area, which proposes more of both commercial 
and residential development. Because of the context of 
preparing for long term change due to HS2, the Framework 
Masterplan reflects a longer timeframe of 2043.

This Framework Masterplan does not currently hold statutory 
development plan status and does not form part of the 
Cheshire East Local Plan. Going forward it is intended that 
elements of the Framework Masterplan will be adopted 
as planning policy. This will be an important mechanism to 
ensure that development is guided to achieve the Masterplan 
Vision. The approach in this regard has been influenced by 

the existing HS2 policy off context of the Local Plan Strategy. 
This context means that different aspects of the Framework 
Masterplan will need to be treated differently in planning 
policy terms.

The accompanying Implementation Framework provides 
further details on the approach to this and recommends a 
number of policy mechanisms which could be used, including 
the preparation of a Supplementary Planning Document, an 
endorsed Framework Masterplan, and inclusion within the 
emerging Site Allocations Development Plan Document. In 
the longer term it is recommended that a Local Plan Review 
is undertaken in order to account for the increased growth 
resulting from HS2. The Framework Masterplan could then be 
fully embedded within this.

This document consists of six sections:

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Presents a summary of the primary elements of the Crewe 
HS2 Hub Framework Masterplan.

2. CONTEXT

Presents an overview of Crewe within regional and sub-
regional contexts, as well as a summary of the baseline 
analysis which examines Crewe via a number of criteria at the 
local level.

3. ECONOMIC VISION

Presents economic foundation for the development of the 
spatial Framework and Masterplan Scenario, covering key 
issues such as competitiveness and strategies for delivery. 

4. FRAMEWORK KEY MOVES

Presents the primary flexible structure of the Framework. 
This section focuses on high-level strategies which identify 

more general  locations for interventions and design 
propositions. This section purposefully avoids prescriptive 
actions on specific plots to allow development to be flexible 
over time while still adhering to proposed strategies. 

5. FRAMEWORK URBAN STRATEGIES

Provides a more detailed and expansive examination of 
the Framework strategies. Topics addressed include: m5.1  
Movement, o5.3 Open Space, l5.6  Land Use Strategies,bu5.7 
Building Heights and Landmarks, t5.5  Temporary Solutions, 
po5.10 Potential Digital Strategies, r5.11 Resilience and 
Sustainabil ity Some key plots and routes, which are 
considered as integral to the success of the Framework, are 
also illustrated in more detail.

6. MASTERPLAN SCENARIO

Presents a high growth illustrative scenario developed for 
Crewe, and then proceeds to illustrate some plot specific 
design details for each of the Masterplan Areas. The Central 
Masterplan Area provides the highest level of detail, with 
specific open space and built form solutions. This Masterplan 
Scenario should be seen as a guide, and one of several 
potential outcomes, which could be implemented over the 
next thirty years.

In addition to this document, there are two associated 
documents which may be read in conjunction: Crewe HS2 
Hub Technical Appendix and Crewe HS2 Hub Implementation 
Framework.

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 9 

P
age 45



1.2 Methodology - The Agile Framework

Project objectives

Objectives and Baseline

Infrastructure

High-quality 
design

Economics Socio-political

Demographics Movement

Environment

Work in partnership

Baseline

Leverage 
strengthsQuality of life

Integrate the station

Build value

Connections

Crewe requires a plan which can guide growth over the next 
30 years and more. The Vision, Framework, and Masterplan 
Scenario build on the trajectory of change set out in the Local 
Plan Strategy which guides development up to 2030. The 
work contained within this document reflects the context 
of Crewe’s history, its Local Plan Strategy its current socio-
economic composition, its position in the wider Northern 
Gateway Development Zone, and the accelerated delivery 
of HS2 at Crewe, with first services arriving at an integrated 
station in the year 2027.

I n  o rd e r  t o  a c c o m m o d a t e  a  w i d e  a r r a y  o f  p o s s i b l e 
development outcomes over the next 30 years, a requirement 
for a resilient plan, an agile Framework with an inherent 
flexibility is proposed. The Framework provides key moves 
and urban strategies, which in most instances can be enabled 
in a number of ways, but which should be adhered to in 
principle.

As an example, a strategy in Section 5 illustrates multi-storey 
car parks in specific locations within the town centre. The 
specific locations should be understood as illustrative rather 
than prescriptive, however, the strategy which outlines the 
need for MSCP, should be seen as integral to the success of 
the framework.

In Section 6 of the document, an illustrative Masterplan 
Scenario demonstrating a “step change” growth scenario is 
presented which proposes strategies to produce specific 
solutions on specific plots with specific outcomes. The 
purpose of the Masterplan Scenario is to illustrate one of 
many possible outcomes, demonstrating the high end of 
potential growth and change in Crewe. 

The drawing to the right i l lustrates the methodology 
employed in the formation of the Vision, Framework and
Masterplan Scenario.

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0710 

P
age 46



Economic

StructureComponents
for

success

Vision
&

Framework
Masterplan Scenarios

High growth scenario

Spatial

Leadership

Authenticity
Public Realm
Communities
Infrastructure
Connectivity

Skills
Education

Employment
Productivity

Training

Governance
Partnership

Delivery
Champion

Implementation

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 11 

P
age 47



1.3 Context

Liverpool

Warrington Manchester

Sheffield

Derby

Stoke-on-Trent

Birmingham

London

Chester

50km
35min

32km
22min

20km
21min

34km
17min

85km
80min

45km
35min / HS2 21min

145km
79min

75km

59min / HS2 28min

240km

96min / HS2 55min

Crewe, along with other towns and cities in the North of 
England, is rich in opportunity. As the Government focuses 
investment to rebalance the economy and to support towns 
and cities in the north to create their own unique competitive 
advantages, it  is imperative that these towns engage 
proactively in strategic planning and delivery.

The Framework and Masterplan Scenario provide a vision 
for the future of Crewe within the context of the arrival of 
HS2. They have been developed through detailed analysis 
of baseline conditions in Crewe and the region and a 
multidisciplinary approach to developing a new vision, 
building on the town’s current strengths and future priorities.

Before HS2, there will be opportunities for the town to 
attract new residents and businesses. Crewe must be ready 
to take advantage of these: whilst the arrival of HS2 and a 
new station in Crewe is a decade in the future, the time for 
Crewe to act to set out its plans and ambitions in a strategic, 
compelling and ambitious way is now.

The emerging Local Plan makes provision for Crewe to 
accommodate around 65 hectares of employment land and 
7,700 homes by 2030, but is explicitly written for a “HS2 policy 
off” scenario. This Framework and Masterplan Scenario have 
been developed to be compliant with and build upon the 
principles, priorities and allocation priorities set out in the 
emerging Local Plan, but goes further in developing proposals 
specifically designed to make Crewe “HS2-ready” and to look 
beyond the Local Plan period to 2043.

Positive and early investment decisions on the part of 
Cheshire East Council and central government will be key 
to instilling investor confidence and setting the tone for 
future development and growth. In addition to the types of 
major interventions associated with nationally significant 
transport improvements, the Framework and Masterplan 
Scenario identify an approach to growth which recognises 
the importance of these investments as well as smaller scale, 
incremental interventions which gradually contribute towards 

delivering change. A set of early and visible moves would 
send a signal of intent to the market and put down a marker 
for the expectation of growth and change. These need not be 
large, but they should be bold, public and consistent with the 
principles of the Vision and Framework.

Context

Crewe fits within a context of a North of England economy 
which feels on the cusp of real change and growth. At present, 
it is home to around a quarter of the UK’s population and a 
fifth of its economic output. It is the largest town in Cheshire 
East with a population of just under 73,000 people and a 
younger and more diverse population than surrounding 
areas. Crewe is positioned within the middle of the Cheshire 
Countryside and forms part of the Northern Gateway 
Development Zone - an area of untapped potential with 
unrivalled connectivity. Alongside this, Crewe will soon be 
home to a new High Speed 2 station, meaning that the town 
will be better connected to London, Manchester and the rest 
of the UK. Crewe is already an important railway interchange, 
used by 4 million passengers in 2014-15. With the arrival 
of HS2 this figure will grow with more people travelling to, 
through and interchanging at Crewe.

The change in government in Summer 2016 has led to a re-
evaluation of the strategy for sub-national growth across the 
UK and there are signs that the policy focus may be shifting 
from its strong emphasis on the North’s six core cities to drive 
growth. The recently announced Industrial Strategy places 
importance on increasing productivity and driving growth 
across the whole country.

This is an opportunity for Crewe to fight for its seat at the 
table in terms of the UK growth agenda, given its strategic 
location where the Midlands Engine meets the Northern 
Powerhouse. With this Vision and Masterplan, alongside other 
policy and investment strategies being developed as part of 
the High Growth City initiative, Crewe can assert itself as part 
of the answer to delivering the potential of the Northern

Powerhouse and the Midlands Engine. It sets out how it will 
deliver some of this growth, upskill its current population; 
attract more highly skilled workers to Crewe and the 
surrounding area, to support innovation and the development 
of a knowledge economy and to accommodate city centre 
living.

Rail travel times and distances

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0712 

P
age 48



Aberdeen

Edinburgh

Newcastle

Hull

London

Birmingham

Sheffield

Leeds

Manchester
Liverpool

Crewe

Glasgow Bentley

Bombardier

Morning 
Foods

Town 
Centre

Leighton 
Hospital

Grand Junction 
Retail Park

Crewe 
Station

Gates Industrial 
Estate

A500 to M6

Crewe Green 
Business Park

Liverpool
City Region

Chester

Wrexham

Warrington

Winsford

Winsford

Stoke-on-Trent

Stone

Newcastle-
under-Lyme

Crewe

Greater
Manchester

M52

M6

WCML
HS2

To North 
Wales

Stafford

Macclesfield

Congleton

Alsager

Nantwich

Sandbach

Middlewich

Northwich

J15

Sub regional context Local context - Framework and Masterplan Scenario Area in dark greyNational context

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 13 

P
age 49



1.4 Framework & Masterplan Scenario Areas

Western Masterplan Area 
(235ha)

Central Masterplan Area 
(191ha)

Eastern Masterplan Area
(156ha)

Southern Masterplan Area 
(341ha)

The site chosen for this study is divided into four areas, named 
the Western, Eastern, Southern and Central Masterplan 
Areas. In total, the area comprises approximately 920 Ha. The 
Framework in Section 3 applies to all four areas. In Section 
4, more detail is provided for each area respectively, with 
particular focus on the Central Masterplan Area.

Central Masterplan Area

This  area includes the hear t  of  Crewe Town Centre. 
Historically, this was the confluence of the movement 
network in the town and was characterised by high-density 
terraced housing and large industrial facilities associated 
with the railways. This area forms part of Strategic Location 
SL1 Central Crewe as set out in the Local Plan Strategy.

The Town Centre has seen a significant increase in large 
scale retailers over the last several decades. The historic road 
pattern has been substantially altered and the Town Centre 
is now ringed by these large retailers and their associated 
surface car parking. 

The area is bisected by the West Coast Mainline, on the 
eastern side of which lies Grand Junction Retail Park (Grand 
Junction Retail Park), a major retail destination.

The centre of the area is bisected by Nantwich Road which 
provides access to Crewe Alexandra Stadium and Crewe 
Railway Station. The east of the site is characterised by the 
large industrial and distribution units of the Crewe Gates 
Industrial Estate.

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0714 

P
age 50



Western Masterplan Area

Located to the west of the Town Centre this area is bounded 
by Leighton Hospital to the north east. The central greenfield 
area is identified a Strategic Location for significant housing 
growth, with emerging proposals for the area adjacent 
to Bentley Motors. The south east corner consists of the 
Marshfield Bank Employment Park, an area of light industrial 
and trading estate. 

The central part of this site is characterised by large 
industrial  facilities. Bentley l ies to the west and has 
proposals to expand its facility to the north and west. The 
Bombardier facility lies adjacent to the Town Centre. At the 
eastern boundary there is a residential area that abuts the 
Town Centre, which is part of the original Victorian fabric and 
is laid out in a strong grid.

The western boundary consists of the A530 Middlewich Road, 
a major north-south route. The A532 runs through this area, 
connecting Crewe Town Centre to the west. The Masterplan 
Area is bisected by North Wales Coast Line.

Eastern Masterplan Area

The Eastern Masterplan Area is bounded to the north by 
Valley Brook, a higher education facility and A534 Crewe 
Road. The eastern most portion of this site comprises the 
successful Crewe Green Business Park, a medium density 
office development set in landscaped plots. 

The south of the area comprises the remainder of the Crewe 
Gates Industrial Estate which provides a significant number 
of jobs through a variety of businesses. This area also lies 
adjacent to Weston Road, a road corridor likely to manage 
much of the traffic arriving to the HS2 station from the region. 
The Eastern Masterplan Area, with the exception of the open 
space surrounding Valley Brook, is largely developed.

Southern Masterplan Area

Generally referred to as Basford after the manor which once 
occupied the area. Basford West is comprised of Jack Mills 
Way leading to the A500. The area comprises two strategic 
sites which are allocated in the Local Plan Strategy - Site CS1 
Basford East and Site CS2 Basford West.

This area is covered by an extant outline housing planning 
permission which is currently being built out in phases, to the 
east of the link road and logistics uses to the west. The centre 
of the site is Basford Hall railway yard, a Strategic National 
Rail Freight Interchange. 

Basford East contains a link road, David Whitby Way, leading 
to the A500. The area between the railway corridor and David 
Whitby Way is proposed primarily as industrial use, while to 
the east, residential is proposed. 

The eastern boundary of the site is Crewe Hall, a Jacobean 
mansion that now houses a hotel and conference centre. The 
area is relatively underdeveloped.

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 15 

P
age 51



B u i l d  u p o n  e x i s t i n g  a s s e t s  t o  d e v e l o p  a  p l a c e  o f 
authenticity which reflects and advances the history of 
Crewe and its residents

Leverage the town’s 
strengths

• Ensure HS2 provides more than just increased transport 
capacity.

• Encourage the development of environments for 
innovation and entrepreneurship.

• Leverage advanced supply chains associated with railway 
and automotive engineering.

• Attract and sustain mixed communities.
• Nurture future-proof employment sectors.
• Enhance the centre of Crewe as a place to visit, shop and 

spend time.

Improve the quality of life for all by setting ambitious and 
resilient social, economic and environmental targets.

Improve quality of 
life

• Increase the number of high-value jobs.
• Create a greener Crewe with greater access to places of 

recreation and leisure.
• Improve the social infrastructure offer.
• Establish a clear link to the countryside.
• Explore innovative infrastructure solutions to improve 

health and well-being.
• Drive up aspiration of existing residents.

Build upon existing and future assets to generate value in 
the short, medium and long-term.

Build value

• React at speed, and be agile and responsive to change.
• Drive early wins to build momentum.
• Create pride and appreciation of place.
• Invest in the people of Crewe.
• Create synergies which work with the implementation of 

large infrastructure.

1.5 Objectives

Crewe’s Framework for development is guided by a series of 
core objectives which have been developed in coordination 
with key stakeholders to ensure that the Vision for Crewe is 
consistent with local and regional aims over the next 25 years. 
The objectives address both the physical nature of place, as 
well as the mechanisms required to ensure success and they 
have directly informed the development of the Framework 
and Masterplan Scenario. 

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0716 

P
age 52



Achieve success by ensuring that stakeholders are aligned 
and working collaboratively to achieve the best outcomes 
for Crewe and its population, now and into the future. 

Work in 
partnership

• Ensure stakeholders are involved from the start.
• Explore innovative delivery mechanisms and 

partnerships.
• Facilitate clear and open communication.
• Establish a strategic approach to unlock potential for the 

wider area.
• Take the lead and smooth the way to create confidence 

and certainty for investors and the general population.
• Develop investment plans based on shared priorities.

Ensure the station and the existing town centre form a 
connected and complementary whole.

Integrate the 
station

• Create high-quality gateways which immediately 
communicates the future aspirations and qualities of 
Crewe to those that arrive.

• Enable multi-modal movement from the station to the 
rest of the town.

• Establish active uses in and around the station area.
• Develop a station which best serves both local residents 

as well as regional commuters.

Create an integrated multi-modal transport network with 
unparalleled connectivity to local, regional and national 
destinations.

Connect town, region 
& country

• Encourage modal shift by improving streets, creating 
inviting walking and cycling environments, and by 
developing an exemplary public transport system.

• Improve legibility and address the severance caused by 
the railway corridors.

• Introduce new programmes and activities which 
encourage people to use the town in new ways and for 
longer periods of time.

• Develop a smart transport infrastructure.

Demand exceptional design quality to maximise the 
benefits of change and to help improve perceptions of 
Crewe. 

Ensure high-quality 
design

• Ensure that development contributes to the resilience 
and sustainability of Crewe 

• Develop diverse building types which add character and 
support a broader mix of people and activities

• Design spaces and streets that are safe and delight.
• Celebrate and leverage the historic built environment.
• Maintain a human-scale environment.
• Maintain the emerging high standards and character 

focused design being established by Cheshire East 
Council

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 17 

P
age 53



The Crewe HS2 Hub Framework & Masterplan Scenario promotes a flexible approach to 
future growth and development to ensure that Crewe has the foundations in place for 
growth and investment, while remaining agile enough to respond to new opportunities as 
they arise. The Framework & Masterplan Scenario propose a Crewe which:

• Maximises the benefits of improved connectivity and infrastructure. 
• Rebrands itself by creating a clear relationship with its rural Cheshire hinterland.
• Draws on and builds upon long established sectors in the local economy. 
• Unlocks productivity benefits for the economy and wider region.

1.6 Outcomes

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0718 

P
age 54



CURRENT FUTURE

GVA
£1.1 bn £2.9 bn

595,000m2107,000m2
COMMERCIAL 
FLOORSPACE

3,500 10,600HOMES

23,000 60,000
JOBS

*The future outcomes demonstrate the potential capacity for gross additional space, homes, jobs and GVA 
that could be added to the Crewe economy by 2043 based on a high-growth scenario. The future figures 
presented are cumulative - equal to the existing figure plus potential growth.

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 19 

P
age 55



1.7 Competitiveness and Future Crewe

The arrival of HS2 will bring a huge boost to Crewe, and the wider 
Northern Gateway, in terms of its attractiveness as a place to 
do business, and to live and work. However, connectivity is just 
one element in competitiveness. Whilst all places have different 
characteristics and selling points, successful and competitive 
cities tend to share a number of common characteristics. In 
order for Crewe to realise its full
potential and maximise the benefits from HS2, it will need 
to address the other elements of competitiveness in which it 
underperforms.

An analysis of Crewe’s performance across elements 
of competitiveness (see adjacent) shows it  currently 
underperforms in a number of the areas generally thought of 
as being important for driving growth. If Crewe simply awaits 
improved transport connectivity without addressing other 
underlying factors which are reducing competitiveness, it will 
miss the true value of the opportunity offered by HS2. Not all of 
these issues are easily addressed; Crewe struggles in terms of 
the ‘global appeal’ factors such as global quality institutions and 
think tanks and these are perhaps unlikely to change over a 30-
year time horizon. But there are several factors where Crewe is 
currently underperforming which can be addressed through the 
Framework and Masterplan Scenario set out in this document 
(for example, quality of urban public transport, cultural vibrancy, 
quality of landscape). Several more fall outside the scope of the 
Masterplan but are within the control of Cheshire East Council 
and the Northern Gateway Development Zone to a greater or 
lesser extent (government effectiveness, social and cultural 
diversity and openness, quality of education). More broadly, 
efforts to raise the aspirations of local people, a focus on 
productivity, growing and retaining local disposable income, and 
providing strong leadership, will be part of the answer in terms of 
driving forward ambitious growth plans. 

Economic Vision and Strategy for Growth

One of Crewe’s major strengths is its location – not only its 
position as a gateway to the North and its proximity to the cities 
of the Northern Powerhouse, but also its position within the 
Cheshire Plain and its beautiful landscape. This is an untapped 
resource and the introduction of the countryside back into 
Crewe, through improved green spaces and linkages, provides 
an enormous opportunity to not only improve the lives of its 
citizens, but also to redefine the character and identity of the 
town as part of the heart of Cheshire.

The twin strengths of Crewe’s current and future connections to 
the major economic nodes of the future Northern Powerhouse 
and its accessibility to the beautiful landscapes of the Cheshire 
Plains offer a springboard for growing a wider and more 
knowledge-focused economy. As the advanced economies 
restructure towards a focus on human capital – people – as the 
most valuable asset in the production of goods and services, the 
ability to connect with a diversity of workplaces and people, and 
the ability to offer a high-quality of life become of paramount 
importance in competitiveness and success. 

Crewe therefore has a natural advantage it can build on to 
broaden its economic base, continuing to grow the sectors in 
which it has traditional strengths including fostering high value 
supply chains, whilst being better placed to attract business 
from knowledge based sectors such as financial and business 
service and digital, technology and creative. 

Economically, the focus will be on cultivating the fundamentals 
of growth through education, skills, innovation and amenity. 
The Framework & Masterplan Scenario is not predicated on 
targeting specific sectors, or picking winners, but on arming 
Crewe with the necessary underpinnings to build a broad 
economic base, which supports the agility to respond to future 
opportunities as they arise in the future. 

It is likely that over the period to 2043, the current most 
important sectors to Crewe’s economy will remain so – these 

sectors include retail activities, employment activities (which 
include recruitment agencies) and motor vehicle manufacturing. 
However, there are some indications of recent growth in the 
digital sector (computer programming, consultancy and related 
activities), and Crewe’s existing and future connectivity will mean 
that future growth seems likely. Others sectors stand to benefit 
from this accessibility including parts of the service sector as 
well as warehousing and support activities.

There are clear areas where gains could be made in elements 
that will be critical to Crewe’s future success. Our analysis 
suggests Crewe should focus on improving those elements of 
competitiveness in which it is lacking, which are addressed 
through the vision set out in this document. They include:

• Raising aspirations of local people generally, and younger 
residents specifically.

• Raising GDP and worker productivity by developing an 
offer that is attractive to high value added sectors and 
supporting innovation.

• Increasing disposable income by improving skills, 
education and focusing on attracting employment which 
provides average or above average wages.

• Improving the quality of infrastructure in the town 
including pedestrian experience and the proposed public 
transport loop linking the Town Centre with Crewe Hub.

• Providing strong local leadership and governance to drive 
forward a strong vision for Crewe and provide certainty to 
potential investors.

• Increasing the retention of local disposable income spent 
on the local retail and leisure offer.

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0720 

P
age 56



Key

Economic Strength

1. GDP / capita, GDP / worker, growth rate
2. Regional market integration
3. Household consumption power

Physical Strength

4. Quality of infrastructure
5. Quality of urban public transport
6. Quality of telecoms

Financial Maturity

7. Breadth/depth of financial cluster
8. Location of major financial institutions

Institutional Character

9. Government effectiveness
10. Local government fiscal autonomy

Social & Cultural Character

11. Crime rates
12. Cultural vibrancy
13. Openness & diversity

Human Capital

14. Population growth, working age population
15. Quality of education
16. Entrepreneurship & risk taking mindset
17. Quality of healthcare
18. Hiring of foreign nationals 

* Categories adapted for Crewe Framework based on “Hot Spots: Benchmarking Global City Competitiveness”, Citigroup for the Economist 
Intelligence Unit, January 2012

• Increasing the cultural vibrancy within Crewe and creating 
an open and diverse place with a particular focus on the 
town centre.

• Improve the quality of education available, from school 
education through to tertiary education.

• Improve the quality of the local landscape and character, 
bringing the Cheshire landscape into Crewe and delivering 
new and improved green spaces.

• Ensuring the benefits of increased connectivity delivered 
by HS2 is realised through connectivity within Crewe and 
via interchange at Crewe station.

• Provide strong leadership to Crewe’s higher education 
sector including managing the transition arrangements 
for the current MMU campus and developing a future 
strategy which meets the needs of the Crewe economy.

Crewe Today Future Crewe

1 2 3 4
5

6
7

8
9

10
11

12
13

14151617
18

19

20
21

22

23
24

25

Environmental & Natural Hazards

19. Quality of landscape & character
20. Pollution and environmental 
degradation

Global Appeal

21. National and international connectivity
22. Global business attractiveness
23. Conference/ convention offer
24. Higher education leadership
25. Globally renowned think-tanks

1 2 3 4
5

6
7

8
9

10
11

12
13

14151617
18

19

20
21

22

23
24

25

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 21 

P
age 57



Future Crewe will be a place of many distinct, but well-
connected places appealing to a large number of potential 
residents, businesses, and investors.

A revitalised Town Centre which leverages new retail , 
educational, residential and cultural offerings to create a 
place where people want to live, work and play. 

A new station integrated within a revitalised district, Crewe 
Hub, combining business and residential development 
opportunities with direct access to the Town Centre, the wider 
region and the rest of the UK.

A re-established connection to the Cheshire countryside 
which moves through Crewe Hub and station, providing 
amenity, value and an authentic identity which is immediately 
established as passengers arrive at the station.

1.8 Future Crewe

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0722 

P
age 58



New public spaces that activate new and existing assets 
within Crewe, creating value and legibility for improved, 
comfortable and safer movement.

New assets that improve the quality of life for all residents 
and visitors injecting new activity into the Town Centre by 
providing a wider mix of leisure and cultural offerings.

Strong leadership working in partnership with a wide array 
of stakeholders to create new and diverse development 
opportunities in Crewe.

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 23 

P
age 59



Crewe utilises seven Key Moves to realise the 
Project Objectives; these form the strategic 
foundation for the development and growth 
of Crewe without defining overly prescriptive 
o u tc o m e s  o n  s p e c i f i c  s i te s  w i t h i n  t h e 
Framework area . They are  the f lexible 
backbone of the physical regeneration of 
Crewe allowing multiple outcomes, and 
creating the agility required to respond 
to market changes, land availability and 
investment.

Define Complementary Centres Reinvigorate the Town Centre Rationalise the Road Hierarchy

Improve Permeability of the Rail 
Corridors

Create Clear Links Between Town 
& Station

Link Neighbourhoods, Assets & Centres 
via an Integrated Green Network

Consolidation of the Town Centre with 
additional cultural, leisure and mixed 
residential uses 

Connect the Town Centre and Crewe 
Hub with enhanced, multi-modal routes, 
while improving connectivity to the 
countryside.

Improve permeability through railway 
corridors using new and updated 
infrastructure. 

Two complimentary centres, Crewe Town 
Centre & Crewe Hub, each providing a 
unique offer.

Transform the movement network 
to allow easy access to and from the 
station, while reducing vehicular traffic 
in the town.

Connect existing and new pieces of open 
space in an integrated network of streets 
and routes.

1.9 Crewe’s Seven Key Moves

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0724 

P
age 60



H S 2  i s  t h e  m o s t  c r u c i a l  c o m p o n e n t 
contributing to the transformation of Crewe. 
It will change the way people live, work, visit 
and experience Crewe. The Framework and 
Masterplan Scenario propose to tie the major 
connectivity improvements presented by 
the railway to the qualitative and identity 
transformation essential for Crewe’s wider 
regeneration and uplift. New open spaces 
in central Crewe, connections linking the 
station and town centre and access to the 
wider countryside help to remake Crewe’s 
i d e n t i t y  i n  t h e  i m a g e  o f  t h e  C h e s h i r e 
landscape. The inclusion of local Cheshire 
landscape elements within and adjacent 
to the new station and railway ensure that 
this perception is enforced immediately 
upon arrival into Crewe and aid in creating a 
distinct and authentic place.

Unify the Station and Town with 
the Cheshire Landscape

Draw landscape into the centre of Crewe to 
provide amenity, improve the perception of 
the town and to increase value.

*note station and all buildings are indicative

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 25 

P
age 61



1.10 Masterplan Scenario Overview

Industrial 348,868 m2

Commercial 63,018 m2

Retail -

Residential 114,411 m2

Culture/Education -

Light Industrial 47,264 m2

TOTAL 573,561m2

Industrial -

Commercial 10,172 m2

Retail -

Residential 20,225 m2

Culture / Education -

Light Industrial -

TOTAL 30,397 m2

Industrial 505,129 m2

Commercial 42,732 m2

Retail -

Residential 251,738 m2

Culture / Education -

Light Industrial 74,652 m2

TOTAL 871,251 m2

Industrial -

Commercial 370,941 m2

Retail 133,414 m2

Residential 373,496 m2

Culture / Education 15,667 m2

Light Industrial 10,170 m2

TOTAL 903,687 m2

Comprehensive change
Partial change or refurbishment
No change

Legend

Central Masterplan Area

Western Masterplan Area

Eastern Masterplan Area

Southern Masterplan Area

The Masterplan Scenario has been developed on the basis of 
a high-growth scenario and provides an indication of the total 
potential development capacity within the area by 2043. The 
Masterplan Scenario considers the appropriate use for each 
plot and provides a breakdown of floorspace capacity by each 
of the Masterplan Areas.

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0726 

P
age 62



Illustrative masterplan

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 27 

P
age 63



1.11 Masterplan Scenario Area Description

Industrial

Light Industrial

Commercial

Residential

Land Uses

The Eastern Masterplan Area is approximately 156ha in size. The area is currently 
dominated by three main entities: Crewe Gates Industrial Estate, Crewe Business 
Park and the current site of Manchester Metropolitan University. This area is an 
important existing source of employment. Compared to other parts of Crewe, 
the Masterplan Scenario do not propose significant change in this area, with the 
exception of 150 additional homes at Crewe Green and a limited number of new 
commercial plots. At present, the area is home to a number of car dealerships, 
logistics and small and medium enterprise units. The overall character of the area 
is unlikely to change significantly during the Masterplan Scenario period, however 
the plan does identify options to increase the integration of the business park to the 
Valley Brook and particularly to the new HS2 station as part of wider connectivity 
plans.

The Western Masterplan Area is approximately 235ha in size. It is anticipated that 
the Western area will provide new residential and industrial space, anchored by 
Bentley and the expansion of the Bentley Campus and the Leighton West urban 
extension area.  The plans for an expanded Bentley Motors will define much of the 
character of the Western Area while consolidated residential urban grain to the east 
will connect with the Town Centre. Some additional workspace is also proposed on 
the Bombardier site. In line with the Local Plan, the Masterplan Scenario provides 
approximately 850 homes. A small component of retail and social infrastructure will 
support the needs of new residents.

4 beds

3 beds

850

Housing Units

30
dph

Commercial

Residential

4 beds

3 beds

2 beds

150

Residential Density Residential Density

Land Uses Housing Units

30
dph

Eastern Masterplan AreaWestern Masterplan Area

2 beds

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0728 

P
age 64



Southern Masterplan Area Central Masterplan Area

The Southern Masterplan Area is approximately 341ha in size and is primarily 
comprised of the greenfield sites of Basford East and West which are designated 
as core strategy housing sites - areas of which have already received planning 
permission and building is under way. The area also includes the Grade I listed Crewe 
Hall, Crewe Hall Enterprise Park and the South Cheshire Growth Village.  This area 
will provide light and general industrial and residential uses with some commercial 
use at Crewe Hall Enterprise Park. At Basford West, there are opportunities to 
incorporate a Rail Hub which would build on the existing presence of rail industries in 
the town and potential new education opportunities. 

1,870

Residential Density Residential Density

30
dph

Industrial

Commercial

Residential

4 beds

3 beds

2 beds

Land Uses Housing Units

The Central Masterplan Area is approximately 191ha and is comprised of four 
primary areas, Crewe Town Centre, development around Mill Street and Macon Way 
and the proposed Crewe Hub near the station. The Central Area will be home to a 
wide variety of uses and will require a high level of integration with existing assets. 
The presence of the Valley Brook will be enhanced and celebrated, linking the Town 
Centre to Crewe Hub and drawing the Cheshire landscape into Crewe and through 
the station. There will be a mix of land uses, including an introduction of residential 
both within Crewe Town Centre and Crewe Hub. The area to the east of Crewe station 
will see the most dramatic transformation with the creation of a new commercial and 
residential mixed-use community which will deliver high-quality office space and 
urban living

Retail

Cultural

Commercial

Light Industrial

Residential

3 beds

2 beds
1 bed

Studio

4,235

Land Uses Housing Units

150
dph

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 29 

P
age 65



Central Masterplan Area

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0730 

P
age 66



CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 31 

P
age 67



Crewe Town Centre is a significant distance from the train 
station, and there is no direct or clearly defined route 
between the two. The arrival of HS2 will encourage new 
growth and development around the station. To ensure that 
both parts of Crewe benefit from future growth opportunities, 
it will  be essential to ensure that there is a clear and 
complementary vision and strategy for both areas. 

This Masterplan Scenario envisages two distinct centres: 
the Town Centre and Crewe Hub. They will both be supported 
by a network of smaller neighbourhood centre which will 
provide for day to day needs, small scale retail and social 
infrastructure. 

Crewe Town Centre will be a consolidated town centre with 
a strong retail offer as well as a range of other cultural, 
education and leisure uses. It will be pedestrian friendly with 
space and amenities to support civic life. The reintroduction 
of residential uses will help to increase vitality in the town 
centre, stretching activity later into the evening. 

Crew Hub will be home to regionally significant employment 
and education opportunities providing the accommodation 
and ancillary amenities needed to support an environment 
where businesses can take advantage of the enhanced 
connectivity offered by HS2.

In order to ensure that the two centres complement each 
other and benefit from each other’s success, a number of 
loops have been identified. These loops will connect the Town 
Centre and Crewe via the Grand Junction Retail Park and Mill 
Street.

Leighton

Leighton West Coppenhall

Wistaston Green

Wistaston

Maw Green

St. Barnabas

Woolstanwood

Nantwich Road

Crewe Green

The Village

Sydney

Basford West
Basford East

1.12 Two Connected Centres, One Crewe

Crewe Town Centre

Local Local

Regional Regional

National

Crewe Hub

Culture

Station

Students

Heritage

Landscape
Conference

Connected

ConnectedUrban
Mixed

LivingLeisure

Integrated

Education

Commerce

Recreation

Business

Learning

Network

History

Regional

Civic

Community

Walkable

Connected

Legible

Legible

Nightlife

Commuting

Cafes

Shopping

Accessible

Crewe Hub

Crewe Town Centre

Primary levels of influence and 
interaction by centreCharacteristics by centre

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0732 

P
age 68



• Create an “RT loop” served by rapid 
transit public transport (potentially 
employing driverless technology) which 
links the Town Centre, Crewe Hub, the 
station and Grand Junction Retail Park.

• As development progresses, generate an 
additional “Green Loop” which provides 
a safer, quieter and healthier movement 
corridor for pedestrians and cyclists 
while adding value and frontage to 
proposed development.

• Both loops will vary in intensity and 
activity throughout their course. Areas of 
highest intensity will be focussed in the 
centres, the station and Grand Junction 
Retail Park.

• A secondary level of activity is proposed 
along Mill Street through the creation of 
new frontage and active programmes.

• The loops will overlap and share the 
same corridors in certain areas.

• Early phases of the loops will seek to 
address current and pressing issues.

• The first stage of the RT loop connects 
the existing station and the Town Centre.

• The second stage of the Green loop 
connects the town centre and Grand 
Junction Retail Park.

• Other stages will follow the proposed 
phasing of development, ensuring their 
integration with both Crewe Hub and the 
Town Centre.

2 Loops

PhasingActivity

• Destinations that create demand in 
Crewe will be added to the loop in order 
to service the assets at the periphery of 
the town. 

• It is anticipated that Leighton Hospital, 
the Bentley Campus and South Cheshire 
College as well as new residential 
communities in areas such as Basford 
and Leighton West will all be directly 
linked to the loop.

• By linking these assets to the loop it 
reinforces sustainable commuting 
options and connects residents 
employees to the Town Centre and 
station.

Expansion

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 33 

P
age 69



A revitalised town celebrating culture and 
leisure

• A strengthened retail offer built on 
existing strengths, new offers, and 
increased quality to attract people from 
across the region.

• A place with opportunities for eating, 
drinking and leisure. 

• A sub-regional centre of arts and culture, 
with exhibits which celebrate Cheshire’s 
heritage. 

• New residential development opportunities 
to reinvigorate and activate the town for 
longer periods of the day.

• Improved gateways at the Town Centre 
edge providing legibility for visitors and 
residents. P

B

P

P

CREWE TOWN CENTRE

Main pedestrian axis
Secondary links
Gateway
Key buildings
New buildings
Pedestrian area

Legend

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0734 

P
age 70



CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 35 

P
age 71



A vibrant hub of innovation and enterprise

• A new place in Crewe defined by wider 
regional and national connectivity 
provided by HS2 and close proximity to 
the M6.

• An attractive place to invest with a 
clear vision and high-quality, flexible 
development plots able to support a 
range of business types and uses. 

• A hub of talent, business, connectivity 
and ideas.

• A coherent, pedestrian friendly urban 
environment with several multi-modal 
transport options.

• A station and place characterised by 
its strong connection to the Cheshire 
landscape.

P

B

CREWE HUB

Main pedestrian axis
Secondary links
Gateway
Key buildings
New buildings
Pedestrian area

Legend

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0736 

P
age 72



CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 37 

P
age 73



The street that stitches it all together.

• Mill Street provides opportunities to both 
live and work. Vibrant and well defined it 
demonstrates Crewe’s vitality as people 
move between the Town Centre and the 
Hub.

• Significant opportunities for residential 
led development adjacent to an 
established neighbourhood. Immediately 
benefiting from the services of the 
Nantwich Road local centre.

• High footfall associated with the Loop 
which will drive foot, cycle and public 
transport journeys through, creating 
excellent conditions for convenience 
retail and small commercial units.

• A great street, and a place in its own right.

MILL STREET

P

B

P

B

P

P

Main pedestrian axis
Secondary links
Gateway
Key buildings
New buildings
Pedestrian area

Legend

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0738 

P
age 74



CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 39 

P
age 75



The Masterplan Scenario and supporting Implementation 
Framework identify a number of interventions on the basis of 
a phased delivery approach. 

Delivery and governance 

A clear and robust approach to delivery will be essential 
to realising the potential for growth in Crewe. Lessons 
from other places indicate that strong leadership within a 
supportive policy environment which is resourced with the 
appropriate tools and funding is the most effective approach 
to achieving ambitious objectives.  

Strong governance will be required to deliver the Masterplan 
Scenario. I t  is  recommended that  responsibi l i ty  for 
implementation and leadership rests with Cheshire East 
Council and is informed by engagement with the Northern 
Gateway Partnership.  

Key sites and interventions 

W i t h i n  e a c h  o f  t h e  p h a s e s , k e y  s i t e s , a c t i o n s  a n d 
interventions have been selected and these are outlined in 
detail in the supporting Implementation Framework. 

The key sites represent development opportunities which will 
set the tone for future development, build confidence in the 
developer market and will operate as ‘quick wins’ to underpin 
a transition towards two complementary centres. 
Viability 

The analysis undertaken in relation to development viability 
on a number of key comparator plots indicates that at current 
values, it will be challenging to deliver a number of uses in 
Crewe including residential development. Early phases of 
development will therefore require some level of public sector 
support. 

Relocation strategies 

The redevelopment of a number of existing sites will be 
required in order to deliver the future planned growth 
in Crewe. This is largely relevant to a number of sites in 
close proximity to the HS2 station in phases 2 and 3 of the 
Masterplan Scenario. A strategy needs to be developed to 
ensure that where it is not appropriate for uses to remain 
in their current location, a viable alternative is identified. 
While the Implementation Framework suggests that some 
relocated uses could be provided within the Basford sites, a 
more holistic strategy must be developed which considers 
a range of sites which sit outside the boundaries of this 
Framework and Masterplan Scenario.

2017 - 2021

• These sites are currently being brought forward or are 
likely to be redeveloped in the near future. In line with 
strategic policies and extant planning permissions.

• Key developments in the town centre will help establish 
the Cultural Quarter and Route and will begin the process 
of re-invention.

• The Royal Arcade site is anticipated to come forward, 
increasing the high-quality retail and leisure offer in the 
Town Centre. 

• The industrial elements of Basford East and West will 
offer a substantive increase in provision for industrial and 
logistics related uses. This will ensure the retention of 
employment space which supports and expands the uses 
that already thrive in this strategic location. 

1.13 Phasing

Developing Plots
Key Development Plots
Mature/ing Development Plots
Mature/ing Key Development 
Plots

Legend

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0740 

P
age 76



2021 - 2027

• Crewe Town Centre will benefit from its enhanced 
retail, leisure and cultural offer and will be maturing. 
Enhancements to the Southern Gateway at the Mill 
Street underbridge will be embedded by a high-quality 
development which marks the transition into the new 
Town Centre.

• Mill Street will see intensification through this phase, 
using development to aid an attractive and comfortable 
route from the Hub to the Town Centre.

• As the operational construction requirements of HS2 wind 
down key plots in the Crewe Hub will come forward for 
development in close proximity to the station.

• As market conditions improve large-scale strategic 
housing sites will come forward in Basford and Leighton. 

2027 - 2033

• Crewe Town Centre continues to mature, with 
predominantly residential developments coming forward 
in order to embed the character and vibrancy of the town 
centre. Mill Street’s transformation is also completed.

• The remainder of Crewe Hub becomes attractive as HS2 
becomes established and businesses seek to co-locate in 
the same area.

• As Crewe Hub establishes itself as a business location, 
existing light industrial, workshop and logistics activities 
are retained and relocated. 

• After 10 years of rail infrastructure upgrades and 
improvements, Basford becomes an attractive location for 
rail related activities and training facilities.

2033 - 2043

• As HS2 becomes fully operational it is anticipated that the 
currently marginal plots become viable.

• The Grand Junction Retail Park offers the potential to 
become a mixed-use commercial, retail fully integrated 
with the Town Centre. 

• A new village will come forward coalescing around Crewe 
Hall, at the South Cheshire Growth Village strategic 
location.

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 41 

P
age 77



2017

G
R

O
W

TH

Parking 
strategy

Wayfinding

P&R 
analysis

RT Pilot

RT 
expansion

Expansion of 
PT offer

Redefine 
Nantwich 
Bridge Rd

P&R 
implementa-

tion Expanded RT 
route

Vernon Way 
public realm 

improvements

Extend Valley 
Brook Park

Cycle 
programme

Cycle 
programme

Expand Valley 
Brook sites

MSCP 
implementa-

tion

MSCP 
implementa-

tion

Gateway from 
Mill Street
progressed

Gateway 
junction to 

Station Area

Eastern 
access 

improvements

Southern road 
bridge studies

Southern road 
bridge

Increased 
pedestrianisa-

tion of the 
town centre

Continued 
pedestrianisa-

tion of the 
town centre

Temporary 
land use along 

Mill Street

Expanded 
green network 

to include 
neighbourhood 

centres

Safeguard 
Valley Brook 

sites

Expand 
walking & 

cycling 
routes

Pedestrian 
bridge to 

Grand 
Junction Retail 

Park

Mill Street 
improvements

Town Centre 
retail

Site 
accumulation

Strategy for 
sites east of 

station

Strategy for 
HS2 skills and 

training 
opportunities

Strategy for 
Hewitt St / 
Gresty Rd 

allowing for 
NW station 

entrance
New pilot 

office project 
to set 

aspirationFrontage 
improvements 
Nantwich Rd / 

Mill St 

Initial phase of 
commercial 

cluster

Commercial 
cluster 

expansion 
around station

Rail House 
new podium & 

frontageBranding 
and 

communica-
tions around 

HS2

Events & 
management 
programme

UTC, South 
Cheshire 

College, MMU

Skills, Employ-
ment & Training 

programme

Housing 
strategy

Improved Town 
Centre 

commercial 
space

Strengthening & 
maturing retail 

offer
Housing 
strategy

Cheshire
Archives

Rebranding & 
Repositioning

Cultural axis 
develpment

Outdoor 
performance 

space and 
cinema

Temporary 
installations

Programmed 
temporal uses

Workspaces

Small scale 
SME’s

Expanded 
SME

Suppport for 
small 

businesses 

Student 
housing

Specialist 
market

Boost 
night-time 
economy

New 
independent 

retail 
specialists

Gourmet 
F&B offer

Cultural axis 
completion

Increased 
services

Family 
housing

Multiple 
cultural / arts 

venues

Clear 
connections to 

countryside

Increased 
F&B offer

Market 
re-visioning

Increased 
integration and 

pedestrianisation 
of Grand Junction 

Retail ParkMaker Lab / 
Club

Expanded HE / 
FE offer

Temporary 
job fair

Temporary 
exhibitions

Lyceum 
Theatre

Memorial 
Square 

refurbishment

Decluttering 
of public 

realm

Transport 
land use 
strategy

Rail House 
refurbishment

Expanded 
HE offer

Provision of 
SME’s

Innovation 
Lab

Gresty 
Square

Increased 
services

F&B offer

Improved 
connectivity to 
CBP and MMU 

campus

NW station 
entrance 

redevelopment

Commercial 
development 

Railway St

New frontage 
along 

Alexandra 
Stadium

Improved 
connectivity to 
CBP and MMU 

campus

Associated 
retail

Governance 
and 

partnership

Hotel and 
conferencing 

facilities

Frontage 
improvements

Royal Arcade 
redevelopment

Temporary 
land use 
strategy

Improved 
integration of 

Grand Junction 
Retail Park

1.14 The Process Begins Now

There is much that can be done now to maximise the 
benefits associated with HS2. It is important that the 
process of regenerating the Town Centre begins now and 
that momentum builds prior to HS2 arriving in order to 
safeguard the longevity of the Town Centre.

Crewe’s sectoral growth is expected to be organic, building 
on historic, existing and future strengths. The diagram 
on the right illustrates some of these assets and the way 
in which they may be developed into new opportunities. 
Three primary areas are shown: Crewe Town Centre, Crewe 
Hub, and Infrastructure, which is a broad description of 
interventions which include movement, transport, open 
space, etc. and which has positive impacts for both the 
Town Centre and Crewe Hub. 

The diagram focuses on Stages 1 and 2 where there is 
more certainty in terms of projects and infrastructure 
requirements. It is intended to be illustrative, however a 
more detailed exploration of implementation can be found 
in the separate Crewe HS2 Hub Implementation Framework 
that accompanies this document.

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0742 

P
age 78



Parking 
strategy

Wayfinding

P&R 
analysis

RT Pilot

RT 
expansion

Expansion of 
PT offer

Redefine 
Nantwich 
Bridge Rd

P&R 
implementa-

tion Expanded RT 
route

Vernon Way 
public realm 

improvements

Extend Valley 
Brook Park

Cycle 
programme

Cycle 
programme

Expand Valley 
Brook sites

MSCP 
implementa-

tion

MSCP 
implementa-

tion

Gateway from 
Mill Street
progressed

Gateway 
junction to 

Station Area

Eastern 
access 

improvements

Southern road 
bridge studies

Southern road 
bridge

Increased 
pedestrianisa-

tion of the 
town centre

Continued 
pedestrianisa-

tion of the 
town centre

Temporary 
land use along 

Mill Street

Expanded 
green network 

to include 
neighbourhood 

centres

Safeguard 
Valley Brook 

sites

Expand 
walking & 

cycling 
routes

Pedestrian 
bridge to 

Grand 
Junction Retail 

Park

Mill Street 
improvements

Town Centre 
retail

Site 
accumulation

Strategy for 
sites east of 

station

Strategy for 
HS2 skills and 

training 
opportunities

Strategy for 
Hewitt St / 
Gresty Rd 

allowing for 
NW station 

entrance
New pilot 

office project 
to set 

aspirationFrontage 
improvements 
Nantwich Rd / 

Mill St 

Initial phase of 
commercial 

cluster

Commercial 
cluster 

expansion 
around station

Rail House 
new podium & 

frontageBranding 
and 

communica-
tions around 

HS2

Events & 
management 
programme

UTC, South 
Cheshire 

College, MMU

Skills, Employ-
ment & Training 

programme

Housing 
strategy

Improved Town 
Centre 

commercial 
space

Strengthening & 
maturing retail 

offer
Housing 
strategy

Cheshire
Archives

Rebranding & 
Repositioning

Cultural axis 
develpment

Outdoor 
performance 

space and 
cinema

Temporary 
installations

Programmed 
temporal uses

Workspaces

Small scale 
SME’s

Expanded 
SME

Suppport for 
small 

businesses 

Student 
housing

Specialist 
market

Boost 
night-time 
economy

New 
independent 

retail 
specialists

Gourmet 
F&B offer

Cultural axis 
completion

Increased 
services

Family 
housing

Multiple 
cultural / arts 

venues

Clear 
connections to 

countryside

Increased 
F&B offer

Market 
re-visioning

Increased 
integration and 

pedestrianisation 
of Grand Junction 

Retail ParkMaker Lab / 
Club

Expanded HE / 
FE offer

Temporary 
job fair

Temporary 
exhibitions

Lyceum 
Theatre

Memorial 
Square 

refurbishment

Decluttering 
of public 

realm

Transport 
land use 
strategy

Rail House 
refurbishment

Expanded 
HE offer

Provision of 
SME’s

Innovation 
Lab

Gresty 
Square

Increased 
services

F&B offer

Improved 
connectivity to 
CBP and MMU 

campus

NW station 
entrance 

redevelopment

Commercial 
development 

Railway St

New frontage 
along 

Alexandra 
Stadium

Improved 
connectivity to 
CBP and MMU 

campus

Associated 
retail

Governance 
and 

partnership

Hotel and 
conferencing 

facilities

Frontage 
improvements

Royal Arcade 
redevelopment

Temporary 
land use 
strategy

Improved 
integration of 

Grand Junction 
Retail Park

Town
Town Town

Station Hub Hub

20272021

2016 2043

Crewe Town Centre

Crewe Hub

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 43 

P
age 79



MILL STREET/VERNON WAY ROUNDABOUT & MILL 
STREET UNDERBRIDGE IMPROVEMENTS

MILL STREET RE-DEFINITION

NANTWICH ROAD BRIDGE RE-DEFINITION

GATEWAY JUNCTION TO STATION AREA

NEW SOUTHERN ROAD BRIDGE

ALEXANDRA STADIUM

STATION INTERCHANGE AREA

NANTWICH ROAD

A534 TO NANTWICH
VALLEY BROOK PARK

A500 BYPASS

TO M6

HS2 TO LONDON & BIRMINGHAM

JACK MILLS WAY
BASFORD WEST

BASFORD EAST

HS2 STATION

MULTI-STOREY CAR PARK

TO STOKE ON TRENT

TO NORTH WALES

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.0744 

P
age 80



MILL STREET/VERNON WAY ROUNDABOUT & MILL 
STREET UNDERBRIDGE IMPROVEMENTS

MILL STREET RE-DEFINITION

NANTWICH ROAD BRIDGE RE-DEFINITION

STATION INTERCHANGE AREA

HS2 HUB EASTERN GATEWAY

MULTI-STOREY CAR PARKS

CULTURAL QUARTER AND ROUTE

HIGH-QUALITY TOWN CENTRE RESIDENTIAL

RT ROUTE

RT ROUTE

LANDSCAPE ENHANCEMENTS

FURTHER EDUCATION OFFER

NEW PEDESTRIAN BRIDGE

BENTLEY CAMPUS

COUNTRY PARK

VERNON WAY/EARLE STREET GATEWAY

HUNGERFORD ROAD & MACON WAY ROUTE IMPROVEMENT 

CREWE GREEN ROUNDABOUT IMPROVEMENTS

A534 TO SANDBACH

CREWE GREEN

GRADE I CREWE HALL

SOUTH CHESHIRE GROWTH VILLAGE

HS2 STATION

ENTERPRISE HUB

HIGH-QUALITY RESIDENTIAL IN 
A MIXED-USE ENVIRONMENT

MULTI-STOREY CAR PARK

MEMORIAL SQUARE

POTENTIAL CULTURAL OFFER

GRAND JUNCTION RETAIL PARK

VALLEY BROOK PARK

LYCEUM THEATRE

TO LIVERPOOL

LEIGHTON WEST

HS2 TO MANCHESTER

CREWE HS2 HUB FRAMEWORK & MASTERPLAN SCENARIO  |  V.07 45 

P
age 81



P
age 82



 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix	4:	Crewe	Hub	Funding	and	

Financing	Principles	

Background  
Cheshire East Council (the Council) and Cheshire and Warrington Local Enterprise Partnership (the 

LEP) have led a strong campaign to see Crewe and Cheshire East benefit from Government’s 

proposed investment in high speed rail (HS2). As a result of the strong regeneration, economic and 

transport case championed by the Council and the LEP, Government changed the proposed route of 

the western leg of Phase 2 of the scheme to Manchester with it now serving Crewe railway station 

with services commencing from 2027, 6 years earlier than the remainder of Phase 2.  

The arrival of HS2 to Crewe together with an enhanced HS2 service solution of 5/7 HS2 trains per 

hour and investment in Crewe Railway station can be a catalyst to unlock significant regeneration, 

transport, economic, environmental and social benefits to Crewe and the wider borough. 

Over the past 5 years, the Council has developed a long term vision for the town which seeks to 

maximise the regeneration potential for the area to capitalise on the once in a lifetime opportunity 

that HS2 affords to the town and the wider area and the key moves that are required to enable it 

which are identified in the Crewe HS2 Hub Framework and Masterplan Scenario Report. 

In the Department for Transport’s response to the Crewe Hub Consultation (March 2018) the then 

Secretary of State for Transport, confirmed the Government’s support for the Crewe Hub vision but 

also stated that delivering it would require local and national government working together, and a 

local funding contribution . 

The Crewe Hub Regeneration and Investment Package aims to maximise the opportunity that HS2’s 

arrival affords, through transformational investment in Crewe station necessary to provide an 

attractive environment for passengers, permeability across the rail corridor, and act as a gateway to 

a revitalised Crewe and seeking to capture a proportion of the long term revenues that arise as a 

result of this investment in order to fund the investment itself. 

Crewe Hub objectives 

There are four primary objectives of the Crewe Hub scheme: 

1. To ensure that the station has adequate capacity for 2043 with 5/7 HS2 trains per hour, each 

way 

2. To enhance the passenger experience at Crewe Station  

3. To unlock the growth and regeneration potential of the sub-region 

4. To integrate the station with the town and the surrounding transport network 

Page 83



 

OFFICIAL 

The scheme 
The project development work led by the Council has identified the following critical components of 

the initial Crewe hub scheme necessary to support the above objectives and enable the delivery of 

the vision. 

1. Station Upgrades: 

a. Relocation of the main station entrance to Weston Road including a new multi-modal 

transport interchange; 

b. Delivery of a new central transfer deck and roof canopy section extending across all 

platforms from the new Weston Road entrance; 

c. Enhancements to Nantwich Road entrance including the provision of new dedicated 

cycle and pedestrian decks to better link to the town centre 

2. Consolidation of station car parking through the delivery of new multi-storey car parks to 

meet car parking demand 

3. Enabling and public realm works to facilitate new Crewe hub commercial district 

4. Local highway and junction improvements including a new Southern Link Road Bridge 

5. Regeneration of the station area to support the Crewe Hub Area Action Plan  

Value created by the scheme 
Through the above interventions, financial value will be created in a number of forms. A fair and 

balanced funding package would seek to capture these forms such that the investment is ultimately 

funded from the value it creates. The mechanisms and flexibilities required to enable this could be 

permitted via a new agreement between local and central government. 

Value created for the Railway 

The proposed upgrades to Crewe station will support future passenger demand, with vital 

investment related to the station configuration (to enable it to support the new HS2 service), 

transfer deck (to improve permeability across the rail corridor), station roof, eastern entrance, as 

well as in the immediate surrounding infrastructure. 

The two primary forms of financial value that will be created for the Railway are: 

1. Incremental farebox revenues 

 

The proposed station upgrades will resolve existing limitations, improve passenger flows and 

capacity, and provide solutions to meet future growth demands at the station. It will reduce 

conflicts outside the station and internally will make the station and platforms safe, secure 

and accessible. A much improved passenger environment will offer enhanced amenities and 

wayfinding in and around the station. 

 

In combination with the new commercial district to the east of the station, these 

improvements are anticipated to generate significant additional passenger demand which in 

turn will generate additional farebox revenues for the railway. 

 

2. Asset liability savings 

Page 84



 

OFFICIAL 

 

Parts of Crewe station date back to the 19th century. Indeed, Network Rail’s annual Long 

Term Charge (LTC) to cover the efficient maintenance, repair and renewal of Crewe station 

was £1.4m in FY19 – the highest of all franchised stations in the UK. The substantial 

upgrades envisioned within the Crewe Station Investment Package is expected to  result in 

significant future savings to the cost of maintaining, repairing and renewing existing 

platform canopies, station buildings, footbridges and facilities.  

These future increases in revenues, or cost savings, are relevant as they represent potential sources 

of funding for the station investment itself. 

Value created from station car parking 

A consolidated and enhanced provision of station car parking will generate net operating revenues 

which, if surplus to that required to recoup the upfront costs of constructing the multi-storey car 

parks themselves, could be redirected towards funding other components of the scheme’s 

investment package. 

Value created within the Masterplan/commercial district 

The emerging Crewe Area Action Plan demonstrates the commercial potential of the area around 

the Crewe hub station; unlocked by the station upgrades and wider scheme interventions.  A 

significant amount of this is expected to be commercial in nature (office, retail or hotel) and will 

therefore be associated with increased economic output via more jobs and higher productivity.  This 

will likely result in increased local taxation (business rates) and general taxation (to the Exchequer). 

The regeneration of the area that will come about with the place-making investment, the new 

development this catalyses, together with the much improved connectivity resulting from the arrival 

of HS2, will likely result in a significant uplift in commercial and residential values. This should 

translate into developer gains, and higher property taxes such as business rates. 

Value created at satellite sites within the Crewe Growth Corridor 

The new development occurring in the masterplan refers to the new commercial hub within the 

immediate area surrounding Crewe station. However, the investment in the Crewe Hub 

Regeneration and Investment Package will have far reaching positive impacts on connectivity and 

amenity throughout a wider geography and notably within a proposed growth corridor.  

Four ‘satellite sites’ in the Cheshire East and Cheshire West & Chester local authority areas have 

been identified by CBRE as potential high value manufacturing campuses and where development 

would be stimulated by the Crewe hub scheme. These include Basford East, Winsford Industrial 

Estate, New Farm and Midpoint 18. While these sites require additional enabling costs and some 

development could occur without wider intervention, their potential size and value are catalysed by 

the Crewe Hub investment, which will in turn lift commercial and residential values at the different 

sites. This would translate into developer gains, and higher property taxes such as business rates.  

The uplift in business rate revenues represent potential sources of funding for all of the 

interventions including the station itself. 

Page 85



 

OFFICIAL 

Capturing the value created 
There are various mechanisms that could be implemented and allow for the Council to capture a 

proportion of the value created as a result of the interventions delivered. This in turn would provide 

new revenue sources that would ultimately fund any local contribution towards the scheme. 

Net car parking revenues 

The rationalisation and consolidation of car parking around Crewe station through the delivery of 

new multi-storey car parks and the implementation of a local parking strategy could generate net car 

parking revenues. If control of station car parking at Crewe were to be removed from the West Coast 

Franchise and transferred to the Council this could provide a positive net income that could be used 

as a funding source to help to fund any local contribution towards the other interventions. 

Retained business rates  

Tax incremental financing (TIF) / business rates retention provides a way of allowing local authorities 

to fund key regeneration and economic growth projects. In a TIF arrangement, the local authority 

borrows money against the increase in locally-collected business rates/taxes anticipated by the new 

development being created as a result of the initial interventions delivered.  

Allowing the LEP to retain 100% of the growth in business rates above a baseline for the commercial 

district area, as well within the four identified satellite sites in the growth corridor, would provide a 

new revenue stream for a defined number of years which could be captured to contribute towards 

the cost of the Crewe Hub scheme investments. 

Community Infrastructure Levy 

The Council could capture direct developer contributions from the new development coming 

forward via a land value capture regime, such as Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). However, this 

regime would need to be balanced around viability issues of sites around the station. 

Key commitments required 
The ability for the Council to capture a proportion of the value created through net car parking 

revenues and business rate retention is dependent on securing the following commitments, 

agreements and decisions. 

Net car parking revenues 

The ability to capture this revenue stream requires an agreement from the Department for 

Transport and the West Coast Franchise operator (Avanti West Coast) to remove car parking at 

Crewe station (located on Weston Road and Pedley Street) from the West Coast Franchise at an 

agreed date with Cheshire East Council. In return the Council would construct and operate new and 

enhanced multi-storey car parking facilities to meet existing and future HS2 passenger demand and 

retain 100% of future car parking receipts within these facilities. 

 

Page 86



 

OFFICIAL 

Retained business rates 

In order for the growth in business rates across the commercial district and satellite sites to be 

captured locally a new Tax Increment Financing (TIF) mechanism between the LEP and Government 

will need to be agreed. In return for retaining 100% of the growth in business rate revenues over a 

defined boundary and for a fixed period the LEP and its local authority partners would actively invest 

in infrastructure and development in the area, including a local contribution towards the Crewe hub 

scheme, by borrowing against future business rate income. The Cheshire Science Corridor Enterprise 

Zone is a form of TIF mechanism. 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



 

OFFICIAL 

 

                                                                                     
 
Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 10 March 2020 

Report Title:  Crewe Hub Area Action Plan Report – Publication Draft Plan 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Toni Fox – Planning 

Senior Officer: Frank Jordan, Executive Director of Place 

 
1. Report Summary 

1.1. To help Crewe improve its performance on a range of key indicators from 

health, education, homes and transport to reducing vacancies in the town 

centre, the Council is supporting multiple projects and plans across the 

town. 

1.2. As part of this approach the Council is supporting plans for investment in 

Crewe Station to demonstrate how the arrival of HS2 can underpin 

regeneration and development opportunities in this area. 

1.3. The Crewe Hub Area Action Plan (Area Action Plan) sets out a detailed 

planning framework in response to the opportunity presented by HS2. The 

report seeks Cabinet’s approval of the Publication Draft version of the 

Action Plan and to publish it for consultation under Regulation 19 of the 

Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

1.4. The Area Action Plan is a non-strategic document and expands on matters 

addressed at a high level in the Local Plan Strategy (LPS), in particular on 

policy LPS1 ‘Central Crewe’. It will support the Council toward fully realising 

the benefits of investment in Crewe station and will set out how 

employment opportunities, new homes, improvements to the local 

environment and enhancements to the transport network and public realm 

can best be achieved.  

Key Decision Y 
 
Date First 
Published: 11/4/19 

Page 89 Agenda Item 8



 

OFFICIAL 

1.5. Importantly, to address current constraints and to enable longer term 

highways capacity, the Area Action Plan includes a package of highways 

interventions alongside proposals for a Southern Link Road Bridge 

crossing, south of the station. Whilst this bridge is not dependent on the 

future delivery of the Area Action Plan, long term growth ambitions for the 

area are dependent on delivery of the bridge. 

1.6. The delivery of matters addressed in the Area Action Plan is also 

dependent on Council approval of the Strategic Business Case for the 

Crewe Hub Station Regeneration and Investment Programme. A separate 

report on this matter is being considered by Cabinet, a decision on the Area 

Action Plan should only be taken if recommendations regarding the 

Strategic Business Case are approved.  

2. Recommendations 

2.1. That Cabinet: 

2.2. Considers the recommendations of the Strategic Planning Board set out at 

Appendix 1. 

2.3. Subject to the consideration of any such recommendations, approves the 

Publication Draft version of the Crewe Hub Area Action Plan (Appendix 2), 

its Sustainability Appraisal (Appendix 3) and Habitats Regulation 

Assessment (Appendix 4) for public consultation, under Regulation 19 of 

the  Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regualtions 

2012, for a period of six weeks from 17th March to 30th April 2020, and 

approve and publish the draft Plan’s supporting evidence base for 

publication. 

2.4. To authorise the Head of Planning to make any additional non-material 

changes to the consultation documents or supporting information ahead of 

the consultation and prepare any additional explanatory information to 

support the consultation. 

2.5. Notes that a Full Council approval will be sought to implement the 

submission of the Area Action Plan to the Secretary of State. 

2.6. Notes the previous engagement and consutlation undertaken to date on 

this matter. 

3. Reasons for Recommendations 

3.1. To enable public consultation to take place on the publication draft version 

of the Area Action Plan so it can progress to be submitted for examination 

by the Secretary of State.  

Page 90



 

OFFICIAL 

4. Other Options Considered 

4.1. Crewe has a pipeline of strategic projects underway that underpin growth in 

the town now and anticipate the arrival of HS2 in the future. The measures 

set out in the Area Action Plan align to the Councils wider ambitions for 

Crewe. 

4.2. Area Action Plans are discretionary planning documents and are prepared 

to address a significant change which is specific to a particular area. The 

arrival of HS2 services to Crewe rail station is anticipated to catalyse 

investment in the town and stimulate change in the built environment. 

Whilst the existing local plan anticipates the arrival of HS2 and contains 

planning policy that will be relevant to managing such change, it does not 

contain a sufficiently detailed approach to enable the Council to promote 

the most positive outcome for Crewe that could be possible. 

4.3. The Council could wait to address all HS2 matters through a full review of 

the local plan, required by 2025. Indeed, a full review of the local plan 

would address any wider strategic issues arising from implementation of 

HS2, including the distribution of growth based on an appropriate 

assessment of the boroughs housing and employment needs at that time 

(which would account for any potential uplift arising from HS2).  

4.4. However, works to upgrade rail infrastructure to enable HS2 services to 

operate from Crewe station are anticipated to begin ahead of 2025, which 

may stimulate local investment and change in the area surrounding the 

station. It is this significant change in the local area that requires a more 

bespoke approach to planning matters around the station and the need to 

introduce a planning policy framework to manage and promote the best 

outcomes for Crewe. 

5. Background 

5.1. Background and current status of HS2 

5.2. A hybrid bill related to phase 2a of the project is currently passing through 

parliament and includes measures to ensure that HS2 trains change at 

Crewe Station. The Council continue to engage with government and 

Network Rail to secure this outcome, alongside the investment in rail 

infrastructure and track alignments that allow enhanced HS2 services to 

Crewe in the long term. 

5.3. The Area Action Plan is predicated on government’s future support for HS2 

and investment at Crewe Station. 

Page 91



 

OFFICIAL 

5.4. The government have commissioned a review of HS2 that is expected to 

be published in the coming weeks. The review, chaired by Douglas 

Oakervee has been leaked in part and reports suggest that overall, it’s 

recommendations are to proceed with HS2. However, Govenrment has yet 

to formally announce an updated position on HS2. 

5.5. HS2 in the north is being delivered in two stages. Phase 2a (west midlands 

to Crewe) and Phase 2b (Crewe to Manchester, and the West Midland to 

Leads). 

5.6. A Bill to support delivery of Phase 2a has was introduced to Parliament in 

July 2017 and and has been committed to a Select Committee that was 

appointed on 30th October 2019. Following dissolution of parliament to 

accommodate a general election in December 2019, parliament is expected 

to confirm that the Bill should resume its progress but a date for this is not 

yet confirmed. 

5.7. A Bill for Phase 2b, that will extend HS2 beyond Crewe to Manchester and 

Leeds is expected to be introduced to parliament in 2020 but as yet, no 

date for this is confirmed. 

5.8. Should government decline to support the arrival of HS2 to Crewe, it will be 

necessary to investigate an alternative land-use approach to the one set 

out in the Area Action Plan. 

5.9. If and until such a time as this eventuality arises, it is important to proceed 

with the Area Action Plan and be ready to implement a robust and positive 

planning framework for the area at the earliest opportunity.  

5.10. Background to the Area Action Plan 

5.11. The Local Plan Strategy recognises the importance of Crewe Station as a 

transport hub – but it does not plan directly for the implications of HS2 and 

acknowledges that a more detailed Area Action Plan might be necessary in 

the future. The Local Plan Strategy is a pre-HS2 document and if the 

Council is to manage the change associated with a new station, and the 

increased connectivity at Crewe through high speed rail, it needs to have a 

robust and up to date development plan in place which addresses 

additional development directly associated with the station. 

5.12. Cree Hub AAP Chronology: 

I. November 2018: Consultation on Crewe Hub AAP Issues and 

Options: 

II. February 2019: Consultation on Crewe Hub Development Strategy: 

Page 92



 

OFFICIAL 

III. July 2019: Consultation on Crewe Hub Development Strategy and 

Further Options 

IV. March 2020: Consultation on Crew Hub AAP Publication Draft 

5.13. In August 2018, the Council adopted its Local Development Scheme setting 

out an ambition to prepare an Area Action Plan for the Crewe Hub Station 

and its environs. The Area Action Plan will have a very narrow geographic 

focus, being confined to the areas close to Crewe Railway Station in order 

to plan for economic growth and regeneration opportunities emerging from 

investment in the rail infrastructure at Crewe station. 

5.14. In order to maximise the opportunities for inter-regional connectivity and 

economic growth for the borough, the Council continues to support a full 

HS2 station and associated rail infrastructure (enabling north and south 

connections) to be provided in Crewe. The Plan is conceived as a means of 

demonstrating how such investment can be delivered and to manage and 

coordinate the significant change likely to arise from this.  

5.15. In the autumn of 2018 the Council began work on the Area Action Plan and 

has gathered evidence and sought the views of stakeholders on a range of 

issues associated with the delivery of a HS2 Hub Station at Crewe and 

what this may mean for development opportunities in the area of land 

around the station.  

5.16. In November and December 2018 the Council consulted on a Crewe 

Station Hub Area Action Plan Issues Paper holding public events and 

inviting comments on a series of initial ideas to develop the approach to the 

plan. 

5.17. The feedback from this informed the production of the Crewe Station Hub 

Development Strategy that progressed ideas further setting out a series of 

planning policy themes and seeking to define a boundary for the plan. 

Consultation took place for six weeks over January and February 2019. 

5.18. A third consultation was then held on the Crewe Hub Development Strategy 

and Further Options, again for six weeks, from late July to September 

2019. This document presented a boundary to the plan, more detailed 

polices, set out a framework for land use within the area and included 

proposals for a Southern Link Road Bridge, the subject of it’s own parallel 

consultation across the same period. Letters and leaflets were sent to 

residents likely to be affected by the proposals and an exhibition on the 

SLRB was held at Crewe Alexandra attended by around 200 people. Three 

workshops on the Action Plan proposals were also held at the YMCA on 

Gresty Road attended by 25 residents in total. 

Page 93



 

OFFICIAL 

5.19. This process of engagement has enabled key development principles, a 

detailed policy framework and masterplan to be drawn up for the Area 

Action Plan. The strategy is supported by a Sustainability Appraisal and a 

number of evidential documents; these are accessible via the Council’s 

web pages: 

5.20. https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_l

ocal_plan/area-action-plan-for-crewe/crewe-area-action-plan.aspx 

 

5.21. The Form of the Crewe Hub Area Action Plan  

5.22. Firstly, building on previous work, the Area Action Plan sets out a defined 

plan boundary. Unlike all other development plans which match the 

boundary of Cheshire East as a Planning Authority (the Peak District 

National Park having its own planning powers) a fundamental choice for the 

Area Action Plan is how far it should extend. In simple terms the wider the 

area covered, the more comprehensive it will be – but equally the more 

issues that will be provoked and the longer it will take to prepare. 

5.23. Conversely a more confined plan may prove more agile but also may fail to 

sufficiently address the development implications of the enhanced station. 

Accordingly it is recommended that a balance is struck between these two 

positions and a preferred boundary is set out in the document. The 

boundary includes land west of the rail line to Gresty Road in the south and 

to Mill Street in the north west and extending north east to Macon Way, 

south east across Second Avenue to Gateway. 

5.24. Secondly the Area Action Plan sets out a series of key policy principles for 

which all new development would be expected to adhere to.  

5.25. The matters addressed by these policies include: 

 Development Opportunities 

 Improving Connectivity 

 Infrastructure for Sustainable Development 

 Improving Environmental Quality 

 Development Area Policies 

 

5.26. Thirdly the Area Action Plan sub-divides the Plan into six ‘development 

areas’ for which a masterplan, detailed spatial policies and principles are 

drawn up. Foremost amongst these are: 

 Crewe Hub Commercial District / Weston Road Gateway – The Weston 

Road gateway seeks to create a new main entrance to the station, 

Page 94

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/area-action-plan-for-crewe/crewe-area-action-plan.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/area-action-plan-for-crewe/crewe-area-action-plan.aspx


 

OFFICIAL 

alongside supporting facilities and transport interchange. Opposite this 

will be the new Crewe Hub Commercial District – a fresh business 

location which capitalises on the enhanced connectivity afforded by the 

upgraded station and services. This area will be characterised by land 

mark buildings and higher density development 

 Mill Street Area – a revamped commercial and residential area 

focussing on a direct link between Nantwich Road and the Town centre 

via Mill Street Bridge. There are also important heritage assets in this 

vicinity which require preservation and integration. 

 Gresty Road Gateway - This area will safeguard a potential future 

pedestrian entrance directly into the station. There is scope for 

additional development to complement the retained Crewe Alexandra 

stadium and improved public realm. 

5.27. Infrastructure and accessibility 

5.28. Realising the opportunities arising from investment in Crewe Station 

requires significant improvements in accessibility in and around the station. 

The benefits of HS2 will not be realised if major cities can be reached in 

minutes by train but gridlock prevails beyond the station entrance resulting 

in the benefits of high speed rail travel and enhanced connectivity being 

undermined by poor accessibility.  

5.29. Accordingly, the Area Action Plan anticipates new and improved transport 

infrastructure through a package of highways interventions and, given that 

within the station all passengers are effectively pedestrians, and the plan 

supports the creation of new neighbourhoods in the vicinity of the station, 

much support is provided for the movement of people by non-vehicular 

modes. Allied to this there will be complementary strategies for a public 

transport interchange, public car parking, proposals to improve traffic 

management within the town of Crewe and the delivery of additional 

highway capacity at key pinch points. 

5.30. Southern Link Road Bridge 

5.31. To help address this, the Area Action Plan builds on previous versions of 

the document and separate consultations, setting out ambitions for a new 

high capacity road bridge located to the south of Crewe Station. 

5.32. Whilst the need for an additional rail crossing exists now, investment in this 

infrastructure (and its associated package of junction improvements) will 

enable the longer term efficiency of the highways network, supporting 

future growth around the station. The bridge will carry through traffic away 

from the congested station area and enable Nantwich Road to be 

Page 95



 

OFFICIAL 

significantly amended to improve the environment for pedestrians and 

cyclists accessing the station – offering the flexibility to allow multi modal 

improvements on the Nantwich Road corridor. 

5.33. A separate report on this matter, concerning to the route of bridge and 

further investigation into its feasibility, has been endorsed by Cabinet on 5th 

November 2019. The Area Action Plan has incorporated the 

recommendations of this report in its approach and sets out a policy 

framework to support delivery of these measures. Together, the proposed 

highways interventions are designed to meet an immediate need to 

alleviate the exiting constraints facing the highways network in this area 

and, in the longer term, support the successful operation of the highways 

network in a context of realising regeneration benefits and additional 

growth. 

5.34. Duty to co-operate 

5.35. The Council is required to co-operate on strategic planning matters that 

cross administrative boundaries. As would be expected, this is an issue 

most relevant to the preparation of policies in the Local Plan Strategy, and 

was fully addressed through engaging with our relevant partners in 

developing the LPS, including the preparation of policy LPS1 ‘Central 

Crewe’ at that time. 

5.36. Area Action Plans are designed as non-strategic documents and as such, 

the Crewe Hub AAP is a more detailed expression of LPS1 and defers 

strategic matters to a full review of the LPS by 2025 (including any future 

potential growth target to be attributed to Crewe based on an uplift derived 

from HS2 and other factors). Therefore it is not considered that any new, 

cross-boundary strategic matters arise through the preparation of the Area 

Action Plan. 

5.37. This is evidenced through a proposed Statement of Common Ground which 

would be published alongside the Publication Draft Plan.  Neighbouring 

authorities and other relevant statutory and non-statutory bodies would be 

invited to sign a final Statement of Common Ground following consultation, 

which would accompany the Plan when submitted for examination.   

5.38. The next stage of consultation 

5.39. The next stage of public consultation would be carried out under Regulation 

19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 

Regulations 2012. The Publication Draft Plan should be the version of the 

Plan which the Council considers is sound and capable of adoption. 

Page 96



 

OFFICIAL 

5.40. Following consultation, a final decision to formally submit the Plan to the 

Secretary of State for independent examination would be made through a 

Full Council decision, anticipated to be taken in May 2020.  

5.41. During the consultation, which must be no less than 6 weeks and will be 

held between 17th March to 30th April 2020, representations would be 

invited on whether or not the Plan has met the legal requirements for its 

preparation and whether or not it is sound, namely that it has been 

positively prepared and is justified, effective and consistent with national 

policy. These tests would be applied to non-strategic policies in a 

proportionate way, taking into account the extent to which they were 

consistent with strategic policies in the LPS and in this context, represent a 

proportionate evolution in response to the significant change likely to arise 

from investment in Crewe station.  

5.42. The results of consultation will be analysed and presented to Council 

initially, who will decide whether to submit the plan to Government. The 

feedback from consultation will also be submitted to the Secretary of State 

to be considered by an appointed planning inspector during examination of 

the plan. 

5.43. Consultation and engagement on the Plan has been carried out in 

accordance with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement 2018. 

This will also be true of the proposed consultation under Regulation 19. A 

Consultation Statement will be prepared to reflect the stages of consultation 

undertaken to date and updated to reflect the Regulation 19 consultation. 

This will then be submitted to the examining Inspector.  

5.44. Once the Plan is published the timescale for its completion is largely 

dependent on the volume of representations received, the progress of the 

examination and the views of the examining Inspector. However the best 

estimate of these stages is as follows: 

Stage 
 

Date Decision making 
body 

Publication 
Consultation 

March 12th – April 17th Cabinet 

Submission Following Council on 13th May 
2020 

Council 

Examination Circa October - December 
2020 

Secretary of State 

Inspector reports 
findings 

December 2020 / January 
2021 

Secretary of State 

Consult on any 
modifications (if 
necessary) 

January/February 2021 Cabinet 

Adoption  February/May 2021 Council 

Page 97



 

OFFICIAL 

 

6. Implications of the Recommendations 

6.1. Legal Implications 

6.1.1. In accordance with Section 20 of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) (‘the 2004 Act’), the Council has a 

statutory duty to prepare planning policies and maintain an up-to-date 

development plan. 

6.1.2. Secondary legislation relating to the preparation of development plan 

documents is set out in the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 

(England) Regulations 2012. The proposed consultation will be carried 

out in the stage of the plan-making process governed by Regulation 19. 

Regulation 19 requires councils to notify particular bodies and groups on 

the published Plan, and to ensure they are able to make representations 

on it. 

6.1.3. In preparing a local plan, local planning authorities have to comply with 

the statutory duty to co-operate and carry out engagement throughout 

the plan making process in accordance with its Statement of Community 

Involvement. 

6.1.4. The development of the publication draft Area Action Plan has taken 

proper account of the legal requirements associated with Sustainability 

Appraisal and the Habitats Regulations. These are intended to ensure 

that the Plan’s preparation has taken full cognisance of the 

environmental, ecological and sustainability implications of its intended 

policies and proposals. 

6.2. Finance Implications 

6.2.1. The preparation of the Publication Plan, including public consultation 

on it, is resourced through the existing Spatial Planning budget. The 

particular resources involved in carrying out public consultation comprise 

officer time, up to around £1000 in printing costs and up to around £500 

to pay for any venues required for consultation events, although if council 

buildings can be utilised the latter cost will reduce. 

6.2.2. By enabling redevelopment of brownfield land, the Area Action Plan 

sets out how growth linked to HS2 can support growth in the Borough’s 

Tax base above a level idenitified in the existing Local Plan. Any site 

specific obligations will benefit infrastructure provision within the Area 

Action Plan boundary, benefiting Crewe as a whole. 

Page 98



 

OFFICIAL 

6.3. Policy Implications 

6.3.1. The Local Plan is a key policy document, central to the achievement of 

sustainable development in Cheshire East. 

6.4. Equality Implications 

6.4.1. The Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equalities Act to have 

due regard to the need to: eliminate discrimination; advance equality of 

opportunity between persons who share a “relevant protected 

characteristic” and persons who do not share it; foster good relations 

between persons who share a “relevant protected characteristic” and 

persons who do not share it.  

6.4.2. An Equality Impact Assessment is incorporated into the integrated 

Sustainability Appraisal of the Area Action Plan. This will consider how 

development proposals and planning policies will impact on different 

groups within the community. 

6.5. Human Resources Implications 

6.5.1. Existing resources are in place and there are no new implications 

arising from this decision. 

6.6. Risk Management Implications 

6.6.1. A Publication Draft Plan has been prepared taking account of the need 

to demonstrate the Plan’s legal compliance and soundness at 

examination. 

6.6.2. Publication is an essential stage in the progression of the Area Action 

Plan and a major milestone towards its completion. The Local Plan 

Strategy do not directly address the implications and opportunities arising 

from the arrival of HS2 to Crewe and there is currently no meaningful 

policy framework in place to deal with the level of growth and opportunity 

presented. To manage and enable positive development here, there is 

hence a significant advantage in securing the timely progression of the 

Area Action Plan. 

6.7. Rural Communities Implications 

6.7.1. The Area Action Plan concerns land within the urban area of Crewe 

and does not directly impact on any rural communities. However, 

supporting growth and regeneration within urban Crewe will deliver a 

significant amount of new housing and employment opportunities on 

previously developed land, therefore reducing the need to allocate 

greenfield development sites in the future.  

Page 99



 

OFFICIAL 

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children  

6.8.1. There are no direct implications for children and young people however 

the ambitions set out in the AAP will have a benefit in terms of the 

employment, homes and (environmental and social) services available to 

children and young people in Crewe and beyond. 

6.9. Public Health Implications 

6.9.1. Appropriate Development Plan policies can help foster healthier living 

and working environments. The Crew Hub AAP contains a series of 

policies intended to improve public health through contributions to public 

realm and green infrastructure. The need for high quality pedestrian and 

cycling transport options is recognised. Traffic calming and speed control 

measures should also be considered where appropriate in the planning. 

6.10. Climate Change Implications 

6.10.1. The Area Action plan includes a series of measures that will 

improve local air quality, reduce energy use in new buildings and secure 

additional green infrastructure in the area around Crewe Station. Within 

the plan there are requirements for new buildings to work toward 

achieving a net zero carbon footprint; a package of highways and 

transport interventions to manage congestion and air quality, and 

requirements for development to fully integrate walking and cycling 

throughout the area. Together these measures will enable the Council to 

reduce the carbon footprint of the borough, whilst delivering growth and 

achieving environmental sustainability in new development. 

7. Ward Members Affected 

7.1. All Crewe Wards are affected by this decision. 

8. Consultation & Engagement 

8.1. The report seeks approval to carry out further public consultation on the 

AAP ahead of its submission to the Secretary of State, building on the 

significant consultation and engagement that has already taken place in 

developing the draft Area Action Plan.  

9. Access to Information 

9.1. Aside from the supporting information referenced in this report the relevant 

section of the Council’s website includes the previous Area Action Plan 

Issues Paper; Development Strategy; and Development Strategy and Further 

Options papers; plus related supporting information. 

Page 100

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/area-action-plan-for-crewe/crewe-area-action-plan.aspx


 

OFFICIAL 

9.2. Note: Appendix 3 (Sustainability Appraisal) and Appendix 4 (Habitats 

Regulation Assessment) as referenced in this report may be viewed on the 

Cabinet agenda web page. 

10. Contact Information 

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officers:  

 

Name:  Tom Evans  

Job Title:   Neighbourhood Planning Manager  

Email:   tom.evans@cheshireeast.gov.uk or  

 

Name:   David Malcolm  

Job Title:   Head of Planning 

Email:   david.malcolm@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

  

  

Page 101



 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix 1: Recommendations of the Strategic Planning Board (attached) 

Pending, subject to feedback from SPB meeting scheduled for 26th January. 

Appendix 2: Publication Draft version of the Crewe Hub Area Action Plan 

(attached) 

Pending, this document is currently being edited and updated (a skeleton draft copy 

is available from Angela Mann). The plan sets out the land use requirements of 

development around Crewe Station, identifying specific land allocations related to a 

masterplan. 

Appendix 3: Sustainability Appraisal (agenda web page) 

Pending, this appraisal is currently being prepared and subject to finalisation of the 

Area Action Plan. The Sustainability Appraisal tests the policies of the Area Action 

Plan to ensure they will deliver sustainable development. 

Appendix 4: Habitats Regulation Assessment (agenda web page) 

Pending, this document is currently being prepared and is subject to completion of 

the Area Action Plan. This assessment tests the impact of the plan on the most 

important designated natural sites. 

 

Page 102



Appendix 1: Recommendations of the Strategic Planning Board 
 

At a meeting of the Strategic Planning Board on 26th February 2020, the 

board resolved that they had: 

1. Considered the Publication Draft version of the Crewe Hub Area Action 

Plan (Appendix 1), its Sustainability Appraisal (Appendix 2) and 

Habitats Regulation Assessment (Appendix 3), Crewe Hub AAP 

Development Strategy and Further Options - Summary of Consultation 

Responses (Appendix 4) and the suite of documents which form the 

supporting evidence base (Appendix 5). 

2. Recommended that Cabinet approve the above documents for 

publication and public consultation, under Regulation 19 of the  Town 

and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, for 

a period of six weeks from 17th March to 30th April 2020 

3. Authorised the Head of Planning to make any additional non-material 

changes to the consultation documents or supporting information 

ahead of the consultation and prepare any additional explanatory 

information to support the consultation. 

4. Noted that a Cabinet decision is required to implement consultation on 

the Publication Draft Crewe Hub Area Action Plan. 

5. Noted that Full Council approval will be sought to implement the 

submission of the Area Action Plan to the Secretary of State. 

The Board also raised a number of points which are addressed below: 
 

1. Provide an update on progress on the Hybrid bill through parliament. 
a. There is no further update to the Hybrid Bills progress. Following the 

Oakervee review, the bill is expected to resume it’s progress through 
parliament during 2020. 

2. Find out how much is available already through existing S106 contributions to 
improve the junctions identified in the plan. 

a. The matter has been raised with the Councils S106 monitoring officer 
3. Actively involved ward councillors in addressing issues (especially parking 

and traffic) for the areas west of Gresty Road 
a. This is noted and will be a key part of the approach when such 

matters are investigated further. 
4. Ensure policies are in place relating to provision of green infrastructure and 

green links 
a. The aspiration to deliver green links, green infrastructure and 

improved public realm is set out in policies in the plan, notably policies 
ISD5, IC2 and IC3. 

5. Ensure that opportunities to make use of geothermal energy are referenced 
a. Policy ISD4 makes reference to geothermal energy however it should 

be recognised that whilst this could present an important opportunity 
to proved clean energy in Crewe, there are considerable financial 
barriers to overcome to deliver the benefits. The policy framework of 
the AAP is supportive of this approach but the barrier here is a 
financial matter rather than a planning matter. 

Page 103



6. Ensure that future engagement and consultations actively pursued for the 
residents in the areas adjoin the plan. 

a. Residents in these areas will be informed of the plan and invited to 
respond accordingly. 

7. Ensure the plan includes appropriate approach to climate change. 
a. The plan promotes a suite of environmental measures that will 

improve climate resilience and re-introduce green space into Crewe 
alongside measures that can support reduced energy consumption in 
the built environment and more sustainable modes of travel. These 
are key themes that run through the plan and are covered by a range 
of policies in it. 

Page 104



 

 

1 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

  

Page 105



 

 

2 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

1. Introduction ......................................................................................................... 5 

The Opportunity ..................................................................................................................... 8 

2. Vision and Aims ................................................................................................ 11 

Vision ................................................................................................................................... 11 

Aims ..................................................................................................................................... 13 

3. Background to the Plan ..................................................................................... 16 

National Context .................................................................................................................. 16 

Evolution of the Plan ........................................................................................................... 18 

Relationship to the Local Plan Strategy ............................................................................... 21 

Status of the Crewe Hub AAP and Material Weight ........................................................... 25 

Consultation and Previous Stages ........................................................................................ 27 

Sustainability Appraisal ....................................................................................................... 27 

Accompanying reports and evidence base ........................................................................... 29 

4. Main Issues ....................................................................................................... 30 

Local Issues .......................................................................................................................... 30 

Spatial Issues: Character Areas ............................................................................................ 35 

5. Development Strategy ....................................................................................... 40 

Development Areas .............................................................................................................. 40 

Plan Objectives .................................................................................................................... 44 

6. Crewe Hub AAP Policies ................................................................................... 49 

Policies Map......................................................................................................................... 49 

7. Development Opportunities ............................................................................... 50 

Figure 1: Crewe Hub Masterplan ......................................................................................... 50 

Policy DO1: Crewe Hub Development Principles............................................................... 51 

Page 106



 

 

3 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy DO2: Supporting Crewe railway station................................................................... 54 

Policy DO3: Economy and Employment ............................................................................. 56 

Policy DO4: New Residential Development ....................................................................... 58 

Policy DO5: Mixed use development: ................................................................................. 60 

Policy DO6: Affordable housing ......................................................................................... 62 

Policy DO7: Crewe Hub Local Urban Centre ..................................................................... 64 

8. Improving Connectivity ...................................................................................... 67 

Policy IC1: Improving Connections .................................................................................... 67 

Policy IC2: Primary Green Routes ...................................................................................... 69 

Policy IC3: The Crewe Hub Green Link ............................................................................. 71 

Policy IC4: Pedestrian and Cycling Networks..................................................................... 73 

Policy IC5: Transport and Highways Infrastructure ............................................................ 75 

Policy IC6: Bus Priority ....................................................................................................... 80 

Policy IC7: Re-Use of Existing Car Parks ........................................................................... 82 

Policy IC8: Parking Provision ............................................................................................. 83 

Policy IC9: Car Parking Design ........................................................................................... 86 

Policy IC10: Car Parking Standards .................................................................................... 89 

9. Infrastructure for Sustainable Development ...................................................... 91 

Policy ISD1: New Infrastructure ......................................................................................... 91 

Policy ISD2: Forward Funded Infrastructure Costs............................................................. 94 

Policy ISD3: Planning Obligations Reduced on Viability Grounds .................................... 97 

Policy ISD4: Energy Infrastructure (Net-Zero Carbon) .................................................... 101 

Figure 2: Green Space and Green Infrastructure ............................................................... 104 

Policy ISD5: Green Space and Green Infrastructure ......................................................... 104 

Page 107



 

 

4 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy ISD6: Skills Infrastructure ...................................................................................... 108 

Policy ISD7: Digital and Smart Infrastructure................................................................... 110 

Policy ISD8: Water Infrastructure ..................................................................................... 112 

10. Improving Environmental Quality .................................................................. 117 

Policy EQ1: Design, Integration of Development, and Public Realm ............................... 117 

Policy EQ2: Light and Privacy and Amenity Space .......................................................... 120 

Policy EQ3: Environmentally Sustainable Design ............................................................ 121 

Policy EQ4: Tall Buildings ................................................................................................ 123 

Policy EQ5: Safeguarding Crewe's Railway and Built Heritage ....................................... 125 

11. Crewe Hub Development Area Policies ........................................................ 127 

Policy DA1: Mill Street ..................................................................................................... 128 

Policy DA2: Macon Way ................................................................................................... 132 

Policy DA3: Commercial Hub ........................................................................................... 135 

Policy DA4: Station Hub ................................................................................................... 138 

Policy DA5: Gresty Road .................................................................................................. 141 

Policy DA6: Nantwich Road Corridor ............................................................................... 144 

Appendix 1: Glossary ............................................................................................. 146 

Appendix 2: Evidence and Links ............................................................................ 156 

 

  

Page 108



 

 

5 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The arrival of High 

Speed Two (“HS2”) to 

Crewe presents an 

unparalleled opportunity 

to realise Crewe’s full 

potential as a regional 

and national hub and 

could bring 

transformational growth that can have significant environmental, economic 

and social benefits for the community of Crewe and beyond. Through 

investment in Crewe Station, the project offers huge opportunities to support 

regional economic growth and rebalance the economy of the north whilst 

securing a long term move towards greener and more sustainable forms of 

travel which are crucial to maximise the regeneration opportunities that can 

be truly transformative for Crewe. 

 

1.2 The Crewe Hub Area Action Plan therefore sets out a long term vision for 

development in the area around Crewe Station to improve the environment, 

support jobs and homes, and radically improve connectivity in a highly 

sustainable location. It is a key piece of the jigsaw that supports a wider 

package of measures to improve the whole of Crewe over the long term and 

establishes a flexible and enabling development framework for the area of 

land around Crewe Station. The plan seeks to bring forward investment that 

can maximise the opportunities available to Crewe and realise the potential 

of the town to act as a regional centre; most importantly the plan includes 

measures to ensure that Crewe is HS2 ready now, and fully able to respond 

to such opportunities ahead of a full local plan review in 2025, which will 

address wider strategic implications of the project. 

Page 109



 

 

6 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

 

1.3 Realising the opportunity for Crewe brings new challenges and creates a 

need to manage change, and it’s impacts, to ensure development is co-

ordinated and delivers for the town. This plan seeks to do exactly that - 

manage change and guide development to move in the same direction, 

toward a better future for Crewe and its residents.  

 

1.4 Current plans already confirmed by government will see the operation of 

HS2 services to Crewe by 2028-31, with a later phase linking Manchester 

and beyond. To maximise the opportunities for inter-regional connectivity, 

regeneration and economic growth, Cheshire East Council (“the Council”), 

working in partnership with Network Rail, the Local Economic Partnership 

and the Constellation Partnership, are continuing to engage with government 

to seek to secure additional investment in infrastructure that supports a more 

frequent service and an enhanced station at Crewe. Whilst the connectivity 

opportunity at Crewe Rail Station exists regardless of the Council’s HS2 

related growth ambitions, this opportunity is vastly improved if such 

investment can be secured. 

 

1.5 Securing HS2 services to Crewe means delivering investment in Crewe 

Station to create a true HS2 Hub, with the rail infrastructure and facilities that 

can create a level of connectivity potentially of a scale that is truly 

transformative. Such investment can bring high levels of new jobs and 

homes, and opportunities to radically improve the built environment and 

functionality of central Crewe, enhancing Crewe’s already considerable 

transport advantages. Achieving this and enabling HS2 services to arrive at 

Crewe will require significant re-modelling of Crewe Station, creating 

additional passenger capacity and facilities that in turn will create the need 

for complementary and supporting development in the environs of the 

station. Together, investment in Crewe Station and the delivery of a land use 

Page 110



 

 

7 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

plan embedded with measures to improve connectivity, have the ability to 

catalyse the private sector to respond to the opportunities of locating near to 

a national rail hub, with superb services and within a vastly improved built 

environment. 

 

1.6 In considering how best to remodel Crewe Station, the Council has worked 

with Network Rail to propose a design solution that orientates the main 

station entrance, ticketing, public transport and parking facilities to Weston 

Road and introduces an additional rail crossing south of the station which 

creates capacity at Nantwich Road to refocus this entrance toward 

pedestrian and cyclist access. In the longer term the solution enables 

internal pedestrian access via a transfer deck that connects Gresty Road to 

Weston Road and supports a third local entrance opening directly to Gresty 

Road. 

 

1.7 The design solution for Crewe Station is at the heart of the Crewe Hub and 

intimately informs the accompanying land use and planning strategy set out 

in this Area Action Plan (“AAP”). The Crewe Hub Masterplan plan talks to the 

station proposals in a way that ensures the highest level of connectivity for 

all development in the area, seeking to create a new sustainable 

neighbourhood connecting the town centre to Crewe Station and a new 

Commercial Hub adjoining the reconfigured entrance at Weston Road. 

 

1.8 This approach seeks to respond to the significant change that could be 

catalysed through investment in the rail services here. It sets out a 

supportive development framework with clear aspirations to realise and 

deliver the uplift in social and economic value that HS2 can bring to Crewe 

and establishes an enabling planning structure to secure jobs and deliver 

environmental improvements that will ensure growth here can make the 

Page 111



 

 

8 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

most efficient use of land in a truly sustainable location, and ultimately 

rebalance our economy for success in the region, and the north. 

The Opportunity 

1.9 In response to opportunities presented by developing a national high speed 

rail network, Cheshire East Council has undertaken a programme of work to 

demonstrate how securing HS2 services to Crewe and delivering investment 

in Crewe Station can: 

 

1.9.1 Accommodate HS2 services and satisfy increased rail demand; 

1.9.2 Deliver growth that could not otherwise be achieved;  

1.9.3 Increase land value close to Crewe Station; and 

1.9.4 Realise the increase in land value to fully mitigate the impacts of HS2 and 

realise its benefits in the local and regional economy. 

 

1.10 The Council has pursued two complementary and integrated approaches to 

demonstrate how the above could be achieved. Firstly, a business case has 

been prepared, investigating what measures are needed and how 

investment can be realised to deliver the above, and secondly, a land use 

and planning strategy has been developed to support the management of 

place and co-ordination of development associated with investment identified 

in the business case. 

 

1.11 The Councils business case sets out a strategy that: 

 

1.11.1 Identifies improvements to Crewe Station that enable HS2 services to 

arrive in the town 

1.11.2 Optimises benefits to Crewe through a land use strategy integrated with 

the station (including a package of infrastructure measures that support 

growth and investment); and 

Page 112



 

 

9 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

1.11.3 Establishes a funding mechanism, based on the retention of business 

rates within a newly created HS2 Growth Corridor that will support 

investment in infrastructure and facilities.  

 

1.12 The Councils land use and development strategy has been prepared both 

within the earlier exploratory stages of the business case and later refined 

under the aegis of preparing a Crewe Hub Area Action Plan, and sets out a 

local planning policy framework that: 

 

1.12.1 Manages development to ensure optimum physical integration with Crewe 

Station, supporting a shift to more sustainable travel and the most efficient 

use of land. 

1.12.2 Supports high growth, and a flexible approach to development that allows 

schemes to fully realise the benefits and increased land value opportunity 

of locating close to Crewe Station 

1.12.3 Sets out how land value can be captured to mitigate impacts, and deliver 

environmental and infrastructure improvements that support sustainable 

growth. 

 

1.13 Importantly the Crewe Hub business case sets out the financial mechanisms 

that enable the AAP to build on provisions made in the Councils Local Plan 

Strategy (“LPS”) and deliver development to maximise opportunities and 

support regeneration of Crewe. Setting out a package of measures that will 

help gap fund key development opportunities and infrastructure ensures that 

the approach in the Crewe Hub AAP can be delivered.  

 

1.14 Accordingly this approach looks to the long term and presents a planning 

framework that has been tested on its ability to deliver long term growth, 

beyond the plan period, that substantially exceeds the growth set out in the 

LPS itself. The AAP stops short of establishing a new growth target for this 

Page 113



 

 

10 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

area of central Crewe but does out a framework that can support additional 

jobs and homes ahead of full review of the Local Plan in 2025, that can 

address such matters in full.. 

  

Page 114



 

 

11 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

2. Vision and Aims 

Vision 

2.1 This plan will help to shape the transformation of Crewe over the next 10-20 

years by responding to the current proposal for an HS2 rail link to London, 

the midlands, and from the mid 2030s, the north. The plan will help to ensure 

the creation and replacement of homes, jobs, open space and support 

environmental and public realm improvements to meet local priorities for the 

area. Importantly, it aims to reflect the aspirations of Crewe’s communities 

whether HS2 goes ahead or not. The plan will be finalised by 2021 and 

emerging plans and policies, will inform local plan review in 2025 and be 

shared with HS2 to influence their emerging plans. 

 

2.2 The vision for the Crewe Hub area is: 

 

2.3 Through the creation of new sustainable neighbourhoods and an exceptional 

and vibrant urban business district, integrated with an improved Crewe 

Station, development of the Crewe Hub will ensure Crewe can realise its 

potential as a nationally significant transport and economic centre and prime 

destination for sustainable growth, serving as an impressive gateway into the 

dynamic and ambitious North West of England and creating a new core to 

and from which enhanced sub-regional connectivity can be achieved. 

 

2.4 To achieve this the Crewe Hub Area Action Plan paves the way for the 

arrival of HS2, setting out how opportunities arising from investment in 

Crewe Station can be realised to improve the quality of life for present and 

future residents and build on the ambitions of the local plan, primarily set out 

in policy LPS1: Central Crewe, to maximise opportunities for improvements 

and regeneration. 

Page 115



 

 

12 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

 

2.5 Building on this approach the highest quality design and sustainability 

standards will be embedded throughout development in the Crewe Hub, 

creating a gateway into the region that is visually important, economically 

successful, publicly vibrant and celebrates the importance of Crewe’s 

industrial and rail heritage creating an exciting place to live, invest and visit. 

 

2.6 Development will be designed to connect people to the places they need to 

be, creating new green routes across the area. Key interventions at Crewe 

Station will provide the core rail infrastructure that will unlock investment, 

and upgrades across the local highways network will ensure efficient access 

to the station and the successful management of future transport needs 

across the Crewe Hub. 

 

2.7 Capitalising on this connectivity, intensification of business uses east of the 

station will deliver a new commercial district, marking a step change in 

design quality in the area and stimulating market appetite for new investment 

beyond the station, bringing new jobs, skills and sustainable growth. 

 

2.8 Connecting new development across the Crewe Hub, a vastly improved 

environment will introduce a wide range of new habitats, green infrastructure 

and public realm creating an integrated green network of routes and spaces, 

and an active and stimulating environment that is resilient to the effects of 

climate change. 

 

2.9 This connectivity will form the basis of a new residential offer in the area, 

built on the creation of new, well connected and walkable neighbourhoods at 

the edge of the town centre that will support the vitality of Crewe in the long 

term, and create a new market for a range of exceptionally well designed 

homes, integrated with the existing community.  

Page 116



 

 

13 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

 

2.10 Achieving this Vision will optimise the benefits arising from investment in 

Crewe Station, and the arrival of HS2 services, realise our most sustainable 

travel opportunities; it will support economic investment, jobs growth and 

new neighbourhoods, and create a step change in climate resilience in the 

built environment that will unlock the full potential that Crewe has to offer. 

Aims 

2.11 Achieving the vision for the Crewe Hub means delivering the land use and policy 

framework set out in this plan, which seeks to support transformation in the area 

by: 

 

2.12 Adding value: Through public and private sector investment, alongside an 

enabling planning framework, the conditions will be created in the Crewe 

Hub to ensure that development in the area improves Crewe and is able to 

fully contribute to measures that will realise the Crewe Hub ambition. 

 

2.13 Investing in Infrastructure: A package of investment in rail, highways and 

transport infrastructure will be delivered, including provision of a new east-

west rail crossing south of Crewe Station that together will underpin and 

support development of the Crewe Hub. Green and blue infrastructure, 

public realm improvements and facilities to promote walking and cycling will 

create a vibrant place focused on creating sustainable new communities. 

 

2.14 Improving the Environment: New development presents an opportunity to 

vastly improve the availability and quality of public realm and green 

infrastructure, and instil a step-change in the local design dynamic. The 

Crewe Hub will focus on creating connected, integrated and permeable 

development linked by a series of public spaces that promote exploration 

Page 117



 

 

14 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

and create new habitats and green space to mitigate the impacts of climate 

change. 

 

2.15 Celebrating Heritage: Crewe is a nationally important centre for the rail 

industry and has been instrumental in its development in this country. The 

industrial and rail heritage of the area is  fundamental to Crewe’s character 

and creating the environment to support new investment for the future, also 

means realising opportunities to celebrate the industrial and rail 

achievements of the past. 

 

2.16 Delivering Jobs: Investment and development in the Crewe Hub will create 

the conditions that stimulate business demand to locate close to a nationally 

significant rail hub. Maximising the advantage of this location, the area will 

support knowledge-based, research and creative industries to locate in 

Crewe by providing new high quality facilities and supporting skills based 

training in the local area. 

 

2.17 Building Homes: The area around Crewe Station has capacity and potential 

to deliver new homes creating new vibrant and sustainable neighbourhoods, 

well connected to the existing community, that can realise the most efficient 

use of land in the area and create regeneration opportunities that deliver for 

Crewe. 

 

2.18 Creating Places: As series of green links and public spaces will permeate 

the Crewe Hub linking the area to Crewe Station and the wider town. Crewe 

Commercial Hub will take full advantage of its location in a highly connected 

place and regenerating the Mill Street area will create new high quality and 

sustainable neighbourhoods to bridge the gap between Crewe town centre 

and Crewe Station by introducing a Green Link that extends across a 

radically improved Nantwich Road Corridor, directly into the station. 

Page 118



 

 

15 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

 

2.19 Connecting People: The Crewe Hub will be a highly connected place, both 

within its own development, and looking outwards to the rest of the world. 

The area will be globally connected through embedded digital 

communications infrastructure and physically connected through investment 

at Crewe Station that creates a world class transport interchange providing 

sustainable onwards travel options that meets increased passenger demand 

and turns Crewe into one of the most connected places in the country. 

  

Page 119



 

 

16 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

3. Background to the Plan 

National Context 

3.1 In January 2012, the Government 

announced its intention to develop a 

new national high speed rail network 

known as HS2, which is expected to 

provide a huge increase in rail capacity, 

greatly enhanced rail connections 

throughout the UK and substantial 

reductions in journey times. The project 

was designed around a ‘Y’ shaped 

network extending from London, to Birmingham, Leeds and Manchester with 

substations anticipated to be delivered in the East Midlands and South Yorkshire. 

 

3.2 The scheme provides new infrastructure to enable high speed only trains to run 

on high speed only tracks but also allow the same trains to run on conventional 

rail creating better connections to non-HS2 stations. Tracks are being designed 

to support services that can operate at around 250mph (conventional services 

operate at a maximum of 150mph). 

 

3.3 The HS2 network is proposed to be delivered in two phases and the government 

published the conclusions of a review of the project (headed by Douglas 

Oakervee) in January 2020. The review has resulted in proposals to run Phase 1, 

linking London to Birmingham and onwards to Crewe by 2028-31, and Phase 2, 

incorporating Northern Power House Rail from 2035-40. 

 

3.4 At the time of writing, the detailed implications of the Oakervee Review are 

unclear in terms of timings for project delivery, rail possessions, engineering 

Page 120



 

 

17 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

works etc., but the process has resulted in Governments reconfirmation of 

support for the entire scheme and an indication that HS2 services will be planned 

to arrive at Crewe from 2028 onwards. 

 

3.5 The current confirmed position for Crewe is that as part of Phase 1, HS2 services 

will operate at Crewe from 2028 onward, on the basis of two trains per hour. 

Works to enable Phase 1 will include infrastructure that also enables a greater 

degree of services in the future (up to five HS2 trains travelling south, and seven 

HS2 trains travelling north per hour). Once HS2 Phase 1 is complete it is 

anticipated that frequency of high speed trains will rise but this needs to be 

accommodated for now in the station proposals currently being put forward to 

government as part of the Councils HS business case, and as outlined in this 

plan.  

 

3.6 Whilst the Crewe Hub AAP responds to opportunities arising from HS2 proposals, 

its primary concern is with land outside of the station footprint. With that in mind, 

the key change arising from HS2, and that enables the realisation of the land use 

strategy and masterplan presented here, is the reconfiguration of Crewe Station 

and its entrances. Switching the primary station entrance from Nantwich Road to 

Weston Road redefines the station’s relationship to the town enabling a more 

coherent alignment of station function and land use. 

 

3.7 By upgrading the Weston Road entrance to include more comprehensive facilities 

(consolidated multi storey parking, public transport and public realm), the 

Nantwich Road entrance can be redesigned to accommodate local users, 

pedestrians and cyclists and talk more closely to the Mill Street area and beyond 

to the town centre, creating better connections between these centres. This 

enables a new Weston Road entrance to become the primary entrance, serving 

rail users from beyond Crewe, or that wish to drive to the station. Accordingly the 

Page 121



 

 

18 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

orientation of a primary entrance here, that enables greater volume of access,  

will more closely align to a new Commercial Hub, just across Weston Road. 

Evolution of the Plan 

3.8 Constellation Partnership 

 

3.9 In response to the HS2 project a regional body was formed to co-ordinate 

proposals and capture the benefits of high speed rail across the region. The 

Constellation Partnership (formerly known as the Northern Gateway 

Development Zone) was formed of seven local authorities and two Local 

Enterprise Partnerships, including Cheshire East Council. 

 

3.10 Within this body aspirations for Crewe were developed to promote the town as a 

key rail hub for integrated HS2 and regional rail services, connecting to the rest of 

the region, and for the town to capitalise on the effect of HS2 to generate some 

7,000 homes and 37,000 jobs across the whole of Crewe. The research that 

underpinned these aspirations has been further tested through the AAP process 

and included some key studies (included in the Background Report) that have 

informed the approach in this plan. 

 

3.11 Crewe Hub Masterplan 2017 

 

3.12 As the Constellation Partnership aspirations were explored, they were informed 

by the publication, in October 2017 of the Councils Crewe Hub Draft Masterplan 

Vision (CHDMV). The masterplan process involved a thematic investigation to 

understand the character, context, issues and opportunities faced by Crewe and 

concluded by setting out a series of overarching strategies in the form of seven 

‘key moves’ that could help Crewe realise it’s potential. These were: 

 

Page 122



 

 

19 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

3.12.1 The creation of two complementary centres at the Town Centre and 

Crewe Hub (area around Crewe rail station) 

3.12.2 Reinvigorating the Town Centre 

3.12.3 Rationalising the road hierarchy 

3.12.4 Improving permeability of the rail corridors 

3.12.5 Creating clearer links between the town centre and station 

3.12.6 Linking neighbourhoods, assets and centres via an integrated Green 

Network 

3.12.7 Unifying the station and town with the Cheshire Landscape. 

 

3.13 The Crewe Hub AAP has been conceived to build on the approach set out int eh 

Local Plan Strategy and facilitate these moves to address a number of them 

directly; importantly all the moves rely on investment in Crewe Station to upgrade 

faciltities here. 

 

3.14 Crewe Station Design Solutions 

 

3.15 The relationship between 

Crewe Station and the 

surrounding land is 

crucial to unlocking the 

potential for Crewe. 

Therefore, identifying the 

barriers that Crewe faces 

informed the approach to 

redesigning Crewe 

Station in a way that creates a facility with the infrastructure to accommodate 

increased rail demand and HS2 services, and that integrates more fully with the 

surrounding area in a way that supports delivery of the seven key moves. 

Page 123



 

 

20 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Accordingly a design solution was conceived alongside a land use strategy for 

the surrounding area, based on investment in Crewe Station that secures: 

 

3.15.1 A new primary Station entrance at Weston Road incorporating a public 

transport hub, station facilities, multi storey parking and new commercial, 

retail and business space; 

3.15.2 A new secondary station entrance focused on pedestrian and cyclist 

access at Nantwich Road, incorporating extensive public realm works at 

Nantwich Road Bridge; 

3.15.3 A third local entrance, focused toward pedestrians and cyclists at Gresty 

Road; 

3.15.4 A new rail crossing south of the Station (the Southern Link road 

Bridge);and 

3.15.5 Delivery of significant public realm interventions at Nantwich Road and 

Weston Road 

 

3.16 Crewe Hub Station Masterplan 2018 and update 2020 

 

3.17 Responding to the approach to redesign Crewe Station, a land use plan was 

designed to test the stations ability to support opportunities in the 

surrounding area and test growth options. Again, building on the Crewe Hub 

Masterplan Vision, a draft station design and masterplan [PUBCHAAP 08] 

was produced in 2018 to include well-developed and detailed ideas that 

have informed the approach to the Crewe Hub AAP and have been further 

refined and tested through the AAP process. 

 

 

 

 

Page 124



 

 

21 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Relationship to the Local Plan Strategy 

3.18 The local context for development in Cheshire East is set out in the Cheshire 

East Local Plan Strategy (“LPS”) which establishes a series of strategic policies 

and allocations to meet the overall growth needs for the borough, to deliver a 

minimum of 36,000 homes and 380 hectares of land for business uses. Growth 

needs are distributed through a settlement hierarchy, with specific  sites identified 

to meet the needs of settlements throughout the Borough. 

 

3.19 Crewe is the largest settlement in Cheshire East and identified as a Principal 

Town. As such it is expected to accommodate in the order of 7,700 homes and 

65ha of employment land, achieved through a series of land allocations identified 

in the LPS. The urban core of Crewe is addressed through policy LPS 1 Central 

Crewe, which identifies a high level approach to support regeneration and 

development opportunities enabling delivery of around 400 homes, additional 

retail and employment uses. 

 

3.20 Although Crewe is already home to world-renowned companies in the fields of 

advanced engineering and manufacturing as well as business and finance the 

town underperforms on a range of indicators from, notably across health and 

education and its urban structure suffers from severance between it’s main 

centres, Crewe Station and Crewe town centre. 

 

3.21 Crewe saw a boom in engineering and railway industries, which grew around the 

railway junction, creating jobs and economic opportunity. Yet, the town’s 

residential heart and high street developed just over 1km to the north of the 

station, away from the heavy industry. 

 

Page 125



 

 

22 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

3.22 Addressing this lack of connectivity 

and supporting the town to grow it’s 

economy and employment offer are 

at the core of this AAP that will 

ensure that in the future these two 

centres will deliver renewed growth. 

 

3.23 The LPS sets out the policy context 

in which this growth will take place 

and within which the Crewe Hub 

AAP is being prepared. In particular, 

Strategic Location LPS 1 "Central 

Crewe" establishes a series of 

detailed principles that should 

underpin development in a broad 

area of Crewe including the existing 

Railway Station and the town 

centre. 

 

3.24 The AAP extends to a geography larger than that of LPS1 but seeks to build on 

some of the key elements of that policy, notably to ‘maximise opportunities for 

improvement and regeneration incorporating the introduction of new green 

infrastructure’. LPS1 also sets out a number of more specific issues that the AAP 

provides additional detail on, these are: 

 

3.24.1 The delivery of new homes (at approximately 40 dwellings per hectare, 

including both apartments and family homes); 

3.24.2 Provision of other commercial uses including office; 

3.24.3 The incorporation of new, and improvements to existing, green 

infrastructure within new developments to include increased tree planting; 

Page 126



 

 

23 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

the creation of tree lined boulevards; the creation of green spaces; the 

provision of children's play areas and the provision of pedestrian and 

cycle links between new and existing developments;  

3.24.4 Appropriately sited, rationalised and improved car parking to support town 

centre uses and the local economy; 

3.24.5 Provision of new car parking, signage, concourse, public transport 

interchange and improved station facilities (including ancillary 

development relating to its use) at Crewe Railway Station; 

3.24.6 The creation of pedestrian and cycle links to the railway station and the 

town centre; 

3.24.7 Improvements to the wider highway network, including the A534 Nantwich 

Road Corridor and specifically in relation to the access to Crewe Railway 

Station; 

3.24.8 Improvements to Crewe Railway Station, including the development of 

adjacent land for complementary uses, to improve connectivity at this 

major communications hub. 

 

3.25 LPS 1 also includes a series of site specific principles of development that should 

be considered in development proposals for central Crewe. The most relevant to 

the AAP are: 

 

3.25.1 The creation of stronger physical connections between the town centre, 

the railway station and Grand Junction including the provision of better 

transport information between the town centre and railway station. 

3.25.2 The promotion of development which capitalises on and enhances Crewe 

Railway Station's position as a major communications hub. 

3.25.3 The encouragement of landmark developments of an appropriate design 

in particular at Macon Way to reflect this prominent location. This should 

include offices or other commercial uses (not retail).  

Page 127



 

 

24 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

3.25.4 New buildings should be of a high design quality and respond to Crewe's 

railway heritage and contemporary living. The new development should 

sensitively retain and incorporate any heritage buildings and/or structures 

within them.  

3.25.5 Provision of green infrastructure to reflect 'The Cheshire East Green 

infrastructure Plan (2019)’ including tree planting; the creation of tree lined 

boulevards with the provision of greenspaces within new developments. 

The creation of green spaces including those linking green infrastructure 

and safe and secure pedestrian and cycle routes should be integrated into 

any development proposals. 

3.25.6 Provision of new, and improvements to existing pedestrian, cycle and 

public transport links between existing and proposed residential areas, 

employment, commercial and leisure areas, schools and health facilities 

and within the town centre itself. 

 

3.26 Collectively the provisions made in the LPS and through LPS1: Central Crewe 

have formed the basis of the approach set out in this AAP and have been used to 

inform a planning and land use response to the opportunities presented by 

investment in Crewe Station to deliver HS2. Within this approach the possibility of 

considerably exceeding the 400 dwelling target set out in LPS1 has been 

explored with various high growth scenarios tested within the evidence base and 

modelling.  

 

3.27 It would not be appropriate to put forward a more detailed land use strategy for 

central Crewe that did not consider how to realise the full opportunity to make the 

most efficient use of previously developed land in close proximity to a major 

transport hub. Therefore the scenarios tested here have drawn from the 

aspirations of the Constellation Partnership and are based on the long term 

provision of some 2,400 new homes and 280ha of employment land (to 2040 and 

beyond). 

Page 128



 

 

25 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

 

3.28 Such figures significantly exceed the existing basis of the approach to Crewe set 

out in the LPS. However there must be a recognition that an element of phasing, 

in response to public sector investment, will occur in the area and that it is 

unlikely that the 400 dwelling target set out in LPS1 will be exceeded ahead of 

2025 when a review of the Local Plan will take place. A delivery plan is set out at 

Appendix 3 and anticipates that most development will not come forward until the 

period after 2025, and is more likely to be delivered in the period beyond 2030.  

 

3.29 It is through a review of the LPS in 2025 that an appropriate strategic review of 

development needs will take place, including a review of the Crewe Hub AAP in 

order to establish a growth target for the area which fully considers the wider 

impacts of supporting additional growth beyond the 400 dwellings identified in the 

current LPS. 

Status of the Crewe Hub AAP and Material Weight 

3.30 The Crewe Hub AAP builds on issues identified in the Crewe Hub Masterplan of 

2017 and the high level matters primarily set out in LPS1. It seeks to respond to 

the significant change likely to affect Central Crewe as a result of investment in 

Crewe Station and sets out a long term planning framework for the area, in 

anticipation of a local plan review in 2025 that will address the wider development 

implications of HS2 for the borough.  

 

3.31 The Crewe Hub AAP forms part of Cheshire East Councils Development Plan, 

and the aspirations set out in this plan better reflect the change in circumstances 

arising from the confirmation of HS2 and the anticipated levels of growth, which 

are likely to exceed those in LPS1. The AAP should be read alongside the 

Councils Local Plan and development proposals will be required to satisfy the 

policy requirements of the development plan as a whole, however, when 

considering development proposals, the policies in the AAP will be given greater 

Page 129



 

 

26 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

weight as more recent adopted policy, ahead of the anticipated Local Plan review 

in 2025. 

 

3.32 Given that HS2 is not scheduled to arrive to Crewe until 2028, and the AAP has a 

plan period to 2030, this plan is primarily a mechanism to manage and support 

the earliest investment and development opportunities around Crewe Station and 

ensure that a comprehensive and integrated approach to development is taken in 

the area, whilst testing the longer term potential of high growth in its evidence 

base. As such this plan represents an interim position that moves transition 

between the Councils ‘non-HS2’ Local Plan Strategy of 2017 and a full plan 

review in 2025 that will further consider the impact of HS2 on the borough. 

 

3.33 Therefore, to realise the opportunities presented by HS2, manage this change 

and support investment and development of Crewe Station and the surrounding 

area, the Crewe Hub AAP sets out a planning framework that responds to the 

significant change that HS2 could bring to Crewe, ensuring the Council is well 

placed to positively mange development here in the long term. 

 

3.34 Overall, the Crewe Hub AAP: 

 

3.34.1 Establishes a long term development framework which will support and 

manage development around Crewe Station; 

3.34.2 Represents an evolution of policies in the LPS and a selective departure 

from Strategic Location LPS1: Central Crewe allowing additional growth in 

the period until a full review of the local plan is undertaken; 

3.34.3 Creates a transition between the non-HS2 planning framework of the 

Council’s Local Plan Strategy ahead of a full plan review in 2025; and 

3.34.4 Forms part of the statutory development plan and legally be the starting 

point for deciding planning applications within its boundary 

 

Page 130



 

 

27 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

3.35 Importantly, the Crewe Hub AAP presents a contained response within a defined 

area, to opportunities arising from investment in Crewe Station, and the arrival of 

HS2 services to the town. The Council considers that the adoption of the AAP will 

be able to manage future development proposals in  the area pending the 

scheduled Local Plan review. 

 

3.36 the Crewe Hub AAP has been prepared within the policy framework of the LPS 

but represents an evolution of the approach set out there, exploring opportunities 

that could deliver additional growth beyond the plan period (subject to local plan 

review), whilst creating a framework within which to manage early development 

matters around Crewe Station, some of which may arise in the  period before a 

local plan review in 2025. 

Consultation and Previous Stages 

3.37 Extensive consultation has been carried out during the preparation of the Crewe 

Hub AAP, and the inputs of key stakeholders in the area sought. Accompanying 

consultation reports summarise the results and resulting changes to the Crewe 

Hub AAP as it progressed. 

Sustainability Appraisal 

3.38 The Council must carry out an appraisal of the sustainability of the policies and 

proposals in the Crewe Hub AAP. This has helped the Council to demonstrate 

how the Crewe Hub AAP will contribute to the achievement of sustainable 

development. 

 

3.39 A Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (Scoping Report) was published in 

November 2018. It identified the scope and methodology for the appraisal of the 

Local Plan, and was produced to make sure that the social, environmental, and 

economic issues previously identified were up to date. 

 

Page 131



 

 

28 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

3.40 The Scoping Report: 

 

3.40.1 Identified the key social, environmental, and economic issues facing 

Cheshire East; 

3.40.2 Developed a series of social, environmental and economic objectives for 

Cheshire East, based on the issues facing the Borough and the objectives 

of national, regional and local plans, policies and programmes; and 

3.40.3 Developed a series of tools for the assessment of the sustainability of the 

AAP 

 

3.41 The Scoping Report has been updated, taking into account the boundary options 

presented here and is included as an Appendix to the Interim Sustainability 

Appraisal of the CHAAP, published alongside this document. The Sustainability 

Appraisal Report has been produced under Regulation 18 of the Local Planning 

Regulations, to demonstrate that the Sustainability Appraisal process has formed 

an integral part of plan-making. It sets out the method and findings of the SA at 

this stage, including the consideration of any reasonable alternatives and is 

published alongside this document as ‘Appendix 5. Habitats Regulations 

Assessment ’Crewe Hub AAP is also supported by a Habitats Regulation 

Assessment (“HRA”) to assess the impact of the AAP on internationally 

designated nature conservation sites both alone and in combination with other 

plans and projects. The HRA is an iterative process and has played an important 

role in refining the contents of the Crewe Hub AAP. HRA screening has been 

undertaken and is published alongside this document as Appendix 6. 

 

3.42 The Crewe Hub AAP is also supported by a Habitats Regulation Assessment 

(“HRA”) to assess the impact of the AAP on internationally designated nature 

conservation sites both alone and in combination with other plans and projects. 

The HRA is an iterative process and has played an important role in refining the 

Page 132



 

 

29 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

contents of the Crewe Hub AAP. HRA screening has been undertaken and is 

published alongside this document as Appendix 6. 

Accompanying reports and evidence base 

3.43 The following reports have informed the development of the Crewe Hub AAP. 

These reports should be consulted for more detailed information and form the 

evidence base for this plan. Links to these reports can be found in Appendix 2. 

 

3.43.1 All Change for Crewe: High Growth City  (2013)  

3.43.2 Crewe HS2 Hub Draft Masterplan Vision (2017)  

3.43.3 Constellation Partnership HS2 Growth Strategy (2018)  

3.43.4 Crewe Hub Station Campus Design and Masterplan (2018)  

3.43.5 Housing Need Study Evidence Base (2019)  

3.43.6 Delivering Employment, Skills and Training Background Report (2020)  

3.43.7 Crewe Station Hub: Retail Evidence (2019)  

3.43.8 Addendum to 2018 Cheshire East Retail Study Update (2020)  

3.43.9 Heritage Study and Heritage Impact Assessment (2019)  

3.43.10 Transport Evidence Base (2019)  

3.43.11 Crewe Hub Southern Link Road Bridge Grip 2 Feasibility (2019)  

3.43.12 Crewe Southern Link Road Bridge Access Options – Preferred Route 

Assessment (2019)  

3.43.13 Public Open Space Evidence Base (2019)  

3.43.14 Environmental Assessment (2019)  

3.43.15 Sustainability Appraisal & Habitats Regulations Assessment (2020)  

3.43.16 Equality Impact Assessment (2020)  

Page 133



 

 

30 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

4. Main Issues 

4.1 This section summarises some of the main issues for the plan area. It addresses 

both the background evidence to understanding the local context (local issues) 

and the more focused spatial issues associated with the built environment of the 

plan area itself, identifying key urban design opportunities in the character areas. 

Section 4 (Developing the Plan) provides a summary analysis of potential 

opportunities and sets out the approach taken to address the identified issues. 

 

4.2 A more detailed assessment of the relevant issues for Crewe can be found in the 

Background Report which accompanies this plan and includes specialist 

technical reports, notably the Crewe Hub Station Campus Design and Masterplan 

(2018). These, along with the Consultation Reports and the Sustainability 

Appraisal process provide the context for the development of the vision, 

objectives and policies in this Plan. 

Local Issues 

4.3 People and Population 

 

4.4 The population around the study area is younger than Cheshire East average, 

with 68.5% of the local population being of working age (16-64) and only 13.46% 

of residents aged over 65 years old. 

 

4.5 The 2011 Census put the number of unemployed Crewe residents at around 

2,500, which equated to 4.7% of the population aged 16 to 74.  This was slightly 

above the England and Wales average (4.4%), but considerably higher than 

Cheshire East average (3.2%). 

 

Page 134



 

 

31 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

4.6 Crewe has some of the most deprived communities in England; there is an 

association between deprivation and health inequality and Crewe has some of 

the worst performing indicators of health in Cheshire East.  

 

4.7 In Cheshire East the proportion working in skilled trades and low-skill or 

elementary occupations are slightly below the UK average; almost half of the 

people working in the Borough are employed in high-skill occupations; the 

proportion of 16 to 64 year olds in the Borough with a first degree or equivalent 

qualification exceeds the figures for the North West and UK, however thirteen of 

Crewe’s 47 Lower Layer Super Output Areas (LSOAs) are among the 20% most 

deprived in England and 20 of the towns LSOAs are within the 20% worst 

performing areas nationally for education skills and training for young people and 

children.  

 

4.8 At time of the 2011 Census, 24.3% of the town’s 16+ population had no 

qualifications (similar to England and Wales average of 24.8%), but this 

proportion exceeded 30% in the wards of Crewe North (30.5%) and Crewe St 

Barnabas (35.7%). The proportion with a qualification at or above Level 4 (which 

broadly equates to degree level) averaged only 19.7% across the town as a 

whole and was well below the England and Wales average (24.4%) in six town’s 

wards. 

 

4.9 Environment and Biodiversity 

 

4.10 The area is predominantly urban with a general lack of amenity green space and 

habitats however there are European Designated Sites within 10km of the plan 

boundary and a site of Biological Importance in close proximity to the boundary at 

Quaker Coppice. 

 

4.11 There are areas of flood risk around Valley Brook. 

Page 135



 

 

32 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

 

4.12 There is a general lack of urban habitat and green infrastructure across the area 

and opportunities to link to the Valley Brook are not currently being taken. 

 

4.13 CO2 from traffic has increased and the boundary includes part of Nantwich Road, 

the subject of an Air Quality Management Area.  

 

4.14 Transport and Connectivity 

 

4.15 Crewe is well served by bus routes which will be improved by a planned new bus 

station, as part of the wider regeneration plans for Crewe Royal Arcade, 

enhancing the experience of arriving in the town centre by bus.  

 

4.16 However the area is subject to high volumes of traffic and congestion at peak 

times, contributing to air quality issues. Rail severance limits the ability to re-route 

traffic and junction and road improvements are necessary to accommodate more 

development in the area. 

 

4.17 Pedestrian and cycle movements in the town centre are supported by a number 

of routes suitable for cyclists but do not represent an extensive formalised 

network. There is a lack of quality pedestrian and cycle routes in the wider town, 

particularly towards its edges and the residential areas within walking distance of 

the town centre. Currently there is not a clear route for pedestrians and cyclists 

from the station to the town centre. 

 

4.18 Connectivity and integration of modes between the town centre and the station 

needs improvement. 

 

4.19 Business and Retail  

 

Page 136



 

 

33 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

4.20 The WYG Retail Study (2016/2019 update) evaluated retail performance across 

Cheshire East producing a series of health check assessments. 

 

4.21 Crewe town centre provides an important resource, particularly for residents in 

the southern part of the Borough, in catering for their convenience and 

comparison goods needs, as well as providing a key location to access a range 

of services. The study highlighted that the health of Crewe town centre has 

declined in recent years; operators focused on the value end of the market, with 

the town lacking in terms of more upmarket national operators; and Grand 

Junction Retail Park acts to enhance the wider appeal of Crewe as a shopping 

and leisure destination but also provides a competing destination to the town 

centre. 

 

4.22 Crewe has a comparable, but slightly lower provision of financial and business 

services (9.75 of units compared to a 10.8% national average) occupying a 

notably lower floor space than the national average (5.4% compared to 8.2% 

nationally). The vacancy rate in 2015 was 23.9% of all units, double the national 

average of 11.3%. 

 

4.23 Housing 

 

4.24 Crewe has a faster level of population growth than the Cheshire East trend over 

the past 5 years. The population in Crewe is younger than Borough averages and 

Crewe has smaller household sizes than the borough average. 

 

4.25 While the local affordability ratios are better than at the Borough level, this is 

largely driven by lower property prices. It is apparent that income constraints act 

as a barrier to the local population’s ability to afford housing and therefore the 

relationship between residents housing opportunities and employment 

opportunities is important.  

Page 137



 

 

34 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

 

4.26 There is a lower satisfaction with living in Crewe than the Borough average, and 

a relatively high level of deprivation on the living deprivation index points to a 

strong need for qualitative interventions. 

 

4.27 Viability 

 

4.28 Crewe currently has generally low land values, as demonstrated by the viability 

assessment that accompanies this plan. In the short to medium term, this may 

act as a constraint on delivering the full policy requirements of this plan. 

However, the significant public investment in infrastructure at and around Crewe 

Station will increase the desirability of locating in the area, uplifting land values in 

the medium and long term. Therefore this plan supports a flexible approach to 

development and seeks to support proposals that enable scheme viability (for 

example through applying flexibility to the mix and volume of uses in schemes). 

 

4.29 The mechanism to close the viability gap is twofold – firstly as identified in the 

Crewe Hub Business Case, in the longer term land values in the area are 

predicted to increase, therefore improving viability and the ability of schemes to 

fully meet the plan policy requirements. Secondly the Crewe Hub Business Case 

sets out a funding mechanism through which gap funding will be secured to 

contribute to a variety of infrastructure schemes and pubic realm works in the 

area. Through the creation of the HS2 Growth Corridor, a Tax Incremental 

Finance approach will be employed to retain the uplift in business rates from 

those sites identified in the corridor. The funding secured through this approach 

will be recycled to invest in Crewe Station and the surrounding infrastructure 

identified in this plan. 

 

4.30 The Council will also pursue Department for Transport grant funding to support 

key infrastructure such as the Southern Link Road Bridge and retain parking 

Page 138



 

 

35 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

income from its facilities in the area (including the identified new Multi Storey Car 

Park to be brought forward adjoining the Crewe Station Hub) to reinvest in gap 

funding the measures set out in this plan. 

 

4.31 Therefore whilst viability may be an issue in the short and medium term, the 

flexibility of this plan, the predicted uplift in land values and the gap funding 

secured through the Crewe Hub Business Case have been deliberately 

conceived to address this issue in the medium and longer term to ensure plan 

deliverability. 

Spatial Issues: Character Areas 

 

4.32 The area covered by the Crewe Hub AAP is diverse and incudes a range of 

development and urban typologies within its boundary. The six character areas of 

the plan are described below and specific policies and proposals are set out for 

each through a series of ‘Development Area’ policies. 

 

4.33 Character Area 1: Mill Street 

 

4.34 Main issues: Poor way finding to Crewe town centre, substantial surface 

parking, poor public realm, lack of integrated design. 

 

4.35 The Mill Street area has a mix of residential and commercial uses, with Mill Street 

itself forming one of the main routes into Crewe town centre. Bounded by the rail 

lines to the east, they sweep in an arc from north to south extending westwards 

and are punctured by Mill Street Bridge. The area west of Mill Street has a well 

preserved grid iron street pattern which has been lost through redevelopment 

east of Mill Street.  

 

Page 139



 

 

36 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

4.36 The northern part of the area includes a site occupied by Wickes and has 

consent for a Lidl supermarket with additional residential consent to the very 

northern edge. The central area includes a variety of residential terraces; semi 

detached town houses, and including the 14 storey Waverley Court flats which 

dominate the area. Parking and commercial uses dominate the south of the area 

with frontage properties on Nantwich Road and the south of Mill Street holding 

some local heritage value and contributing to the Nantwich Road retail and 

leisure offer in the area. 

 

4.37 Character Area 2: Macon Way 

 

4.38 Main issues: Under utilised natural asset at Valley Brook, no connection 

through component parts of the area, north to south and severance 

between the area and the town centre. 

 

4.39 The Macon way area includes a variety of development and land uses ranging 

but is mostly based on commercial activity. The area is defined by Macon Way 

and the rail lines creating an elongated ‘wedge’ with the Valley Brook bisecting its 

central area. A range of larger business, retail and office buildings occupy the 

north of the site with Crewe Arms hotel (of local heritage significance), Esso 

garage and used car sales dominating the south. Just beyond the area to the 

east are hotel and drive through facilities with residential development beyond. 

 

4.40 Although an extensive area of greenspace that connects this central area of 

Crewe to the sider countryside, Valley Brook is poorly integrated with 

development here. 

 

4.41 The rail lines create a significant barrier to movement, severing connection to 

Grand Junction retail park and beyond to the town centre, forcing movement 

Page 140



 

 

37 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

north to Manchester Bridge at Hungerford Road or south to Nantwich Road 

Bridge. 

 

4.42 Character Area 3: Crewe Commercial Hub 

 

4.43 Main issues: Large units prevent increased jobs density opportunities, 

severance to movement means poor connection to station. 

 

4.44 The area east of Weston Road is dominated by large units serving a mix of uses 

including retail, logistics, manufacturing, offices and warehousing. The area has 

extensive surface parking serving the B&Q site and frontages to both Crewe 

Road and Weston Road include street trees and some green space. 

 

4.45 The area is not well connected across either Crewe Road or Weston Road and 

offers limited permeability within it. 

 

4.46 Character Area 4: Crewe Hub Station 

 

4.47 Main issues: Station building and entrance cannot satisfactorily service 

demand for access from the wider area; poor station frontage; poor 

integration with land use beyond the station itself. 

 

4.48 Crewe is already a major transport hub on the West Coast Main Line and is used 

by more than 3 million passengers a year. This figure is anticipated to at least 

double by the time HS2 is operational. There is high demand to access the 

station at peak times, which combined with existing peak traffic, exacerbates 

congestion on the main east west corridor across Nantwich Road bridge causing 

delay on the local network. 

 

Page 141



 

 

38 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

4.49 A number of surface parking facilities around the station currently service the 

parking needs of existing station users and the current configuration of the station 

and associated infrastructure create a barrier to pedestrian and cycle movement, 

serving to separate the surrounding communities. The design of the buildings, in 

particular its entrances and drop off/collection facilities and associated public 

realm, negatively impact on the local environment and contribute towards a poor 

perception of the image of Crewe. 

 

4.50 Character Area 5 Gresty Road: 

 

4.51 Main issues: East west severance; substantial surface parking; heritage 

assets; lack of integrated design; lack of green space; through traffic 

impacts. 

 

4.52 This area hosts a mix of development including Crewe Alexandra Football Club 

and terraced residential properties to the north, extensive surface car parking and 

a number of manufacturing and other business in the central area and further 

residential areas to the south. 

 

4.53 The more dense residential areas to the west of Gresty Road experience rat 

running and on street parking arising from the station and the introduction of 

controlled parking and other interventions will be investigated here in the future. 

 

4.54 The rail lines create east/west severance forcing movement onto Nantwich Road 

Bridge or much further south to the A500 and there is very little green space or 

coherent design approach contributing to an overall poor quality public realm and 

lack of integrated development. 

 

4.55 Rail house is a prominent 12 storey building at the north of the area which 

dominates the built character however opposite here the older terraced housing 

Page 142



 

 

39 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

at Gresty Road and South Street have a well preserved layout and some local 

heritage value.  

 

4.56 Character Area 6 Nantwich Road Corridor: 

 

4.57 Main issues: Poor station frontage, traffic congestion, poor public realm,  

barriers to pedestrians and cyclists. 

 

4.58 Nantwich Road provides a strategic east-west traffic connection (including a 

number of bus routes) across Crewe and is one of the busiest of the rail 

crossings in the town. It is also a key pedestrian and cycle route, although heavy 

traffic affects the convenience and experience of pedestrian movement.  

 

4.59 Crewe Arms roundabout serves as the eastern entry point to Nantwich Road 

Bridge and the Crewe Arms Hotel is a notable locally important landmark of 

heritage value. As well as a major travel artery, Nantwich Road is home to a 

number of locally important commercial, retail and office buildings which are 

served by the route, particularly beyond Nantwich Road Bridge itself. Nantwich 

Road Bridge hosts the current main entrance to Crewe Station and offers routes 

toward Crewe Town Centre however the current public realm offer is poor, with 

no provision of green infrastructure and serving the needs of competing users 

means the corridor does not satisfactorily function to serve either station users, 

general traffic or local pedestrians or cyclists. 

  

Page 143



 

 

40 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

5. Development Strategy 

5.1 In response to issues identified in the 

character areas, and through the 

Masterplanning process, the following 

approach to each of the development 

areas has been established and 

articulated in the plan policies. 

Development Areas 

5.2 Development Area 1: Mill Street  

 

5.3 The area east of Mill Street will be the 

focus for new residential development 

focused on the delivery of town 

houses and apartments that offer 

high quality accommodation, in a 

variety of sizes and tenures. The Crewe Green Link and a network of connected 

green spaces will establish a new and vibrant arterial route between the station 

and town centre, supporting a new community that will be located in one of the 

most connected places in the country and enabling a critical mass of density that 

fully realises the opportunity of infrastructure investment in the area. 

 

5.4 Development Area 2: Macon Way 

 

5.5 Land west of Macon Way and around Crewe Arms roundabout will support a mix 

of uses focusing on business and employment in the south of the area and, in the 

longer term, new homes to the north. Development here will be focused on 

connections to both Crewe Station and to the Valley Brook, an important green 

space that will be integrated in the layout of new homes and offices forming both 

Page 144



 

 

41 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

an essential green corridor to access facilities and services, but also an important 

landscape feature that connects the Crewe Hub to its wider setting in the 

Cheshire countryside. 

 

5.6 Development Area 3: Commercial Hub 

 

5.7 Land east of Weston Road presents an important opportunity to maximise the 

jobs density that Crewe can support and to truly capture the unique benefits of its 

location adjacent to Crewe Station. In the longer term the area will shift its 

employment offer in this location from predominantly warehouse and 

manufacturing to present a high quality office environment that supports science, 

research and tech industries. 

 

5.8 Development Area 4: Station Hub 

 

5.9 Crewe Station is the heart of the Crewe Hub and investment here to upgrade 

station facilities and enable the arrival of HS2 services will be the axis around 

which the full potential of the Crewe Hub can be realised.  

 

5.10 A new primary entrance will be established at Weston Road, incorporating station 

facilities, multi storey parking, public realm improvements and a new public 

transport hub. Office and conferencing facilities supported by restaurants and 

cafes will create a truly modern rail offer in the heart of Crewe, talking closely to 

the adjacent Commercial Hub.  

 

5.11 The existing main entrance on Nantwich Road will become the main pedestrian 

and cyclist focused access to the station with a vastly improved public realm that 

connects from the station to the Crewe Hub Green Link at Mill Street.  

 

Page 145



 

 

42 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

5.12 In the longer term a pedestrian access deck will enable full access through 

Crewe Station, over the platforms, connecting Weston Road to Gresty Road. This 

second pedestrian and cyclist focused entrance will open to a public plaza 

creating the key link for residents of Crewe South to access the station facilities.  

 

5.13 A package of highways interventions (the Crewe Hub Access Package) will 

secure efficient and safe movement across the Crewe Hub, formed around a new 

rail crossing south of Crewe Station that will form the Southern Link Road Bridge 

(“SLRB”). 

 

5.14 Together, the extensive station, infrastructure and environmental improvements 

will create the conditions that secure investment in the wider area and draw 

people and businesses to what will be a truly sustainable location. 

 

5.15 Development Area 5: Gresty Road 

 

5.16 The area south of Nantwich Road and east of Gresty Road will host a range of 

new development and forms the gateway for Crewe South to benefit from 

improved access to the station. Managed parking and highways interventions in 

the areas west of here will ensure that the creation of a green highway corridor at 

Gresty Road successfully manages traffic and station access, whilst vastly 

improving the public realm throughout the area. This area will also host the 

western landing of the SLRB that will be designed to integrate with the existing 

area and enable pedestrian and cyclist access through an additional rail crossing 

point. Mixed use development across the area will bring forward new investment 

and public realm improvements, most notably through the creation of a new 

public plaza and entrance adjoining Crewe Station at the site of Rail House. 

 

5.17 Development Area 6: Nantwich Road Corridor 

 

Page 146



 

 

43 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

5.18 Nantwich Road Corridor will continue to play a critical role connecting east and 

west Crewe across the rail line but, with the opening of the SLRB, will perform a 

vastly different role focused on pedestrian and cyclist movement and access to 

the station. New cycling and walking routes that integrate green infrastructure will 

draw Crewe Station fully into the residential orbit of Mill Street, linking to Crewe 

town centre and beyond. 

  

Page 147



 

 

44 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Plan Objectives 

5.19 The policies of the Crewe Hub AAP are supported by four key objectives:  

Objective 1: Maximising Development Opportunities 

Provide a new Commercial District and mixed use commercial and residential 

development in other locations to support and enable the delivery of an 

upgraded Crewe railway station. 

This will be delivered by: 

1. Maximising land efficiency to deliver new employment floorspace and 

homes 

2. Supporting existing businesses to benefit from the arrival of HS2 to Crewe 

3. Enabling the delivery of new services, facilities and enhanced public realm  

4. Capitalising on accessibility by supporting improved transport 

infrastructure 

5. Supporting the on-going regeneration of Crewe town centre through: 

a. New and improved pedestrian and cycling links between the town 

centre and Crewe railway station 

b. The extensive regeneration of the Mill Street area, creating vibrant 

new neighbourhoods connected to both the town centre and Crewe 

railway station 

c. A retail offer that serves the needs of travellers and visitors, but 

which does not compete with the existing town centre 

  

Page 148



 

 

45 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Objective 2: Improving Connectivity 

Development across the Crewe Hub will embed the most advanced digital 

infrastructure and vastly improve physical connectivity and accessibility to, 

from and around Crewe railway station, and across the wider sub-region. 

This will be achieved through: 

1. The delivery of an upgraded Crewe railway station with: 

a. Rail infrastructure to accommodate 5 / 7 HS2 trains per hour and that 

enables enhanced operational capacity to improve local and regional 

rail connectivity 

b. A primary entrance on Weston Road, providing main vehicular access 

and a local transport hub connecting to Crewe Bus Station and beyond 

c. A reconfigured entrance at Nantwich Road focused on pedestrian and 

cyclist access 

d. A new pedestrian access at Gresty Road creating a transfer deck and 

pedestrian link through Crewe railway station to Weston Road 

e. An improved public realm adjoining the railway station and across the 

Crewe Hub 

2. Integrating the most advanced digital and smart technology in the fabric of 

new development 

3. Successfully managing increased vehicular demand through: 

a. Minimising conflicts with local trips by ensuring that vehicles are 

directed to both the Strategic Road Network and Major Road Network. 

b. Increasing highway capacity to unlock development land and allow 

efficient operation of the highway network, particularly in relation to 

vehicle movements crossing the West Coast Mainline within the Crewe 

Hub 

c. Future proofing the transport network, to make sure that it can fully 

adapt and capitalise on emerging technologies (such as electric, self 

Page 149



 

 

46 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

driving and on-demand vehicles) that improve journey time reliability 

and reduce vehicle emissions 

d. Consolidation of local parking provision and increased parking capacity 

close to Crewe railway station and in the Commercial District 

e. Creating a safe, high quality journey experience and maximising the 

use of sustainable transport modes by walking, cycling, bus and rail 

through new and improved links 

f. Establishing a local transport interchange adjoining Crewe railway 

station on Weston Road, connecting to the town centre and beyond 

  

Page 150



 

 

47 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Objective 3: Delivering Sustainable Development 

Development across the Crewe Hub will be underpinned by environmental and 

social infrastructure that also contributes to sustainable place-making. 

This will be delivered by: 

1. Ensuring new development delivers net-zero greenhouse gas emissions 

through a range of measures both on and off site 

2. The provision of social, health, education and green infrastructure across the 

Crewe Hub 

3. Maximising the opportunity to reduce reliance on vehicles by creating a new 

residential offer, built to high design standards, to match employment 

opportunities within walking distance of Crewe railway station 

4. Supporting skills and jobs by levying contributions to local education and 

skills-based training associated with the delivery needs of HS2 and other 

development across the Crewe Hub 

5. Ensuring development supports and enables healthier lifestyles through active 

design and an improved travel, leisure, recreation, sport and cultural offer 

6. A net gain in biodiversity through a network of linked public spaces 

incorporating green infrastructure that retains, improves and provides new 

habitats 

  

Page 151



 

 

48 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Objective 4: Improving Environmental Quality 

A new innovative design dynamic will be promoted across the Crewe Hub with 

an emphasis on enhancing environmental quality through development that is 

coherent, connected and makes best use of local character and heritage to 

establish a sense of place. 

This will be achieved through: 

1. Significant improvements to the station environment including improved 

frontages and high quality and accessible public spaces that create a positive 

transition between Crewe railway station and the local area 

2.  Building design that fully integrates environmentally sustainable measures 

and that improves the image and function of the Crewe Hub 

3. A new townscape with active ground floor uses, liveable streets and skyline of 

increased height and quality  

4. Exceptionally designed landmark buildings, in key locations 

5. The retention and integration of locally valued heritage assets and character 

buildings within new development  

6. An improved urban landscape, more recognisably connected to Cheshire’s 

countryside through integrated green infrastructure 

7. The delivery of a  high quality public realm that prioritises pedestrians and 

cyclists, is underpinned by active spaces, navigable streets and high quality 

materials, and that delivers multi-functional benefits as part of a high quality 

green and blue infrastructure environment, utilising any opportunities for the 

sustainable management of surface water 

8. Creating a sustainable solution to the water environment as a result of new 

development and improving overall water quality in the area 

  

Page 152



 

 

49 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

6. Crewe Hub AAP Policies 

Policies Map 

  

Page 153



 

 

50 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

7. Development Opportunities 

Figure 1: Crewe Hub Masterplan 

 

 

 

Page 154



 

 

51 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy DO1: Crewe Hub Development Principles 

Proposals that are consistent with the Crewe Hub Masterplan (Figure 1), or more 

detailed design codes produced after the adoption of the Crewe Hub AAP, will be 

supported in principle. 

Development in the Crewe Hub should be brought forward comprehensively with 

individual sites relating well to one another in their use, design, layout and function 

contributing to improved connectivity across the area 

All new development should: 

a) Make the most efficient use of land to deliver regeneration opportunities, 

residential development and economic growth. 

b) Significantly contribute to improving the environment, character, and function 

of the Crewe Hub. 

c) Be designed to incorporate features that facilitate the use of walking, cycling 

and public transport. 

d) Contribute either directly or through legal agreements to the delivery of the 

primary Green Routes identified in policy IC2. 

e) be accessible and inclusive – ensuring that developments can be used safely, 

easily and with dignity by all, regardless of disability, age, gender, ethnicity or 

economic circumstances. 

Meanwhile uses 

Where a current use is no longer viable as a result of: 

 

a) works to Crewe Station; 

b) rail infrastructure works; or  

c) other infrastructure or construction works in the Crewe Hub 

Temporary planning permission for meanwhile uses will be supported that 

enhance the vibrancy and vitality of the area, promote existing local business, 

Page 155



 

 

52 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

support community functions or the needs of points a) – c) above. Additional 

car parking will not be supported under this policy. 

Supporting Text: 

The masterplan sets out the spatial vision for the Crewe Hub AAP, demonstrating 

how regeneration and development opportunities can be unlocked and how new 

routes, green space and infrastructure can be delivered.  

The masterplan provides guidance to inform the preparation of development 

proposals for the area, setting out key matters that proposals should address in 

order to achieve high quality new development that will significantly enhance the 

area and benefit Crewe as a whole.  

To ensure that individual development sites relate well to one another in their use, 

design, layout and function, the masterplan sets out a high level framework within 

which development should be considered. It should be used at an early stage in the 

design process to  underpin the approach to integrating sites with existing 

development, and to establish how the site will relate to future development 

opportunities identified in the masterplan and adopted policies map. 

Whilst LPS1 Central Crewe identifies potential to deliver some 400 new homes, the 

Crewe Hub AAP is not limited to the geographic area identified in that policy and is 

introduced to recognise that since the LPS was drafted in the period before 2017, 

plans to secure that HS2 services to arrive at Crewe have significantly advanced 

with confirmation that HS2 will proceed, detailed proposals on station improvements 

fully developed, and the legislation to implement these plans further advanced by 

government. 

In anticipation of the opportunities presented by HS2 to increase jobs and residential 

density around a major rail hub, the masterplan represents a growth scenario 

accommodating around 2,400 new homes and 230ha of employment land (based on 

a mix of residential types and led by apartment development and B1 office use). It 

establishes a complimentary land use and infrastructure arrangement that can 

Page 156



 

 

53 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

accommodate longer term growth beyond the plan period, associated with 

investment in Crewe Station that enables improved rail services (including high 

speed rail services).  

However, whilst the masterplan may be realised sooner if improvements to Crewe 

Station and the arrival of HS2 come to fruition earlier, the overall land use 

arrangement is conceived primarily as a means to achieve positive regeneration for 

Crewe ensuring the most efficient use of land in proximity to an existing national 

transport hub, with or without HS2 and sets out a means to manage development 

now with a view to achieving increased growth density in the long term, and 

potentially beyond the plan period. 

In the event that changing circumstances impact on the sites / infrastructure delivery 

in line with the stated programme then the Council will consider measures as set out 

in Appendix 3 (Monitoring) of the AAP, including the use of its Compulsory Purchase 

Powers, in order for the stated objectives to be met. 

Related Documents 

CHAAP Background Report (2020, Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 07] 

Crewe Hub Station Campus Design and Masterplan (2018, Grimshaw Architects) 

[PUBCHAAP 08] 

Background Report to the Crewe Hub Masterplan (2020, Cheshire East Council) 

[PUBCHAAP 09] 

HS2 Growth Strategy (2018, Constellation Partnership) [PUBCHAAP 31] 

Ove ARUP Report (2017, Cheshire East Council, LCR, ARUP, CBRE) 

[PUBCHAAP34] 

Crewe HS2 Hub Masterplan Vision (2017, Cheshire East Council, ARUP, CBRE, 

LCR, HS2, The Constellation Partnership, Homes and Communities Agency) 

[PUBCHAAP 35] 

  

Page 157



 

 

54 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy DO2: Supporting Crewe railway station  

New development should support the delivery and successful operation of an 

upgraded Crewe railway station; development that impedes delivery of Station 

improvements, supporting infrastructure, facilities, access and entrances will not be 

permitted.  

Development of Crewe railway station and immediate environs should incorporate 

excellent public realm, easy and safe access for pedestrians and cyclists and high 

quality features that support sustainable travel options. 

Supporting Text: 

Proposals for the development of Crewe Railway Station are expected to include the 

following: 

 Alterations to the station building including a new roof and reconfigured 

internal layout 

 A new primary entrance from Weston Road to include: 

o extensive public realm 

o multi-storey parking 

o ticket office, station facilities and retail 

o office and conferencing/hotel facilities 

o public transport hub for bus stops, taxis and bicycle parking 

 Reconfiguration of Nantwich Road entrance to focus on pedestrian and cyclist 

access 

 Extensive public realm and highways works across Nantwich Road Bridge 

 A new pedestrian and cyclist entrance opening to Gresty Road incorporating 

improved public realm and connecting through the station to Weston Road 

Investment in Crewe Railway Station to deliver the above works underpins the 

approach to the Crewe Hub Masterplan, which in turn supports safe and convenient 

access to the station and a land use arrangement best placed to capitalise on 

proximity to a public transport hub of national significance. 

Page 158



 

 

55 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Therefore development that sterilises the ability to deliver station improvements as 

identified, including associated infrastructure, or that significantly prevents the 

delivery of the Crewe Hub Masterplan, will not be permitted. 

Much development associated with the railway network, including rail infrastructure 

itself, is governed by permitted development rights relating to operational railways. 

Whilst the upgrade to Crewe Railway Station itself will be delivered under this 

regime, development outside of the station, and where the station adjoins the wider 

public realm, is not subject to the same permitted development system. Accordingly 

a variety of works are likely to be developed that require planning permission. 

Where planning consent is required the Council will seek to ensure the successful 

integration of the station building within its wider context and that the station environs 

are developed to not only support the upgrade of the station, but also take full 

advantage of the benefits of any new and improved services and facilities here. 

Related Documents 

All Change for Crewe: High Growth City (2013, Cheshire East Council) 

Crewe Town Centre Regeneration Delivery Framework for Growth (2015, Cushman 

and Wakefield) 

Crewe Hub: Improving Capacity and Connectivity for our Customers (2016, Network 

Rail)  

Crewe HS2 Hub Masterplan Vision (2017, Cheshire East Council, ARUP, CBRE, 

LCR, HS2, The Constellation Partnership, Homes and Communities Agency) 

[PUBCHAAP 35] 

HS2 Growth Strategy (2018, Constellation Partnership) [PUBCHAAP 31] 

  

Page 159



 

 

56 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy DO3: Economy and Employment 

Proposals for the re-use, re-development or intensification of the use of land within 

existing employment areas will be permitted in accordance with policies DO5 and 

DO9. 

Proposals for new employment uses should be concentrated on the provision of B1a 

and B1b uses.  

Increased scale, height and massing of B1a and B1b uses will be supported at the 

Commercial District (DA 3) to enable new commercial, knowledge based, science 

and creative sector industries to locate close to the railway station. Development in 

this area should contribute to the creation of an attractive environment for offices. 

Additional B1a and B1b uses in other locations will be supported in accordance with 

policies DA1 to DA6, and will be supported where they form part of mixed use 

schemes. 

Supporting Text: 

The Council seeks to support the efficient operation of the land market in the area to 

take advantage of opportunities arising from locating service, science and knowledge 

based industries close to Crewe Railway Station.  

To make the greatest positive impact on the local and regional economy, and 

support high jobs density in a  location that is highly accessible by rail services now, 

and will experience greater connectivity in the future, this policy supports a market 

led approach to the delivery of new B1 employment uses and the re-development of 

existing employment sites for B1 employment primarily in locations around the 

station, and longer term, from B2 and B8 uses to C3 Residential use at \development 

Area 2: Macon Way. 

This policy should be read alongside LPS policies ‘EG1: Economic Prosperity’, ‘EG2: 

Rural Economy’, and ‘EG3: Existing and Allocated Employment Sites’. 

Page 160



 

 

57 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Decisions to develop individual sites and / or change land use in the area may 

impact on the Council’s supply of housing and employment land. Development 

activity and any gain or loss of employment or housing land will be monitored in 

accordance with Chapter 16 of the Local Plan Strategy ‘Monitoring and 

implementation’. 

In circumstances where B2 or B8 employment sites are redeveloped for B1 uses and 

this leads to a loss of employment land supply in the area, proposals for non-

allocated employment sites that meet identified employment needs will be 

considered in accordance with ‘Enterprise and Growth Policies’ as set out in the 

LPS. 

Related Documents 

All Change for Crewe: High Growth City (2013, Cheshire East Council) 

Crewe Hub Station Campus Design and Masterplan (2018, Grimshaw Architects) 

[PUBCHAAP 08] 

HS2 Growth Strategy (2018, Constellation Partnership) [PUBCHAAP 31] 

Ove ARUP Report (2017, Cheshire East Council, LCR, ARUP, CBRE) 

[PUBCHAAP34] 

Crewe HS2 Hub Masterplan Vision (2017, Cheshire East Council, ARUP, CBRE, 

LCR, HS2, The Constellation Partnership, Homes and Communities Agency) 

[PUBCHAAP 35] 

 

 

   

Page 161



 

 

58 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy DO4: New Residential Development 

The development of new, high quality homes will be supported where a density of at 

least 40 dwellings per hectare is achieved. Residential development at a greater 

density, massing and height will be supported at sites where: 

 Proximity and connectivity to sustainable transport services at Crewe railway 

station, alongside their provision of facilities that enable use of sustainable 

transport, significantly reduces the need to travel by car. 

 It can be demonstrated that higher levels of land efficiency and environmental 

quality are achieved. 

 High quality design standards can be achieved both within the building itself 

and the surrounding public realm. 

 Such buildings, or groups of buildings, make a positive contribution to the 

skyline. 

Opportunities to introduce a mix of housing types, sizes and tenures suitable to meet 

the needs of different age groups, including older people, will be supported in 

accordance with the approach set out at DA1-6. 

Supporting Text: 

This policy seeks to support delivery of development opportunities around Crewe 

Station by enabling greater density of development and therefore ensuring the most 

efficient use of previously developed land. Proposals should be considered in 

accordance with the approach set out in policies DA1-DA6. 

Whilst the exact quantum of growth to be distributed to Crewe is a matter for local 

plan review by 2025, the Crewe Hub AAP sets out an approach that provides 

guidance for development that may come forward ahead of then. It establishes a 

framework within which to support and co-ordinate regeneration and development 

opportunities in this interim period until a full plan review can more fully consider the 

impact of HS2. 

Page 162



 

 

59 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

To support the viability of schemes and ensure that proposals are able to fully meet 

the policy requirements of the Crewe Hub AAP and other policy requirements in the 

development plan, the Council will take a flexible approach to major residential 

schemes within the AAP working with developers to improve viability and ensure the 

most efficient use of land is achieved. 

Major development proposals must be accompanied by a viability assessment. The 

costs of a viability assessment are to be borne by the applicant and will be 

independently assessed  the applicant will be required to pay for and provide a 

viability evaluated and assessment by an external body on behalf of Cheshire East 

Council.,  

Opportunities to incorporate a range a mix of housing types and tenures will be 

supported in major residential schemes in accordance with the approach set out in 

policies DA1-6. Where it is not possible to provide a mix of housing type, a mix of 

tenure and size will be sought. 

Related Documents 

Crewe Hub Station Campus Design and Masterplan (2018, Grimshaw Architects) 

[PUBCHAAP 08] 

Housing Needs Strategy Evidence Base Report (2019, CBRE) [PUBCHAAP 12] 

HS2 Growth Strategy (2018, Constellation Partnership) [PUBCHAAP 31] 

Ove ARUP Report (2017, Cheshire East Council, LCR, ARUP, CBRE) 

[PUBCHAAP34] 

Crewe HS2 Hub Masterplan Vision (2017, Cheshire East Council, ARUP, CBRE, 

LCR, HS2, The Constellation Partnership, Homes and Communities Agency) 

[PUBCHAAP 35] 

 

  

Page 163



 

 

60 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy DO5: Mixed use development: 

Mixed use development will be supported where such uses are consistent with the 

approach set out in policies DA1-6 and a mixed use is necessary to support the 

viability of a scheme, and in other cases where uses serve a community need or 

create activity at the ground floor frontage of the building. 

In B1 led mixed use schemes residential development will be supported where the 

Council is satisfied that such proposals are necessary to ensure scheme viability and 

that the residential element of the scheme is of a scale subservient to employment 

uses on the site. 

Supporting Text: 

Mixed use developments will be an essential part of development in the Crewe Hub 

and are an important means of promoting the efficient use of land, whilst improving 

viability of schemes. 

Viability will be considered  in line with the most current guidance, including the 

National Planning Practice Guidance  and guidance issued by RICS (which is 

currently: Financial viability in planning: conduct and reporting RICS professional 

statement, England (1st Edition, May 2019) 

The policy requirements of this plan are expected to be met and it is up to the 

applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for a 

viability assessment at the application stage. Where  it can be demonstrated that the 

viability of a scheme is marginal, mixed use proposals that improve viability will be 

considered on their merits. The number of jobs created, and the schemes ability to 

deliver or contribute to the infrastructure and policy requirements of this plan will be 

taken into account when considering mix use developments and their ability to 

improve viability of the overall scheme. 

Where mixed use development is found acceptable, the balance of uses should 

support the preferred approach to the area set out in the Crewe Hub Masterplan and 

policies DA 1 to DA 6. 

Page 164



 

 

61 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

To promote sense of place, improve security and animate local streets, active 

ground floor uses are particularly important in mixed use development. Proposals 

should demonstrate that they have made all reasonable efforts to make sure that the 

proposed active uses will be delivered and occupied, and in particular there is an 

expectation that the approach to leasing and management will be flexible to 

accommodate a range of users, including those from the independent sector. 

Related Documents 

Crewe Hub Station Campus Design and Masterplan (2018, Grimshaw Architects) 

[PUBCHAAP 08] 

Housing Needs Strategy Evidence Base Report (2019, CBRE) [PUBCHAAP 12] 

HS2 Growth Strategy (2018, Constellation Partnership) [PUBCHAAP 31] 

Ove ARUP Report (2017, Cheshire East Council, LCR, ARUP, CBRE) 

[PUBCHAAP34] 

Crewe HS2 Hub Masterplan Vision (2017, Cheshire East Council, ARUP, CBRE, 

LCR, HS2, The Constellation Partnership, Homes and Communities Agency) 

[PUBCHAAP 35] 

Financial viability in planning: conduct and reporting RICS professional statement, 

England (1st Edition, May 2019) 

 

 

  

Page 165



 

 

62 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy DO6: Affordable housing 

In developments of 15 or more dwellings (or 0.4 hectares) 30% of all residential 

development will be required as affordable housing. 

The requirement should be met on site delivering a tenure and housing mix suitable 

to the area and split between 65% affordable rented accommodation and 35% 

intermediate affordable housing. 

Where viability is marginal a flexible approach may be considered in accordance with 

the approach set out below. 

Supporting Text: 

The Council will normally seek onsite delivery of affordable housing in accordance 

with LPS Policy SC 5 Affordable Homes. However, the Council will be mindful of the 

costs of bringing forward development in the Crewe Hub and will consider affordable 

housing provision, on a case-by-case basis. Affordable housing requirements should 

be balanced with other requirements for transport infrastructure, community facilities, 

open space and the policy requirements of the Crewe Hub AAP. 

Where it is demonstrated through robust viability evidence that delivery of affordable 

housing on site, would render the development of a site unviable (in line with 

paragraph 7 of LPS Policy SC 5 'Affordable Homes'), an alternative approach to 

provision may be supported. 

In such circumstances the developer will be required to submit an open book viability 

assessment. In such cases the Council will commission an independent review of 

the viability study, for which the developer will bear the cost. In cases where such 

alternative affordable housing provision is agreed there may be a requirement for the 

provision of ‘overage’ payments to be made. This will reflect the fact that the viability 

of a site will be agreed at a point in time and may need to be reviewed, at set point(s) 

in the future. 

Page 166



 

 

63 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

In circumstances where it can be demonstrated that schemes are not viable an 

approach reflecting local housing circumstances may be supported where the 

Council will normally require: 

a) 50% of the affordable housing is delivered without public subsidy and 

provided on site; and  

b) 50% of the requirement is provided in the form of a financial contribution to 

improve housing stock in the local area. 

Where such an approach is supported it should be in accordance with identified 

needs and the Councils Home Repairs and Adaptations for Vulnerable People: 

Financial Assistance Policy or any subsequent replacement policy and agreed with 

the Councils Strategic Housing Team. 

In exceptional circumstances and where it can be justified, as a first alternative to 

delivering a) above, the affordable housing will be accepted off-site; this should be 

on a site that is agreed with the Council as being in a suitable location, relative to the 

housing need to be met. In exceptional circumstances and where it can be justified, 

as a second alternative, a financial contribution will be accepted in lieu of affordable 

housing provision 

Where a financial contribution is sought (related to either a) or b) above), the Council 

will seek to use a standard methodology which will be detailed in additional guidance 

and based on evidence such as the Strategic Housing Market Assessment, local 

housing needs surveys and other housing market studies. 

Related Documents 

Housing Needs Strategy Evidence Base Report (2019, CBRE) [PUBCHAAP 12] 

Home Repairs and Adaptations for Vulnerable People: Financial Assistance Policy 

(2017, Cheshire East Council)   

Page 167



 

 

64 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy DO7: Crewe Hub Local Urban Centre  

A Crewe Hub Local Urban Centre is defined on the adopted policies map at DA4 

Station Hub and the frontage of DA3 Commercial District. 

Within the Crewe Hub Urban Local Centre, individual units for main town centre uses 

should: 

1. provide small scale convenience and comparison goods only. Bulky goods 

retail provision will not be permitted. 

2. Cumulatively not exceed 6400sqm gross floorspace 

Outside of the Crewe Hub Local Urban Centre, retail and leisure proposals that 

exceed  500sqm gross floor space, including proposals to extend A1 stores, or to 

vary the range of goods permitted to be sold, must be accompanied by an impact 

assessment and demonstrate that they do not have a significant adverse impact on: 

a) The delivery of existing, committed and planned public and private investment 

in a centre or centres in the catchment area of the proposal; and 

b) The vitality and viability of any existing centre, including local consumer 

choice and trade in the town centre and relevant wider retail catchment, up to 

five years from the time the application is made.  

For major schemes where the full impact will not be realised in five years, the impact 

should be assessed up to ten years from the time the application is made. 

Where any proposal fails to satisfy the sequential test and/or is likely to have a 

significant adverse impact on one or more of the considerations set out in criterion 

a), it will be refused. 

Supporting Text: 

LPS Policy EG 5 'Promoting a town centre first approach to retail and commerce' 

sets out the retail hierarchy in Cheshire East, using the settlement hierarchy set out 

in LPS Policy PG 2 'Settlement hierarchy' (principal towns, key service centres and 

local service centres). 

Page 168



 

 

65 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy DO8 therefore supplements LPS Policy EG 5 and confirms the retail hierarchy 

in Cheshire East. 

To ensure adequate provision of retail services at Crewe Station and support the 

sustainability of Crewe town centre, by providing certainty over where other retail 

provision is considered appropriate, a new local urban centre has been added to the 

retail hierarchy and is defined on the adopted policies map at DA4 Station Hub and 

the frontage of DA3 Commercial District. 

Within the defined Crewe Hub Local Urban Centre proposals for main town centre 

uses should be small scale (around 500sqm gross), create an active frontage to the 

public realm and be commensurate with the centre’s role and function as a travel 

hub and business district.For the avoidance of doubt, the Crewe Hub local urban 

centre does not fall within the definition of town centres in the glossary of the NPPF 

and therefore relevant applications will not be required to undertake a sequential test 

considering impact on this centre. 

National planning policy promotes the role of town centres as the heart of 

communities and requires that their vitality and viability are protected and enhanced. 

In doing so, it requires applications for edge and out-of-centre development for retail 

and leisure uses that are not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan, to 

be supported by impact assessments, where their size exceeds the relevant 

threshold. The NPPF sets a national threshold of 2,500 sqm, however, local planning 

authorities are able to set their own thresholds in the light of local evidence. 

In accordance with guidance set out in Planning Practice Guidance, the Threshold 

Policy for Main Town Centres Uses Impact Test: Evidence and Justification Report 

(2017) has analysed data from a number of sources in forming a view on the 

appropriateness of setting alternative threshold levels. Overall, the report concluded 

that it is appropriate to set local thresholds for the borough to reflect the differing 

scale of defined retail centres. Applicants are encouraged to engage with the Council 

at an early stage to discuss the implementation of the sequential and impact 

assessment. 

Page 169



 

 

66 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

In undertaking the sequential test, flexibility should be demonstrated on matters such 

as format and scale and, where relevant, the cumulative impact of individual units 

within a close proximity to one another should also be considered. 

Related Documents  

Crewe Town Centre Regeneration Delivery Framework for Growth (2015, Cushman 

and Wakefield)  

Cheshire East Retail Study (2016, WYG) 

Cheshire East Retail Study Update (2018, WYG) 

Crewe Station Hub: Retail Evidence (2019, CBRE) [PUBCHAAP 10] 

Addendum to 2018 Cheshire East Retail Study Update - Crewe Retail Capacity 

Update (2020, WYG) [PUBCHAAP 11] 

Threshold Policy for Main Town Centre Uses Impact Test: Evidence and Justification 

Report (2017, Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 32] 

Retail Assessment of Planned Crewe Hub Local Centre (2020, WYG) [PUBCHAAP 

33] 

  

Page 170



 

 

67 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

8. Improving Connectivity 

Policy IC1: Improving Connections 

All development by virtue of its form, design, layout, landscaping and external 

treatment should maximise the opportunities to improve permeability for pedestrians 

and cyclists and connections between Crewe railway station and Crewe town centre.  

Development will not be permitted that impedes physical access or fails to improve it 

where it is reasonably possible to do so, given its location, form and scale. 

Supporting Text: 

Both the Cheshire East Local Transport Plan (LTP) and the Department for 

Transport Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan Technical Guidance for 

Local Authorities outline the importance of high-quality links for encouraging trips on 

foot that are coherent, direct, safe, comfortable and attractive.  

The Crewe Hub Masterplan has been conceived with this in mind to improve 

connections between Crewe town centre and Crewe Railway Station and improve 

permeability for pedestrian and cyclists throughout the Crewe Hub. 

Applicants should consider how the design and layout of proposals positively 

contribute to this aim.  New development should incorporate or contribute to walking 

and cycling infrastructure that prioritises pedestrians and cyclists and provides the 

most direct routes possible, such as providing crossings at desire lines that enable 

safe road crossings in one move. 

In particular to support modal shift and access to sustainable transport options, 

pedestrian and cycling links should be at the top of the road user hierarchy in the 

vicinity of the Crewe Railway  Station, with routes that are safe, high-quality and 

attractive to use.  

Related Documents  

Page 171



 

 

68 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Crewe HS2 Hub Masterplan Vision (2017, Cheshire East Council, ARUP, CBRE, 

LCR, HS2, The Constellation Partnership, Homes and Communities Agency) 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan: Technical Guidance for Local 

Authorities (2017, Department for Transport) 

Cheshire East Cycling Strategy 2017-2027 (2017, Cheshire East Council) 

Cheshire East Local Transport Plan 2019-2024 (2019, Cheshire East Council) 

Crewe Campus - Stage 2 - Options Transport Planning (2018, Mott MacDonald) 

[PUBCHAAP 13] 

Transport Evidence Base (2019, Jacobs) [PUBCHAAP 14]  

Page 172



 

 

69 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy IC2: Primary Green Routes 

The Primary Green Routes are: 

a) Gresty Road and Mill Street  

b) Weston Road and Macon Way  

c) Nantwich Road  

At the Primary Green Routes identified on the adopted policies map, schemes that 

upgrade existing transport corridors should: 

a) Deliver enhanced green and blue infrastructure that contributes to the creation 

of tree-lines boulevards, a linked network of local green spaces and enhanced 

urban habitats; and 

b) Incorporate high-quality pedestrian and cycling networks in accordance with 

policy IC4.  

Building facades along the identified routes will be expected to be set back from the 

highway to incorporate high quality design and public realm features that create 

additional space for pedestrians, active streets and contribute to enhanced 

environmental sustainability in accordance with policies EQ1 and EQ2.   

Supporting text: 

This policy seeks to ensure that where development takes place adjoining the 

identified green routes, design matters will be especially important in determining 

applications.  

Applicants should engage with the Council at an early stage in the design process to 

ensure frontage and public realm elements create a positive relationship between 

buildings and the street that encourages street activity. 

Schemes brought forward under this policy should seek opportunities to include a 

range of green infrastructure throughout, such as street trees and urban meadows, 

green walls, green/brown roofs, rain gardens, water and other natural features. 

Page 173



 

 

70 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

For highways works, junction improvement and public realm improvements, 

schemes should take advantage of opportunities to introduce green infrastructure 

and biodiversity assets wherever possible.  

Related Documents 

Crewe HS2 Hub Masterplan Vision (2017, Cheshire East Council, ARUP, CBRE, 

LCR, HS2, The Constellation Partnership, Homes and Communities Agency) 

[PUBCHAAP 35] 

Crewe Campus - Stage 2 - Options Transport Planning (2018, Mott MacDonald) 

[PUBCHAAP 13] 

Transport Evidence Base (2019, Jacobs) [PUBCHAAP 14]  

Page 174



 

 

71 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy IC3: The Crewe Hub Green Link 

Within DA1: Mill Street, and DA6 Nantwich Road Corridor, highways improvements 

and the layout of new development should create a Crewe Hub Green Link, 

establishing a new route that connects Crewe Railway Station to Crewe town centre 

through the area. 

Such a route should be identified in development proposals and incorporate: 

a) A clear route that links Crewe railway station to Mill Street, and beyond to the 

town centre; 

b) Pedestrian and cyclist priority in the road hierarchy; 

c) New green infrastructure, and where relevant, the retention and improvement 

of existing green infrastructure; and  

d) High quality facades and frontage public realm including features that create 

active streets and contribute to enhanced environmental sustainability. 

Supporting Text: 

Figure 2 sets out an indicative block layout that would facilitate the Crewe Hub 

Green Link to be created. To ensure that the layout of development creates a new 

route between Crewe Station and Crewe town centre, applicants for development 

within DA1 Mill Street are encouraged to engage with the Council at the earliest 

opportunity. 

It is recognised that a consented scheme at Mill Street Lockitt Street (18/5040N) 

does not include provision for a link as described in this policy.  

If additional applications are made at this site, the Council will expect the 

incorporation of a link as described in policy IC3 and seek to work flexibly with the 

land owners and site promoters to achieve such a link.  

 

Page 175



 

 

72 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

The green link should be formed as a main arterial corridor, connecting different 

parts of the area together and forming the main route which prioritises pedestrian 

and cyclist movement between the station and town centre.  

The Green Link should be a widened pathway that incorporates resting points, 

cycleways and green spaces through a mixture of tactile paving and landscaping that 

delineates how space is used. 

The Green Link should connect Nantwich Road Bridge to Mill Street and 

development proposals in this area must demonstrate how the form and layout of 

schemes will create the route of the Green Link. 

Along the Green Link a series of public spaces and squares should be incorporated 

to serve surrounding development, reflecting and contributing to the character of the 

area. 

The Green Link should maintain an integrated approach to design and materials 

throughout, creating a consistency in design. The layout, design, landscaping, and 

relationship of public space to private buildings along the Green Link should create 

space for activity to take place on the street.  

Similarly the use of buildings at ground floor, and that form the frontage of the Crewe 

Green Link, should create a visual connection to the street (for example by the 

extensive use of glazing at ground floor and not presenting a blank facade to the 

street) and encourage an active street scene through careful choice of materials, 

access solutions and boundary treatments that encourage physical and visual 

permeability between buildings and the street. 

Related Documents 

Crewe HS2 Hub Masterplan Vision (2017, Cheshire East Council, ARUP, CBRE, 

LCR, HS2, The Constellation Partnership, Homes and Communities Agency) 

[PUBCHAAP 35] 

Crewe Hub Station Campus Design and Masterplan (2018, Grimshaw Architects) 

[PUBCHAAP 08] 

Page 176



 

 

73 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy IC4: Pedestrian and Cycling Networks 

Major new development will be required to demonstrate how proposals contribute to 

the provision of a high quality pedestrian and cycling network that: 

a) Is accessible for all users, regardless of disability 

b) Incorporates excellent way-finding 

c) Includes secure cycle parking 

d) Achieves the design principles set out within the Department for Transport’s 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan technical guidance. 

a) Segregates cyclists from motorised traffic and provides high quality routes 

and facilities in line with Cheshire East Council’s Cycling Strategy and the 

Department for Transport’s Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 

guidance. 

Key pedestrian and cycling routes are identified on the adopted policies map. 

Development that would impede the successful operation of such routes, or which 

fails to fully contribute to their delivery and improvement, will not be supported. 

Key cycling and pedestrian routes identified are: 

a) Nantwich Road; 

b) Mill Street corridor to Crewe town centre; 

c) Weston Road; 

d) Macon Way; 

e) Crewe Road;  

f) Gresty Road; and  

g) Southern Link Road Bridge 

Supporting Text: 

This policy seeks to reduce carbon emissions and improve the experience of the 

Crewe Hub by reduce the need to travel by private car, and encouraging more 

sustainable modes of transport, particularly encouraging access to rail and bus 

services by cycling and walking.  

Page 177



 

 

74 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Pedestrian and cycling networks should be designed into new development and 

create a high quality public realm linking housing, employment and public transport 

centres, that encourages people to walk and cycle. Networks should be designed to 

positively manage vehicular access and enables more sustainable patterns of travel 

that improve public health and reduce impact on the climate. 

To effectively influence the individual’s choice about their mode of travel, a range of 

options must be available that provide accessible, attractive, safe and reliable 

alternative options in respect of cost, time and convenience. 

In major new development, applicants should submit information setting out how the 

requirements of policy IC4 will be achieved, demonstrating how pedestrians and 

cyclists have been prioritised in the road hierarchy and how access, connectivity and 

permeability in and through the development site has been improved to connect to 

local services and facilities. 

Related Documents 

Cheshire East Cycling Strategy 2017-2027 (2017, Cheshire East Council) 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan: Technical Guidance for Local 

Authorities (2017, Department for Transport) 

Cheshire East Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2011-2026 (2011, Cheshire East 

Council) 

Crewe Hub Station Campus Design and Masterplan (2018, Grimshaw Architects) 

[PUBCHAAP 08] 

Crewe Campus – Stage 2 – Options Transport Planning [PUBCHAAP 13] 

Transport Evidence Base (2019, Jacobs) [PUBCHAAP 14] 

  

Page 178



 

 

75 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy IC5: Transport and Highways Infrastructure 

Development in the Crewe Hub will be required to make appropriate contributions to 

highways infrastructure that underpins the efficient operation of the network in the 

Crewe Hub and beyond.  

To optimise the performance and benefits of the local network, proposals for a range 

of improvements to the highway network will be supported, and appropriate 

contributions sought toward their delivery: 

1. Southern Link Road Bridge 

2. Highways enhancement measures 

3. Vehicular Access Corridors 

4. Local Vehicular Access 

5. Public Transport and Taxis 

Development that prevents the delivery of these improvements, including those 

identified on the adopted policies map or which hinders the ability to improve the 

capacity and efficiently of the local network, will not be permitted.  

Supporting Text: 

Delivery of the Crewe Hub Vision and Crewe Hub Masterplan is dependent on the 

delivery of the infrastructure identified in this plan which will support all development 

in the area in planning terms. 

In accordance with policies ISD1, ISD2 and ISD3, it is therefore considered 

necessary for development proposals in the Crewe Hub to contribute to such 

infrastructure accordingly, either through direct provision on site (for example relating 

to green infrastructure) or through contributions off site. 

Southern Link Road Bridge: 

A new rail crossing (the Southern Link Road Bridge) south of the existing station is 

necessary to create capacity on the network that accommodates growth in the area.  

Page 179



 

 

76 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

The corridor, access route, buffer and landings of the Southern Link Road Bridge 

(SLRB) are identified on the adopted policies map. Only development that supports 

the delivery of the SLRB will be supported in these locations. 

Highways Enhancement Measures 

A series of local highways enhancement measures will be required to secure the 

efficient operation of the network and where relevant, contributions will be sought to: 

a) The Crewe Arms roundabout, and approaches 

b) Improvements schemes at Nantwich Road, Mill Street, South Street, Gresty 

Road; 

c) Dualling of the A5020; 

d) Dualling of the A500 between Junction 16 of the M6 and the Meremoor Moss 

roundabout (A500/A5020/A531junction); 

e) A scheme to reduce  through-traffic using streets west of Gresty Road;  

f) Improvement scheme at A5020 Weston Gate Roundabout; 

g) Public transport, walking and cycling infrastructure improvements; and 

h) Crewe Railway Station public transport interchange 

Vehicular Access Corridors 

The vehicular access corridors are the highest capacity routes in Crewe’s network. 

Whilst most of the routes lie outside the Crewe Hub AAP, Weston Road and Gresty 

Road are important routes that facilitate movements to and from Crewe Railway 

Station, and across the wider Crewe Hub, as well as protecting the surrounding 

areas from unintended effects through reassigned traffic or increased congestion at 

pinch points. Schemes in these corridors should support and compliment other 

policies identified within this document. 

Schemes that provide appropriate signing and information to guide vehicular users to 

the most appropriate and preferred access route will be supported at the following 

locations: 

a) The M6 J16; 

Page 180



 

 

77 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

b) A500 east and west of Crewe; 

c) David Whitby Way; 

d) Weston Road; 

e) Gresty Road; and 

f) Jack Mills Way (via SLRB). 

Local Vehicular Access 

Local improvements to the road network will be supported where they are viable and 

help relieve congestion within the Crewe Hub and surrounding area. Such schemes 

could inlude the redesign of Mill Street and Edleston Road to become a gyratory 

incorporating increased footway width along Mill Street to create a wide shared route 

for bicycles and pedestrians. 

The area encompassed between the junctions of Eddleston Road and Arthur Street 

along Nantwich Road is a declared Air Quality Management Area (AQMA).. 

Interventions which lead to improved air quality in this area will be supported. 

Public Transport and Taxis 

Proposals for a public transport hub at Crewe Railway Station should support modal 

shift by providing relevant information for users to make informed choices and 

encouraging onward travel by means of public transport and sustainable modes of 

transport. 

The public transport hub should be located as close to Crewe Railway Station as 

possible, provide a dedicated area for use by bus services, with access routes into 

the interchange designed to improve reliability and avoid delay to services, and 

minimise impact on the local highways network. The public transport hub should be 

delivered to a high-quality standard and include:  

1. Provision of real time information (RTI) displays and bus timetables; 

2. Provision of CCTV to improve the perception of safety; 

3. Provision of access routes for bus services that avoid delay; 

Page 181



 

 

78 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

4. Capacity for sufficient bus stands at Crewe Hub to serve future services 

that have covered waiting facilities and lighting; 

5. Onward travel information to encourage integration with other modes: rail, 

taxi, cycling and walking. 

Taxis are also an important element that provide local connectivity and access to 

and from Crewe Station. Taxi ranks should be in suitable locations close to the 

station, be accessible to all and designed to allow a free flow of movement by 

Hackney Carriages (HCs) with good connections onto the local road network.  

Taxi ranks will be clearly lined with active enforcement to ensure their use by HCs 

only. Sufficient space will also be dedicated for separate holding areas/pick-up/drop-

off points/and kiss and ride areas or Public Hire Vehicles (PHVs). Additionally, 

Electric Vehicle (EV) charging infrastructure should be provided to promote uptake of 

EVs. 

Related Documents 

Cheshire East Local Air Quality Strategy (2018, Cheshire East Council) 

Cheshire East Air Quality Management Area Maps (Cheshire East Council) 

Cheshire East Air Quality Action Plan (2018, Cheshire East Council) 

Cheshire East Air Quality Annual Status Report (2018, Cheshire East Council)  

Station Car Parking Good Practice Guide (2018, Rail Delivery Group) 

Crewe Campus - Stage 2 - Options Transport Planning (2018, Mott MacDonald) 

[PUBCHAAP 13] 

Transport Evidence Base (2019, Jacobs) [PUBCHAAP 14] 

Crewe Hub Southern Link Road Bridge (SLB) Grip 2 Feasibility (2019, Mott 

MacDonald)   [PUBCHAAP 15] 

Crewe Southern Link Road Bridge (SLRB) Access Options – Preferred Route 

Assessment (2019, Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 16] 

Page 182



 

 

79 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Environmental Assessment  (2019, Mott Macdonald) [PUBCHAAP 19] 

Crewe Hub Modelling Technical Note – AAP Development and Southern Link Road 

Bridge (2020, Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 37] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 183



 

 

80 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

 

Policy IC6: Bus Priority 

Proposals that introduce bus priority measures for main bus corridors linking to the 

Crewe Hub will be supported in principle. Whilst the measures required will depend 

on highway interventions and the evolution of the bus network, new development will 

be required to contribute to the following measures: 

a) Access routes for bus services that avoid delay;  

b) Bus priority measures on Weston Road between Crewe Arms Roundabout 

and the entrance to the public transport interchange; 

c) Bus priority measures for bus routes linking the Crewe Hub and Crewe 

Bus Station; and 

d) Retaining and enhancing bus priority measures along Crewe Road as part 

of any revised highway layout. 

New bus stops within the Crewe Hub should incorporate: 

a) Real time information  displays and bus timetables 

b) Measures that improve safety and the perception of safety, including 

CCTV 

c) Onward travel information to encourage integration with other modes: 

rail, taxi, cycling and walking. 

Supporting Text: 

Main bus corridors may alter over time. Policy IC6 will apply to the most appropriate 

routes as agreed by both the relevant bus operator(s) and Cheshire East Council. 

Within main bus corridors measures may be introduced to ensure shorter and more 

reliable journey times for bus passengers, improve bus journey times and reliability, 

and encourage uptake in use. 

Page 184



 

 

81 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

The current westbound bus priority lane along Crewe Road will be maintained and 

will be supplemented by priority on the eastbound approach along Nantwich Road 

and to/from the public transport interchange off Weston Road. 

Related Documents  

Cheshire East Local Transport Plan (2019, Cheshire East Council) 

Crewe Campus - Stage 2 - Options Transport Planning (2018, Mott MacDonald) 

[PUBCHAAP 13] 

Transport Evidence Base (2019, Jacobs) [PUBCHAAP 14]  

Page 185



 

 

82 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy IC7: Re-Use of Existing Car Parks 

The re-use of existing car parks for recreation purposes will be supported where it 

can be demonstrated that their loss will not have a harmful impact on the local 

highways network and proposals include facilities and features that promote use by 

and serve the everyday recreation needs of the community. 

Supporting Text: 

Proposals to use existing car parks for recreation purposes must submit a parking 

assessment that clearly demonstrates the change of use of the car park will not 

result in a loss of parking provision that has a harmful impact on the local highways 

network. 

The design of recreation uses should incorporate safe and convenient access for all 

users and seek opportunities to introduce biodiversity and green infrastructure 

through landscaping and boundary treatments.  

Page 186



 

 

83 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy IC8: Parking Provision 

Strategic Car Parking 

To meet the demand arising from increased usage of rail services, a primary multi-

storey car park (MSCP) is allocated for development and identified on the adopted 

policies map.  

Where a need to accommodate parking demand arising from increased use of 

Crewe Station can be identified, and cannot be met by the Crewe Hub MSCP, 

development of secondary strategic car parking sites, as identified on the adopted 

policies map, will be supported.  

Residential Car Parking 

Residential parking should be delivered off-street through courtyard and under-croft 

provision where practicable. 

A reduced level of residential parking will be supported where it can be 

demonstrated that the proposed level of provision is sufficient to meet the needs of 

the development, taking into account the provision of facilities to support non-

vehicular modes of transport within the development itself, and the availability of, and 

access to, other non-vehicular modes of transport in proximity to the site. 

Business Car Parking: 

Parking provision for B1 and mixed use B1 proposals should not normally be met on 

site, instead proposals will be required to make appropriate contributions to the 

delivery of consolidated parking in locations that minimise conflicts with the local 

transport network, directs vehicles from outside Crewe along the Major Road 

Network and minimises conflict with pedestrians and cyclists. 

Bicycle parking 

New development should provide bicycle parking in accordance with Appendix C, 

Table C.3 of the LPS. 

Bicycle parking should be: 

Page 187



 

 

84 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

 Included in all development proposals and considered at an early stage.  

 Fully secure 

 Well lit  

 As close to the facility it serves as possible. 

Where medium or long term bicycle parking is required, provision should be weather 

protected. 

Supporting Text: 

This policy sets out the principals that will underpin the Councils decisions on 

parking matters in the Crewe Hub to prevent the delivery of unplanned and inefficient 

parking. It seeks to ensure that parking is safe, supports the efficient operation of the 

highways network, and is provided safe and accessible locations. 

The Crewe Hub offers an opportunity to promote the use of public transport and the 

efficient use of land. Applicants should identify travel demand arising from their 

schemes, making limited provision on site but ensuring full needs are met through 

work jointly with other developers in the area and CEC to deliver consolidated 

parking in locations that serve the site well in accordance with policy IC9. 

 

Demand for parking is forecast to grow alongside demand to use services from 

Crewe Station. It is expected that in the order of an additional 1,200 car parking 

spaces will be required to satisfy demand for rail travel in the next ten years. 

This strategic level of demand associated with expansion of rail services will be met 

at the locations identified on the adopted policies map with the primary multi storey 

parking facility for the area, that serves most rail demand, being located as close to 

the station as possible. Such provision should minimise impact on the highways 

network, provide a facility that is visually attractive and which enhances the station 

areas operational function. 

 

Page 188



 

 

85 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Focusing development in an existing urban area, close to a national transport hub 

offers opportunities to reduce reliance on private vehicles and reduce the land take, 

which would be otherwise necessary to ensure the needs for car parking are fully 

satisfied. The Council will take a flexible approach to parking requirements in the 

area and applicants must demonstrate, through submission of a travel assessment, 

the parking demand that is likely to arise from their proposals and how such demand 

can be sufficiently provided for. 

The Council will expect applicants to demonstrate an approach that consolidates the 

majority of parking provision, particularly for employment led development, in 

locations off site but in close proximity to the development. 

Development agreement and commuted sums may be sought in accordance with 

policies ISD2 and ISD3 to deliver bespoke parking facilities that serve multiple 

development sites. 

 

Parking in new residential development will be treated flexibly to strike a balance 

between meeting identified needs at the time of the application but also taking into 

account a full travel plan and transport assessment for the site, the availability (both 

now and in the future) of public transport provision and the availability of other 

services that may reduce the need to travel, in close proximity to the site. 

Related Documents  

Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy - Table C.3 (2017, Cheshire East Council) 

Crewe Campus- Stage 2 – Options Transport Planning (2018, Mott MacDonald) 

[PUBCHAAP 13] 

Transport Evidence Base (2019, Jacobs) [PUBCHAAP 14] 

Car Parking Strategy (2020, Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 17] 

Crewe Hub Modelling Technical Note – AAP Development and Southern Link Road 

Bridge (2020, Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 37]  

Page 189



 

 

86 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy IC9: Car Parking Design 

All car parks operating in the Crewe Hub should align with the following principles: 

a) Be delivered to a high-quality standard, including provision of suitable 

technology to support low carbon vehicles, wayfinding and secured cycle 

parking 

b) Provide a safe environment for all users through: 

i. Being clearly sign-posted, well lit and easy to find 

ii. Ensuring clear visibility for drivers and pedestrians 

iii. The incorporation of firm, stable, level, well drained surfaces that 

are not slippery 

iv. The use of clearly marked parking areas with safe walking areas 

c) Incorporate excellent design and  high quality materials including, where 

possible: 

i. permeable materials in parking areas and incorporation of on-site 

attenuation, to reduce runoff rates and increase infiltration;  

ii. bunding and landscaping to mask parking at ground floor level; 

iii. locating access and ramps within and to the rear of the car park, 

away from the frontage;  

iv. locating stairs and lifts at corners/frontages, ensuring they 

incorporate windows to create visible activity in the building; 

v. the incorporation of energy generation on roofs; and 

vi. segregation of vehicular movements from pedestrian movements 

 

Supporting Text: 

The Crewe Hub offers an opportunity to promote the use of public transport and the 

efficient use of land. Applicants for business uses should identify travel demand 

arising from their schemes, making limited provision on site but ensuring full needs 

are met through work jointly with other developers in the area and the Council to 

Page 190



 

 

87 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

deliver consolidated parking in locations that serve the site well in accordance with 

policy IC9. 

Technological parking solutions, including automated parking that encourage 

efficiency, minimise impact on the highways network and minimise land take for 

parking, will be supported. 

Allocated strategic car parking sites are designed primarily to serve the needs arising 

from demand for rail services at Crewe Station. These needs should be met as close 

to the station as possible, minimise impact on highways network, provide a facility 

that is visually attractive and enhances the station area. 

This policy seeks to manage car parking demand by meeting identified needs arising 

from station demand and directing suitable parking development to preferred 

locations and therefore preventing the delivery of unplanned parking. 

Should additional strategic parking demand arise, beyond the capacity of the primary 

MSCP, the development of secondary car parking provision, through the 

intensification of the existing uses at Pedley Street and Crewe Alexandra will be 

supported. 

Residential parking in new development will be treated flexibly to strike a balance 

between meeting needs identified at the time of the application but also taking into 

account a full travel plan and the availability (both now and in the future) of services 

and public transport in close proximity to one another. The Council expects that 

applicants clearly set out an approach that meets the full parking demand arising 

from development. 

Car parks should be well managed to ensure the safety of users and the safe 

operation of facilitates. Opportunities to employ technology led solutions to car 

parking management will be supported where they demonstrate the safe and 

efficient operation of the facility, which in turn supports the safe and efficient 

operation of the local highways network. 

Page 191



 

 

88 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Proposals for all car parking should be accompanied by a car parking management 

plan setting out how ‘Station Car Parking Good Practice Guide’ has been applied in 

setting appropriate car parking charge levels, such as the quality standard of the car 

parks, local parking pressures and the types of trips being facilitated by the upgraded 

Crewe Railway Station and land use across the wider Crewe Hub, especially in 

terms of what proportion it makes up of the overall journey cost. 

Car parking charges should be reflective of the market, demand and supply and will 

not discourage public transport and sustainable mode choices. 

Related Documents: 

Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy – Table C.2 (2017, Cheshire East Council) 

Car Parking Strategy (2020, Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 17] 

Station Car Parking Good Practice Guide (2018, Rail Delivery Group) 

Cheshire East High Level Car Parking Strategy (2017, Cheshire East Council) 

 

  

Page 192



 

 

89 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy IC10: Car Parking Standards 

The following maximum car parking standards will apply across the Crewe Hub: 

Land Use Parking Standard 

A1 – Retail 

For non-food retail units – 1 per 66m2  or 

food retail units – 1 per 46m2 

A2 – Financial and Professional 1 per 66m2 

A3/4 – Restaurants 1 per 33m2 

A3/4 – Other Drinking/Eating 

Establishments 1 per 33m2 

B1 – Offices 1 per 50m2 

C1 – Hotel 1 per 3 bedrooms 

C3 – 1 Bed House 1 per dwelling 

C3 – 2 Bed House 1 per dwelling 

C3 – 3 Bed House 2 per dwelling 

C3 – 1 Bed Flat 1 per dwelling 

C3 – 2 Bed Flat 1 per dwelling 

D1 – Museum and Art Galleries 1 per 30m2 

D2 – Cinemas 1 per 16 seats 

D2 – Other Leisure Facilities 1 per 16 seats or 1 per 73m2 

 

Supporting Text: 

To prevent the over provision of car parking, the approach to parking provision in the 

Crewe Hub will be to ensure that parking demand and need are fully assessed, 

Page 193



 

 

90 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

taking accessibly to all forms of public transport into account, when considering 

proposals for parking. 

Appendix C of the Local Plan Strategy sets out minimum parking standards within 

the borough. Appendix C is not to be applied within the Crewe Hub. The table at 

IC11 represents maximum parking standards and should be applied instead. 

A parking strategy should be submitted with all major development, demonstrating 

how parking needs are met for all users, and setting out how the parking strategy 

encourages the use of public transport, walking and cycling. Where the parking 

strategy relies on future occupiers/users of the site using public transport, and 

therefore minimising parking provision, appropriate contributions will be required 

toward public transport services. 

Related documents: 

Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy – Table C.2 (2017, Cheshire East Council) 

Cheshire East Local Transport Plan 2019-2024 (2019, Cheshire East Council) 

Transport Evidence Base (2019, Jacobs) [PUBCHAAP 14] 

Car Parking Strategy (2020, Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 17] 

 

 

  

Page 194



 

 

91 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

9. Infrastructure for Sustainable Development 

Policy ISD1: New Infrastructure 

Where appropriate new development shall contribute to and/or make provision for a 

range of infrastructure necessary to meet the policy requirements of the 

Development Plan. 

Development that would prevent delivery of the infrastructure at locations and routes 

identified on the adopted policies map will not be permitted. 

Major development proposals must be accompanied by a viability assessment. The 

costs of a viability assessment are to be borne by the applicant and will be 

independently evaluated and assessed by an external body on behalf of Cheshire 

East Council. 

Where contributions are reduced to provide flexibility in the early stages of the plan 

period, policy compliance  will be achieved through the application of S106 and 

conditions that require ‘overage’ payments will be made in accordance with ISD3. 

Supporting Text: 

Viability will be considered  in line with the most current guidance, including the 

National Planning Practice Guidance  and guidance issued by RICS (which is 

currently: Financial viability in planning: conduct and reporting RICS professional 

statement, England (1st Edition, May 2019). 

The Council will take a flexible approach to development proposals and work with 

applicants to secure viability that enables delivery of the policy requirements and 

infrastructure set out in this plan. 

The policy requirements of this plan are expected to be met and it is up to the 

applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for a 

viability assessment at the application stage. Where it can be demonstrated that the 

viability of a scheme is marginal, mixed use proposals that improve viability will be 

Page 195



 

 

92 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

considered on their merits. The number of jobs created, and the schemes ability to 

deliver or contribute to the infrastructure and policy requirements of this plan will be 

taken into account when considering mix use developments and their ability to 

improve viability of the overall scheme. 

Improvements to infrastructure in the Crewe Hub are fundamental to achieving the 

vision for the area, and are necessary to both deal with existing deficiencies and to 

cater for the growth of new communities in the area. The proposed growth of the 

Crewe Hub should be supported by improvements to a range of infrastructure. 

Where it can be demonstrated that schemes are not viable when the policy 

requirements of the plan are applied, the council will prioritise its approach to secure 

the following, in this order of priority: 

1. Highways infrastructure requirement 

2. Green and Blue infrastructure requirements 

3. Design and public realm requirements 

Improved connectivity forms a vital part of the Crewe Hub AAP in terms of assisting 

economic growth, improving the environment and maximising the benefits of Crewe 

as a national rail hub. The Council will expect either the delivery of or contributions to 

infrastructure and services that support increased connectivity and transport needs 

arising from development including contributions to public transport services where 

such services form part of the approach to managing travel demand arising from the 

site. 

It should be recognised that the delivery of the full range of infrastructure needs of 

existing and new communities is dependent on partnership working between a 

variety of public and private sector agencies. Where new development creates a 

need for new or improved infrastructure, contributions from developers will be sought 

to make the development acceptable on the impact on local services. 

The infrastructure requirements of development proposals will be assessed on their 

own individual merits; but in some circumstances it will be necessary to view 

Page 196



 

 

93 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

individual applications collectively in assessing the combined off site requirements in 

line with the Crewe Hub Masterplan and infrastructure policies in this Crewe Hub 

AAP. 

The Council’s stated aims for the delivery of the sites within the Crewe Hub are that 

they should be delivered on a comprehensive basis in line with the Crewe Hub 

Masterplan. Development across the Crewe Hub cannot be comprehensively 

delivered without additional highways capacity provided by the proposed Crewe Hub 

Access Package, including provision for the Southern Link Road Bridge. 

Related Documents 

Crewe HS2 Hub Masterplan Vision (2017, Cheshire East Council, ARUP, CBRE, 

LCR, HS2, The Constellation Partnership, Homes and Communities Agency) 

[PUBCHAAP 35] 

Financial viability in planning: conduct and reporting RICS professional statement, 

England (1st Edition, May 2019) 

  

Page 197



 

 

94 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy ISD2: Forward Funded Infrastructure Costs 

The Council will recover the costs associated with forward funded infrastructure from 

applicants that rely on this infrastructure to mitigate the effects of their development 

and make it acceptable in planning terms where: 

1. The Council or its funding partners have specifically approved the forward 

funding of the infrastructure in question on the basis that all or part of its costs will 

be subsequently recovered from developers that benefit from it; 

2. The Council or its funding partners have a supporting infrastructure recovery 

document which details: 

a) the overall amount to be recovered; 

b) the individual sites, areas or types of development that will be required to 

contribute; 

c) the mechanism to be used for proportionally calculating the cost of 

contribution from individual applicants.  

d) The recovery of costs meets all the planning obligation tests set out in 

Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 or 

as required by any subsequent amendment to these Regulations or to 

national planning guidance;  

e) The recovery of costs is secured through a Section 106 agreement and 

includes any administrative, legal and financing costs associated with both 

providing the infrastructure and its subsequent recovery through the planning 

obligations process. 

The Council will refuse planning applications where applicants seek to rely on 

forward funded infrastructure to make proposals acceptable in planning terms but 

are not prepared to make the required contribution towards refunding the cost of its 

provision through planning obligations. 

Supporting Text: 

Page 198



 

 

95 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

This policy provides greater detail to assist in implementing LPS Policy IN 1 

'Infrastructure' and LPS Policy IN 2 'Developer contributions'. It is also intended to 

help facilitate development in the Crewe Hub and will be particularly useful, where 

appropriate, in helping to deliver key connectivity policies in this Plan such as IC3 

(The Crewe Hub Green Link), IC4 (Pedestrian and Cycling Networks) and IC5 

(Transport and Highways Infrastructure).. 

As a proactive authority, the Council is seeking to assist developers in achieving 

agreed levels of growth in the borough as detailed in both this specific AAP and in 

the wider local plan. For this reason the Council recognises that in certain 

circumstances, such as the provision of a road, bridge or other infrastructure 

necessary as part of a comprehensive approach to development in an area, it is 

necessary or desirable for infrastructure to be provided in advance of planned 

development to act as an enabler and help bring forward individual schemes which 

would not others be able to progress on their own. 

This will benefit the residents or occupiers of early phases of a large scheme, 

particularly where the scheme may take a long time to reach completion, involve 

multiple developers or where the infrastructure can’t be provided in a phased way 

and is required early on but is not viable to be provided at that time. 

It will apply only to infrastructure schemes funded by the Council or its partners 

where the funding approval was made on the basis that all or part of the costs 

incurred will be subsequently recovered from developers benefiting from it i.e. where 

the Council has borrowed; used its reserves; or diverted funding from other budgets 

in the short term to help bring forward development on the understanding that it will 

be repaid.  

Recovery of cost will be calculated on a proportionate basis taking account of the 

size of each development site as a proportion of the total size of all the contributing 

development sites, the uses proposed on each site (employment sites are likely to 

contribute less to the total recovered costs than housing sites for viability reasons) 

and the level of need generated for the forward funded infrastructure. Details will be 

Page 199



 

 

96 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

provided in an accompanying infrastructure recovery document so that developers 

are able to understand at an early stage, while preparing a planning application, the 

likely contribution towards the forward funded infrastructure that will be required from 

them. 

The Council will identify any agreed forward funded infrastructure schemes and 

monitor their repayment through planning obligations as part of its annual 

infrastructure funding statement.  

Related Documents 

Cheshire East Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule (2019, Cheshire 

East Council) 

 

Page 200



 

 

97 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy ISD3: Planning Obligations Reduced on Viability Grounds 

Where the Council has agreed to reduce planning obligations on the grounds of 

viability, the applicant will be required to enter a legal agreement that enables the 

Council to review an agreed viability assessment against future trigger points, with 

the aim of recovering all or part of the reduced planning obligations should a new 

assessment indicate that profits are higher than originally forecast and the Council 

considers the reduced obligation can no longer be justified on viability grounds. 

The details of the reduced planning obligation will be recorded in the legal 

agreement together with the form or nature that any recovery of obligation will take. 

These obligations should comply with national regulations on planning obligations. 

The Council will refuse planning applications where applicants request the reduction 

of planning obligations on viability grounds but have not agreed a legal agreement 

that enables these planning obligations to be recovered.  

Supporting Text: 

It is the Council’s expectation that infrastructure and other planning obligations 

required to make a development acceptable in planning terms will be provided as 

part of all development. However, in recognition of the current viability challenges 

and the likely improved land values over the longer term, the Council will accept 

reduced contributions below the requirements set out in policy, to ensure flexibility in 

the early stages of a development. In such circumstances a clear agreement of how 

policy compliance can be achieved over time, for example through conditions and 

S106 agreements to secure ‘overage’ payments must be agreed with the Council. 

In the first instance, the Council will prioritise contributions to the infrastructure that 

enables the vision of the Crew Hub to be realised. Contributions will be prioritised in 

this order: 

1. Highways infrastructure requirement 

2. Green and Blue infrastructure and public open space requirements 

Page 201



 

 

98 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

3. Design and public realm requirements 

4. Affordable housing, education, health and other social requirements 

It must be emphasised that the full suite of policy requirements will be sought over 

time through agreed mechanisms identified in this policy, however it is recognised 

that delivery of the Crewe Hub vision is fundamentally predicated on the delivery of 

infrastructure in the area. 

As viability is judged on a range of factors, any of which may change over time, it is 

appropriate that the Council should seek to recover these obligations should market 

conditions improve or development proves to be more viable than originally forecast. 

While the details of each reduced planning obligation agreement will vary in 

accordance with site specific circumstances, the general mechanism for establishing 

and managing an agreement will be as follows: 

A full viability assessment shall be prepared and agreed with the Council as a 

baseline financial position detailing the forecast costs and profits associated with a 

proposal. This should include a breakdown of the costs associated with providing all 

the planning obligations needed to make a planning application acceptable in 

planning terms. This will form part of the legal agreement. 

In accordance with government policy, all viability assessments should reflect the 

recommended approach in national planning guidance, including standardised 

inputs, and should be made publicly available. 

Details of the reduced planning obligations and the form in which these shall be 

recovered will be recorded in a legal agreement. For example, this could be for an 

increase in affordable housing, an extension or improvement to on-site infrastructure 

delivered by the developer, or a share of any increase in profits provided that it is 

allocated to a specified reduced obligation. 

The planning obligations to be restored should be identified and compliant with 

national regulations on planning obligations. 

Page 202



 

 

99 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Details of agreed trigger points for a financial review of the development will also be 

included in the legal agreement. These trigger points may take the form of calendar 

dates or be based on development triggers, such as number of units occupied, but 

should allow adequate time so that adjustments to planning obligations can be 

practically delivered on the site before development is complete. 

On reaching a trigger point, the applicant will be expected to submit an updated 

viability appraisal. This should include: 

a) updated costs using an agreed index to the point of delivery; 

b) updated house price information based on actual sales prices for the 

preceding period; 

c) any other revenue received from or financial support provided to the 

development including grant funding and/or sales to affordable housing 

registered providers unless previously accounted for; and 

d) updated forecasts for developer return (profit). 

The developer will be required to meet part or all of the reduced obligations that have 

been agreed should the developer return be higher than forecast in the original 

agreed assessment and at a level where the Council considers the reduced 

obligation can no longer be justified on viability grounds. The Council will factor in the 

need to achieve normal profit returns when making this decision. 

All the costs incurred by the Council in establishing and managing each individual 

reduced obligations agreement will be met by the applicant. 

Alternative mechanisms to that described above are possible and may be 

appropriate for certain schemes. For example, for regeneration schemes a re-

valuation may be more appropriate than an updated viability appraisal. 

Therefore in some cases, variations to the above process may be agreed or required 

at the discretion of the Council.  

Related Documents 

Page 203



 

 

100 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Cheshire East Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule (2019, Cheshire 

East Council)  

Page 204



 

 

101 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy ISD4: Energy Infrastructure (Net-Zero Carbon) 

New development will be supported where it takes measures to reduce energy 

demand, incorporates supply from renewable energy sources and makes more 

efficient use of fossil fuels toward reaching net-zero carbon emissions from 

construction and operation, minimising both yearly and peak energy demand. 

Residential development will be expected to achieve achieved an energy efficiency 

standard of a minimum of 19% CO2 improvement over Building Regulations 

requirements Part L 2013 (TER Baseline) and each residential unit built should  

achieve as a minimum, a water efficiency standard of not more than 110 litres per 

person per day maximum indoor water consumption. 

All new non-residential built development will be expected to achieve a BREEAM 

rating of 'Very Good' or equivalent standard and demonstrate why an ‘excellent’ 

rating cannot be achieved.  

As part of any major development proposal (residential and non-residential), an 

energy statement should be submitted that clearly sets out the total energy 

requirements of development in the construction, build and operational phases, and 

the extent to which this requirement will be met through: 

a) Minimising energy demand and maximising energy efficiency through 

sustainable construction and operation; and passive design that addresses 

passive heating, cooling, and ventilation systems;  

b) Incorporating low carbon and renewable energy generation into the fabric of 

development, or built within the development, including the use of local deep 

geothermal heat; 

c) Making use of other local energy sources (such as secondary heat) and 

maximising energy generation, and storage, on site;  and 

d) Connecting to existing combined heat and power and district heating/cooling 

networks, and / or contributing to their future development to serve the 

development and surrounding area.  

Page 205



 

 

102 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Where the energy needs of the development are not fully met through the above 

measures, the energy statement should set out if, and to what extent the residual 

carbon emissions will be off-set, and the mechanism through which off-setting will be 

achieved.  

Supporting text: 

Energy requirements in new buildings are covered extensively by the building 

regulations regime and through LPS Policies SE 8 ‘Renewable and Low Carbon 

Energy’ and SE 9 ‘Energy Efficient Development’, which address renewable and low 

carbon energy, and energy efficiency, respectively. To ensure that development is 

sustainable and makes efficient use of energy and water proposals will be required 

to submit a Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) to assess the energy rating of 

development and demonstrate compliance with Part L of the Building Regulations. 

Given the higher levels of building and population density expected to be created in 

the Crewe Hub there is an important opportunity to instil a climate sensitive approach 

to the built environment here, by understanding the energy needs of buildings and 

their end use, and requiring development to implement an approach that is both 

viable and environmentally sustainable. 

Therefore in addition to completion of the SAP, applicants for major development will 

be required to submit an energy statement to clearly set out the energy needs of the 

building and its end use, and the design, construction and off-setting measures 

(including any off-setting through financial contributions to projects off-site), that will 

be used to reduce the overall emissions footprint of the development. 

Related documents: 

Cheshire East Energy Framework (2015, Cheshire East Council) 

BREEAM New Construction 2018: Technical Manual (2018, BRE) 

Crewe Town Centre Detailed Feasibility Study (Heat Mapping and Masterplanning) 

(2015, AECOM) 

Page 206



 

 

103 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Climate Change and Sustainable Energy Planning Research (2011, LDA Design)  

Page 207



 

 

104 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Figure 2: Green Space and Green Infrastructure 

 

Policy ISD5: Green Space and Green Infrastructure 

All new development should contribute to the delivery of a network of good quality, 

integrated, linked and accessible multi functional green spaces across the Crewe 

Hub. 

Page 208



 

 

105 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Development proposals are expected to demonstrate how schemes will contribute to 

delivering the objectives of the Cheshire East Green Infrastructure Plan (2019) for 

Crewe and will be required to submit: 

a) A Green Infrastructure Strategy setting out the overall approach to Green 

infrastructure (GI) within the scheme. 

b) A Parameter Plan that identifies the GI to be retained and created within 

the boundary of the development 

c) Where Environmental Impact Assessment is required, an environmental 

statement – Non Technical Summary: a simplified version of the 

environmental statement 

d) A GI and Biodiversity Management Plan detailing the management and 

maintenance of GI features to ensure functionality and connectivity of 

features within the boundary of the development, and connectivity with 

features beyond the boundary. 

2.    Major development proposals should demonstrate how they: 

a) Have employed the DEFRA biodiversity metric to deliver biodiversity net 

gain and have ensured that the provision of new habitats is linked to 

existing habitats. 

b) Support the delivery of the green network identified in Figure 2 

c) Positively contribute to the provision of Green Infrastructure and align to 

HS2’s Green Corridor concept. 

d) Incorporate blue and green infrastructure. 

e) Incorporate trees and other planting to provide opportunities for cooling by 

shading of amenity areas, buildings and streets and to help to connect 

habitats using native plants that can be managed and sustained within 

future predicted local climatic conditions. 

f) Identify and use important features of the local character to reflect, 

reference and enhance local distinctiveness and sense of place in 

landscaping and GI features. 

Page 209



 

 

106 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

g) Are accessible for all, regardless of disability, and encourage optimal use 

for recreation and leisure. 

h) Reduce sealed surfaces and integrate sustainable drainage and features 

designed to minimise surface water run-off, manage flood risk, and 

maintain the natural water cycle. 

Supporting Text: 

New development in the Crewe Hub offers an important opportunity to address the 

deficiency of green infrastructure in the area by ensuring green space provision is 

incorporated in high quality public realm that will serve existing and new communities 

in the area, link existing green assets and contribute to offsetting the effects of 

climate change and habitat loss. 

Major development will be required to submit a Green Infrastructure Strategy that 

sets how green space and green infrastructure is being used to address the matters 

identified in this policy and the degree to which provision is being met on site. 

Importantly, developers will be encouraged to employ Building with Nature standards 

and to meet a Full Award (Excellent) rating. 

The presumption will be that green infrastructure and green space provision 

associated with development schemes will be provided on site. However, a mix of on 

and off-site provision will be acceptable where this meets the needs of the 

development and achieves a better outcome in terms of green space delivery that is 

consistent with the Crewe Hub masterplan and this policy. This would involve the 

payment of a commuted sum to the Council. 

Where green space and green infrastructure are delivered on site applicants will 

need to demonstrate how the management and maintenance of the provision will be 

provided for in perpetuity. Green space and green infrastructure associated with the 

delivery of policies IC2 and IC3 form part of a wider, connected network of green 

space and are strategically important to he delivery of the Crew Hub Masterplan and 

Page 210



 

 

107 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

should be conveyed to the Council along with a commuted sum for a minimum 

period of 20 years maintenance. 

Related Documents 

Cheshire East Green Space Strategy (2013, Cheshire East Council) 

Cheshire East Green Space Strategy Update (2019, Cheshire East Council) 

Green Infrastructure Action Plan for Crewe (2013, The Environment Partnership) 

Cheshire East Green Infrastructure Plan 2019 to 2030 (2019, The Environment 

Partnership) 

A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment (2018, HM 

Government) 

Biodiversity Net Gain: Good Practice Principles for Development (2019, CIEEM, 

CIRA and IEMA) 

Ambition for All – the Sustainable Community Strategy 2010-2025 (2010, Cheshire 

East Council) 

Building with Nature Standards 

Public Open Space Evidence Report (2019, CBRE) [PUBCHAAP 20] 

HS2 Green Corridor Concept 

 

  

Page 211



 

 

108 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy ISD6: Skills Infrastructure 

For major development schemes the Council will seek planning obligations 

to deliver local employment opportunities and help address skills deficits in the local 

population. 

To do so all major development will be required to submit a site specific Employment 

and Skills Plan (ESP) that sets out: 

a) The type and number of jobs created by the development in both the 

construction and end-use phases   

b) How jobs created by the development (in both the construction phase and 

end-use operation) will be made available to local residents 

c) The key skills required within those jobs; and how, locally, the developer 

will: 

a. Support and contribute to the design and  delivery of relevant skills 

training, including engaging with local education, skills providers 

and partners; 

b. Promote apprenticeships to all ages, and support its supply chain 

to maximise apprenticeship opportunities for residents; 

c. Support the delivery of local work placements, work experience and 

internships for young people, the long term unemployed and 

(under) graduates; 

d. Raise the profile of career opportunities across the sector, including 

activities to inspire young people and adults; 

e. Ensure vulnerable groups e.g. Not in Employment Education or 

Training (NEETs), Cared For and Special Educational Needs and 

Disability (SEND) young people, have equal access to employment 

and skills benefits from the development; 

f. Ensure its supply chain creates ESPs and embeds the outcomes 

above. 

Page 212



 

 

109 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

In the unlikely event of mitigating circumstances, which should be agreed by the 

Council, that prevent the developer delivering measures set out in the ESP, a 

financial contribution would be required based on the cost to the Council of delivering 

the obligations. 

Supporting Text: 

In line with the Council’s Economic Development Strategy (2011, updated 2019) to 

provide employment opportunities for local people and to adopt good employment 

and skills practices, the Council will expect applications for major development within 

the Crewe Hub to develop and implement an ‘Employment and Skills Plan’ (ESP) 

identifying opportunities for employment and up-skilling of local people through the 

implementation of their development proposal.  

The ESP should be informed by priorities identified through the Council and its 

partners and will be secured through s106 agreements. 

The Council have produced additional guidance in a document entitled ‘Delivering 

Employment Skills and Training’ which provides information on why Employment and 

Skills Plans are needed; what would go into such a plan; what type and size of 

development this would apply to in both the construction and end-user phase; and 

the process involved in requesting, preparing and implementing the plan. 

Related Documents: 

Delivering Employment Skills and Training Background Report (2020, Cheshire East 

Council) [PUBCHAAP 18] 

Cheshire East Corporate Plan 2017-2020 (2017, Cheshire East Council) 

Cheshire East Economic Development Strategy (2011, Cheshire East Council) 

HS2 Growth Strategy (2018, Constellation Partnership) 

Ambition for All – the Sustainable Community Strategy 2010-2025 (2010, Cheshire 

East Council)  

Employment Densities Guide (2015, Homes and Communities Agency) 

Page 213



 

 

110 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy ISD7: Digital and Smart Infrastructure 

Digital infrastructure, telecomms and other utilities equipment should be integrated 

into the fabric of development. External features will only be permitted where: 

1. They are sited and designed to minimise visual impact; 

2. There is no reasonable possibility of sharing facilities; 

3. Other options to minimise visual impact have been explored; and 

4. They do not harm the character or appearance of the building or area. 

All development should: 

1. Provide, and where possible, future-proof provision, for the most advanced 

digital technology available  

2. Achieve at least the level of digital connectivity set out in Part R1 of the 

Building Regulations 

3. Ensure availability of sufficient ducting space for future digital 

infrastructure 

4. Meet the requirements for mobile connectivity within the development and 

take appropriate mitigation to avoid reducing mobile connectivity in the 

surrounding areas 

5. Support the effective use of features of the public realm to accommodate 

well-designed and located digital infrastructure 

Supporting Text: 

The vastly improved physical connections arising through development of the Crewe 

Hub must be complemented by provision for digital connectivity in new development 

here in accordance with LPS policy CO3 ‘Digital connectivity’.  

Access to fibre-optic, superfast broadband is becoming increasingly vital for 

residents and businesses and is key to growing a sustainable local economy. 

Occupiers of new residential or commercial premises expect a high quality 

broadband connection as a utility similar to the provision of electricity or gas.  

Page 214



 

 

111 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

New developments must be 'future-proof' with appropriate digital infrastructure that 

will meet existing and future communication needs. Applicants should work with the 

Council to demonstrate how provision of appropriate digital infrastructure is 

incorporated in major development. 

Related Documents 

Approved Document R – Physical Infrastructure for high speed electronic 

communications networks (2016, HM Government) 

Connecting Cheshire Initiative 

Cheshire and Warrington Digital Strategy and Delivery Plan (2019, Cheshire and 

Warrington Local Enterprise Partnership)  

 

  

Page 215



 

 

112 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy ISD8: Water Infrastructure 

To ensure the comprehensive and efficient provision of water utilities, all 

development should create a sustainable solution to the water environment by: 

1. Making best use of any opportunities for the sustainable management of 

surface water run-off through a sustainable drainage system (SuDS). If it is 

demonstrated that such a system cannot feasibly be achieved, then the 

following options may be implemented, in the priority listed:  

a. an attenuated discharge to watercourse, or  

b. where (i) is demonstrated not to be feasible, an attenuated discharge to 

a highway drain or public surface water sewer;  

c. where (ii) is demonstrated not to be feasible, an attenuated discharge 

to a public combined sewer. 

2. Delivering or contributing to the delivery of, a high quality public realm with 

multi-functional benefits as part of a sustainable green and blue water 

environment; 

3. Clearly demonstrating how early phase drainage solutions have regard to 

future interconnecting development phase; and 

4. How unfettered drainage access can be created to adjoining sites. 

Supporting Text: 

LPS Policy SE 13 'Flood risk and water management' seeks to reduce flood risk in 

the borough, through directing development to those areas that are at lowest risk of 

flooding from all potential sources (sequential approach). 

In line with the requirements of the NPPF, in the first instance development should 

be situated in Flood Zone 1 (low risk). Where development in Flood Zone 1 cannot 

be accommodated, consideration should then be made towards situating 

development in Flood Zone 2. Development in Flood Zone 3 should only be 

proposed if there are no reasonably available alternative sites (subject to the 

exceptions test). Inappropriate development in Flood Zone 3b will not be permitted.  

Page 216



 

 

113 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Development(s) shall be situated to avoid the risk of flooding. Where this cannot be 

achieved, any developments situated in areas at risk of flooding should be designed 

to make sure they are made safe for their lifetime and do not increase the risk of 

flooding onsite or elsewhere, taking into account the impact of climate change.  

Mitigation of flood risk shall be achieved by incorporating on-site measures. Off-site 

measures shall only be considered where proposed on-site measures are 

inadequate or where no alternative can be provided. Examples of proposals that 

could reduce the risk of flooding include mitigation/defence/alleviation work, retro-

fitting of existing development, and off-site detention/retention for catchment-wide 

interventions. 

The Council's Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (2017) notes that culverting: 

a) can damage the ecology of a watercourse;  

b) introduces an increased risk of blockage, with a consequent increase in 

flood risk; and 

c) can complicate maintenance because access into the culvert is restricted 

(in some cases being classified as a confined space and requiring trained 

operatives and specialist equipment). 

There is a requirement to consult with the appropriate risk management authority 

(e.g. the Environment Agency), and local water companies (e.g. United Utilities) for 

all sources of flooding.  

In demonstrating a reduction of surface water discharge on previously developed 

land, applicants should include clear evidence of existing positive connections from 

the site with associated calculations on rates of discharge. In relation to the reduction 

of greenfield runoff rates, applicants should include clear evidence of existing 

positive operational connections from the site with associated calculations on rates 

of discharge. This evidence is critical to make sure that development does not 

increase flood risk. 

Page 217



 

 

114 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Landscaping proposals should consider what contribution the landscaping of a site 

can make to reducing surface water discharge. This can include hard and soft 

landscaping such as permeable surfaces to reduce the volume and rate of surface 

water discharge. 

The treatment and processing of surface water is not a sustainable solution; surface 

water should be managed at source and not transferred, with every option 

investigated before discharging surface water into a public sewerage network. The 

expectation will be for only foul flows to communicate with the public sewer.  

Applicants wishing to discharge to the public sewer will need to submit clear 

evidence demonstrating why alternative options are not available. A discharge to 

groundwater or watercourse may require the consent of the Environment Agency or 

Lead Local Flood Authority. 

However, it is not always appropriate to discharge surface water runoff from certain 

catchments to the environment prior to levels of treatment. Proposals for SuDS 

schemes should always be designed to incorporate sufficient treatment stages to 

make sure that the final discharge is treated to such a standard as is appropriate for 

the receiving environment. Further information is available from the Environment 

Agency in its groundwater protection guidance and position statements and The 

SuDS Manual (CIRIA). Approved schemes will be expected to be supplemented by 

appropriate maintenance and management regimes for the lifetime of any surface 

water drainage schemes.  

Proposals should demonstrate how the site delivers foul and surface water drainage 

as part of a wider strategy, related to other sites and relevant factors within the 

Crewe hub, having regard to interconnecting phases of development. It will be 

necessary to make sure the drainage proposals are part of a wider, holistic strategy 

that coordinates the approach to drainage between phases, between developers, 

and over a number of years of construction.  

Page 218



 

 

115 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

The applicant will be expected to include details of how the approach to foul and 

surface water drainage on a phase of development has regard to interconnecting 

phases in a larger site. Infrastructure should be sized to accommodate flows from 

interconnecting phases and drainage strategies should make sure a proliferation of 

pumping stations is avoided on a phased development. A piecemeal approach to 

drainage should be avoided and early phases of development should provide the 

drainage infrastructure to meet the needs of any later interconnecting phases of 

development.  

In delivering drainage as part of a wider strategy, applicants will be expected to 

ensure unfettered rights of discharge between the various parcels of development in 

a wider development to prevent the formation of ‘ransom situations’ between 

separate phases of development. 

Related documents 

Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment (2011, Jacobs) 

Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment Addendum (2017, Cheshire East Council) 

Cheshire East Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2013, JBA Consulting) 

Cheshire East Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (2017, Cheshire East 

Council) 

The Water Environment (Water Framework Directive) (England and Wales) 

Regulations 2003 

Weaver Gowy Catchment Flood Management Plan (2009, The Environment Agency) 

Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (2015, 

DEFRA) 

Groundwater protection guidance documents (The Environment Agency and 

DEFRA) 

Position statements: The Environment Agency's Approach to Groundwater 

Protection (2018, The Environment Agency) 

Page 219



 

 

116 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

The SuDS Manual (2015, CIRIA) 

Surface Water Drainage (2015, The Canal & River Trust)  

Environmental Assessment  (2019, Mott Macdonald) [PUBCHAAP 19] 

  

Page 220



 

 

117 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

10. Improving Environmental Quality 

Policy EQ1: Design, Integration of Development, and Public Realm 

All new development across the Crewe Hub should that raises design standards in 

the area, creates a significant improvement in the quality of design and public realm, 

and provides green infrastructure within the development. 

By virtue of its type, form, layout and access, development proposals should: 

a) Incorporate high quality materials and architecture throughout 

b) include design landmarks and notable features (either within the public 

realm or the buildings themselves) that assist wayfinding and navigation 

through the site, contributing to the delivery of well-linked public squares 

and green spaces in as set out in Figure 2 

c) Incorporate the principles of Active Design 

d) Make sure due regard is given to disabled people when considering street 

furniture, cycle lanes (for example crossing points for pedestrians), 

lowered kerbs and on-pavement parking that  restricts wheelchair space 

on pavements 

e) Set out street, movement and public realm hierarchies explaining the key 

principles of the approach 

f) Provide information that sets out the design approach to the scheme 

including:: 

a. a pallete of hard and soft landscaping  

b. species lists and use of ornamental and/or native species 

c. the requirements of play and recreation areas and the equipment 

proposed  

d. the architectural language covering materials, elevations and 

fenestration 

e. the approach to matters of detail relating to sustainability and end 

delivery 

Page 221



 

 

118 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

g) Submit detailed or character area codes for each phase of development 

where the site is to be delivered in multiple phases, or by multiple 

developers. 

Supporting Text: 

Good design is central to the creation of attractive, successful and sustainable 

places. The Council expects high quality, well designed developments that contribute 

positively to the quality of place to make the best use of land. 

This policy, read alongside LPS Policy SE 1 'Design' will apply to all proposals for 

new development requiring planning permission, where relevant, regardless of its 

land us.  

This AAP fully supports a flexible approach to achieving policy compliance and the 

full benefits of development. Therefore this policy should be read in accordance with 

ISD1 and ISD3 in particular, that set out the approach to securing policy compliance 

where viability is compromised.  

Development in the Crewe Hub should create a new sense of identity in the built 

environment that relates well to surrounding buildings and improves the design 

quality of the area. Proposals should incorporate views into and out of new 

development and create legible streets through carefully considering the relationship 

of builds to the street. 

Developers should engage with the Council at the earliest opportunity in order to 

make sure that new development responds appropriately to the unique character 

and quality of place in the borough. Engagement can also help to consider the 

evidence required to support planning applications such as the requirement for 

design coding, testing layouts, illustrative masterplans, massing studies and 

modelling for larger proposals, as appropriate in line with LPS Policy SE 1 'Design'. 

A Design and Access statement should be submitted as part of any major 

development proposal and should set out a spatial design code addressing the 

layout, form and structure of the site and a detailed character area code 

Page 222



 

 

119 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

demonstrating how the proposal responds positively to the design opportunities of 

the site and how the proposed development visually and physically integrates with 

the existing urban fabric of Crewe, whilst setting new high quality design parameters 

for the area. 

Where proposals include applications for later phases of development, or 

development to be taken by the developer should submit character area codes to 

demonstrate how later phases will successfully integrate with the early stages of the 

scheme.  

Character area codes should be presented as a set of illustrated design proposals 

that demonstrate how the character and specific design features of a proposal have 

been addressed to consider the following issues: 

a) context 

b) identity 

c) built form 

d) movement 

e) nature 

f) public spaces 

g) uses 

h) homes and buildings 

i) resources 

j) lifespan 

Related Documents 

Active Design Guide (2015, Sports England and Public Health England) 

Cheshire East Borough Design Guide supplementary planning document (2017, 

Cheshire East Council and e*SCAPE Urbanists) 

Secure by Design: Design Guides (Official Police Security Initiatives)  

Page 223



 

 

120 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy EQ2: Light and Privacy and Amenity Space 

The design and layout of schemes, and their relationship to the site and its 

characteristics should provide an adequate degree of light and privacy between 

buildings and should include an appropriate quantity and quality of outdoor private 

amenity space, or where this is not possible, an equivalent contribution to public 

open space, having regard to the type and size of the proposed development. 

Supporting Text: 

Environmental disturbance includes the effects of noise, vibration, smells, fumes, 

smoke, dust or grit. Sensitive uses are those uses whose activities are particularly 

vulnerable to disturbance from noise, pollution, loss of privacy, or daylight and visual 

intrusion, such as schools, hospitals and homes. 

The Cheshire East Borough Design Guide supplementary planning document (2017) 

supports an innovative design led approach and promotes opportunities to manage 

the impact of dense buildings on light, privacy and amenity. 

Should additional parameters relating to light, privacy and amenity be introduced in 

the wider development plan, policy EQ2 should take priority within the Crewe Hub. 

Where proposals are delivered at a higher density, it is recognised that the ability to 

deliver private amenity space may be compromised. In such circumstances 

applicants will be required to contribute to the delivery of recreation space and green 

infrastructure as set out in policy ISD4 and LPS policy SE6 ‘Green Infrastructure’. 

Related Documents 

Cheshire East Borough Design Guide supplementary planning document (2017, 

Cheshire East Council and e*SCAPE Urbanists) 

 

  

Page 224



 

 

121 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy EQ3: Environmentally Sustainable Design 

Buildings should be designed to minimise their use of resources and their impact on 

the environment. Proposals should incorporate design features that reduce energy 

consumption, maximise biodiversity net-gain and minimise water usage and surface 

run off. 

As an integral part of their design, and where possible, new buildings should: 

a) Be designed to include features that reduce heating and cooling,  

b) Be orientated to make best use of opportunities for natural heating and 

cooling 

c) Use materials that reduce impact on the environment and ensure energy 

efficiency 

d) Fully remediate land where necessary 

e) Protect sites of biodiversity importance, minimising their impact on such 

sites 

f) Enable biodiversity net gain by providing features of value for wildlife in an 

urban setting. Such features may include: 

i. Features for nesting swifts 

ii. Green/brown roofs 

iii. Permanent open water as part of SuDS 

iv. Living walls / green walls 

v. Enhancement of the Valley Brook corridor 

g) Include water saving and water recycling measures in their design and 

associated landscaping, incorporating the following: 

i. sustainable drainage 

ii. innovative SuDS systems that include permanent open water 

iii. green roofs; 

iv. grey water recycling: and 

v. in relevant locations, landscaping that creates permeable drainage 

to Valley Brook. 

Page 225



 

 

122 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

b) Contribute to the development of a strategic district heating network in 

accordance with LPS Policy SE 9 'Energy efficient development', unless it 

is demonstrated that this is not feasible or viable. Consideration should be 

given to opportunities to connect into an existing network or to establish a 

new network to serve both the proposed development and surrounding 

land uses. 

Supporting Text: 

This policy seeks to ensure that new development considers the environmental 

impact of design choices early in the development process and to ensure that 

schemes are delivered to the best possible design standards that reduce impact on 

the environment, energy, and resource use. 

Wherever possible the Council expects proposals to minimise their impact on the 

environment and introduce design features that reduce energy consumption, 

promote biodiversity and support the water environment. 

Within their Design and Access Statement, applicants should set out how their 

proposals employ the measures set out above in policy EQ4  

This policy, read alongside LPS Policy SE 1 'Design', will apply to all proposals for 

new development requiring planning permission, where relevant, regardless of its 

land use.  

Related Documents  

Crewe Town Centre Detailed Feasibility Study (Heat Mapping and Masterplanning) 

(2015, AECOM) 

Cheshire East Energy Framework (2015, Cheshire East Council) 

 

 

 

Page 226



 

 

123 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy EQ4: Tall Buildings 

Buildings that are substantially taller than buildings in their vicinity and/or which 

significantly change the skyline within the Crewe Hub should: 

a) make a positive contribution to the evolution of a unique, attractive and 

distinctive Crewe, including to its skyline and approach views 

b) Be located where they can easily be served by public transport nodes 

c) Play a positive role in a coordinated place-making approach to the wider 

area 

Proposals for tall buildings will be supported where it can be demonstrated 

that they  

a) Are of excellent design quality 

b) Are appropriately located 

c) Contribute positively to sustainability 

d) Contribute positively to place making, for example as a landmark, 

by terminating a view, or by signposting a facility of significance, 

and will bring significant regeneration benefits 

By their very size tall buildings can have a significant impact on the local 

environment and its micro-climate. It is therefore expected that this impact be 

modelled and that submissions for tall buildings also include appropriate measures 

to create an attractive, pedestrian friendly local environment and public realm. 

Supporting Text: 

In the context of ensuring sustainable development, the Crewe Hub is a location that 

has many regeneration opportunities but a finite amount of land availability to take 

advantage of proximity to Crewe Station and Crewe town centre. Therefore 

achieving a higher density of development here requires the prudent use of land 

resources available, including the use of taller buildings 

Page 227



 

 

124 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Tall buildings by their very nature can dominate the street scene and be highly 

visible over long distances. They can also have an impact on the local micro-climatic 

conditions, for example, by creating wind tunnels. It is for these reasons that it is 

considered particularly important that they are designed to the highest quality, both 

in terms of appearance and their impact on the functioning of surrounding space. 

The definition of tall as being in relation to neighbouring buildings should be noted in 

the policy. 

Unimplemented planning permissions for tall buildings can have a significant impact 

on land value and can distort the market in an unacceptable manner which can 

hinder the development of the site for other uses and can have an adverse impact on 

the developability of other sites. This can have a significantly negative impact on the 

regeneration of an area. Therefore it is crucial that the viability and deliverability of a 

proposed tall building be proven. 

Related Documents  

Crewe Hub Station Campus Design and Masterplan (2018, Grimshaw Architects) 

[PUBCHAAP 08] 

 

   

Page 228



 

 

125 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy EQ5: Safeguarding Crewe's Railway and Built Heritage 

New development will be expected to avoid, minimise and mitigate negative impacts 

on Crewe’s railway and built heritage assets (as identified on the adopted policies 

map).  

Development proposals that would remove, harm or undermine the significance of 

non-designated heritage assets, or their contribution to the character of a place, will 

only be supported where the benefits of the development outweigh the harm having 

regard to the level of harm to the significance of the non-designated heritage asset. 

Supporting Text: 

It should be recognised that not all buildings, structures or landscapes that may be of 

local significance are currently documented or captured on a local list. Where these 

have local architectural or historic significance they will be treated as non-designated 

heritage assets under this policy.  

A Heritage Impact Assessment has been carried for the Crewe Hub and specific 

locations are identified for their local heritage value and/or contribution to the local 

character. These locations are specified on the adopted policies map and also 

identified within the Crewe Hub masterplan. Wherever possible development 

proposals in these locations should seek to retain and re-use the asset. 

It is presumed that non-designated heritage assets will be retained. Where proposals 

seek to redevelop a non-designated heritage asset, an assessment of the asset will 

be required to consider the asset's architectural and aesthetic quality and its unique 

contribution to the remaining architectural, historic, townscape and landscape 

interest of the area.  

Related Documents  

Crewe Station Hub Area Action Plan: Heritage Study and HIA (2019, Hinchliffe 

Heritage) [PUBCHAAP 21] 

Environmental Assessment (2019, Mott Macdonald) [PUBCHAAP 19] 

Page 229



 

 

126 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

 

Local List of Historic Buildings Supplementary Planning Document (2010, Cheshire 

East Council) 

Crewe Archaeological Assessment (2003, Cheshire County Council and English 

Heritage) 

Network Rail: The Guide to the Care and Development of Network Rail’s 

Architectural Heritage (2015, Network Rail)   

 

  

Page 230



 

 

127 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

11. Crewe Hub Development Area Policies 

 

Crewe Hub Development Areas 

 

Page 231



 

 

128 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy DA1: Mill Street 

Development proposals for the 

development area should:  

1. Reintroduce the historic grid 

iron street pattern to reinforce 

connections with older areas to 

the west around Lord Street 

and Edleston Road. 

2. Support delivery of the Mill 

Street Primary Green Route in 

accordance with policy IC2. 

3. Be designed to create a 

pedestrian and cyclist focused 

Crewe Hub Green Link (CHGL) 

connecting Crewe Railway 

Station with the town centre, 

through the central part of DA 1 

‘Mill Street’, in accordance with policy IC3. 

4. Direct pedestrian and cyclist movement to the Crewe Hub Green Link to enable 

a high degree of connectivity through the area.   

The following development schemes will be supported: 

5. Residential 

6. Mixed use residential led office schemes 

7. Higher density development and taller buildings towards the centre and east of 

the development area, closer to the railway lines. 

8. Small scale retail, D1 and D2 uses that create activity on the street and help 

people find their way through the area. 

Page 232



 

 

129 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

9. Works to Mill Street and Mill Street Underline Bridge that visually enhance the 

character of the area and improve pedestrian and cyclist access to the town 

centre. 

10. Development of the railway arches at Mill Street Underline Bridge for a range of 

uses including retail, D1 and D2, which creates a positive gateway that 

enhances the arrival to the town centre. 

11. Temporary uses (including construction compounds) at Pedley Street car park 

during construction of rail infrastructure. 

12. Proposals to open up the existing culvert and integrate the waterway with 

development. 

Supporting Text: 

1. This policy seeks to support the 

creation of a new urban 

neighbourhood linking the town 

centre to Crewe Station via the 

Crewe Green Link. 

2. Development here is expected to 

be primarily residential and set in 

improved public realm that 

makes extensive use of green infrastructure creating a safe and active 

environment for residents, pedestrians and cyclists to enjoy. Mixed use 

schemes that are residentially led, will also be supported here. 

3. The design and layout of development in this area is especially sensitive and 

must create an urban form based around an arterial route that connects 

development in the area to and from Crewe Station and Mill Street in 

accordance with policy IC1. 

4. The Crewe Hub Heritage Impact Assessment identified that the area had 

previously been developed in a grid-iron street pattern similar to the urban form 

further west around Lord Street and Edleston Road. The Council expects 

Page 233



 

 

130 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

proposal for this are to be designed to reintroduce and reinforce the historic grid 

iron pattern of development, ensuring that streets take a form that are traditional 

to Crewe. 

5. Proposals for small scale retail uses will be considered in accordance with 

policy DO7 and will be supported where they are small-scale, in locations that 

contribute to way-finding through the area, serve convenience needs and 

contribute to creating activity on the street. 

6. Small scale D1 uses for clinics, health services, crèches and day nurseries will 

also be supported alongside D2 uses for small gyms and facilities that provide 

indoor sports and recreation will also be supported, particularly within the 

Railway Arches to the north of Mill Street. 

7. This area has been subject to multiple historic uses, including industrial uses 

(the old Gas Works at Lockett Street are notable) in the past, therefore, in 

preparing applications developers are expected to submit sufficient information 

for the Council to be satisfied that contamination risks are fully identified and 

measures that address risks and impacts arising from contamination on the site 

are fully addressed  

8. An air quality management area is in place partly within, and partly outside of 

the Crewe Hub AAP boundary to the south and east of DA1, at Nantwich Road.  

9. Proposals within DA1 may be required to provide an air quality assessment, 

particularly where such proposals are considered to be a large scale and/or are 

likely to have a significant or cumulative impact upon local air quality. The level 

of assessment required will depend on the nature, extent and location of the 

development. 

10. Developments that introduce sensitive receptors (such as housing, schools, 

care homes, hospitals) in locations of poor air quality will not be acceptable 

unless designed to mitigate the impact. 

11. The Low Emissions Strategy Partnership provides advice on how large 

developments can minimise their air quality impacts, particularly in relation to 

reducing traffic emissions.  

Page 234



 

 

131 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

12. Whilst works to Crewe Station and associated public realm work are underway, 

the existing car park at Pedley Street may be required as construction 

compound. A flexible approach will be taken to support temporary development 

at this site that enables the efficient delivery of planned works associated with 

the Crewe Station. 

 

  

Page 235



 

 

132 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy DA2: Macon Way 

Development proposals for the 

development area should:  

1. Support the delivery of the Weston 

Road and Macon Way Primary 

Green Route to create an arterial 

pedestrian and cyclist route through 

the centre of the area, linking to 

Crewe Railway Station. 

2. Not sterilise opportunities to 

introduce bridge connections across 

the railway line, landing within the 

area 

3. Make sure the Valley Brook river 

corridor is protected. 

4. Enhance the Valley Brook river corridor as an important natural landscape 

feature and usable area of open land including:  

a) conserving and enhancing existing areas of value;  

b) restoring and enhancing the natural elements of the river environment; 

and  

c) promoting public access.  

Development proposals adjacent to Valley Brook river corridor should:  

5. Provide an active frontage and positive connection with the river corridor; 

The following development schemes will be supported: 

6. Mixed use and residential led development incorporating a range of family 

housing in the northern part of the site. 

7. B1(a) and B1(b) business uses, and mixed uses in locations to the south of 

the area. 

Page 236



 

 

133 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

8. C1 hotel uses in the south of the area that enhance the role and function of 

the Crewe Hub and mitigate relevant harmful impacts on adjoining uses. 

9. Landmark buildings of increased height and high quality design in frontage 

locations along Crewe Road and Macon Way that incorporate green 

landscaping at building frontages, creating green boulevards that incorporate 

trees, verges and urban meadows. 

10. Pedestrian and cyclist routes incorporating extensive green infrastructure, 

which link residential development in the northern part of the site, Valley 

Brook and business uses at the south of the site, to Crewe Railway Station 

11. Development proposals adjoining the Valley Brook that positively integrate 

with the river corridor through their layout and design. 

12. Schemes designed with a naturalised buffer zone of at least 8 metres from the 

main river to protect and enhance the conservation value of the watercourse 

and ensure access for flood defence maintenance. 

Development proposals in areas at risk of flooding should be informed by a Flood 

Risk Assessment and address and mitigate known flood risks and demonstrate 

how surface water can be appropriately managed in accordance with policy ISD8. 

Supporting Text: 

This policy seeks to deliver a mixed use area north west of Crewe Station, that 

focuses development on employment uses toward the south of the site and 

residential uses toward the north of the site. The Council expects applicants to 

demonstrate how development proposals have fully considered routes and linkages 

throughout the site, ensuring pedestrian and cycling connections to Crewe Station 

are successfully achieved. 

Development here is expected to link to Valley Brook enhancing the river corridor 

and ensuring that the landscape here becomes a characteristic feature of 

development in the area. 

Page 237



 

 

134 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Part of the area lies within an identified flood risk zone (zones 1 and 2). Proposals 

within the identified flood risk zones are expected to submit a flood risk assessment 

in accordance with Environment Agency guidelines and policy ISD8. 

An air quality management area is in place outside of the Crewe Hub AAP boundary 

to the north of DA2, at Earl Street and Manchester Bridge.  

Proposals within DA2 may be required to provide an air quality assessment, 

particularly where such proposals are considered to be a large scale and/or are likely 

to have a significant or cumulative impact upon local air quality. The level of 

assessment required will depend on the nature, extent and location of the 

development. 

Developments that introduce sensitive receptors (such as housing, schools, care 

homes, hospitals) in locations of poor air quality will not be acceptable unless 

designed to mitigate the impact. 

The Low Emissions Strategy Partnership provides advice on how large 

developments can minimise their air quality impacts, particularly in relation to 

reducing traffic emissions.    

Page 238



 

 

135 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy DA3: Commercial Hub 

Development proposals for the development 

area should: 

1. Include green infrastructure and safe 

and convenient pedestrian and cyclist 

access that physically and visually 

integrates with adjoining public realm 

located in DA4: Stat ion Hub.  

2. Be set back from the highway to 

enable provision of enhanced 

landscaping and green infrastructure, 

contributing to the creation of the 

Weston Road and Macon Way 

Primary Green Routes. 

3. Include an aboricultural statement when in the vicinity of the existing Tree 

Preservation Order (TPO) on the corner of Crewe Road and Gateway, and 

demonstrate how the TPO tree  is incorporated into the proposal. 

The following development schemes will be supported: 

4. B1(a) and B1(b) business uses across the area. 

5. office-led mixed-use residential development. 

6. Small scale retail on frontage locations of Weston Road  

7. Exceptionally designed landmark buildings on the frontage of Weston Road 

and Crewe Road.   

8. Consolidated parking delivered in multi storey format, incorporating 

basement/under croft parking, where possible. 

9. The upgrading of First Avenue, creating a route that links Weston Road and 

Gateway to accommodate additional traffic.  

Supporting Text: 

Page 239



 

 

136 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

This policy supports the delivery of B1 office based employment in locations east 

of Weston Road. It supports the creation of new, and diversification of existing B2 

and B8 uses in the area and, where scheme viability is improved threatened, 

supports the incorporation of mixed use residential development. In such 

circumstances residential elements should be provided on the basis of the 

minimum necessary to secure viability and in accordance with policies DO5. 

Within the defined Crewe Hub Local Urban Centre, retail development will be 

supported in accordance with Policy DO7. Proposals for A1 uses that exceed the 

size thresholds, or cumulative floorspace thresholds set out in the policy must 

submit an impact test in accordance with this policy. 

Development is expected to be master planned and delivered comprehensively to 

secure a built form that physically and visually connects to and across Weston 

Road, aligning to a future improved primary entrance to Crewe Station here and 

creating a high quality public realm within and fronting the commercial district.  

Wherever possible, schemes should include landscaping and green infrastructure 

that contributes to the creation of a network of green space connecting to 

improved landscaping on Weston Road and be set back from the highway here 

and at Crewe Road to enable the creation of green corridors on these key routes. 

Landmark buildings of increased height will be supported on the frontages of 

Weston Road and Crewe Road where the building and site design can secure 

high quality architecture, 

materials and landscaping. 

Development in the area 

must successfully and fully 

address its impacts, including 

to satisfy the need for parking 

that may arise from the 

scheme. Through a travel 

Page 240



 

 

137 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

plan, proposals should demonstrate how they have promoted walking and cycling 

and, where parking is required, it is to be met through a development agreement 

that requires applicants to contribute to the delivery of consolidated business 

parking, in multi storey format in a location within the Development Area.  

Page 241



 

 

138 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy DA4: Station Hub 

Development proposals for the development 

area should: 

1. Not prevent or impede the successful 

and efficient operation of Crewe 

Railway Station or sterilise future 

opportunities to upgrade Station 

infrastructure, buildings, access or 

facilities. 

2. Deliver a high quality public realm 

adjoining the entrance to Crewe 

Railway Station, including a new 

public plaza, incorporating green 

space, and extensive landscaping. 

The following development schemes will be supported: 

3. B1(a) and B1(b) business uses  

4. Public realm schemes that connect to and visually integrate with adjoining 

public realm located in DA3: Commercial District.  

5. Provision of a station ticket office, associated retail, food, drink and drinking 

establishments adjoining Crewe Railway Station. 

6. Landmark buildings incorporating a mix of B1(a) and B1(b) uses, hotel and 

conferencing facilities, and A3 and A4 uses. 

7. A multi-storey car park to accommodate around 1,200 car parking spaces.  

8. A high quality public transport interchange that includes: 

d) capacity for sufficient bus stands that have covered waiting facilities 

and lighting, to serve future services; 

e) onward travel information to encourage integration with other modes: 

rail, taxi, cycling and walking; 

Page 242



 

 

139 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

9. Proposals for the realignment of the local highways network incorporating 

improvements to the Crewe Road roundabout and Weston Road that enable 

safe and convenient movement for pedestrians and cyclists, whilst delivering 

wider highways and public realm benefits.  

Supporting Text: 

This policy supports the 

delivery of improvements 

to Crewe Station and the 

creation of a new primary 

entrance facing Weston 

Road. The area is 

expected to include a 

range of services and 

facilities that will support 

the long terms successful 

operation of Crewe Station by increasing its connectivity to the Crew Hub and 

beyond. 

To ensure Crewe Station is ready to accommodate additional services associated 

with HS2, a range of station alterations will be necessary to implement, taking into 

account not only increased passenger demand, put also the impact on opportunities 

outside of the station itself.   

Therefore the design and orientation of Crewe Station, alongside its services and 

facilities are key factors that will enable development in the surrounding area to 

succeed. 

Ensuring that the hierarchy of station entrances is aligned to land use arrangement 

outside the station is fundamental to maximising opportunities to make the most 

efficient use of land in the area, increase jobs and residential density and deliver the 

aspirations of the Crewe Hub Masterplan. Therefore ensuring that the facilities are in 

Page 243



 

 

140 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

place to support the role and function of each entrance to Crewe Station is 

fundamentally important to ensure that opportunities within the surrounding area are 

fully realised. 

Towards this aim, policy DA4 supports measures that will ensure the successful 

operation of Crewe Station, including its adjoining highway network, public realm, 

transport and other facilities. 

Proposals in this location should: 

a) Be designed to ensure safe, efficient and convenient aces to Crewe Station 

for all users 

b) Deliver primary station parking facilities, in multi storey format, to meet 

parking demand arising from the station; 

c) Accommodate a transport hub for buses, taxis and cyclists to safely and 

securely access the station; 

d) Create a new public plaza incorporating a range of green infrastructure; 

Retail, employment and other commercial uses such as conferencing facilities, bars 

and restaurants of an appropriate scale to serve the development area will also be 

supported in accordance with policy DO7.  

A primary car-park is allocated and identified on the adopted policies map to meet 

strategic need arising from passenger growth a Crewe Station. Should passenger 

growth exceed capacity at the primary strategic parking location, additional provision 

will be considered firstly at the secondary strategic parking location, as identified in 

on the adopted policies map. 

 

  

Page 244



 

 

141 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy DA5: Gresty Road 

Development proposals for the 

development area should: 

1. Contribute to the delivery of 

highway schemes that improve 

the efficiency and safety of the 

local network on Gresty Road and 

South Street.  

2. Make sure the amenity of existing 

occupiers is not harmed, when 

adjo ining existing residential 

uses to the south of the area. 

3. Retain and reinforce the layout 

and form of the identified South 

Street, Gresty Road and 

Nantwich Road character area, 

including the retention of heritage and character buildings.  Where taller 

buildings are appropriate, proposals for non-residential uses should not harm 

the amenity of nearby residents. 

The following development schemes will be supported: 

4. Office-led mixed-use development across this area delivering a range of 

homes and B1(a) and B1(b) business uses. 

5. Proposals to enhance the stadium’s role as a recreation and leisure facility. 

6. Redevelopment of the site of the current Rail House to deliver a landmark 

building at a similar height, incorporating a mix of uses, the most active of 

which should be located at the ground floor. 

7. Redevelopment of Nantwich House incorporating extensive high quality public 

realm and new cycling and pedestrian access routes to Crewe Railway 

Station. 

Page 245



 

 

142 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

8. The use of land adjoining the safeguarded route of the Southern Link Road 

Bridge (SLRB) (identified on the adopted policies map) for a temporary 

construction compound.  Upon completion of the SLRB, development of this 

land for uses consistent with the approach to the area will be permitted. 

9. Development that supports the delivery of a pedestrian and cycle focussed 

Railway Station entrance and associated public realm works, including the 

provision of green infrastructure, to the north of Crewe Alexandria Stadium 

(and identified as safeguarded land on the adopted policies map). 

10. Re-use of existing open space for outdoor recreation and leisure uses 

11. Intensification of the parking use at Crewe Alexandra car park to provide multi 

storey parking to meet long term strategic parking demand arising from Crewe 

Station passenger growth, and that cannot be met by the primary strategic 

parking facilities in DA4. 

In the event the stadium site becomes available for development, proposals for a mix 

of uses including residential, community facilities, and B1(a) and B1(b) business, 

which integrate high quality public realm and amenity green space, and contribute to 

the delivery of the Gresty Road  and Mill Street Primary Green Route will be 

supported. 

Supporting Text: 

This policy supports a range of development that will contribute to the successful 

operation of Crewe Station in the long term, improve the public realm and make best 

use of opportunities to bring forward new residential and employment opportunities 

in the area. 

Land adjoining Crewe Station (the triangle south of Nantwich Road and east of 

South Street) should host development that secures improved realm and does not 

prevent the delivery of a third entrance to Crewe Station in the long term. 

The Crewe Hub Heritage Impact Assessment identified a number of local heritage 

assets that are identified on the adopted policies map. Development proposals for 

route alignment of the Southern Link Road Bridge 

Page 246



 

 

143 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

sites including identified local assets should consider how best to incorporate the 

heritage value of buildings here, in their proposals (in accordance with policy EQ5)  

Proposals that may introduce sensitive receptors for air quality should submit an air 

quality assessment demonstrating how schemes will contribute to the management 

of air quality in the area. 

Crewe Alexandra Football Club and Stadium is an important leisure and recreation 

assets for the town and proposals that enhance this use and enable the Club to 

improve it’s facilities will be supported. Should Crewe Alexandra Football Club 

decide to relocate to an alternative site, the Council will take a flexible approach to 

enable additional mixed use development on site and will require the provision of 

leisure and recreation facilities within an alternative scheme. 

Wherever possible, development fronting to Gresty Road should be set back form 

the highway and incorporate landscaping features such as street trees, urban 

meadows and planting that links to, and contributes to the creation of a green 

corridor along this important route. 

  

Page 247



 

 

144 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Policy DA6: Nantwich Road Corridor 

A new entrance to Crewe Railway Station at Nantwich Road should make sure there 

is a fully integrated and accessible solution that prioritises pedestrian and cyclist 

access. 

The following development schemes will be supported: 

1. Proposals to improve the environment on Nantwich Road for non-vehicular 

users that: 

a) include high quality public realm; 

b) integrate green infrastructure; 

c) provide appropriate and secure cycle storage; and 

d) give priority to, and include clear routes for, pedestrians and cyclists 

 

2. Works to Nantwich Road Bridge that enable the (1) above; and 

 

3. Temporary measures, ahead of the construction of the SLRB, which create 

more space for pedestrians and cyclists along Nantwich Road. 

Supporting Text: 

Nantwich Road Bridge is an 

important east/west arterial route 

for vehicles and pedestrians. 

The introduction of an additional 

rail crossing south of the station 

(the southern link road bridge) 

will create additional capacity on 

this route and allow the 

implementation of an enhance pedestrian and cyclist focused public realm strategy 

that improves local access to a Crewe Station. 

Page 248



 

 

145 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Proposals that bring this forward will be supported and may included additional 

engineering work to  Nantwich Road Bridge. 

Proposals should visually connect to the station entrance, creating a safe route 

between Crewe Station and the Crewe Hub Green Link, set out in DA1. 

The public realm should incorporate high quality features and landscaping to 

introduce green infrastructure wherever possible. 

Proposals that support the successful  operation of this area for pedestrians and 

cyclists will be supported, for example  temporary activities and uses that improve 

the vibrancy of this route (such as food and drink stalls) or facilities that support a 

service that encourages pedestrian and cyclist use (such as bike hire, bike security 

or public information stands) 

Development must ensure that access is maintained for existing businesses in and 

around the Nantwich Road/Pedley Street areas whilst any works are carried out. 

 

 

  

Artists impression of public realm improvements at Nantwich Road 

Page 249



 

 

146 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Appendix 1: Glossary  

Glossary 

Affordable housing: 

Social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing, provided to eligible 

households whose needs are not met by the market. 

Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices. 

Affordable housing should include provisions to remain at an affordable price for 

future eligible households or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable 

housing provision. 

Social rented housing is owned by local authorities and private registered providers 

(as defined in section 80 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008), for which 

guideline target rents are determined through the national rent regime. It may also be 

owned by other persons and provided under equivalent rental arrangements to the 

above, as agreed with the local authority or with the Homes and Communities 

Agency. Affordable rented housing is let by local authorities or private registered 

providers of social housing to households who are eligible for social rented housing. 

Affordable Rent is subject to rent controls that require a rent of no more than 80% of 

the local market rent (including service charges, where applicable). 

Intermediate housing is homes for sale and rent provided at a cost above social rent, 

but below market levels subject to the criteria in the Affordable Housing definition 

above. These can include shared equity (shared ownership and equity loans), other 

low cost homes for sale and intermediate rent, but not affordable rented housing. 

Homes that do not meet the above definition of affordable housing, such as “low cost 

market” housing, may not be considered as affordable housing for planning 

purposes. 

 

Amenity 

Page 250



 

 

147 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

A positive element or elements that contribute to the overall character or enjoyment 

of an area. For example, open land, trees, historic buildings and the inter-relationship 

between them, or less tangible factors such as tranquillity. 

Blue infrastructure 

A network of water that supports native species, maintains natural ecological 

processes, prevents flooding, sustains air and water resources and contributes to the 

health and quality of life of local communities. 

Brownfield land 

Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of 

the developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the 

curtilage should be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This 

excludes: land that is or has been occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land 

that has been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill 

purposes 

 where provision for restoration has been made through development control 

procedures; land in built-up areas such as private residential gardens, parks, 

recreation grounds and allotments; and land that was previously-developed but 

where the remains of the permanent structure or fixed surface structure have 

blended into the landscape in the process of time. 

Community Infrastructure Levy 

A levy allowing local authorities to raise funds from owners or developers of land 

undertaking new building projects in their area. 

Conservation 

 

The process of maintaining and managing change to a heritage asset in a way that 

sustains and, where appropriate, enhances its significance. 

Conservation Area 

Page 251



 

 

148 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Areas of special architectural or historic interest. 

Designated heritage asset 

A world heritage site, scheduled monument, listed building, protected wreck site, 

registered park and garden, registered battlefield or conservation area designated 

under the relevant legislation. 

Development plan 

This includes adopted local plans and neighbourhood plans and is defined in Section 

38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

Edge of centre 

For retail purposes, a location that is well connected and up to 300 metres out of the 

primary shopping area. For all other main town centre uses, a location within 300 

metres of a town centre boundary. For office development, this includes locations 

outside of the town centre but within 500 metres of a public transport interchange. In 

determining whether a site falls within the definition of edge of centre, account 

should be taken of local circumstances. 

Employment land 

Land identified for business, general industrial, and storage and distribution 

development as defined by use classes B1, B2 and B8 of the Town and Country 

Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987.  It does not include land for retail development. 

Greenfield 

Land, or a defined site, usually farmland, that has not previously been developed. 

 

Green infrastructure 

A network of multi-functional green space, urban and rural, which is capable of 

delivering a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local 

communities. 

Page 252



 

 

149 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Heritage asset 

A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of 

significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage 

interest.  Heritage assets include designated heritage assets and assets identified by 

the local planning authority (including local listing). 

Historic environment 

All aspects of the environment resulting from the interaction between people and 

places through time, including all surviving remains of past human activity, whether 

visible, buried or submerged, and landscaped and planted or managed flora. 

Infrastructure 

Basic services necessary for development to take place, for example, roads, 

electricity, sewerage, water, education, sport/recreation and health facilities. 

Infrastructure delivery plan 

National planning policy formally requires local authorities to demonstrate sufficient 

infrastructure exists, or will be provided, to support their strategies for new 

development as set out in their local plan documents. 

Listed building 

A building or structure of special architectural or historic interest. Listed buildings are 

graded I, II* or II, with grade I being the highest. Listing includes the interior as well 

as the exterior of the building, and includes any buildings or permanent structures in 

its curtilage that have formed part of the land since before 1 July 1948.  Historic 

England is responsible for designating buildings for listing in England. 

Local plan 

The plan (which can comprise one or more documents) for the future development of 

the local area, drawn up by the Council in consultation with the community. In law 

this is described as the development plan documents adopted under the Planning 

Page 253



 

 

150 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The term includes old policies which have been 

saved under the 2004 Act.  

Local Plan Strategy (LPS) 

A development plan document and the first part of the Council's local plan, the LPS 

was adopted in July 2017. It sets out the overall planning framework for the area. It 

includes strategic policies and allocations to achieve sustainable development. 

Local planning authority 

The local authority or Council that is empowered by law to exercise planning 

functions. Often the local borough or district council. National park authorities and 

the Broads Authority are also considered to be local planning authorities. 

Local urban centre 

Defined area comprising of a range of shops and services that generally function to 

meet local, day to day shopping needs, sometimes including small supermarkets. 

Local urban centres do not fall within the definition of town centres. 

Local wildlife sites/site of biological importance 

Locally important sites of nature conservation adopted by local authorities for 

planning purposes. 

Main town centre uses 

Retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory outlet centres); leisure, 

entertainment facilities and the more intensive sport and recreation uses (including 

cinemas, restaurants, drive through restaurants, bars and pubs, night-clubs, casinos, 

health and fitness centres, indoor bowling centres, and bingo halls); offices; and arts, 

culture and tourism development (including theatres, museums, galleries and 

concert halls, hotels and conference facilities). 

Masterplan 

Page 254



 

 

151 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

A means of expressing a vision for how a development opportunity site could be 

designed. Often these are illustrative rather than detailed. 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Sets out the government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected 

to be applied. 

Neighbourhood parade of shops  

Defined area comprising a small group of shops and other facilities serving the day 

to day needs of residents generally within a very localised catchment. 

Neighbourhood parades of shops do not fall within the definition of town centres. 

Non-designated heritage asset 

Locally important heritage assets identified by the local planning authority, where 

there is often a strong local affinity or association: 

 Areas of local archaeological interest (including the areas of archaeological 

potential and sites of archaeological importance identified in local plans) 

 Buildings of local architectural or historic interest (local list) Locally important built 

assets not on the local list 

 Locally significant historic parks and gardens Other locally important historic 

landscapes 

Open space 

All space of public value, including public landscaped areas, playing fields, parks and 

play areas, and areas of water such as rivers, canals, lakes and reservoirs, which 

may offer opportunities for sport and recreation or act as a visual amenity and a 

haven for wildlife. 

 

Out of centre 

Page 255



 

 

152 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

A location which is not in or on the edge of a centre but not necessarily outside the 

urban area. 

Outdoor sports facilities 

Sports facilities with natural or artificial surfaces (and either publicly or privately 

owned) – including tennis courts, bowling greens, sports pitches, golf courses, 

athletics tracks, school and other institutional playing fields and other outdoor sports 

areas – these facilities may have ancillary infrastructure such as changing 

accommodation or pavilions. 

Planning obligation 

A legally enforceable obligation entered into under section 106 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 to mitigate the impacts of a development proposal. 

Pollution 

Anything that affects the quality of land, air, water or soils, which might lead to an 

adverse impact on human health, the natural environment or general amenity. 

Pollution can arise from a range of emissions, including smoke, fumes, gases, dust, 

steam, odour, noise and light. 

Previously developed land 

See 'Brownfield land' 

Primary shopping area 

Defined area where retail development is concentrated (generally comprising the 

primary and those secondary frontages which are adjoining and closely related to the 

primary shopping frontage). 

Primary and secondary frontages 

 

Primary frontages are likely to include a high proportion of retail uses which may 

include food, drinks, clothing and household goods. 

Page 256



 

 

153 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Secondary frontages provide greater opportunities for a diversity of uses such as 

restaurants, cinemas and businesses. 

Principal town 

The largest towns with a wide range of employment, retail and education 

opportunities and services, serving a large catchment area with a high level of 

accessibility and public transport. The principal towns are Crewe and Macclesfield. 

Priority habitats and species 

Species and habitats of principal importance included in the England Biodiversity List 

published by the Secretary of State under Section 41 of the Natural Environment and 

Rural Communities Act 2006. 

Ramsar sites 

Wetlands of international importance, designated under the 1971 Ramsar 

Convention. 

Renewable and low carbon energy 

Includes energy for heating and cooling as well as generating electricity. Renewable 

energy covers those energy flows that occur naturally and repeatedly in the 

environment – from the wind, the fall of water, the movement of the oceans, from the 

sun and also from biomass and deep geothermal heat.  Low carbon technologies are 

those that can help reduce emissions (compared to conventional use of fossil fuels). 

Settlement hierarchy 

The local plan settlement hierarchy is set out in LPS Policy PG 2. It categorises 

settlements into four tiers: principal towns, key service centres, local service centres 

and other settlements and rural areas. 

 

Site of special scientific interest (SSSI) 

Sites designated by Natural England under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

Page 257



 

 

154 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Special areas of conservation (SAC) 

Areas given special protection under the European Union's Habitat Directive, which 

is transposed into UK law by the Habitats and Conservation of Species Regulations 

2010. 

Special protection areas (SPA) 

Areas which have been identified as being of international importance for the 

breeding, feeding, wintering or the migration of rare and vulnerable species of birds 

found within European Union countries. They are European designated sites, 

classified under the Birds Directive. 

Stepping stones 

Pockets of habitat that, while not necessarily connected, facilitate the movement of 

species across otherwise inhospitable landscapes. 

Strategic site/ location 

An important or essential site/area in relation to achieving the vision and strategic 

priorities of the local plan and which contributes to accommodating the sustainable 

development planned for over the local plan period. 

Supplementary planning documents 

Documents which add further detail to the policies in the local plan. They can be 

used to provide further guidance for development on specific sites, or on particular 

issues, such as design. Supplementary planning documents are capable of being a 

material consideration in planning decisions but are not part of the development 

plan. 

Sustainability appraisal 

An appraisal of the economic, environmental and social effects of potential policies 

and proposals to inform the development of the plan. 

Sustainable development 

Page 258



 

 

155 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

A widely used definition drawn up by the World Commission on Environment and 

Development in 1987: "Development that meets the needs of the present without 

compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs." The 

government has set out four aims for sustainable development in its strategy 'A 

Better Quality of Life, a Strategy for Sustainable Development in the UK'. The four 

aims, to be achieved simultaneously are: 

 Social progress that recognises the needs of everyone; Effective protection of the 

environment; 

 Prudent use of natural resources; and 

 Maintenance of high and stable levels of economic growth and employment. 

 

Town centre 

Area defined on the adopted policies map, including the primary shopping area and 

areas predominantly occupied by main town centre uses within or adjacent to the 

primary shopping area. References to town centres or centres apply to city centres, 

town centres, district centres and local centres but exclude small parades of shops of 

purely neighbourhood significance. Unless they are identified as centres in local 

plans, existing out-of-centre developments, comprising or including main town centre 

uses, do not constitute town centres. 

Wildlife corridor 

Areas of habitat connecting wildlife populations. 

 

  

Page 259



 

 

156 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Appendix 2: Evidence and Links  

Documents published to support the Publication Draft Crewe Hub Area Action Plan 

[PUBCHAAP] are all available to download from the HS2 webpage:  

https://cheshireeast-

consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cs/crewe/crewe_hub_area_action_plan_devel

opment_strategy_and_further_options 

 Publication Draft Crewe Hub Area Action Plan (2020, Cheshire East Council) 

[PUBCHAAP 01] 

 Draft CHAAP Policies Map (2020, Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 02] 

 Draft CHAAP Masterplan [PUBCHAAP 03] 

 Publication Draft Sustainability Appraisal (2020, Cheshire East Council) 

[PUBCHAAP 04] 

 Publication Draft Sustainability Appraisal Non-technical Summary (2020, 

Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 05] 

 CHAAP Habitat Regulations Assessment (publication version) (2019, JBA 

Consulting)[PUBCHAAP 06] 

 CHAAP Background Report (2020, Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 07] 

 Crewe Hub Station Campus Design and Masterplan (2018, Grimshaw 

Architects) [PUBCHAAP 08] 

 Background Report to the Crewe Hub Masterplan (2020, Cheshire East 

Council) [PUBCHAAP 09] 

 Crewe Station Hub: Retail Evidence (2019, CBRE) [PUBCHAAP 10] 

 Addendum to 2018 Cheshire East Retail Study Update – Crewe Retail 

Capacity Update (2020, WYG)[PUBCHAAP 11] 

 Housing Needs Study Evidence Base Report (2019, CBRE) [PUBCHAAP 12] 

 Crewe Campus – Stage 2 – Options Transport Planning (2018, Mott 

MacDonald)[PUBCHAAP 13] 

 Transport Evidence Base (2019, Jacobs) [PUBCHAAP 14] 

Page 260

https://cheshireeast-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cs/crewe/crewe_hub_area_action_plan_development_strategy_and_further_options
https://cheshireeast-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cs/crewe/crewe_hub_area_action_plan_development_strategy_and_further_options
https://cheshireeast-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cs/crewe/crewe_hub_area_action_plan_development_strategy_and_further_options


 

 

157 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

 Crewe Southern Link Road Bridge GRIP 2 Feasibility (2019, Mott 

Macdonald)[PUBCHAAAP 15] 

 Crewe Southern Link Road Bridge Access Options – Preferred Route 

Assessment (2019, Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 16] 

 Car Park Strategy (2020, Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 17] 

 Delivering Employment, Skills and Training Background Report (2019, 

Cheshire East Council)[PUBCHAAP 18] 

 Environmental Assessment  (2019, Mott Macdonald) [PUBCHAAP 19] 

 Public Open Space Evidence Report (2019, CBRE) [PUBCHAAP 20] 

 Heritage Study and Heritage Impact Assessment (2019, Hinchliffe Heritage) 

[PUBCHAAP 21] 

 CHAAP Viability Assessment (2020, HDH Planning & Development) 

[PUBCHAAP 22] 

 Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2020, Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 23] 

 Statement of Consultation (2020, Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 24] 

 Duty to Co-operate (2020, Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 25] 

 Crewe HS2 Hub Growth Corridor Commercial Case (2020, Cheshire East 

Council) [PUBCHAAP 26] 

  Crewe HS2 Hub Growth Corridor Economic Case (2020, Cheshire East 

Council) [PUBCHAAP 27] 

 Crewe HS2 Hub Growth Corridor Management Case (2020, Cheshire East 

Council) [PUBCHAAP 28] 

 Crewe HS2 Hub Growth Corridor Management Case (2020, Cheshire East 

Council) [PUBCHAAP 29] 

 CHAAP Monitoring Framework (2020, Cheshire East Council) [PUBCHAAP 

30] 

 Constellation Partnership HS2 Growth Strategy (2018, Constellation 

Partnership) [PUBCHAAP 31] 

 Threshold Policy for Main Town Centre Uses Impact Test [PUBCHAAP 32] 

Page 261



 

 

158 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

 Retail Assessment of Planned Crewe Hub Local Centre (2020, WYG) 

[PUBCHAAP 33] 

 Ove ARUP Report (2017, Cheshire East Council, LCR, ARUP, CBRE) 

[PUBCHAAP34] 

 Crewe HS2 Hub Masterplan Vision (2017, Cheshire East Council, ARUP, 

CBRE, LCR, HS2, The Constellation Partnership, Homes and Communities 

Agency) [PUBCHAAP 35] 

 Land Value Uplift Report [PUBCHAAP 36] 

 Crewe Hub Modelling Technical Note – AAP Development and Southern Link 

Road Bridge [PUBCHAAP 37] 

Other related documents 

A Green Infrastructure Plan for Cheshire East 2019 to 2030 (2019, Cheshire East 

Council).  Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/planning/green-infrastructure/final-cec-green-

infrastructure-plan-october-2019.pdf  

A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment (2018, HM 

Government). Available at 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach

ment_data/file/693158/25-year-environment-plan.pdf 

Active Design Guide (2015, Sport England and Public Health England). Available at 

https://www.sportengland.org/media/3426/spe003-active-design-published-october-

2015-email-2.pdf 

All Change for Crewe: High Growth City (2013, Cheshire East Council).  Available at 

https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s25052/All%20Change%20for%2

0Crewe%20-%20High%20Growth%20City%20-%20Appendix.pdf 

Ambition for All - the Sustainable Community Strategy 2010-2025 (2010, Cheshire 

East Council).  Available at 

Page 262

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/planning/green-infrastructure/final-cec-green-infrastructure-plan-october-2019.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/planning/green-infrastructure/final-cec-green-infrastructure-plan-october-2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/693158/25-year-environment-plan.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/693158/25-year-environment-plan.pdf
https://www.sportengland.org/media/3426/spe003-active-design-published-october-2015-email-2.pdf
https://www.sportengland.org/media/3426/spe003-active-design-published-october-2015-email-2.pdf
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s25052/All%20Change%20for%20Crewe%20-%20High%20Growth%20City%20-%20Appendix.pdf
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s25052/All%20Change%20for%20Crewe%20-%20High%20Growth%20City%20-%20Appendix.pdf


 

 

159 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/connected-

communities/sustainable_community_strategy.aspx 

Approved Document R – Physical Infrastructure for high speed electronic 

communications networks (2016, H M Government).  Available at  

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach

ment_data/file/517789/BR__PDF_AD__R__2016.pdf 

Biodiversity Net Gain: Good Practice Principles for Development (2019, CIEEM, 

CIRIA and IEMA). Available at 

https://cieem.net/resource/biodiversity-net-gain-good-practice-principles-for-

development-a-practical-guide/ 

BREEAM UK New Construction Technical Standards. Available at 

https://www.breeam.com/discover/technical-standards/newconstruction/ 

Building with Nature Standards. Available at 

https://www.buildingwithnature.org.uk/about 

Cheshire and Warrington Digital Strategy and Delivery Plan (2019, Cheshire and 

Warrington Local Enterprise Partnership).  Available at 

http://www.871candwep.co.uk/content/uploads/2019/08/Cheshire-and-Warrington-

Digital-Strategy_2019.pdf 

Cheshire East Air Quality Annual Status Report (2018, Cheshire East Council). 

Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/environmental_health/local_air_quality

/review_and_assessment/review_and_assessment.aspx 

Cheshire East Air Quality Action Plan (2018, Cheshire East Council). Available at  

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/environmental_health/local_air_quality

/local_air_quality.aspx 

Page 263

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/connected-communities/sustainable_community_strategy.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/connected-communities/sustainable_community_strategy.aspx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/517789/BR__PDF_AD__R__2016.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/517789/BR__PDF_AD__R__2016.pdf
https://cieem.net/resource/biodiversity-net-gain-good-practice-principles-for-development-a-practical-guide/
https://cieem.net/resource/biodiversity-net-gain-good-practice-principles-for-development-a-practical-guide/
https://www.breeam.com/discover/technical-standards/newconstruction/
https://www.buildingwithnature.org.uk/about
http://www.871candwep.co.uk/content/uploads/2019/08/Cheshire-and-Warrington-Digital-Strategy_2019.pdf
http://www.871candwep.co.uk/content/uploads/2019/08/Cheshire-and-Warrington-Digital-Strategy_2019.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/environmental_health/local_air_quality/review_and_assessment/review_and_assessment.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/environmental_health/local_air_quality/review_and_assessment/review_and_assessment.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/environmental_health/local_air_quality/local_air_quality.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/environmental_health/local_air_quality/local_air_quality.aspx


 

 

160 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Cheshire East Air Quality Management Areas Maps (Cheshire East Council). 

Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/environmental_health/local_air_quality

/aqma_area_maps.aspx 

 

Cheshire East Air Quality Strategy (2018, Cheshire East Council). Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/environmental_health/local_air_quality

/local_air_quality.aspx 

Cheshire East Borough Design Guide supplementary planning document (2017, 

Cheshire East 

Council and e*SCAPE Urbanists). Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_local_plan

/supplementary_plan_documents/supplementary_plan_documents.aspx 

Cheshire East Community Infrastructure Levy (2019, Cheshire East Council). 

Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_local_plan

/community-infrastructure-levy/community-infrastructure-levy.aspx 

Cheshire East Corporate Plan 2017-2022 (2017, Cheshire East Council). Available 

at  

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/your_council/council_finan

ce_and_governance/corporate-plan.aspx 

Cheshire East Cycling Strategy 2017-2027 (2017, Cheshire East Council). Available 

at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/highways_and_roads/cycling_in_cheshire_east/cycl

ing_in_cheshire_east.aspx 

Page 264

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/environmental_health/local_air_quality/aqma_area_maps.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/environmental_health/local_air_quality/aqma_area_maps.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/environmental_health/local_air_quality/local_air_quality.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/environmental_health/local_air_quality/local_air_quality.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/supplementary_plan_documents/supplementary_plan_documents.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/supplementary_plan_documents/supplementary_plan_documents.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/community-infrastructure-levy/community-infrastructure-levy.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/community-infrastructure-levy/community-infrastructure-levy.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/your_council/council_finance_and_governance/corporate-plan.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/your_council/council_finance_and_governance/corporate-plan.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/highways_and_roads/cycling_in_cheshire_east/cycling_in_cheshire_east.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/highways_and_roads/cycling_in_cheshire_east/cycling_in_cheshire_east.aspx


 

 

161 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Cheshire East Economic Development Strategy (2011, Cheshire East Council). 

Available at 

http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=12766 

Cheshire East Energy Framework (2015, Cheshire East Council). Available at 

http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/documents/s38893/Cheshire%20E

ast%20Energy%20Framework%20-%20Appendix.pdf 

Cheshire East Green Space Strategy (2013, Cheshire East Council). Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/

green_space_strategy.aspx 

Cheshire East Green Space Strategy Update (2018, Cheshire East Council). 

Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/

green_space_strategy.aspx 

Cheshire East Green Space Strategy Update (2019, Cheshire East Council). 

Available at: 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/

green_space_strategy.aspx 

Cheshire East High Level Parking Strategy (2017, Cheshire East Council). Available 

at 

https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s62470/Local%20Transport%20P

lan%20Refresh%20-%20app%204a.pdf 

Cheshire East Home Repairs and Adaptations for Vulnerable People: Financial 

Assistance Policy (2017, Cheshire East Council). Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/housing/home-repairs-adaptations-for-

vulnerable-people-policy.pdf 

Page 265

http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=12766
http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/documents/s38893/Cheshire%20East%20Energy%20Framework%20-%20Appendix.pdf
http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/documents/s38893/Cheshire%20East%20Energy%20Framework%20-%20Appendix.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/green_space_strategy.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/green_space_strategy.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/green_space_strategy.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/green_space_strategy.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/green_space_strategy.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/green_space_strategy.aspx
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s62470/Local%20Transport%20Plan%20Refresh%20-%20app%204a.pdf
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s62470/Local%20Transport%20Plan%20Refresh%20-%20app%204a.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/housing/home-repairs-adaptations-for-vulnerable-people-policy.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/housing/home-repairs-adaptations-for-vulnerable-people-policy.pdf


 

 

162 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Cheshire East Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (2017, Cheshire East 

Council). Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/highways_and_roads/highway-services/flood-risk-

management/flood-risk-management.aspx 

 

Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy 2010-2030 (2017, Cheshire East Council). 

Available at https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/planning/local-plan/local-plan-

strategy-web-version-1.pdf 

Cheshire East Local Transport Plan 2019-2024 (2019, Cheshire East Council). 

Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/public_transport/local_transport_plan/local_transpor

t_plan.aspx 

Cheshire East Open Space Assessment (2012, Cheshire East Council).  Available 

at: 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/

open_spaces_assessment_2012.aspx 

Cheshire East Publication Draft Site Allocations and Development Plan Document 

(2019, Cheshire East Council).  Available at  

https://cheshireeast-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cs/sadpd/pubsadpd 

Cheshire East Retail Study Update (2016, WYG). Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/

cheshire_town_centres_study.aspx 

Cheshire East Retail Study Update (2018, WYG). Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/

cheshire_town_centres_study.aspx 

Cheshire East Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2011-2016 (2011, Cheshire East 

Council).  Available at 

Page 266

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/highways_and_roads/highway-services/flood-risk-management/flood-risk-management.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/highways_and_roads/highway-services/flood-risk-management/flood-risk-management.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/planning/local-plan/local-plan-strategy-web-version-1.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/planning/local-plan/local-plan-strategy-web-version-1.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/public_transport/local_transport_plan/local_transport_plan.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/public_transport/local_transport_plan/local_transport_plan.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/open_spaces_assessment_2012.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/open_spaces_assessment_2012.aspx
https://cheshireeast-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cs/sadpd/pubsadpd
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/cheshire_town_centres_study.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/cheshire_town_centres_study.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/cheshire_town_centres_study.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/cheshire_town_centres_study.aspx


 

 

163 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/ROWIP%20Final%20accessible%20for%20web

.pdf 

Cheshire East Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2013, JBA Consulting). Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/

strategic_flood_risk_assmnt/strategic_flood_risk_assmnt.aspx 

Cheshire East Sustainable Community Strategy 2010-2025 (2010, Cheshire East 

Council). Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/connected-

communities/sustainable_community_strategy.aspx 

Connecting Cheshire Initiative.  Available at  

http://www.connectingcheshire.org.uk/ 

Crewe and Nantwich Local Plan (2011, Cheshire East Council).  Available at  

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/saved_and_other_policie

s/crewe_and_nantwich_local_plan/crewe_and_nantwich_local_plan.aspx 

Crewe Archaeological Assessment (2003, Cheshire County Council). Available at 

http://www.cheshirearchaeology.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2013/06/HTS_Arch_Asse

ss_Crewe.pdf 

Crewe: A Masterplan for the Town Centre (2007, URBED). Available at  

http://urbed.coop/sites/default/files/Crewe%20Masterplan%20Report%20-

%20Part%201%20baseline%20summary.pdf 

Crewe HS2 Hub Draft Masterplan Vision (2017, Cheshire East Council, ARUP, 

CBRE, LCR, HS2, The Constellation Partnership, Homes and Communities Agency).  

Available at 

https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s59543/Crewe%20HS2%20Mast

erplan%20-%20app%202.pdf 

Page 267

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/ROWIP%20Final%20accessible%20for%20web.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/ROWIP%20Final%20accessible%20for%20web.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/strategic_flood_risk_assmnt/strategic_flood_risk_assmnt.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/strategic_flood_risk_assmnt/strategic_flood_risk_assmnt.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/connected-communities/sustainable_community_strategy.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/connected-communities/sustainable_community_strategy.aspx
http://www.connectingcheshire.org.uk/
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/saved_and_other_policies/crewe_and_nantwich_local_plan/crewe_and_nantwich_local_plan.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/saved_and_other_policies/crewe_and_nantwich_local_plan/crewe_and_nantwich_local_plan.aspx
http://www.cheshirearchaeology.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2013/06/HTS_Arch_Assess_Crewe.pdf
http://www.cheshirearchaeology.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2013/06/HTS_Arch_Assess_Crewe.pdf
http://urbed.coop/sites/default/files/Crewe%20Masterplan%20Report%20-%20Part%201%20baseline%20summary.pdf
http://urbed.coop/sites/default/files/Crewe%20Masterplan%20Report%20-%20Part%201%20baseline%20summary.pdf
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s59543/Crewe%20HS2%20Masterplan%20-%20app%202.pdf
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s59543/Crewe%20HS2%20Masterplan%20-%20app%202.pdf


 

 

164 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Crewe Hub Consultation Response: Moving Britain Ahead (2018, Department for 

Transport).  Available at 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach

ment_data/file/687000/crewe-hub-consultation-response-web.pdf 

Crewe Hub: Improving Capacity and Connectivity for our Customers (2016, Network 

Rail).  Available at 

https://www.networkrail.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Crewe-Hub-improving-

capacity-and-connectivity-for-our-customers.pdf 

Crewe Town Centre Detailed Feasibility Study (Heat Mapping and Masterplanning) 

(2015, AECOM). Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/business/major_regeneration_projects/geothermal_

energy.aspx 

Crewe Town Centre Regeneration Delivery Framework for Growth (2015, Cushman 

and Wakefield). Available at 

http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s44304/App%20B%20-

%20CREWE%20TOWN%20CENTRE%20REGENERATION%20DELIVERY%20FR

AMEWORK%20-%20FINAL%20-%20NOVEMBER%202015.pdf 

Green Infrastructure Action Plan for Crewe (2013, Cheshire East Council). Available 

at 

http://www.merseydeealliance.org.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2013/04/small_IN2764.01_Crewe_Green_Infrastructure_Action_Pla

n_Final_Low_Res.pdf 

HS2 phase 2a plan and profile maps (2017, High Speed Two Ltd).  Available at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hs2-phase-2a-plan-and-profile-maps-

west-midlands-to-crewe 

HS2 Green Corridor concept.  Available at: 

Page 268

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/687000/crewe-hub-consultation-response-web.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/687000/crewe-hub-consultation-response-web.pdf
https://www.networkrail.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Crewe-Hub-improving-capacity-and-connectivity-for-our-customers.pdf
https://www.networkrail.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Crewe-Hub-improving-capacity-and-connectivity-for-our-customers.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/business/major_regeneration_projects/geothermal_energy.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/business/major_regeneration_projects/geothermal_energy.aspx
http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s44304/App%20B%20-%20CREWE%20TOWN%20CENTRE%20REGENERATION%20DELIVERY%20FRAMEWORK%20-%20FINAL%20-%20NOVEMBER%202015.pdf
http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s44304/App%20B%20-%20CREWE%20TOWN%20CENTRE%20REGENERATION%20DELIVERY%20FRAMEWORK%20-%20FINAL%20-%20NOVEMBER%202015.pdf
http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/documents/s44304/App%20B%20-%20CREWE%20TOWN%20CENTRE%20REGENERATION%20DELIVERY%20FRAMEWORK%20-%20FINAL%20-%20NOVEMBER%202015.pdf
http://www.merseydeealliance.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/small_IN2764.01_Crewe_Green_Infrastructure_Action_Plan_Final_Low_Res.pdf
http://www.merseydeealliance.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/small_IN2764.01_Crewe_Green_Infrastructure_Action_Plan_Final_Low_Res.pdf
http://www.merseydeealliance.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/small_IN2764.01_Crewe_Green_Infrastructure_Action_Plan_Final_Low_Res.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hs2-phase-2a-plan-and-profile-maps-west-midlands-to-crewe
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hs2-phase-2a-plan-and-profile-maps-west-midlands-to-crewe


 

 

165 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

https://www.hs2.org.uk/building-hs2/environment-sustainability/hs2-green-corridor/ 

HS2 Growth Strategy (2018, Constellation Partnership). Available at 

http://constellationpartnership.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/hs2-growth-

strategy-report-oct-2018.pdf 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans: Technical Guidance for Local 

Authorities (2017, Department for Transport).  Available at  

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach

ment_data/file/607016/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance.pdf 

Local List of Historic Buildings supplementary planning document (2010, Cheshire 

East Council). 

Available at 

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_local_plan

/supplementary_plan_documents/local_list_historic_buildings.aspx 

Low Emissions Strategy Partnership, available at: 

http://www.lowemissionstrategies.org/ 

National Heritage List for England (Historic England). Available at 

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/ 

Network Rail. The Guide to the Care and Development of Network Rail’s 

Architectural Heritage. Available at 

https://cdn.networkrail.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Station-design-

principles.pdf 

Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (2015, 

DEFRA). Available at 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach

ment_data/file/415773/sustainable-drainage-technical-standards.pdf 

Page 269

https://www.hs2.org.uk/building-hs2/environment-sustainability/hs2-green-corridor/
http://constellationpartnership.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/hs2-growth-strategy-report-oct-2018.pdf
http://constellationpartnership.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/hs2-growth-strategy-report-oct-2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/607016/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/607016/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/supplementary_plan_documents/local_list_historic_buildings.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/supplementary_plan_documents/local_list_historic_buildings.aspx
http://www.lowemissionstrategies.org/
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/
https://cdn.networkrail.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Station-design-principles.pdf
https://cdn.networkrail.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Station-design-principles.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415773/sustainable-drainage-technical-standards.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415773/sustainable-drainage-technical-standards.pdf


 

 

166 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Planning Practice Guidance (2019) National Planning Policy Framework.  Available 

at  

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance 

 

Position Statements: The Environment Agency’s Approach to Groundwater 

Protection (2018, The Environment Agency). Available at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/groundwater-protection-position-

statements 

Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment (2011, Jacobs).  Available at  

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/highways_and_roads/highway-services/flood-risk-

management/preliminary-flood-risk-assessment.aspx 

 Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment Addendum (2017, Cheshire East Council).  

Available at  

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach

ment_data/file/698397/PFRA_Cheshire_East_Council_2017.pdf 

Secured by Design: design guides (Secured by Design). Available at 

https://www.securedbydesign.com/industry-advice-and-guides/ 

Station Car Parking Good Practice Guide (2018, Rail Delivery Group). Available at 

https://www.raildeliverygroup.com/component/arkhive/?task=file.download&id=46977

3838 

The SuDs Manual (2015, CIRA).  Available at:  

https://www.ciria.org/Memberships/The_SuDs_Manual_C753_Chapters.aspx 

The Water Environment (Water Framework Directive) (England and Wales 

Regulations) 2003.  Available at 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/3242/contents/made 

Page 270

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/groundwater-protection-position-statements
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/groundwater-protection-position-statements
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/highways_and_roads/highway-services/flood-risk-management/preliminary-flood-risk-assessment.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/highways_and_roads/highway-services/flood-risk-management/preliminary-flood-risk-assessment.aspx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698397/PFRA_Cheshire_East_Council_2017.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698397/PFRA_Cheshire_East_Council_2017.pdf
https://www.securedbydesign.com/industry-advice-and-guides/
https://www.raildeliverygroup.com/component/arkhive/?task=file.download&id=469773838
https://www.raildeliverygroup.com/component/arkhive/?task=file.download&id=469773838
https://www.ciria.org/Memberships/The_SuDs_Manual_C753_Chapters.aspx
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/3242/contents/made


 

 

167 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

Threshold Policy for Main Town Centre Uses Impact Test: Evidence and Justification 

Report (2017, Cheshire East Council).  Available at: 

https://cheshireeast-

consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cs/sadpd/pubsadpd?tab=files 

 

  

Page 271

https://cheshireeast-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cs/sadpd/pubsadpd?tab=files
https://cheshireeast-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/planning/cs/sadpd/pubsadpd?tab=files


 

 

168 

 

 

CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL PLAN: Crewe Hub Area Action Plan March 2020 

 

 

Page 272



 

OFFICIAL 
1 

 

                                                                                     
 
Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 10 March 2020 

Report Title:  Department for Transport funded Safer Road Fund Schemes 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Laura Crane – Portfolio Holder for Highways & Waste 

Senior Officer:  Frank Jordan – Executive Director Place 

1. Report Summary 

1.1. This report seeks approval to deliver three Safer Road Fund Schemes in 

Cheshire East (“the Schemes”) that will target a reduction in the number of 

people killed or seriously injured on these road corridors. The schemes are 

fully funded by the Department for Transport.  

1.2. It is proposed that these are procured and delivered through the Council’s 

Highway design, maintenance and construction service contract 2018 (“the 

Highway Service Contract”).   

1.3. The Schemes are: 

1.3.1 The A532 West Street, Crewe; 

1.3.2 The A536 Congleton to Macclesfield; and 

1.3.3 The A537 Macclesfield to Congleton Boundary.  

2. Recommendations 

That Cabinet: 

2.1 Approves the delivery of the A532 West Street, Crewe and the A536 

Congleton to Macclesfield Schemes through the Highway Service Contract, 

subject to the Ringway Jacobs target costs for the schemes satisfying the 

Council’s best value requirements. 

Key Decision Y 
 
Date First 
Published: 31/1/20 

Page 273 Agenda Item 9



 

OFFICIAL 

2.2 Subject to full funding being received from the Department for Transport, 

approves the delivery of the A537 Macclesfield to Congleton Boundary 

Scheme through the Highway Service Contract, subject to the Ringway 

Jacobs target costs for the schemes satisfying the Council’s best value 

requirements. 

2.3 Authorises the Director of Highways and Infrastructure in consultation with 

the Portfolio Holder for Highways and Waste to take all necessary actions 

to implement the three Schemes using the funding provided by the 

Department for Transport. 

3. Reasons for Recommendations 

3.1. The Government has established a Road Safety Fund as part of its ongoing 

investment in the national transport infrastructure.  The aim of the funding is 

to provide financial resources to local authorities to help upgrade some of 

the local roads across the country where the risk of fatal and serious 

collisions is highest.  The Department for Transport worked with the Road 

Safety Foundation to identify these roads and invited the relevant local 

highway authorities to submit funding bids to upgrade and improve their 

roads in order to help improve road safety.     

 

3.2. The Department for Transport identified three roads in Cheshire East, as 

listed in paragraph 1.3 above.  The Council prepared and submitted a 

successful bid for each scheme which will enable the design and delivery of 

improvements to these roads to bring road safety benefits for residents and 

users of the public highway in the borough.   

 

3.3. The funds have been received by the Council for the delivery of the A532 

and A536 schemes.  The government has also committed to funding the 

A537 in the financial year 2020/21 but the funding hasn’t been received by 

the Council yet.  Therefore subject to approval to deliver the Schemes 

being granted, the Highway Service would not deliver the A537 scheme 

until it has received the funding from the Department for Transport.  

 

3.4. The Schemes are on the existing public highway and the proposed works 

will be contained within its boundaries and do not require the purchase of 

private land in order to facilitate the works.  

 

3.5. The improvement works for each of these schemes are within the scope of 

the Council’s Highway Service Contract in all respects, including 

geographic, work types and financial limits. 

 

Page 274



 

OFFICIAL 
3 

3.6. The Highway Service Contract includes key requirements to provide value 

for money, efficient service delivery and innovation.  Ringway Jacobs’s 

performance is monitored closely and tracked through a performance 

framework.  The Contract is an “open book” type contract that provides for 

Council staff to have access to all costs and supporting information.  This 

enables the Council to undertake checks and audits to ensure that the 

contract is delivering services and schemes that provide good value for 

money and are subject to good contract and financial management.  

  

4. Other Options Considered 

4.1. The delivery of all highway maintenance and improvement works on the 

public highway network in Cheshire East up to a limit of £5M (indexed linked) 

should be delivered though the council’s highway service contract. 

4.2. The Contract was developed from learning gained from the previous 2011 

contract and developments in the construction industry over the previous 

seven years.  One of the improvements was to increase the value of capital 

works that could be delivered through the contract from £250k to £5m in 

order to enable smaller value highways and infrastructure schemes to be 

delivered efficiently through the Contract to provide best value to the 

Council. 

   

4.3. These efficiencies cover time, cost and quality and result from not needing to 

undertake separate procurement exercises for each new scheme which 

require staff from the council’s highways, legal and procurement teams to 

deliver.   Schemes carried out through the contract also benefit from being 

delivered by the Council’s integrated highway service provider who is in a 

long term contract relationship with the Council and not a short term scheme 

specific contract. Schemes are assessed against competitively tendered 

rates for similar works, securing an appropriate number of quotes from the 

supply chain and undertaking spot checks on individual items of work to 

ensure best value.    

4.4. If the Highway Service Contract cannot demonstrate best value, the Council 

could explore alternative delivery options such as undertaking separate 

procurement exercises for each of the individual schemes or using a suitable 

framework.  

4.5. This would require resource from the Council’s Highways and Infrastructure, 

Procurement and Legal teams as well as a new authority to proceed on this 

basis. 

 

 

Page 275



 

OFFICIAL 

5. Background 

5.1. As part of the preparation for the recent procurement of the Highway 

Service Contract, the highway service specification was reviewed and 

developed based on the learning gained from the previous 2011 Highway 

Service Contract and developments in the industry over the previous seven 

years.   

5.2. One of the improvements was to increase the value of capital works that 

could be delivered through the Highway Service Contract up to a value of 

£5m indexed linked (the previous contract only allowed for works upto 

£250k).  The reason for this was to enable smaller value highways and 

infrastructure schemes on the highway network to be delivered through the 

Highway Service Contract, with the aim of improving the efficiency of 

delivering such schemes and provide benefits for the delivery of the wider 

highway service.    

5.3. The efficiencies include not needing a separate Council-led procurement 

exercise for each Improvement Scheme.  Instead the Improvement 

Schemes are directly delivered through the Highway Service Contract 

saving time and procurement costs.  Through the Contract the 

improvement scheme is delivered by Ringway Jacobs who, as the 

Council’s integrated Service Provider in a long term contract to maintain the 

public highways in the borough, have a vested interest in ensuring the 

quality of works for the long term. 

5.4. In October 2018 the Council awarded the Highway Service Contract to 

Ringway Jacobs Limited after a robust and competitive procurement 

process in full compliance with the Council’s Contract Procedure and the 

EU procurement rules.  

5.5. This contract facilitates the delivery of the Council’s annual revenue and 

capital funded highway maintenance programmes and as part of this 

provides for the delivery of highway and infrastructure schemes up to £5m 

index linked. 

5.6. Before a task order for an improvement scheme is placed under the 

Highway Service Contract, Ringway Jacobs has to demonstrate to the 

Council, on an open book basis, that the proposed price represents best 

value for the Council.  To do this Ringway Jacobs may competitively tender 

works with their supply chain and/or demonstrate the cost effectiveness by 

comparison to industry benchmarking information.  Ringway Jacobs are 

required to undertake benchmarking of the Highway Service Contract costs 

for provision of schemes, services and professional service costs with other 

Ringway Jacobs highway service contracts, and Jacobs professional 

Page 276



 

OFFICIAL 
5 

service contracts, as well as industrywide costs for similar works and 

services and share these with the client team for consideration.  This 

benchmarking was identified in the Highway Service Contract bid submitted 

by Ringway Jacobs and is an important contract monitoring and value for 

money audit tool for the Council during the contract. 

5.7. Once the task order to instruct the work is issued the costs are monitored 

and reviewed on a monthly basis and tracked against budgets to ensure 

good project and financial management. The costs can be audited, as 

determined, by officers from the Highway & Infrastructure Client team, 

Finance and Audit teams to ensure correct charging and delivery of 

schemes and services which demonstrate best value to the Council. 

5.8. Through the Highway Service Contract the Council introduced a new 

governance framework for all highway and infrastructure Improvement 

Schemes and as part of this established the Minor Improvement Schemes 

Board. Each Improvement Scheme has an identified Senior Responsible 

Owner (“SRO”) and Project Sponsor.  They report to the Board on 

progress, change, risk and any other issues requiring key project decisions. 

The Safer Road Schemes will be delivered through these governance 

arrangements. 

5.9. Value for money, efficient service delivery and innovation are key 

requirements of the Highway Service Contract and Ringway Jacobs’s 

performance in this regard is monitored closely and tracked through a 

performance framework.  Active reporting and demonstration that these are 

being delivered throughout the life of the contract are essential and 

evidenced in a variety of ways including, assessment against the tendered 

rates, annual benchmarking of Cheshire East costs against other Ringway 

Jacobs contracts, and the wider market for construction and professional 

services.   

 

6. Implications of the Recommendations 

6.1. Legal Implications 

6.1.1. The proposed Schemes are above £1m and, as such, under the 

Council’s Constitution are defined as Key Decisions.  Key Decisions 

require advanced notice and the provisions concerning Key Decisions 

(as set out in the Constitution) must be complied with. 

6.1.2. As set out in the body of this report, the Schemes can be compliantly 

procured via the Highway Service Contract.  If the Highway Service 

Contract is not used, further advice from Procurement and Legal 

Page 277



 

OFFICIAL 

Services will be required on the most appropriate procurement route 

and a new authority to proceed on the chosen route will be needed. 

6.1.3. In the event that a Task Order is issued under the Highway Service 

Contract for a Safer Road Fund Scheme, the Task Order will 

incorporate conditions of contract as set out in the Highway Service 

Contract. 

6.2. Finance Implications 

6.2.1. All of the Safer Road Fund schemes listed in paragraph 1.3 are in the 

Council’s capital programme details of which are shown in the Medium 

Term Financial Strategy approved in February 2019 and subsequent 

quarterly updates to the capital programme.  However, while the 

Department for Transport has committed government funding for all three 

schemes, the funding for the A537 identified for the financial year 

2020/21 hasn’t been received by the Council yet. The Highway Service 

will not deliver the A537 scheme until the Council has received the 

funding from the Department for Transport. 

6.3. Policy Implications 

6.3.1. The Schemes are in line with the aims and objectives set out in the 

Council’s current Corporate Plan 

6.4. Equality Implications 

6.4.1. An Equality Impact Assessment will be undertaken for each scheme as 

part of the process to design and deliver the schemes in line with the 

Council’s current policy and practise and take account of the needs of 

all residents and users of the public highway. 

 

6.5. Human Resources Implications 

6.5.1. There are no implications as a result of this report. 

6.6. Risk Management Implications 

6.6.1. All highways and infrastructure projects have inherent risks and these 

will vary for each scheme.  The project teams for each scheme will 

deliver the schemes in full compliance with the Construction Design 

Management (CDM) 2015.  These seek to address and minimise risk 

from the early stage of design through to completion of construction on 

site and subsequent whole life maintenance requirements.  The project 

management of each scheme will require the development of a risk 

register and this will be monitored and updated as risks are identified 

Page 278



 

OFFICIAL 
7 

and mitigated to minimise their impact on the safe and efficient delivery 

of the scheme. All risks will have assigned owners who are responsible 

for mitigating and managing them.  

6.7. Rural Communities Implications 

6.7.1. The impact on rural communities will vary for each scheme but all are 

designed to improve the efficiency and safety of specific parts of the 

highway network which are open to use by all residents and visitors to 

the borough.  Certain routes especially the A536 and A537 Safer Road 

schemes are rural ‘A’ roads providing essential connectivity for rural 

communities with the wider borough and national road network beyond.  

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children  

6.8.1. There are no direct implications for children and young people. 

6.9. Public Health Implications 

6.9.1. The reduction in the number of killed and seriously injured as a result of 

road traffic collisions on the public highway in Cheshire East is a key 

aim of the Council and external stakeholders.  

6.9.2. The Safer Road Fund schemes are being implemented to enhance 

road safety for motorised and non-motorised users on the public 

highway network within the borough.  These road safety improvements 

aim to help reduce the number of fatal and serious road traffic collisions 

on the three roads listed in paragraph 1.3 and deliver public health 

benefits for residents and users of the public highway.   

6.10   Climate Change Implications 

6.10.1 All of the Safer Road fund schemes are within the existing highway 

boundaries and are designed to support delivery of the Council’s 

strategic outcomes in the Corporate Plan and the emerging 

environment strategy by improving highway condition to enhance road 

safety for all road users.   

6.10.2 Road safety enhancements help reduce the number of road traffic 

collisions and minimise disruption and congestion on the highway 

associated with such events.  Road safety improvements can also 

encourage drivers to travel at lower and more appropriate speeds for 

the roads and conditions which can contribute to a reduction in vehicle 

emissions.   

 

Page 279



 

OFFICIAL 

7. Ward Members Affected 

7.1. The Schemes are located in specific wards within the borough but provide 

wider benefits for all residents of Cheshire East because of their location on 

the highway network. 

7.2. The Schemes are located in the following wards: 

Scheme 
 

Ward Affected 

A532 West Street, Crewe Crewe Central, Crewe St 
Barnabus and Crewe East 

A536 Route, Congleton to 
Macclesfield 

Macclesfield South and 
Gawsworth 

A537 Buxton Road, 
Macclesfield   

Macclesfield East and Sutton 

  

8. Consultation & Engagement 

8.1. The Highways and Infrastructure delivery and project teams will engage 

with members, stakeholders, local residents and road users to advise on 

design proposals, where appropriate and on the works and the traffic 

management requirements to enable the safety of residents, road users 

and constructions teams and the efficient delivery of the works to minimise 

disruption.   

9. Access to Information 

9.1. Further information is available from the Head of Services for Highways 

and Infrastructure, Chris Hindle. 

10. Contact Information 

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 

officer: 

Name: Frank Jordan 

Job Title: Executive Director Place  

Email: frank.jordan@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 

Page 280

mailto:frank.jordan@cheshireeast.gov.uk


 

OFFICIAL 

  

 
 
 
 
 
Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 10 March 2020 

Report Title:  Municipal Waste Management Strategy review 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Jill Rhodes – Waste 

Senior Officer:  Frank Jordan – Executive Director of Place 

1 Report Summary 

1.1 In 2014, the Waste Management Strategy for Cheshire East was approved. 

This established the key aims and objectives for the management of 

municipal waste within the Borough and identified the key actions required 

to deliver these aims and objectives. 

1.2 Since 2014, in partnership with our service delivery company Ansa 

Environmental Services we have delivered on the key objectives of the 

strategy through the: 

 Creation of the environmental hub enabling the end of landfilling our 

waste 

 Procurement and construction of a new composting plant enabling the 

introduction of food waste recycling  

 Review of household waste recycling centres to deliver efficiencies and 

improvements. 

1.3 During 2019, the Strategy has been reviewed. This paper presents the 

result of that review which has been undertaken in the context of changes 

to the legislative and policy framework affecting waste and streetscene 

services including the development of the Council’s Environment Strategy. 

1.4 Approval is sought from Cabinet to agree to the revised draft of the 

Municipal Waste Management Strategy to be used as a basis of 

consultation and to delegate authority to the Head of Environmental 

Services in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Waste and Highways 

to approve the final version following that consultation process.  

Key Decision Y 
Date First 
Published: 17/10/19 

Page 281 Agenda Item 10



 

OFFICIAL 

  

2 Recommendations 

That Cabinet: 

2.1 Approves the draft Waste Management Strategy as outlined at Appendix 

one. 

2.2 Delegates authority to the Head of Environmental Services, to carry out a 

consultation exercise on the draft strategy 

2.3 Delegates authority to the Head of Environmental Services to review the 

results of the consultation and to approve the final version of the document 

in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Waste and Highways. 

3 Reasons for Recommendations 

3.1 The Waste Management Strategy has been reviewed to take account of 

changes in the national policy framework relating to waste and also to take 

account of the Council's Draft Environment Strategy.  

3.2 Approval is now being sought to agree to the final draft of the strategy and 

to undertake consultation on it to inform the development of the final 

version of the strategy   

4 Other Options Considered 

4.1 None. 

5 Background 

5.1 Since the approval of the Waste Management strategy in 2014 there have 

been a number of important changes which have been reflected in the 

revised draft document. 

5.2 In particular, the Paris Agreement of December 2015 saw a historic global 

commitment to reduce carbon emissions agreed by 195 countries and will 

be an important driver for worldwide change. 

5.3 Moving towards a more ‘circular economy’, where goods and materials are 

constantly re-used and recycled rather than discarded as waste will help 

contribute to protecting both the economy and the environment and again 

this new  emphasis is highlighted in the revised Strategy. 

5.4 In addition to international agreements, at the Council meeting on 22 May 

2019, the Elected Members of Cheshire East Council approved a Notice of 

Motion relating to Climate Change. In response to this an Environment 

Strategy has been agreed. This has a direct bearing on the waste strategy, 

namely: 

 Cheshire East will be a Carbon Neutral Council by 2025 

Page 282



 

OFFICIAL 

  

 Waste and pollution will be reduced 

5.5 The review of the strategy takes account of proposed changes in national 

legislation and policy relating to waste which cover: 

 Waste and recycling: making recycling collections consistent in 

England 

 Draft Environment (Principles and Governance) Bill 2018 

 Plastic packaging tax 

 Packaging waste: changing the UK producer responsibility system for 

packaging waste 

 Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) for drinks containers 

(bottles and cans) 

6 Implications of the Recommendations 

6.1 Legal Implications 

6.1.1 There is no statutory requirement for Councils to have a waste strategy; 

however, it is considered good practice and there was agreement when 

the first strategy was introduced in 2014 that it would be reviewed on a 5 

yearly basis 

6.2 Finance Implications 

6.2.1 This revised strategy retains its aim of delivering a quality and value for 

money waste management service. The review including staff time and 

consultation has been funded from the existing budget within 

Environmental Services. 

6.2.2 The financial benefits of managing our waste efficiently are extensive 

with over £500,000 savings from route and rota optimisation and our 

food waste being composted – a far more cost effective way than 

sending it to energy from waste. The wide ranging communications 

efforts continue to aim at encouraging residents to reduce the amount of 

waste they produce, thus reducing the waste that the service handles  

6.3 Policy Implications 

6.3.1 The revised waste strategy does not change the Council’s existing 

policies but it does warn of policy implications if central Government 

were to mandate actions that directly impact the way waste must be 

collected.  

Page 283



 

OFFICIAL 

  

6.4 Equality Implications 

6.4.1 The way the authority manages its waste will be guided by best practice. 

Where access to our services is challenging, through a disability, we 

provide an assisted service. An Equality impact assessment has been 

carried out. 

6.5 Human Resources Implications 

6.5.1 The strategy does not highlight any immediate HR implications. 

6.6 Risk Management Implications 

6.6.1 The Government proposals, within its Environment Bill presented to 

Parliament in early 2020, which are fully discussed in the revised 

Municipal Waste Management Strategy, could have significant financial 

and operational impacts on service delivery. For example: if a weekly 

collection of food waste is mandated then the recently introduced food 

service, within the garden bin, would have to be adapted. 

6.7 Rural Communities Implications 

6.7.1 The service provided covers all aspects of the rural community. 

6.8 Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children 

6.8.1 Any changes will not adversely impact this group 

6.9 Public Health Implications 

6.9.1 The strategy’s emphasis on working with local industries, business and 

households in order to reduce the levels of waste produced will reduce 

the number of vehicles needed for collection. This should contribute to 

the Council’s Air Quality Management by reducing congestion 

particularly in major towns within Cheshire East.  

6.9.2 Improving Public Spaces:  

 By reducing the amount of waste produced it should lessen the 

amount of litter blown from bins found in streets, thereby improving 

the environment and reducing accidents caused by slips and trips  

 By reducing the amount of waste and litter in our communities there 

are also benefits to local wildlife that can be harmed by waste found 

in our green spaces. 

 By reducing the amount of waste and litter in our streets there are 

benefits in creating a community where people are happy to live, 

work and visit.  

Page 284



 

OFFICIAL 

  

6.9.3 Such measures will also contribute to the Cheshire East Partnership’s 

Five Year Plan, Outcome One: Create a place that support health and 

wellbeing for everyone living in Cheshire East and Outcome Two: 

Improve the Mental Health and Wellbeing and working in Cheshire East 

6.10 Climate Change Implications 

6.10.1 The revised strategy takes into account the authority’s carbon 

reduction commitment and the extensive mitigation required to address 

the use of diesel in the refuse collection vehicles.  

7 Ward Members Affected 

7.1 The project will affect all wards.  

8 Consultation & Engagement 

8.1 To date in the production of the draft strategy we have engaged with over 

500 residents  with the following engagement activities. 

 

 Members briefing discussing the key elements and what should be 

included – September 2019 (14 attendees) 

 Three focus groups with members of the digital influence panel – 

October 2019 (22 attendees) 

 Inviting the digital influence panel members to give their views 

October-November 2019 (483 responses) . Report available 

 Presentation to Environment and Overview scrutiny committee 

November 2019, whose comments are included in the Research and 

Consultation engagement report 

8.2 Subject to Cabinet approval of the draft revised strategy, a borough wide 

consultation will be undertaken.  This will take place for 6 weeks and will be 

avialable as an online questionnaire, at our library service desks, and 

though liaison with adult social care and commissioning to ensure wide 

engagement with vulnerable people groups. 

9 Access to Information 

9.1 Consultation Engagement report  

9.2 Equality impact assessment 

10 Contact Information 

10.1 Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 

officer: 

Name: Ralph Kemp 
Job Title: Head of Environmental Services 
Email: ralph.kemp@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

Page 285

mailto:ralph.kemp@cheshireeast.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



  

  

 

OFFICIAL 

i 

Cheshire East Council 

Municipal Waste Management Strategy 2030 

Revised 2020 

 

Page 287



  

  

 

OFFICIAL 

ii 

Executive Summary 

Overview 

Cheshire East Council is responsible for the management of all household waste within the 

borough. In 2018/19 total local authority collected waste was 181,288 tonnes. Just over half of 

this was recycled, composted or re-used (52%); and the majority of the remainder sent to an 

energy from waste facility.  Since 2012 the Council has consistently exceeded the national 

2020 recycling target of 50%1.  

We are not complacent and recognise that there are strong drivers to change with increasing 

pressure to minimise the overall amount of waste produced and to be more responsible in the 

way waste is then managed.  For England, waste management targets and requirements were 

passed down from the European Union and these are transposed in to national law, policies 

and strategies which impact on the Council’s management of waste moving forward.  

Since 2014 we have delivered on key projects that have enabled the Council to provide a 

more comprehensive service. We have created an environmental hub enabling our waste 

service to be run from a modern and purpose built centre. As a result of this hub we have been 

able to procure waste contracts to take us effectively out of landfilling our waste. In addition we 

have built an in-vessel composting plant enabling us to introduce a food waste recycling 

service within the garden waste bin.  We have also ensured our household waste recycling 

centres are fit for purpose through a comprehensive review. 

This review of the Municipal Waste Management Strategy seeks to identify key drivers and 

ensure the aspirations of the Council are still relevant in the changing waste industry following 

government consultations covering the following: 

 Waste and recycling: making recycling collections consistent in England 

 Draft Environment (Principles and Governance) Bill 2018 

 Plastic packaging tax 

 Packaging waste: changing the UK producer responsibility system for packaging 
waste 

 Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) for drinks containers (bottles and cans) 

The collection, treatment and disposal of municipal waste in Cheshire East is underpinned by 

18 high level strategic objectives that have been established by the Council.  These were 

                                                

1 As set out in the Waste Framework Directive and restated as a commitment in the 

Department for Environment and Rural Affairs Environment Plan. 

Page 288

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/waste-and-recycling-making-recycling-collections-consistent-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/draft-environment-principles-and-governance-bill-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/plastic-packaging-tax
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/packaging-waste-changing-the-uk-producer-responsibility-system-for-packaging-waste
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/packaging-waste-changing-the-uk-producer-responsibility-system-for-packaging-waste
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introducing-a-deposit-return-scheme-drs-for-drinks-containers-bottles-and-cans


  

  

 

OFFICIAL 

iii 

agreed by Cabinet in the spring of 2014 and revised in 2019/20. Residents and other 

interested parties have had the opportunity to comment upon them as part of a consultation 

exercise. 

18 high level strategic objectives in 5 themed categories 

  

 

 

 

Service 

Delivery 

Waste 

Reduction 

and Re-use 

Recycling Residual 

Waste 

Management 

Working 

Together 

These objectives collectively contribute to: 

 

Waste prevention and reduction 

Increased reuse and recycling 

The recovery of energy from residual waste 

The support of local third sector organisations for bulky 
waste collections 

Protection of the environment 

 A more efficient and cost effective service 

Page 289



  

  

 

OFFICIAL 

iv 

Contents 

1. Introduction 1 

2. Cheshire East’s Current Waste Management 3 

2.1 How much waste does Cheshire East Council manage? 3 

2.2 Summary of current services 4 

2.3 Where does the waste go? 7 

2.4 How does the Council deliver its waste services? 8 

2.5 Waste composition 9 

3. Policy and Legislative Context 14 

3.1 Introduction 14 

3.2 25-Year Environment Plan, 2018 14 

3.3 Resources and Waste Strategy, 2018 15 

3.4 Draft Environment Bill, 2019 18 

3.5 Cheshire East Environment Strategy, 2019 - 2024 19 

3.6 Potential Impacts for Cheshire East 20 

4. Strategy Objectives and Delivery 23 

4.1 Service Delivery 25 

4.2 Waste Reduction and Re-Use 28 

 FOOD WASTE CAMPAIGN a case study 32 

4.3 Recycling 34 

4.4 Residual Waste Management 38 

4.5 Working Together. 39 

 LIFE WITH LESS PLASTIC a case study 42 

5. Key Strategic Recommendations and Actions 44 

 

Figure 1 Cheshire East profile 2 

Figure 2 Management of waste by Cheshire East Council 2009-2019 3 

Figure 3 Cheshire East and England recycling and composting performance 4 

Figure 4 Collection of kerbside household waste in Cheshire East 4 

Figure 5 Environmental Hub Middlewich 7 

Figure 6 Environmental Hub showing the workshop and two large transfer buildings 9 

Page 290



  

  

 

OFFICIAL 

v 

Figure 7 Composition of black bin waste 10 

Figure 9 Composition of recycling waste 11 

Figure 9: Implementation Timeline 16 

Figure 10 The Waste Hierarchy 29 

 

Table 1 - Breakdown of ACORN social groups sampled 11 

Table 2 - Type of food waste in the black bin 12 

Table 3 - Impact assessment 22 

Table 4 High level objectives 24 

 

Page 291



 

OFFICIAL 

1 

1. Introduction 

Cheshire East Borough Council first adopted its Municipal Waste Management Strategy 

in October 2014 which included the commitment to review the Strategy every five years. 

This version is the result of the first review carried out in 2019/20 and acknowledges that 

there have been changes to the legislative, policy, global and local context affecting 

waste and streetscene services which need to be reflected in an updated Strategy. 

It establishes key aims and objectives for the future management of municipal waste 

within Cheshire East and identifies important actions that will be undertaken to deliver 

these aims and objectives. These actions will be targeted to improve the sustainability of 

waste management practices, make increased use of waste as a resource and ensure 

legislative compliance moving forward. 

Since 2014 we have delivered on a number of key projects that have enabled the 

Council to provide a more comprehensive service. We have created an environmental 

hub that allows our waste service to be run from a modern and purpose built centre. As 

a result of this hub we have been able to procure waste contracts to take us effectively 

out of landfilling our waste (less than 5% of our residual waste). In addition we have built 

an in-vessel composting plant enabling us to introduce a food waste recycling service 

within the garden waste bin.  We have also ensured our household waste recycling 

centres are fit for purpose through a comprehensive review. 

The document is divided into 3 main sections – Current waste management practice, 

with an overview of performance and changes in the past 5 years, the legislation and 

policy context and then the Strategy Objectives themselves. 

Since our first strategy in 2014, the Paris Agreement of December 2015 saw a historic 

global commitment to reduce carbon emissions agreed by 195 countries and will be an 

important driver for worldwide change going forward. This Strategy recognises the 

commitment and therefore there are new sections on carbon and how we will seek to 

address this key challenge. Moving towards a more ‘circular economy’, where goods 

and materials are constantly re-used and recycled rather than discarded as waste will 

help contribute to protecting both the economy and the environment and again this fresh 

emphasis is highlighted in our refreshed Strategy.  

As a unitary Authority the Council is the statutory Waste Collection Authority (WCA), 

Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) and Principal Litter Authority for Cheshire East.   The 

Council provides a range of services for the collection of municipal waste and litter.  

These include; 

 Kerbside collections – non-recyclable waste, recycling and garden and food 
waste 

 A bulky waste collection service provided by a third sector partner (including 
electrical items); 

 Household waste recycling centres (HWRCs); 

 Bring banks; 

Page 292



 

OFFICIAL 

2 

 Litter and dog waste bins; Litter picking;  

 Street and road sweeping; and 

 Clearing of fly tipped waste. 

While this strategy focuses on municipal waste, it is important to note that the Council is 

also the waste planning authority from a town & country planning perspective and so has 

wider waste planning responsibilities. More specifically, it must understand and 

sustainably address the waste management needs of Cheshire East through the 

development of relevant planning policies and the determination of waste related 

planning applications. These relate to all the main waste streams including: commercial 

& industrial waste; construction, demolition & excavation waste; and hazardous waste.  

The Council currently has strategic Policy SE11 in its Local Plan Strategy (adopted July 

2017) which sets out how it intends to achieve the sustainable management of waste in 

the Borough to 2030. Work is ongoing in preparing the Minerals and Waste 

Development Plan Document, which will set out more detailed planning policies and, 

where appropriate, make allocations for waste related development in Cheshire East. In 

the interim, saved policies in the Cheshire Waste Local Plan prepared by Cheshire 

County Council (and adopted in July 2007) fulfil this purpose. 

Area profile 

With an estimated 

population of 

378,900, Cheshire 

East is the third 

largest unitary 

authority in the 

North West, and the 

sixteenth largest in 

the country. The 

population density 

is 325 residents per 

square kilometre, 

making Cheshire 

East less densely 

populated than the 

North West (515 

per sq. km) and 

England (427 per 

sq. km). 

 

Figure 1 Cheshire East profile 

Page 293



 

OFFICIAL 

3 

2. Cheshire East’s Current Waste Management 

2.1 How much waste does Cheshire East Council manage? 

The Council is responsible for the management of all household waste within the 

borough. In 2018/19 total local authority collected waste was 181,288 tonnes. As Figure 

2 shows, the Council have been working hard with residents to ensure that recycling 

figures are maintained or increased while the amount of non-recyclable waste going to 

landfill has dropped significantly.  

Though exceeding the national target of 50% for recycling by 2020, there was concern 

that landfilling waste was not only harmful to the environment but also a waste of an 

energy source. With the building of a new environmental hub that facilitated the better 

management of our waste, we were able to engage with energy from waste outlet for the 

non-recyclable materials and therefore the percentage to landfill has fallen considerably. 

We were sending all our black bin waste to landfill when the Council was first formed but 

we are now sending only around 5% to landfill and working to reduce this even further. 

Figure 2 Management of waste by Cheshire East Council 2009-2019 

  

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

2
0

1
3

/1
4

2
0

1
4

/1
5

2
0

1
5

/1
6

2
0

1
6

/1
7

2
0

1
7

/1
8

2
0

1
8

/1
9

Es
ti

m
at

e 
2

0
1

9
-2

0

Energy Recovery (EfW)

Reuse

Composting

Recycling

Landfill

Page 294



 

OFFICIAL 

4 

Figure 3 shows the proportion of household waste that is recycled and composted since 

the formation of Cheshire East Council compared with England.  

Figure 3 Cheshire East and England recycling and composting performance 

 

2.2 Summary of current services 

Collections of household waste from the kerbside 

Figure 4 summarises how the majority of properties in Cheshire East have their 

household waste collected.  This system was introduced in 2011. This system has 

proved highly popular with residents and in early 2020 has expanded to include food 

waste within the garden bin collection. 

Figure 4 Collection of kerbside household waste in Cheshire East 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2
0

1
0

-1
1

2
0

1
1

-1
2

2
0

1
2

-1
3

2
0

1
3

-1
4

2
0

1
4

-1
5

2
0

1
5

-1
6

2
0

1
6

-1
7

2
0

1
7

-1
8

2
0

1
8

-1
9

Es
ti

m
at

e
2

0
1

9
-2

0

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 r

e
cy

cl
in

g 

CE

England

Food waste 

introduced in 

January 2020 

All other      

non-recyclable 

waste 

Page 295



 

OFFICIAL 

5 

This service collects around 80% of the household waste generated by the borough’s 

residents, the remaining proportion, being managed through our household waste 

recycling centres and brings banks.  It is an “easy-to-use system” that provides 

householders with the facilities to recycle and compost a wide range of materials. The 

addition of food waste collections within the garden bin from January 2020 is the latest 

change to the collection service. 

A bulky waste collection service is provided at kerbside for residents throughout the 

borough and this is run by our third sector partners St Paul’s Centre, Crewe. The aim of 

this service is to seek to re-use and repurpose as much as possible. 

Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRC) 

The Council provides 8 HWRC across Cheshire East at which residents can deposit 

household waste free of charge. A charge is applied to rubble/construction waste, this 

waste being classed by the Environment Agency as non-household waste. Details of 

where these HWRC are located can be found on the Council website - household-

waste-recycling-centres .  These sites are mainly for household waste but recently the 

permitting at each site has changed to enable a small quantity of commercial or 

industrial waste to be taken. Commercial waste is charged for. 

 

The sites provide points for the collection of a wide range of wastes including: 

 Readily recyclable materials such paper, glass, textiles/clothing/shoes, cans, 
plastic bottles, scrap metal; 

 Less commonly recyclable wastes such as engine oil and vegetable/cooking 
oil, batteries - both car and household batteries, wood,  

 Electrical items and domestic appliance which can be re-used or recycled; 

 Garden waste for composting; 

 Rubble from small DIY projects; 

 Fluorescent tubes and energy saving bulbs that require specialist treatment; 
and 

 Bric-a-brac (general reusable items) 

Page 296

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/waste_and_recycling/using-household-waste-recycling-centres/using-household-waste-recycling-centres.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/waste_and_recycling/using-household-waste-recycling-centres/using-household-waste-recycling-centres.aspx


 

OFFICIAL 

6 

 There is a plan to introduce a re-use shop on the Macclesfield site in 2020.  

Just less than 20% of the borough’s household waste is taken to these sites and the 

majority of that is recycled or composted. We will continue to ensure the sites are run 

efficiently and review the service prior to the contract renewal in 2023. 

Bring sites 

Before the introduction of comprehensive kerbside recycling, bring banks were the main 

way residents could recycle, often located at supermarkets and public houses and on 

car parks.  However, as kerbside recycling has increased bring bank usage has dropped 

significantly.  As a result, the Council has rationalised the number of sites and the range 

of materials collected in order to avoid duplicating the kerbside service.   

Bring banks are still a valuable aspect of our service provision because they enable the 

collection of a different range of materials.  Our co-mingled kerbside collection does not 

offer the option to recycle textiles, shoes and books and therefore the opportunity to 

deposit these items locally is important. A bring bank policy paper sets out our clear 

criteria for the siting of bring banks and materials collected. 

Street cleansing 

Maintaining the quality of Cheshire East’s local environment through litter picking, 

sweeping streets and roads, emptying litter bins etc. is a high profile and vital service.  

The waste generated by this work (around 8,000 tonnes per year) is often contaminated 

and therefore difficult to recycle. 

With an increasing awareness of the harm that our waste can cause to the environment 

and the need to offer as many opportunities to recycle as possible, the Council will be 

increasing the number of opportunities to recycle ‘on the go’.  This will mean a move 

away from a traditional litter bin only and see the introduction of bins that enable 

residents to recycle their waste. These bins will initially be located in high footfall areas 

and some parks.  

The Government may opt to introduce a Deposit Return Scheme (as discussed further in 

Policy and Legislative Context p14 onwards) for drinks containers (bottles and cans) 

whereby the consumer pays a deposit at the point of purchase, which is returned to the 

consumer via a reverse vending machine when the container is returned for recycling. 

The minimum service being considered is for the recycling of containers ‘on the go’ and 

the deposit should act as an incentive for people to dispose of the material responsibly 

and thus reduce litter.  

A significant proportion of street cleansing waste is silt from sweeping roads (made up of 

small stones and gravels, smaller items of litter, debris from accidents etc.).  The Council 

is recycling the silt to make materials for land restoration.  Such approaches reduce the 

cost of landfill disposal and create beneficial products and reduce waste management 

costs.  

Page 297



 

OFFICIAL 

7 

2.3 Where does the waste go? 

Cheshire East’s kerbside collected waste is taken to two main destinations: the 

environmental hub in Middlewich where it is bulked up and transported and for the 

garden/food waste, directly delivered to the Council’s composting plant on the outskirts 

of Crewe. By doing this the Council is ensuring that the waste is being transported in the 

most efficient and effective manner, reducing the number of vehicle miles.  

Once bulked up the material is sent to a number of destinations for re-use, recycling, 

composting, treatment and 

disposal.  As the market 

changes and contracts come to an 

end, destinations will alter but the 

underlying principle for all our 

contracts is the importance of the 

balance between being 

environmentally sensitive and 

economically sound. The Council aims 

to deliver a service that represents 

good value for money. Where this 

means we need external providers of facilities we do this, but where it is deemed most 

appropriate to build our own facilities then we take this opportunity. We applied this 

principle to the management of our food waste within the garden collection and as a 

result have built a facility within the borough. 

Our current arrangements are: 

Kerbside recycling (silver bin) – sent to the  materials recovery facility at Shotton run by 

UPM Kymmene (UK) Ltd, where it is separated and then processed by a range of 

companies with much of the paper going directly into the Shotton paper mill. The vast 

majority of materials are processed within the UK with some going to Europe. This is the 

site that manages all the Council’s plastic waste and they are actively involved in 

securing recycling outlets for all our plastics. Due to market forces and the supply and 

demand of particular types of plastic there can be times when the most effective means 

of managing some plastics is through an energy from waste route. Whilst this is not the 

ideal solution it reflects the fact that some materials are difficult to recycle and in fact 

may cost more and use more energy to recycle.   

The Government’s proposals on 

Extended Producer Responsibility 

(see p15), whereby the producer will 

have to pay for the full net costs of 

recycling or disposing of the 

packaging waste their products 

create, should encourage the use of 

easier to recycle packaging.  It is 

anticipated that producers who make 

products that are easier to recycle will 

Figure 5 Environmental Hub Middlewich 

Page 298



 

OFFICIAL 

8 

pay less under Extended Producer Responsibility than those whose products are more 

difficult to recycle.  

Garden and food recycling (green/brown bin) is sent to the Council’s own in-vessel 

composting site on the outskirts of Crewe that is run by a contractor, Wastewise. Here 

the food and garden mix is pasteurised and processed into quality compost and then 

distributed to local agriculture and horticulture outlets.  

Other waste (black bin) – this material is sent to energy from waste plants in Runcorn 

and Stoke. The heat generated at the Runcorn site is fed into  an adjacent chemical 

manufacturing site. The contract in Stoke is likely to end within the next 5 years due to 

the plant being decommissioned; the waste will then be redirected to alternative facilities 

in the UK.  

Kerbside bulky waste collections - are carried 

out by our third sector partner - St Paul’s 

Centre, whose work is focused on innovative 

and enterprising sustainable services that 

generate hope and confidence. They make 

opportunities by providing resources, facility 

development and teaching new skills. Using the 

process of collecting and redistributing items 

‘furniture, food and bikes’ they engage with local 

people looking for change and challenge. 

Household waste recycling centres – the contract is currently held by HW Martin who 

send the materials to a range of companies within the UK and Europe, with quality 

cardboard going outside Europe. This contract ends in 2023 and therefore the Council 

will be carrying out a procurement exercise through Ansa. 

Street cleansing waste – the general litter waste is sent to the energy from waste facility 

in Runcorn, whilst any larger recyclable items are sent to local reprocessors. The 

Council is managing the recycling/reuse of road sweepings through a contract at a 

facility located in Wolverhampton. The street sweepings are recycled at a plant near 

Wolverhampton with the silt being used to make materials for land restoration and 

aggregate. 

Recycling banks – these are emptied by the individual UK companies who seek to reuse 

or recycle the materials. 

2.4 How does the Council deliver its waste services? 

In 2014 CEC created a wholly owned, arms length company to provide its waste 

management and environmental services.  Ansa Environmental Services Ltd, (Ansa) 

provides all the Council’s household waste collection, street cleansing, grounds 

maintenance and fleet management services as well as managing related contracts 

such as for the bulking, transportation and sorting of mixed recycling, the composting of 

garden waste (and food waste from January 2020) and disposal of residual waste. 

Page 299



 

OFFICIAL 

9 

Ansa runs all its services from an environmental hub in Middlewich and smaller depot in 

Macclesfield, within West Park. The sites give Ansa the flexibility to manage the 

materials that are being collected. The Middlewich site consists of a range of office and 

operational buildings with two large reception halls that receive recycling and residual 

materials. 

2.5 Waste composition 

To determine the nature of the waste that the Council is managing it is important to carry 

out waste composition analysis. Insights from this work enable communications to be 

targeted and the relative success of different initiatives to be evaluated. Analysis has 

been carried out over the past 10 years with the latest work undertaken in autumn 2019. 

This period was specifically chosen prior to the introduction of food waste being 

collected in the garden bin.  

We commissioned Integrated Skills Ltd to carry out a series of waste composition 

analyses focussing on four household sampling areas. The fieldwork was carried out 

over a two week period in September 2019. The residual waste was surveyed in week 

one and the comingled recycling and compost bins surveyed in week two. The work will 

be repeated in September 2020. 

The aims of this project were to provide information on the composition of the residual 

waste before and after the food waste service is rolled out, and secondly to show the 

effectiveness of the dry recycling scheme including: capture rates for each material, 

diversion rates and levels of contamination.  

Our sampling was based on the ACORN system – A Classification of Residential 

Neighbourhoods. By using this system we were able to target the borough typical profile 

and ensure our sample was representative. 

Summary data from our analysis shows:  

On average each Cheshire East household threw away 7.2kg of residual waste per 

week (kg/household/wk.) at the kerbside and recycled 4.5kg of co-mingled dry recycling 

per week. These figures when combined with the recycling at bring banks, household 

Figure 6 Environmental Hub showing the workshop and two large transfer buildings 

Page 300



 

OFFICIAL 

10 

waste recycling centres and reuse at our charity partner, results in a recycling rate 

exceeding the national target of 50%.  

On average 0.9kg/wk. of each householder’s residual waste was potentially recyclable 

under the current kerbside schemes this is 12% of the total weight of waste in the bin. 

This figure is low and suggests the kerbside recycling scheme is working well.  

Of the overall weight set out for collection, 61.5% was placed in the residual waste bin 

and 38.5% in the comingled recycling bin. The majority of the weight in the residual 

waste bin could not be recycled under the current scheme. With a good capture and 

diversion rate the introduction of a food waste scheme will have a significant impact on 

the composition of the waste in the residual waste bin.  

Significant weights within the residual waste were from food waste, miscellaneous 

combustibles - mainly disposable nappies, pet excrement and bedding and non-

recyclable paper e.g. tissues, kitchen roll and wallpaper. 

 

Figure 7 Composition of black bin waste 

   

 

 

 

 

  

Other non-
combustible 

7% 

Dense plastic 7% 

Plastic film 5% 

Textiles 4% 

Metal 3% 

Glass 3% 

Card 3% 

Food 38% 

Organic 11% 

General combustible 11% 

Paper 8% 

Page 301



 

OFFICIAL 

11 

 

 

On average households in Cheshire East recycled 4.5kg per household per week in their 

recycling bins. This figure includes 0.6kg of contamination (contamination is classed as 

materials that should not be placed in the recycling bin e.g. soiled paper towels, food 

waste, nappies, wood). 

Our sampling sought to cover the main groups across the borough and these findings 

will enable our communications campaigns to be targeted at those producing the most 

waste. The results highlight the need to continue to educate all households on the best 

use of the recycling service. 

  Table 1 - Breakdown of ACORN social groups sampled 

Code Category and Group description % of households in Cheshire 
East 

1.B Affluent 
Achievers 

Executive Wealth 25.3% 

1.C Mature Money 15.2% 

3.G Comfortable 
Communities 

Successful Suburbs 6.0% 

3.I Comfortable Seniors 5.8% 

4.L Financially 
Stretched 

Modest Means 6.6% 

4.N Poorer Pensioners 5.8% 

5.O Urban 
Adversity 

Young Hardship 4.3% 

5.P Struggling Estates 3.9% 

Remaining groups 27.1% 

Composition of  recycling bin 

Figure 8 Composition of recycling waste 

Other recycling 

Glass 30% 

Paper 26% 

Card 20% 

Dense plastic 11% 

 

Page 302



 

OFFICIAL 

12 

 

The recycling from more affluent households contained less contamination than the 

recycling from the less affluent households. The recycling from the wealthiest 

households did contain contamination but none of the samples were rejected. By 

contrast the ACORN classified group ‘struggling households’ did not appear to be 

confused by the recycling system. Some were merely using their silver bins to dispose of 

their residual waste; in addition some of these samples were very dirty e.g. sauce jars 

not rinsed, butter still in tubs etc.  

FOOD WASTE 

Closer analysis of the food waste element within the black bin reveals that not only is 

there food within the waste stream that could be collected, but that much of this food 

waste was avoidable. We anticipate that the introduction of food waste should result in 

capturing a significant tonnage of food and also result in the amounts of food waste 

dropping. The provision and use of caddies is often a trigger to residents to recognise 

how much food they are wasting and could lead to a reduction in food waste. 

Table 2 - Type of food waste in the black bin 
 

Type of food 
Concentration % 
food waste only 

Avoidable cooked and prepared food – plate scraping, etc. 37.33 

Avoidable fruit and vegetables – food going off before used 16.85 

Avoidable raw meat, fish and eggs – food going off before 
used 

1.24 

Food whole still in packaging 11.53 

Unavoidable cooked/prepared – teabags, coffee grinds etc. 8.19 

Unavoidable fruit and vegetables - peeling, pips, etc. 23.28 

Unavoidable raw meat and fish - bones/shells/fat, etc. 1.59 

Total food waste 100 

 

For the residents classified as ‘Modest Means’ householders 3.4kg or 73% of the food 

they threw away was avoidable, the majority was from plate scraping or buying food that 

went off before it was used. Households in all sample areas threw away food that had 

not been opened, this type of food waste made up 12% of the average householders 

food waste. For the residents classified as ‘Young Hardship’ householders 18% of the 

food they threw away was whole and still in its unopened packaging. As in all areas of 

the country it is the least affluent householders who throw away the greatest weights of 

food. This again identifies the importance of targeting our communications campaigns 

and helping those in more challenging circumstances. 

2.5.1 Waste capture and diversion rates explained 

To see how well a collection scheme is functioning, analysis of the waste is carried out 

to determine how much of the material is captured and diverted. A capture rate is the 

amount of material that was recycled as a percentage of the material that could have 

Page 303



 

OFFICIAL 

13 

been recycled. For example if 2.0kg of paper is found in the recycling bin and 1.5kg of 

paper is found in the residual bin then the capture rate equals 2/(2 + 1.5) x 100 = 57%.  

The overall capture rate for dry recycling was 82% and reflects positively on the 

engagement of residents with our scheme. According to the national waste charity 

WRAP a good kerbside scheme will capture 60% plus of recyclable materials.   

A diversion rate is the amount of material recycled in relation to the total weight of waste 

plus recycling generated. For example, if the total weight in the recycling bin is 4kg and 

the total weight of the residual bin is 12.5kg then the diversion rate equals 4/(4 + 12.5) x 

100 = 32%. 

The overall diversion rate for the dry recycling scheme was 39%. The diversion rate 

figure had also been 39% when we carried out the last waste analysis in 2016. 

In September 2019 the average silver bin contained 13% contamination; a similar figure 

was seen in 2016. These figures suggest that the kerbside recycling scheme has 

become consistent. There are householders that fair less well with the scheme, mainly 

the least wealthy, classified with the ACORN scheme as ‘struggling households’, but on 

the whole householders show a good understanding of what can and cannot be placed 

in their silver bins. 

Page 304



 

OFFICIAL 

14 

3. Policy and Legislative Context 

3.1 Introduction  

As a unitary authority we are responsible for the collection and disposal of municipal 

waste. Our current practice is that we operate a fortnightly collection of residual waste in 

black, 240L wheeled bins; garden waste is collected fortnightly in green, 240L wheeled 

bins and dry recyclate is collected co-mingled fortnightly in silver, 240L wheeled bins. 

Food waste being added to the green bin from January 2020. 

Cheshire East Council currently collects the following materials at the kerbside and its 

intention is to continue to provide this service as part of its revised Waste Strategy.  The 

following table sets out how the materials are collected and whether or not it is aligned 

with current thinking, set out in the Government’s Resources and Waste Management 

Strategy. 

 Materials Frequency Potential impact of current 

Government thinking 

Black Bin Residual waste Fortnightly N/A 

Silver Bin  

Glass bottles and 

containers  

Paper and card  

Plastic bottles 

Plastic pots, tubs 

and trays 

Steel and 

aluminium tins and 

cans 

Cartons 

Aerosols 

Foil 

Fortnightly 

The core suite of materials may also 

include food and drink cartons, which 

the Council does currently collect 

and plastic film. The Council may 

need to increase the range of 

materials collected and may also to 

ensure it complies with any published 

material quality standards 

Brown/ 

Green Bin 

Garden Waste 

Food Waste (from 

January 2020) 

Fortnightly 

To collect food waste weekly and 

potentially separately from other 

materials. The Council may need to 

introduce a separate food waste 

collection, either to supplement or 

replace the combined food and 

garden waste collection 

3.2 25-Year Environment Plan, 2018 

In 2018 the Government published its 25-year Environment Plan entitled “A Green 

Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment” and chapter 4 is dedicated to 

increasing resource efficiency and reducing pollution and waste.  The two key ambitions 

relevant to this Strategy are: 

Page 305



 

OFFICIAL 

15 

 Make sure that resources are used more efficiently and kept in use for longer 
to minimise waste and reduce its environmental impacts by promoting reuse, 
remanufacturing and recycling; and 

 Work towards eliminating all avoidable waste by 2050 and all avoidable plastic 
waste by end of 2042. 

Part of this thinking is to drive the movement away from a linear economy of ‘take, 

make, use, throw’ to a circular economy that keeps materials in use in the system for as 

long as possible. 

3.3 Resources and Waste Strategy, 2018 

Another key development has been the publication of the Government’s Resources and 

Waste Strategy entitled “Our Waste, Our Resources: A strategy for England” which was 

published in December 2018.  The Resources and Waste Strategy states: 

“Our Strategy sets out how we will preserve our stock of material resources by 

minimising waste, promoting resource efficiency and moving towards a circular 

economy. At the same time we will minimise the damage caused to our natural 

environment by reducing and managing waste safely and carefully, and by tackling 

waste crime. “  

The Resources and Waste Strategy sets out five strategic ambitions which it will 

contribute to the delivery of: 

1. To work towards all plastic packaging placed on the market being recyclable, 

reusable or compostable by 2025;  

2. To work towards eliminating food waste to landfill by 2030;  

3. To eliminate avoidable plastic waste over the lifetime of the 25 Year 

Environment Plan;  

4. To double resource productivity by 2050; and  

5. To eliminate avoidable waste of all kinds by 2050. 

Some of the key areas which may have an impact on the delivery of services in 

Cheshire East (as set out in the original draft proposals) in the future are: 

 Deposit Return Scheme – whereby consumers pay a deposit for the single-use 

container (e.g. a plastic bottle) at the point of purchase which is then returned to 

the consumer where they bring back the container for recycling.  

 Extended Producer Responsibility – aims to recover the ‘full net cost of 

recovery’ from producers for the packaging that they produce (e.g. plastic 

bottles, cans, etc.) meaning that producers would be responsible for funding the 

management of packaging at the end of its life. 

 Minimum service standards – the Government is considering the viability of 

implementing the following standards: 

Page 306



 

OFFICIAL 

16 

 the collection of a consistent suite of core materials at the kerbside including 
glass bottles and containers; paper and card; plastic bottles; plastic pots, tubs 
and trays; and steel and aluminum tins and cans 

 Weekly separate food waste collections (i.e. not co-mingled with e.g. garden 
waste, although potentially collected on the same vehicle)  

 Free garden waste collections. 

The following diagram sets out the timeline for the implementation of the Strategy. 

Figure 9: Implementation Timeline 

 

In July 2019, the Government published the Consultation responses for its first four 

consultations (tax on plastic packaging containing less than 30% recycled content; a 

deposit return scheme; extended producer responsibility; and material consistency at the 

kerbside) along with its responses to these, with further details to follow in early 2020.  

At the time of this review it is not clear whether there may be any changes in the interim.  

Material Consistency 

In terms of the consultation on consistency in recycling collections in England, the 

Government has responded to state that it will seek to amend legislation to require all 

English local authorities to collect at least the following dry materials from 2023: 

 glass bottles and containers – including drinks bottles, condiment bottles, jars 

 paper and card – including newspaper, cardboard packaging, writing paper 

 plastic bottles – including clear drinks containers, HDPE (milk containers), 
plus containers for detergent, shampoo and cleaning products 

Page 307



 

OFFICIAL 

17 

 plastic pots tubs and trays 

 steel and aluminium tins and cans 

The core suite of materials may also include food and drink cartons and plastic film; 

however, it was noted that a review of Materials Recycling Facilities (MRFs) 

infrastructure was needed to determine how a phased introduction of these materials, 

particularly film, could be accommodated (many MRFs are incapable of sorting some of 

these materials, particularly film). 

The Government appears to have softened its stance on separate collections for 

recyclables (i.e. collecting recyclables on a kerbside-sort basis) and intends to work with 

the sector to provide suitable guidance on the requirements to adopt separate 

collections to achieve high quality recycling.  The consultation found that only 23% of 

local authorities were in favour of separate collections being mandatory, and it would 

seem that the current arrangement where separate collections are required unless it is 

not technically, environmentally or economically practicable (TEEP: as required by 

Waste Regulation 15) to do so may continue but with stricter definitions of quality and 

clearer guidance from the Government. 

An additional element of the TEEP implications will need to be considered for textiles 

because there is an expectation that separate collection of this waste stream will need to 

be implemented from January 2025. The authority provides for this waste stream 

through bring banks at our household waste recycling centres and in a number of the 

authority’s car parks. A TEEP assessment would be required prior to 2025 to determine 

the appropriate response for the authority. 

Food Waste Collections 

In addition to this, the Government also intends to legislate for the separate collection of 

food waste.  The Government’s stated preference is for a separate weekly collection; 

however, it acknowledges that further consideration is required around the co-collection 

of food and garden waste.  In addition to this, the Government also intends to explore 

further the costs and benefits of providing free caddy liners to residents, before 

determining whether this should be a requirement. 

The Government has stated that it will work with local authorities to take account of local 

circumstance and the feasibility of food waste collections in densely populated areas 

including where there are flats above commercial premises and in very rural areas.  

Garden Waste Collections 

In terms of free garden waste collections, the Government’s initial proposal was for 

households with gardens to be offered a minimum of a free fortnightly collection of 

garden waste.  The consultation responses were generally not supportive of this being a 

statutory requirement of local authorities.  The Government has acknowledged this and 

intends to consider the costs and benefits before making a final decision on this matter.  

Page 308



 

OFFICIAL 

18 

3.4 Draft Environment Bill, 2019 

The Draft Environment Bill is the key piece of legislation that will take forward the 

measures set out in the Government’s Resources and Waste Management Strategy. 

Producer Responsibility (Section 46 of the Bill and Schedule 6) 

The purpose of this Bill and its accompanying Schedule is to set out extended producer 

responsibility requirements under the ‘polluter pays’ principle.  The draft will require the 

producer to cover the full net costs of the ‘disposal’ of packaging waste from their 

products once they have been used for their primary purpose.  Schedule 6 states: 

Disposal costs may include the cost of –  

1. collecting and transporting products or materials for disposal,  

2. sorting and treating products or materials, 

3. other steps preparatory to disposal of products or materials, and  

4. providing public information about the disposal of products or materials. 

What is not yet clearly defined is the calculation for the sums that would be payable by 

producers and it is anticipated that this will form part of the next consultation phase 

anticipated in Spring 2020 (including, presumably, how these sums might be passed to 

local authorities). 

Deposit Return Scheme (Section 49 and Schedule 9) 

This section and its associated Schedule set out the powers to introduce a deposit 

scheme but provides no detail on its scope, implementation, or administration.  The 

purpose of the drafting is to allow it to be introduced, should the Government wish to do 

so, and it is likely that further consultation on the detail will follow in 2020.  It is worth 

noting that the Scottish Government intends to press forward on this matter in advance 

of England.  The current proposals for the Scottish DRS system are as follows and if 

successful are likely to be a close representation of what may be adopted in England. 

A deposit of 20 pence charged on: 

 Plastic bottles 

 Steel cans  

 Aluminium cans 

 Glass bottles 

Requirement for producers to collect a target percentage of the scheme 
packaging, as follows: 

 Year 1 – 70% 

 Year 2 – 80% 

 Year 3 – 90% 

Page 309



 

OFFICIAL 

19 

 Producers will be required to appoint a scheme administrator to meet the 
above obligations on their behalf 

 Require retailers to operate a return point at premises from which sales of 
scheme products are made including provision for collecting packaging 
returns and reimbursing deposits. 

Material Consistency (Section 52 and 53) 

The Bill states that each recycling stream must be collected separately from other 

household waste, recyclable household waste must be collected for recycling or 

composting and separately from each other.  It does say that the TEEP test still applies 

and so materials can be collected together where: 

1 It is not technically or economically practicable to collect recyclable household 

waste in those recyclable waste streams separately, or 

2 Collecting recyclable household waste in those recyclable waste streams 

separately has no significant environmental benefit (having regard to the overall 

environmental impact of collecting it separately and of collecting it together). 

The Bill goes on to state that food waste must be collected at least once a week. It is 

possible that food waste and garden waste could be collected together under the TEEP 

exemption above; however, food waste would need to be collected weekly. 

3.5 Cheshire East Environment Strategy, 2019 - 2024 

At the Council meeting on 22 May 2019 the Elected Members of Cheshire East Council 

approved a Notice of Motion relating to Climate Change, effectively declaring a Climate 

Emergency in its area. 

In response to this the Council has drafted an Environment Strategy.  The goals for the 

Strategy are: 

1 Cheshire East will be a Carbon Neutral Council by 2025 

2 Waste and pollution will be reduced 

3 Air quality will improve 

4 The availability and use of sustainable transport and travel will increase 

5 New development will be sensitive and sustainable 

6 We will manage the environment to restore nature, conserve heritage and enhance 

the beauty of our landscapes. 

The Strategy has 12 priority actions, a number of which relate to waste services this 

Municipal Waste Strategy will support and enable the goal to reduce waste and 

pollution. 

Page 310



 

OFFICIAL 

20 

Looking specifically at actions relating to the delivery of the waste and recycling 

services, the key items are around improving waste prevention activities, encouraging 

reuse, community engagement and expanding the services offered at the kerbside.  This 

includes expanding the Council’s Waste Reduction Volunteers scheme and 

implementing key actions set out above. 

3.6 Potential Impacts for Cheshire East 

The Government has stated its desire to have changes coming from the Resources and 

Waste Management Strategy in place by 2023.  The Government has also stated that 

local authorities who operate their services in house or through a Local Authority Trading 

Company shall be expected to have put in place any required changes by this date. 

It is clear that certain aspects of the current service design operated in Cheshire East fit 

with the latest thinking from DEFRA and the Government, namely the range of 

recyclable materials collected at the kerbside. 

Material Consistency 

The initial thinking from DEFRA focused on separate collections of dry recyclables in 

order to achieve high quality; free fortnightly garden waste collections; and the weekly 

separate collection of food waste. The Government has now stated its preferred options 

for collections, albeit with the need for some further consideration of options around food 

and garden waste, and the requirements for source separation at the kerbside.  It is 

therefore likely that local authorities should reasonably be expected to be taking these 

into consideration in their future planning.  The Resources and Waste Strategy states 

that to aid with the transition to any new requirements, that ‘new duties will be assessed 

to account for new burdens, and funded appropriately’. 

Food Waste Collections 

In terms of how these changes specifically impact Cheshire East Council, the one most 

likely to have a significant impact is the collection of food waste.  In January 2020 the 

Council introduced food waste collections, which allows residents to add their food 

waste to the existing garden waste service, meaning that it is collected fortnightly.  If the 

Government does make weekly food waste collections mandatory, then the Council may 

need to introduce an additional collection of separate food waste for the intervening 

week between the mixed fortnightly food and garden waste collections.  Additionally, 

should the Government opt to mandate that food waste be collected separately from 

other materials (including garden waste), following further consultation on the matter in 

2020, then the Council may need to provide additional resources to separate this 

material from the garden waste at the kerbside. 

Deposit Return Scheme  

Should the Government opt to introduce a deposit return scheme for certain types of 

packaging waste, this has the potential to have a significant impact on the composition 

Page 311



 

OFFICIAL 

21 

of material which householders present for collection at the kerbside.  The Government 

is looking at two potential options for a deposit return scheme: 

1 ‘All in’ – covering all containers that fall within a certain specification.  The outcome 

being that residents could collect materials at home and then return them to a 

reverse vending machine to reclaim their deposit; or 

2 ‘on the go’ – targeting items which have the potential to be littered in a similar way 

to recycling on the go, such as plastic bottles and cans, with the public using the 

vending machines primarily whilst they are out and about instead of using a litter 

bin. 

If the Government was to opt for the former of these two options, then the potential 

impact on kerbside services is much greater.   

If an ‘all in’ service was opted for this would encourage residents to take plastic bottles, 

cans and potentially glass bottles (the precise range of materials is yet to be determined) 

to a reverse vending machine to reclaim their deposit, rather than use the existing 

kerbside service.  The potential impacts of this are: 

 That residents present less material for the Council services to collect at the 
kerbside;  

 Changes to the material mix at the kerbside with the highest value materials 
(namely plastic bottles and cans) being diverted to deposit return. 

This could result in lower income from the materials as a result of the combination of 

lower tonnages and the composition being made up of a greater proportion of lower 

value materials.  In addition to this, a minimum resource will be required to provide all 

properties in Cheshire East with a kerbside recycling service, given the rural nature of 

the authority, even though less material will be collected from each property upon each 

collection.   

Extended Producer Responsibility  

Any funding passed on to local authorities to support their frontline collection services 

will come from the extended producer responsibility payments.  It is also likely that any 

such payments will only be paid if the authority meets the minimum requirements in 

terms of material consistency, service standards and in relation to food waste 

collections.  A modulated fee approach is anticipated, whereby producers pay more to 

place products on the market which are more difficult to recycle and less where products 

are easier to recycle.  The impact should be that it encourages eco product design and 

that over time there may be less money available in the system, but that packaging 

should be easier to recycle. 

Page 312



 

OFFICIAL 

22 

Impacts Summary 

Table 3 - Impact assessment 

Action  Impact Timeframe 

Greater 
Material 
Consistency 

The Council may have to comply with 
minimum quality standards in order to continue 
to collect materials co-mingled 

Subject to further 
consultation in early 2020 

The Council may be required to collect plastic 
film as part of the core suite of materials 

Subject to further 
consultation in early 2020 

Separate 
Food Waste  

The Council may be required to increase the 
frequency of food waste collections to weekly 

To be introduced by 2023 

The Council may be required to keep food 
waste separate from garden waste 

Subject to further 
consultation in early 2020 

Deposit 
Return 
Scheme  

Residents present less material for the Council 
services to collect at the kerbside 

To be introduced by 2023 
and subject to further 
consultation in 2020 

Changes to the material mix at the kerbside 
with the highest value materials (namely 
plastic bottles and cans) being diverted to 
deposit return 

To be introduced by 2023 
and subject to further 
consultation in 2020 

Extended 
Producer 
Responsibility 

Changes to the material mix at the kerbside 
through encouraging eco-design 

To be introduced mid-
2023 and subject to 
further consultation in 
2020 

Page 313



 

OFFICIAL 

23 

4. Strategy Objectives and Delivery 

The collection, treatment and disposal of municipal waste in Cheshire East is 

underpinned by the high-level strategic objectives which have been established by the 

Council.  These were agreed by Cabinet in the spring of 2014 and residents, businesses 

and other interested parties had the opportunity to comment upon them. 

As part of the five year review of the Strategy these objectives have been revisited and 

again residents and Councillors were given the opportunity to comment and adapt the 

objectives in light of developments since 2014. These changes not only reflect the fact 

that some of the objectives had been delivered but they also recognise the national and 

global initiatives on important matters such as climate change, carbon reduction, the 

circular economy and the need for higher levels of recycling. Responses to the 

engagement with Councillors and our digital influence panel members are discussed 

under each of our themes. 

This Strategy is underpinned by the principles of the waste management hierarchy (see 

Figure 10 The Waste Hierarchy p29) that prioritise not producing waste in the first place, 

then reusing it followed by recycling and composting. It is recognised that managing 

non-recyclable waste through an energy plant recovers energy and heat, but ideally, we 

would not have as much of this material to dispose of in the first place. These objectives 

acknowledge that providing efficient, effective and value for money services with high 

customer satisfaction are important to sustainable waste management. It is important to 

us that waste services are provided to a high standard, achieve the required targets and 

that householders are satisfied with it. Services must continue to be provided against a 

backdrop of decreasing budgets and pressure to provide the 'same for less' and even to 

do 'more for less'. 

The high level objectives fall into five themed categories: 

 Service delivery; 

 Waste reduction and re-use; 

 Recycling; 

 Residual waste management; and 

 Working together. 

Each of these objectives is explained in the following chapter along with the actions we 

will take to deliver them.   

Page 314



 

OFFICIAL 

24 

 Table 4 High level objectives 

 

  

Theme Cheshire East Waste Strategy High Level Objectives  

Service Delivery To deliver a quality and value for money waste management service that 
achieves consistently high levels of customer satisfaction of 80% or more.  

To deliver services in a cost effective way through a wholly owned 
company.    

Investigate the opportunities for efficiencies through working with other 
waste collection and disposal authorities. 

To work to reduce the environmental impact of our waste collection and 
processing in line with the Council’s Environmental Strategy and Carbon 
Neutrality Action Plan. NEW IN 2020. 

Provide waste management services that comply with legislative standards 
for environmental protection.  

Waste Reduction 
and Re-Use 
 

To make waste prevention, reduction and reuse a priority over recycling and 
disposal, promoting sustainability and reducing costs. 

Work to reduce the amount of household waste produced per person and 
per household. COMBINED FROM 2014 

Work to increase waste re-uses activity amongst residents in partnership 
with the charitable and furniture reuse sector. 

Recycling  
 
 

Having exceeded the national targets for recycling of 50% by 2020, to work 
towards the new national target of 65% by 2035. UPDATED IN 2020 

To provide all households with a simple, easy to use, kerbside recycling 
collection service for glass, metals, plastics, paper and cardboard and work 
to increase the types of recyclable materials collected. 

To maximise public participation in recycling schemes through waste 
education, communication and engagement with residents. 

To manage organic waste by promoting home composting solutions and 
food waste recycling. UPDATED IN 2020 

Residual Waste 
Management 
 

Ensure that residual waste is managed to support waste prevention reuse 
and recycling, minimising waste produced.  

To utilise waste that cannot be reused or recycled as a resource for energy 
generation. UPDATED IN 2020 

To aim to reduce disposal to landfill to 0 and achieve 100% disposal to 
waste to energy generation. 

Working Together 
 

To work in partnership with the commercial and charitable sectors such as 
the waste industry, supermarkets and housing trusts, to promote waste 
reduction reuse and recycling. 

To continue to build and utilise a waste reduction volunteer network to 
promote waste education and awareness across Cheshire East. 

To work with schools and higher education establishments in Cheshire East 
to promote waste prevention to the next generation. 

Page 315



 

OFFICIAL 

25 

4.1 Service Delivery 

Key performance indicator Baseline 
Frequency 
of reporting 

Maintain CE residents’ customer satisfaction levels with 
the waste collection service at or above 80% 

75% satisfaction - 
Spring 2014 

Annually 

4.1.1 To deliver a quality and value for money waste management service 
that achieves consistently high levels of customer satisfaction of 80% 
or more. 

The collection, treatment and disposal of household waste are amongst the highest 

profile services that councils provide.  Cheshire East Council understands the 

importance its residents place on having reliable collection services that meet their 

needs and aspirations whilst managing costs effectively.  We will always consider the 

costs and benefits of each waste treatment and disposal option so that that the best 

environmental option is chosen which meets our financial requirements. Developing and 

procuring waste management and street scene services that are flexible, effective and 

affordable are a priority.  Delivering services through our arms-length company Ansa 

Environmental Services Ltd allows flexibility to respond to changing requirements in the 

waste industry. 

Public satisfaction of the waste collection service is consistently high, and we will build 

on this and strive to achieve a minimum of 80% satisfaction with the service. 

To achieve a minimum of 80% satisfaction we will: 

 Provide simple and easy to use waste services and communicate clearly to 
residents how to use these services; 

 Collect waste efficiently, professionally and reliably; and where bins are 
missed to rectify the miss within 5 days and 

 Develop services that meet the needs of our residents and businesses, 
including providing an assisted service. 

Respondents to the consultation on the unchanged elements of this theme were 

supportive with 91% of respondents agreeing or strongly agreeing that these should be 

kept. The one aspect that was commented on by 16 respondents was the level of 

customer satisfaction and that they would like to see this higher than the 80% stated, a 

comment also articulated by some in the focus groups. It was noted that given the 

historic satisfaction levels it was important to set realistic targets though there is an 

expectation that 80% is a minimum. 

Monitoring of this objective is carried out annually through the Council’s user satisfaction 

survey and these are reported to the senior management of Ansa Environmental 

Services Ltd. This satisfaction level forms part of the service level agreement with Ansa 

and is an important key performance indicator. 

Page 316



 

OFFICIAL 

26 

4.1.2 To deliver services in a cost effective way through a wholly owned 
company. 

This Objective has been delivered since April 2014 when the ‘environmental services’ 

functions were transferred to Ansa Environmental Services Ltd – a company wholly 

owned by Cheshire East Council. 

Ansa is responsible for: 

 Collecting household waste from the kerbside; 

 Managing the recyclable materials collected (either directly or using third party 
bulking sites); 

 Mechanically and manually cleansing public areas such as streets, town 
centres, parks and open spaces; 

 Emptying litter bins; 

 Removing fly tipping; 

 Managing waste disposal and treatment contracts (such as for the landfilling 
and energy from waste, the composting of garden and food  waste and 
household waste recycling centres; 

 Delivering grounds maintenance services such as grass cutting (excluding 
highways verges currently), managing parks etc.; and 

 Managing the fleet of plant, equipment and vehicles the company uses. 

The company also has a remit to develop commercial trading opportunities such as 

collecting waste generated by businesses, providing training on fleet matters and 

cleansing privately owned estates such as retail parks. 

Oversight of the company is carried out through the Council’s Environmental Services 

team with monthly reports to the portfolio holder for Waste and Highways. Statutory 

reporting of all waste, through Wastedataflow (the online tool that local authorities report 

their waste data to), is carried out by the team and enables them to monitor 

performance. The authority has agreed with Ansa that they have key performance 

indicators to achieve and these are highlighted within each of the waste themes. 

4.1.3 Investigate the opportunities for efficiencies through working with 
other waste collection and disposal authorities. 

Whether in tough economic times or not, working with partners can reduce costs 

through, for example, economies of scale or sharing procurement costs.  Where this can 

be done to the benefit of Cheshire East Council it will be. 

Ansa Environmental Services Ltd can also work in partnership with other councils and 

public sector bodies to deliver services.  Ansa can provide high quality services as a 

partner rather than a contractor and this has significant advantages for the partner 

organisation and Cheshire East Council. Currently Ansa are running both Staffordshire 

Moorlands and High Peak Councils’ services delivering a significant saving to Cheshire 

East. 

Page 317



 

OFFICIAL 

27 

The Council has established the shareholder committee to provide strategic oversight of 

the arrangements with the Council’s companies and give advice to the cabinet member 

with responsibility for making shareholder decisions. This includes reviewing any 

proposal by a company to submit tender for services to a client other than Cheshire East 

Council. Any further opportunities for Ansa to work in partnership with other councils will, 

therefore, be subject to review by the shareholder committee and a formal decision by 

Cabinet. 

4.1.4 To work to reduce the environmental impact of our waste collection 
and processing in line with the Council’s Environmental Strategy and 
Carbon Neutrality Action Plan. NEW IN 2020.  

We recognise that since our first waste strategy the understanding of our impact on the 

environment has grown and therefore it was important that this aspect was included in 

this review. When Councillors, our digital influence panel members and residents in 

three focus groups were questioned on this there was strong support for including this 

objective. 

Efforts have been focussed on this issue since the Council passed a notice of motion in 

May 2019 that related to climate change and in particular two aspects of this, namely 

that the Council: 

a) Commits to the target of Cheshire East Council being carbon neutral by 2025 

and asks that details of how to meet this commitment are included in the 

Environmental Strategy; 

b) Will work to encourage all businesses, residents and organisations in Cheshire 

East to reduce their carbon footprint by reducing energy consumptions and 

promoting healthy lifestyles.” 

Building on this notice of motion the Council has drafted an Environmental Strategy 

2019-24 in which it states: 

It is widely accepted that climate change is happening as a result of human activity, as is 

the fact that we need to do things differently, both to adapt to the impact and reduce the 

extent of change in the long term. The effects are being felt at a global level with higher 

land and sea temperatures, rising sea levels and extreme weather patterns. The impact 

of extreme weather is being felt at a local level also, whether it be the impact on homes 

and businesses from increased incidents of flooding or the impact on the elderly and 

vulnerable from extreme heat.  

In addition, the Council is developing a Carbon Neutral Action Plan for 2020 that will 

guide this waste strategy and efforts to reduce our impact. 

Of the nearly 500 responses to questions on this new objective 79% agreed or strongly 

agreed with the new objective with 2% disagreeing and 18% were neither agreeing nor 

disagreeing. Effectively we are seeking to reduce the amount of carbon that the service 

produces through its waste fleet by managing waste in a manner which protects human 

health and the environment; minimising risk to water, air, soil, flora and fauna; nuisance; 

Page 318



 

OFFICIAL 

28 

and adverse effects on the countryside or places of special landscape, townscape, 

archaeological and historic interest. 

We know the impact that waste management can have on the environment. Dealing with 

waste uses energy to collect and transport it, this uses fossil fuels which when burned 

release greenhouse gases (primarily carbon dioxide). Greenhouse gases contribute to 

climate change and are the reason why this additional objective is included since it 

considers the wider environmental impact of items that we use in our daily lives and 

recognises that impacts on the environment do not begin when things are thrown away.  

To deliver this objective we will be actively exploring opportunities to reduce the CO2e 

(Carbon dioxide equivalent, which includes all greenhouse gases) footprint of waste 

management solutions and services wherever feasible and practicable (reduce the 

impact of our collection vehicles on the environment). The changes to the route and 

rotas introduced in late 2019 had a significant positive impact on our carbon levels for 

our fleet of diesel vehicles. As technology is rapidly developing in the field of waste 

management, we will be actively exploring opportunities to see if electric vehicles, 

electric bin lifts, compressed gas-powered vehicles and hydrogen powered vehicles 

could be feasibly used in our service. 

In addressing our energy requirements at the environmental hub the roofs of the transfer 

station sheds have had solar panels installed, these meet over 20% of our energy 

consumption. We will look to utilise other buildings on the environmental hub to increase 

our solar panel capacity. We will also seek to include innovative thinking concerning the 

generation and use of hydrogen within our fleet. 

 

4.2 Waste Reduction and Re-Use 

Key performance indicator Baseline 
Frequency 
of reporting 

To increase the tonnage of materials re-used by 1% per 
year 

977 tonnes 
(2012/13) 

Quarterly 

Page 319



 

OFFICIAL 

29 

4.2.1 To make waste prevention, reduction and reuse a priority over 
recycling and disposal, promoting sustainability and reducing costs. 

Not producing waste in the first place is by far the best environmental and economic 

solution to tackling waste.  Investing in this (through promotion campaigns, encouraging 

the composting of organic waste at home, supporting re-use activities) saves money and 

has positive environmental and social benefits. The response by the focus groups to this 

objective was equally strong. All attendees spoke of the challenge to take personal 

responsibility to prevent and reduce when the prevailing culture is to mass produce and 

then throw away. The consultation respondents were strongly in support of this theme, 

with 96% agreeing or strongly agreeing that waste reduction and re-use is important. 

Energy and resources are used when making the materials that we commonly throw 

away (packaging, food and drinks cans, plastic containers etc.). Simply discarding these 

materials creates a loss both of the materials and of the energy embodied in them. It is 

far better to think of such materials as resources to be managed. In future, we must 

prevent waste from being generated. Where we cannot prevent, we must reduce, repair, 

re-use, recycle and compost more. Any waste that cannot be reused, recycled or 

composted should be treated to recover any potential value, such as energy (see waste 

hierarchy diagram Figure 10 p29). We must think of waste as a resource from which as 

much value as possible should be recovered.  

In developing this waste management strategy for Cheshire East and the objectives set 

out within, Cheshire East Council has carefully considered its obligation to promote the 

waste hierarchy.  Furthermore, it has done so in a way that promotes sustainability and 

the use of waste as a resource for the benefit of the residents. Reducing waste means 

that less money is spent on collecting, recycling and composting and disposing of waste. 

 Figure 10 The Waste Hierarchy 

 

 

Prevention  

(Avoidance) 

Minimisation 

(Reduction, Re-use) 

Preparing for Re-use 

(repair, refurbishment, 
remanufacture, remarketing & 

redeployment) 

Recycling & 
Composting 

Energy 
Recovery 

Disposal 

Page 320



 

OFFICIAL 

30 

The Government Review of Waste Policy in England 2011 describes each of the stages 

of the waste hierarchy: 

 Prevention Using less material in design and manufacture; 

 Minimisation Keeping products for longer, re-use, using less 

hazardous materials; 

 Preparing for re-use Checking, cleaning, repairing, refurbishing, repair, 

whole items or spare parts; 

 Recycling Turning waste into a new substance or product.  

Includes composting if it meets quality protocols; 

 Energy Recovery Energy is recovered from waste through a variety 

of methods such as thermal treatment and 

digestion; and 

 Disposal Landfill and incineration without energy recovery. 

Cheshire East Council has and will continue to promote a wide range of waste education 

and awareness initiatives, prevention measures and re-use activities.  In particular, the 

Council seeks to work closely with local third sector organisations to promote the reuse 

of bulky waste for the benefit of the local community.  Key activities also include:  

Promotional Activity 

 Residents Leaflet – reinforcing recycling and reducing contamination in Silver 
Recycling bin (180,000 homes); 

 Radio adverts – reducing food waste; 

 Agripa advertising panels on the sides of refuse collection vehicles; 

 Social media campaigns; 

 Hospital screens – Real Nappies and Love Food Hate Waste campaign; and  

 Community re-use groups.  

Home Composting Campaigns 

 Compost Awareness Week – Waste Reduction Volunteers, stands at several 
Garden Centres.  

Waste Minimisation Activity 

 Large County shows, Cheshire Show, Nantwich Show (Love Food Hate 
Waste main emphasis, cooking with visitors to the stand and also Home 
Composting); 

 Community shows, Barnaby, Parklive, Crewe Play Day (Love Food Hate 
Waste, cooking with visitors to the stand); 

Page 321



 

OFFICIAL 

31 

 Waste Reduction Volunteers – promote Love Food Hate Waste and Home 
Composting; 

 Textile recycling – posters to schools, Town and Parish Councils; 

 Real Nappies - Just So Festival, advert in Families and Cheshire Mums 
magazines, Trial Pack and cash back scheme; 

 Junior Recycling Officers and Year 7 challenge.  

 

4.2.2 Work to reduce the amount of household waste produced per person 
and per household in Cheshire East.  

Good management of waste - preventing or minimising the amount of waste generated 

and maximising the repair, re-use and recycling of waste materials, are some of the 

most immediate things that we can do as individuals to contribute to a reduction in the 

amount of waste we produce and thus our carbon emissions (see waste hierarchy 

diagram Figure 10 p29). Waste is both a global and local issue and our communities 

need to become more responsible about the waste we generate. We all have a part to 

play - as individuals, employers or employees, consumers and as parents.  

One of the challenges that the authority faces is that Cheshire East is a good place to 

live and that levels of income are higher than the national average and this is reflected in 

the higher levels of waste produced per household and subsequently the levels of 

carbon that are released into the atmosphere. Whilst there is the Council’s responsibility 

to seek to reduce its carbon levels this also applies to householders.  

We will work through education, communication, engagement and our service design to 

encourage residents to reduce the amount of waste they produce.  Reducing the amount 

of waste produced in Cheshire East reduces its burden on Council budgets and the tax 

payer as well as having those broader benefits of reducing our carbon impact.  At the 

most local level – at home – reducing what is put in the bin (perhaps by making 

decisions in the supermarket not to accept over-packaging or using food waste to make 

compost) all contributes to the objective of reducing the amount of waste produced 

across Cheshire East whilst reinforcing the Waste and Resources Action Programme’s 

message of Refuse, Reduce, Reuse, Recycle. 

    

  

Page 322

https://partners.wrap.org.uk/collections/259/
https://partners.wrap.org.uk/collections/239/
https://partners.wrap.org.uk/collections/179/
https://partners.wrap.org.uk/collections/167/


 

OFFICIAL 

32 

FOOD WASTE CAMPAIGN a case study 

40% of residual waste in our black bin is food waste. In order to address this high 

figure, Cheshire East has been working hard to encourage residents to waste 

less food by encouraging them to buy less, use leftovers, freeze when possible 

and finally to recycle food waste from January 2020. 

Typical examples of the food waste included; unopened food and as food that 
could have been reused. Our campaigns have aimed to address these issues 
head on, indicating to residents that by wasting less food they could potentially 
save themselves around £70 per month (updated from £60 in 2019). With 
approximately 180,000 households in the borough, the volume of food waste is 
considerable. 

The timing of these campaigns could not have been more relevant, as they 
aligned with national food waste reduction campaigns, such as Hugh Fearnley-
Whittingstall’s “Hugh’s War on Waste” and the headline-grabbing ‘wonky veg’ 
debate. 

Community engagement plays a large role in our food waste campaigns. Food 
waste ‘pledge’ cards were produced for engagement events that our teams 
attend throughout the year to inform and educate the public. The resident is 
encouraged to sign a ‘pledge’ to change habits in their household to reduce food 
waste. They are supported via our own social media campaign such as 
#CEFoodPledge #LifeWithLessFoodWaste. 

 

Each year we reach on average 7,000 schoolchildren and approx. 8,000 adults 
during our engagement events. 

Page 323



 

OFFICIAL 

33 

A common theme of our food waste dialogue is clearing confusion over sell-by, 
use-by and best before dates on packaging. It seems that there is still uncertainty 
around these areas which have a direct impact on the volume of food waste 
collected.  

 

Face to face engagement seems to be the best channel at the moment as 
residents often have questions that they cannot find direct answers to. The 
success in our engagement figures and good attendance at events is down to 
engaging with the community with simple but powerful messages. Our Waste 
Reduction Volunteer programme is instrumental in supporting these campaigns 
as the volunteers work tirelessly, attending local events to spread their 
knowledge of recycling, composting and food waste.  

 

Page 324



 

OFFICIAL 

34 

4.2.3 Work to increase waste re-use activity amongst residents in 
partnership with the charitable and furniture reuse sector. 

The Council provides a collection service for bulky waste such as items of furniture 

through a partnership with a third sector partner.  In many cases these items can be re-

used either almost immediately or after some repair and refurbishment.  This provides 

many opportunities to use the waste to the benefit of less advantaged members of our 

community. 

We already, and will continue to do so, work with the voluntary sector to collect and re-

distribute our re-usable bulky waste.  This provides employment and training in 

collection, repair and refurbishment.  It also builds a 

stock of furniture that can help furnish the properties of 

struggling families. Focus group attendees were in 

strong support of this objective and encouraged the 

Council to keep this as a priority. We will continue this 

work and seek to build on it in partnership with the 

voluntary sector to increase waste re-use. 

Planned site improvements to our household waste 

recycling centres will see a re-use shop set up at the 

Macclesfield site. This will be a new venture for the 

Council and will see materials that are brought to the site 

carefully assessed and then made available through the 

re-use shop. Where funds allow we will seek to increase 

the number of re-use shops on our sites. 

4.3 Recycling 

Key performance indicator Baseline 
Frequency 
of reporting 

Maintain the percentage of household waste sent for 
recycling, reuse and composting above the national target 
for 2020 of 50% 

53% (2013/14) Quarterly 

4.3.1 To exceed national targets for recycling (currently 65% by 2035). 
NEW in 2020 

Cheshire East already recycles and composts over 50% of its household waste and is 

one of the best performing councils in North West England but to reflect the urgency of 

the impact of our waste use on climate change the Government has drafted an 

Environment Bill that sets a new target of recycling 65% by 2035. 

Recycling uses fewer natural resources from the earth and less energy to produce the 

same new product. Recycling can also help to reduce greenhouse gases being released 

and waste being produced. The extraction of raw materials from the earth, material 

processing, manufacturing and transport are all stages in the process that use energy 

and emit greenhouse gases. Over the life of a product one tonne of material may 

Page 325



 

OFFICIAL 

35 

represent several tonnes of greenhouse gases. This happens even before it becomes 

waste which is why we have agreed to this challenging new recycling target. 

Our plans in the 2014 strategy, to aim to landfill as little waste as possible and treat it 

through other methods and then expand the range of materials for recycling collected at 

the kerbside, has maintained our performance but we want to go further.  The 

introduction of food waste collections within the garden bin (early 2020), enables 

residents to recycle all their waste food, thus enabling us to increase our recycling rates. 

We are seeking innovative methods to recycle other waste streams.  For example, we 

have let contracts to recycle street sweepings - this can be costly to dispose of and 

recycling creates a material that is beneficial to other industries e.g. for land restoration 

and aggregate. 

We will: 

 Continue to provide comprehensive kerbside services enabling residents to 
maximise recycling; 

 Maintain the role of household waste recycling centres in collecting bulkier 
wastes and maximising the recycling and re-use of these; 

 Seek innovation in recycling waste streams we have not recycled previously; 
and  

 Promote the use of services and advise residents on how to make the most of 
them. 

It must be noted that potential changes to the waste industry, proposed by central 

Government, may have an impact on our recycling levels with the introduction of 

measures such as a Deposit Return Scheme for drinks containers (cans and bottles). 

Such an innovation will see a reduction in throughput of these items within the kerbside 

service but, as mentioned previously, should incentivise consumers to dispose of these 

items responsibly. The potential impacts of the government proposals are discussed in 

Chapter 3. Policy and Legislative Context (p14). 

In seeking innovation in recycling waste streams we have not recycled previously, the 

authority, in line with its new Environment Strategy, will be making greater use of 

recycling away from the home. The placement of separate residual and recycling bins 

within areas of heavy footfall and in selected parks will see further opportunity for 

residents and visitors to do the right thing and to increase our recycling levels. The 

‘recycling on the go’ bins will be gradually introduced from 2020 and become a familiar 

feature in the local environment. 

We are seeking to take an evidence based approach to ensure we have the right 

number of bins in the correct locations, balancing the need to encourage the public to 

take responsibility in taking litter home, while providing, where needed, bins to allow the 

disposal of dog mess and litter at strategic locations.   

Page 326



 

OFFICIAL 

36 

4.3.2 To provide all households with a simple, easy to use, kerbside 
recycling collection service for glass, metals, plastics, paper and 
cardboard and work to increase the types of recyclable materials 
collected. 

To reach and exceed 65% recycling and composting we must have a collection system 

that is easy to use and understand.  We provide a straightforward three bin collection 

system – the silver bin for mixed recycling (including paper, cardboard, cans, glass, 

plastics etc.); green bin for compostable food and garden waste and the black bin for the 

waste that cannot be put into the silver or green bins.  

If service changes are mandated by any changes 

in law or more favourable environmental and 

economic conditions, we will ensure the service is 

always simple and easy to use. The benefits of 

the current system were acknowledged by the 

respondents to our consultation and the focus 

group attendees who expressed a concern that 

more recycling did not mean more bins/boxes/bags. When asked whether we should 

change our scheme to use a number of boxes instead, 77% of respondents disagreed or 

strongly disagreed with this idea, with 11% agreeing or strongly agreeing. This is the 

reason that we have delivered a food waste recycling service that does not involve an 

additional kerbside bin but simply requires food waste to be put in the garden bin. 

We know from analysing what is left in the black wheelie bin (p10) that there is still 

waste left to recycle.  To capture this lost material will require a concerted effort on our 

part and residents if we are to reduce the costs and impacts of our waste further and 

increase our recycling levels. The recently introduced food waste collection service will 

enable us to begin to drive down the amount of food in the black bin that currently 

makes up 38%, by weight, of the bin. 

We need to note again that with potential Government changes to collection 

methodology our service may be compelled to change. Further discussion of these 

implications was discussed in Chapter 3. 

4.3.3 To maximise public participation in recycling schemes through waste 
education and communication with residents 

Cheshire East Council will continue to engage with residents 

through waste education to ensure that the recycling schemes are 

used to their full potential and that contamination levels are 

reduced. We have considered this to be a key area of our work and 

this will remain the case with resources released to engage with 

residents in as many ways as possible. We are aware that, whilst 

education and communication are our preferred method of engaging with residents, 

there are times when enforcement is required to ensure compliance with our collection 

scheme. This is another aspect of maximising participation and would enable us to 

change behaviour where residents chose to ignore our communications. 

Page 327



 

OFFICIAL 

37 

Communications in this digital age continues to develop rapidly and the communications 

team will ensure that they are aware of the latest developments. The team have 

developed a Waste Watchers app as a tool for residents and as an important means of 

bringing all the waste services into a single, easy to use portal. We anticipate that in the 

next five years such tools as these will evolve and our engagement even more targeted. 

This is especially pertinent following our waste composition work that has again 

highlighted the differences in recycling behaviour between different types of resident 

(see 2.5 Waste composition, p9)  

 

4.3.4 To manage organic waste by promoting home composting solutions 
and food waste recycling. NEW IN 2020 

In 2014, when we launched our waste strategy, early discussions were occurring to see 

how we could best introduce a food waste collection within the existing service. 

Previously the organic waste that we were managing consisted of garden waste that 

was taken to on-farm composting sites within the borough and then the compost was 

used to help improve soil fertility on the farms.  Gardeners know the benefits of making 

their own compost - it reduces their own costs recycling important nutrients rather than 

applying chemicals.  The same principles apply to the Council.  

We will continue to encourage the composting of organics (both garden and food waste) 

at home but our service has now been expanded to enable food waste to be included in 

the garden bin. This innovation has been enabled through the Council engaging with a 

contractor who has designed, built and is operating an in-vessel composting plant in 

Crewe. The ability to carefully manage the organic mixture, within enclosed tunnels, 

means all the pathogens are eliminated so that we can produce good quality compost 

for local farmers.  

We already operate our Waste Reduction 

Programme whose volunteers promote home 

composting and the Love Food Hate Waste 

programme at local community events and 

Page 328



 

OFFICIAL 

38 

therefore believe the introduction of our new service will enhance their efforts. 

The initial roll out of the food waste recycling involved caddies being distributed to 

residents who currently have a garden bin. The caddy is provided as an easy means of 

moving food waste from the kitchen to the garden bin and was distributed with a one-off 

roll of liners. The liners are readily available from any supermarket but do not form an 

essential part of the food recycling process since the caddy can be used without them. 

We anticipate that the food recycling scheme will divert thousands of tonnes of food out 

of the black bin and enable it to be successfully composted.  

The food collection scheme is aimed at existing garden bin users for a number of 

reasons, the main ones being cost and ease of use. Our current three bin scheme is 

popular with residents and is seen as an important element in achieving a higher rate of 

recycling. Collection from the garden bins is accommodated within 

the normal collection rounds and usual collection vehicles and 

therefore there is no additional financial outlay. As food waste 

recycling becomes a routine part of residents’ lives, we will be 

exploring options to extend the scheme to non-garden bin users.   

It needs to be noted that central government has a preference for 

food waste to be collected separately and weekly, counter to our 

current system, and therefore the authority will be prepared to 

make these changes if and when they are required. See chapter 3 

Resources and Waste Strategy, 2018. 

4.4 Residual Waste Management 

Key performance indicator Baseline 
Frequency 
of reporting 

Reduce the percentage of waste going to landfill to 0% by 
2030 (expressed as a percentage of total waste and 
recycling)   

38.5% (2013/14) Quarterly 

To increase the use of waste for energy generation 
(expressed as a percentage of total waste and recycling) 

5.85% (2013/14) Quarterly 

4.4.1 Ensure that residual waste is managed to support waste prevention 
reuse and recycling, minimising waste produced. 

Cheshire East’s priority is to maximise waste recycling, composting and reuse - this is 

environmentally, socially and economically more responsible than treating and disposing 

of non-recyclable waste through landfill and energy from waste. Not only were the 

majority of survey respondents in agreement with this objective, so were the focus group 

attendees.  

The Council’s new objective, drawn from the Government’s Environment Bill, is to 

exceed 65% recycling.  To achieve this, we need to have the freedom and flexibility to 

increase performance and therefore cannot be tied to overly long restrictive contracts for 

waste treatment and disposal. We will design contracts to be as flexible as possible so 

Page 329



 

OFFICIAL 

39 

that we can decrease the quantities of waste we have treated and disposed through 

minimisation, recycling and composting without being penalised. 

4.4.2 To utilise waste that cannot be reused or recycled as a resource for 
energy generation REVISED IN 2020 

Our 2014 objective anticipated that there may be opportunities for the Council’s residual 

waste to be managed through energy from waste facilities within the borough and 

therefore be able to offer the energy to residents; this has not been the case. Through 

the creation of the Environmental Hub in Middlewich we have enabled contracts to 

manage the majority of our non-recyclable waste through an energy from waste facility 

outside the borough. 

The Runcorn plant that receives our waste creates energy and heat from the process 

with the heat being utilised in a nearby chemical works. The end product of the energy 

from waste plant is a bottom ash that is recycled as an aggregate, along with any scrap 

metals that are left.   

4.4.3 To aim to reduce disposal to landfill to 0 and achieve 100% disposal 
to waste to energy generation. 

Landfilling waste is the least preferable option in the waste hierarchy.  It does not 

maximise the value inherent in the waste and the methane generated by the 

decomposition of the organic fraction contributes to climate change. Through the Waste 

Strategy 2030 we will aim to eliminate the landfilling of waste as an option as we 

minimise, re-use, recycle and compost what we can and make fuel from the rest. 

Although Cheshire East Council will use landfill as the last option for the management of 

municipal waste, it is acknowledged that there may be some limited requirement in 

future for the following reasons: a) Not all waste can be economically recycled; b) Not all 

waste is suitable for recovery; c) Waste treatment facilities may produce some residues 

that need to be disposed of; and d) There will be a need for disposal capacity should 

facilities be closed for maintenance. 

Our summary chart on page 3 shows the success of our strategy to drastically reduce 

the amounts of waste we landfill. We are now sending less than 5% of all our non-

recyclable waste to landfill and this is testament to the efforts of the Council in building a 

new site for waste management operations that gave freedom to engage in contracts 

that enabled the waste to be transported outside the borough to an energy from waste 

plant. 

4.5 Working Together. 

Key performance indicator Baseline 
Frequency 
of reporting 

To maintain and enhance the number of volunteers in - 
waste prevention, parks friends’ schemes and clean 
teams. 

25 (2013/14) Quarterly 

Page 330



 

OFFICIAL 

40 

4.5.1 To work in partnership with the commercial and charitable sectors 
such as the waste industry, supermarkets and housing trusts to 
promote waste reduction, re-use and recycling.  

Cheshire East is not the only body responsible for waste generated in the borough.  The 

commercial and industrial sectors generate significantly more waste than households.  

The Government’s Resource and Waste Management Strategy acknowledges this and 

identifies ‘household like’ waste as a potential source of increasing recycling 

performance across England.  We can help them manage this waste sustainably by 

offering recycling services to commercial customers or working with them to find outlets 

for waste and providing advice. Through business networks the Council will promote 

better waste management standards identifying opportunities to increase re-use and 

recycling. 

The opportunity that is provided through the authority having created Ansa is that they 

can now deliver services to businesses across the borough. This enables a cost-

effective service to be offered and the encouragement to recycle more materials. We 

expect this partnership working to grow over the next 5 years. 

The issue of plastic within the environment has been highlighted in recent years and the 

authority has been quick to pick this up and engage with residents (see case study p42). 

As the waste charity Waste Resource Action Partnership (WRAP) notes on its website - 

plastics are used in all sorts of positive ways like protecting the food we buy and 

preventing it from becoming waste before it reaches our kitchens and fridges. However, 

for all the positive applications and uses of plastic there are many that are problematic or 

unnecessary, exacerbating the issue of plastic waste in the natural environment. 

In addition to our targeted efforts with residents, we do recognise that we cannot 

influence the producers and re-processors of these different plastics alone and will 

therefore signpost parties to collaborative initiatives such as The UK Plastics Pact 

which is seeking to create a circular economy for plastics. It brings together businesses 

from across the entire plastics value chain with UK governments and non-government 

organisations to tackle plastic waste. In addition to this, Extended Producer 

Responsibility and the Government’s proposed Plastic Tax should work to encourage 

producers to manufacture products which are both easier to recycle and contain 

recycled content.  It is not yet known what the impact will be on local authority services. 

4.5.2 To continue to build and utilise a waste prevention volunteer network 
to promote waste education and awareness across Cheshire East. 

We have a large team of Waste Reduction Volunteers, (over 25) who are a key link 

between the Council and the community who promote sustainability messages and 

provide advice. Great efforts have been made to maintain this valuable group of 

enthusiasts and we see this as an important aspect of our strategy. Through this we will 

help reduce the costs and environmental and social impacts of waste. 

We aim to encourage community action through innovative volunteer-based schemes 

engaging key partners and working with national initiatives. We are assisting 

Page 331

http://www.wrap.org.uk/content/the-uk-plastics-pact


 

OFFICIAL 

41 

communities by providing educational material such as our Life with Less Plastic 

campaign and in engaging with national initiatives such as The Big Spring Clean. We will 

continue to support and equip local Clean Teams who come together as volunteers to 

organise litter picks and clean their local areas. For further information on the volunteer 

scheme please visit the Council’s website waste-reduction-volunteers  

4.5.3 To work with schools and higher education establishments in 
Cheshire East to promote waste prevention to the next generation. 

We will continue to work with children and young people through Cheshire East’s 

primary, secondary and special schools to promote waste prevention, reuse and 

recycling. Our current schemes tie into the national curriculum and we provide resources 

for students and teachers.  We presently run our Junior Recycling Officer Scheme in 

primary schools and recycling challenge green team change projects in secondary 

schools.  

We invite all Cheshire East schools to join the Junior Recycling Officers scheme and the 

Secondary Recycling Challenge. Schools can nominate up to 4 pupils from Years 4 to 6 

(ideally Year 5) each year to become Junior Recycling Officers and to take forward the 

message ‘Reduce, Reuse, Recycle’ to school, friends and family. They get a starter 

pack full of information and recycled stationery from the Waste Education Officer visiting 

their school. 

The Waste Education Officer can lead assemblies and run recycling workshops. Pupils 

are encouraged to present assemblies, run competitions and set up recycling schemes 

and collections. Supporting material linked to current recycling campaigns is provided 

throughout the year, via newsletters, posters and ideas for competitions. For example, 

recycled robots, creating recipes from leftover food and poster designs promoting 

recycling. 

4.5.4 Provide waste management services that comply with legislative 
standards for environmental protection. 

Cheshire East Council is ambitious and through its company Ansa, strives to find 

innovative service delivery solutions.  This does not mean we will take risks so we will 

deliver this Strategy using technologies and methods that meet environmental and legal 

standards. Managing waste in a manner which protects human health and the 

environment, minimising:  risk to water, air, soil, flora and fauna; nuisance; adverse 

effects on the countryside or places of special landscape, townscape, archaeological 

and historic interest. 

Page 332

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/waste_and_recycling/reducing-household-waste/waste-reduction-volunteers.aspx


 

OFFICIAL 

42 

 

 

LIFE WITH LESS PLASTIC a case study 

In this chapter, on the high level objectives, we have explained each one as a separate 

item however this is not the case when applying our strategy. This case study shows 

how the many aspects of the strategy come together to deliver a better environment.   

During the Spring of 2018, local community groups had been moved by television and 

media depictions of the impact that plastic waste is having on our marine life. In order to 

address the demand for advice and guidance, we needed a well structured, simple 

campaign to empower communities and schools to take control of their own 

consumption and alter current behaviours. 

We had to clearly define 

‘single use plastic’, to curb 

the hysteria, as we were 

receiving messages on 

social media such as ‘what 

are you doing about the 

environmental impact of 

plastics?’ ‘We need to stop 

using plastic now’ ‘you need 

to fine restaurants for using 

plastic straws’ etc. The 

expectation of the public was 

that councils should monitor 

and police eateries and take 

action on use of straws. 

We didn’t want to ban plastic altogether and we knew we had to lead by example. 

Cheshire East Council committed to eliminating single use plastics where possible and 

immediately stopped using plastic cups in their buildings. 

In order to encourage sensible, manageable behaviour change, the campaign ‘Life with 

Less Plastic’ was launched. 

We spent a lot of time formulating a ‘community toolkit’ that could be downloaded from 

the website so that people could instantly take action - life-with-less-plastic . We spent 

weeks gathering the necessary facts to ‘shock’ people into understanding what the dire 

Page 333

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiJg8rFy8baAhWJuxQKHThbAXYQjRx6BAgAEAU&url=http://www.urbanmeisters.com/green-living-how-to-have-a-plastic-free-lifestyle/&psig=AOvVaw30J4ZW7wvVoSBknicKBz9Q&ust=1524235896650735
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/waste_and_recycling/reducing-household-waste/life-with-less-plastic.aspx


 

OFFICIAL 

43 

impact could be. We worked very closely with our Waste Reduction Volunteers and used 

internet findings to drive discussion. 

The aims of the campaign were:  

 Satisfy local demand for information.  

 Equip communities with knowledge to take ownership of the issues locally. 

 Reinforce our Reduce, Reuse, Recycle message. 

 Educate residents on the startling facts around single use plastics. 

 Provide alternatives to single use plastics. 

 Encourage residents to sign up to our ‘Life with Less Plastic’ pledge where 
they pledge to change at least one thing. 

 Recruit more Waste Reduction Volunteers to help deliver our key messages. 

The planned outcomes were met with more success than we initially anticipated. The 

public appetite to effect change was unprecedented. Demand for community talks tripled 

over night. We struggled to fit in all the school requests for assemblies and now have a 

waiting list. Since the campaign was launched in September 2018 we have engaged 

with around 50 schools (around 6,000 pupils), attended some 35 events (around 5,000 

people) and reached tens of thousands of residents via the website and social media. 

Schools in particular were very keen to support us with ‘life with less plastic’. The 

children have really embraced the concept as collectively they are very upset at the 

damage being done to marine life. 

One town in particular has formed a plastics action group where they aim to eliminate 

the use of single use plastics completely in homes, pubs and restaurants. Our 

community toolkit has been 

invaluable in helping them to present 

startling facts in an authoritative 

manner. ‘Plastic Free Wilmslow’ has 

been formed to move the initiative 

forward with the goal of being 

accredited as a ‘Plastic Free Town’. 

 

Page 334



 

OFFICIAL 

44 

5. Key Strategic Actions 

Our strategy establishes key aims and objectives for the future management of municipal 

waste within Cheshire East and has identified important actions that will be undertaken to 

deliver these aims and objectives. These actions will be targeted to improve the sustainability 

of waste management practices, make increased use of waste as a resource and ensure 

legislative compliance moving forward. The important elements that we will deliver in the next 

five years are: 

 The Council has responded to all the Government’s consultations to date and will 
continue to make strong representation concerning waste matters. We will respond 
to any of the Government’s proposed changes when they are required and be active 
participants in this process – the key areas involved include the potential collection 
of recycling materials separately, a change in the frequency of collections, the 
addition of materials to the kerbside collection service; 

 To alert Councillors and residents to the possible impact of the proposed 
Government changes to the Council’s current collection regime and its implications; 

 Review the Council’s assessment of the kerbside recycling scheme in line with 
Waste Resource Action Partnership (WRAP) published guidance on whether the 
current scheme is Technically, Environmentally, Economically and Practically 
suitable (TEEP); 

 Review the progress of the food waste recycling scheme to explore the option of 
extending the service to residents who are currently not part of the service; 

 Fully embrace review the potential contribution of the service to the Council’s goal to 
be carbon neutral by 2025; 

 Continue to ensure the household waste recycling centre services remains fit for 
purpose and follows industry best practice. The current contract comes to an end 
within 3 years and therefore the Council will review the future service provision 
through Ansa Environmental Services Ltd, the Council’s wholly owned company.; 

 Address through concerted communications and partnership working the high levels 
of waste per household that are produced, recognising that to encourage full 
participation there is a need to have the capacity to enforce where there is 
mismanagement of waste;  

 That the importance of re-using items continues to be emphasised at our household 
waste recycling centres and through the kerbside collection of bulky items via our 
third sector partners; 

 Commence replacement of existing litter bins with a combination of recycling and 
litter bins in targeted areas; 

 That this strategy be reviewed every 5 years.  

 

Page 335



This page is intentionally left blank



 

OFFICIAL 

 

                                                                                         
Cabinet 

Date of Meeting:  10 March 2020 

Report Title:  Re-procurement of Low Value Construction Services Framework 

2021-2025  

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Nick Mannion – Environment and Regeneration 

Senior Officer:  Frank Jordan – Executive Director Place 

 
1. Report Summary 

1.1. The current framework for undertaking low value construction projects 

(projects less than £800k) expires on 22nd January 2021. This report reviews 

the available options for undertaking low value construction projects beyond 

this date with a recommendation to procure a replacement framework. 

1.2. This paper requests that the Council establishes a new framework and seeks 

delegated authority to award contracts to the Executive Director of Place. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1. That Cabinet :- 

2.1.1. Agrees to the establishment of a Framework Agreement to 

commission low value construction services for a total value of works 

of £16.5million over four years. 

2.1.2. Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Place in consultation 

with the Portfolio Holder for Environment and Regeneration to award 

contracts to providers meeting the requirements of the Framework. 

 

 

 

Key Decision Y 
 
Date First 

Published: 7/1/20 

Page 337 Agenda Item 11



 

OFFICIAL 

3. Reasons for Recommendations 

3.1. It is essential that a mechanism is in place so that the Council can continue to 

commission contractors to assist in effectively delivering its construction 

projects. 

3.2. This procurement exercise will be subject to Public Contract Regulations 

2015 requiring a contract notice to be published in the OJEU (Official Journal 

of the European Union). The programme for the procurement requires an 

OJEU Notice to be placed in March 2020 to achieve a completed framework 

procurement by 22nd January 2021. A copy of the procurement timetable is 

included in Appendix 1. 

3.3. Legal Services and Procurement will be engaged to provide advice on the 

procurement process and contract documentation. 

4. Other Options Considered 

4.1. An analysis of options has been undertaken (Appendix 2) and the available 

options are listed below. The recommendation is to deliver Option 3 i.e. a 

replacement framework: 

4.1.1. Option 1 – In-house provision, including substantial insourcing 

4.1.2. Option 2 – Tender each project 

4.1.3. Option 3 – Procurement of a Cheshire East Council framework 

4.1.4. Option 4 – External frameworks e.g CIF, DfE, LHC, Pagabo etc. 

4.1.5. Option 5 – Single service provider 

4.1.6. Option 6 – Programme of work through a higher value framework 

4.2. The main benefits of Option 3, a replacement framework, are: 

4.2.1. Tailored to suit the Council’s particular requirements, values, policies, 
climate change agenda and Government best practice etc. 

4.2.2. Tailored to suit the requirements of the Council’s Alternative Service 
Delivery Vehicles 

4.2.3. Ability to benchmark performance, develop ongoing relationships, 
build specific loyalty to the Council within a clear mechanism for 
continuous improvement 

4.2.4. Prompt methodology for appointment of contractors through mini 
competition process 

4.2.5. Maintains competition amongst framework contractors 

Page 338



 

OFFICIAL 

4.2.6. Allows the ability to directly appoint in certain circumstances speeding 
up the procurement process. Direct Appointments will be made to the 
contractor who ranked number one in the Framework Tender process. 

4.2.7. Of interest to regional companies 

4.3. In addition to the above benefits, the establishment of a replacement 

framework will be the most cost effective solution, compared to the other 

options available. 

5. Background 

5.1. Current arrangements for the delivery of low value capital construction 

projects are generally undertaken via the Council’s own Framework 

Agreement. This Agreement expires on 22nd January 2021 and cannot be 

extended within Public Contract Regulations 2015. 

5.2. The current framework is expected to have delivered construction works to a 

value of £8million by the time it expires. A review of likely capital spend has 

been undertaken and taking into account an increased limit of individual 

projects up to £1million, and inflation, the new framework will be for 

£16.5million over the life of the four year framework (including an extension 

option). 

6. Implications of the Recommendations 

6.1. Legal Implications 

6.1.1. The Regulations allow local authorities to enter into Framework 

Agreements with a number of service providers, following a competitive 

tendering process, and thereafter select from those service providers, as 

and when required, for a maximum period of four years. The Council can 

call off contracts under the Framework Agreement by holding a mini-

competition between the providers appointed to the framework.   In 

certain circumstances, the Council can appoint a provider directly (via a 

ranking system) based on the award mechanism established in the 

original tender process. Where an appointment is by direct award the 

award, and reasons for doing so, will be published and shared with all 

contractors on the framework. 

6.1.2. Officers will ensure that call-off contracts continue to contain provisions 

which enable continuing value for money to be tested and to contain 

provisions such that the contract can be terminated in the event that 

either the service cannot be provided on terms which remain acceptable 

to the Council. The Framework Agreement will not contain a guarantee of 

Page 339



 

OFFICIAL 

a certain volume of required services to the appointed providers and can 

be utilised in conjunction with other options. 

6.1.3. Officers will ensure that the Council’s duties, under the Public Services 

Social Value Act and the Modern Slavery Act as it applies to framework 

agreements, are fulfilled.  

6.2. Finance Implications 

6.2.1. The recommendations within this report support the delivery of property 

projects and ensure that the contractors selected for the Framework 

Agreement satisfy the requirements of the Council’s Financial Rules and 

comply with EU requirements. 

6.2.2. The proposed OJEU procurement process will be undertaken by 

Officers and will incur no external costs. The “opportunity cost” of 

undertaking this work in officer time has been estimated at £40,000 - 

£50,000 and will be met from existing revenue budgets. 

6.2.3. Value for money will be assured by taking into account tendered rates 

and percentages. The Council will also undertake further mini-

competitions for the majority of projects. 

6.2.4. Although the OJEU limit of £16.5million will need to be stated on the 

OJEU notice the framework itself does not have a contractual cost 

attached to it. The framework does not guarantee any work and any 

projects that do call off from the framework will require individual 

business cases and their own approved budgets. 

6.3. Policy Implications 

6.3.1. The recommendations in this report support the delivery of the 

council’s priorities by ensuring that key compliant mechanisms are in 

place to enable the controlled delivery of low value construction projects. 

6.4. Equality Implications 

6.4.1. There are no equality implications. 

6.5. Human Resources Implications 

6.5.1. There are no Human Resources implications. 

6.6. Risk Management Implications 

6.6.1. A failure to establish a Framework Agreement for low value 

construction services through which these services can be purchased will 

Page 340



 

OFFICIAL 

mean that alternative external frameworks will have to be used or each 

project will need to be tendered individually. 

6.7. Rural Communities Implications 

6.7.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities. 

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children  

6.8.1. There are no direct implications for children and young people. 

6.9. Public Health Implications 

6.9.1. There are no direct implications for public health. 

6.10. Climate Change Implications 

6.10.1. In line with the Council’s policies, and construction good practice, 

Officers will ensure that the implications of Climate Change form part of 

framework procurement process. Framework agreements will also be 

drafted to ensure climate change policies are considered when individual 

projects are commissioned. 

7. Ward Members Affected 

7.1. Although the Framework Agreement covers the whole of Cheshire East 

Wards will only be affected by call off contracts under the framework and 

Ward Members will be consulted on a project by project basis. 

8. Access to Information 

8.1. Appendix 1 – Procurement timetable 

9. Contact Information 

9.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following officer: 

Name: Andy Kehoe 

Job Title: Head of Estates 

Email: andy.kehoe@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 

Page 341



This page is intentionally left blank



 

OFFICIAL 

 

APPENDIX 1 – Procurement timetable 

 

Activity Date 

SMT Approval Monday 6th January 2020 

CLT Approval Wednesday 5th February 2020 

Pre-agenda Briefing Tuesday 18th February 2020 

Cabinet Approval Tuesday 10th March 2020 

Publish OJEU notice Monday 16th March 2020 

Upload Selection Questionnaire/ITT documents Tuesday 17th March 2020 

Selection Questionnaire submissions by Wednesday 29th April 2020 

Evaluation and SQ feedback completed by Friday 7th August 2020 

Request ITT submissions Monday 24th August 2020 

ITT submissions by Monday 12th October 2020 

ITT evaluation and feedback completed by Tuesday 15th December 2020 

Issue final award letters Monday 4th January 2021 

Framework Agreements executed by Monday 25th January 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 343



This page is intentionally left blank



 

OFFICIAL 
1 

 
APPENDIX 2 – Option Analysis 

Option Advantages Disadvantages 

1 – In-house 
provision, 
including 
substantial 
insourcing 

 Direct control over resources and 
priorities. 

 Familiarity and greater 
understanding of CEC processes, 
values and ways of working. 

 Same teams working together, 
sharing lessons learned into 
future projects. 

 Inflexible resource levels with costs 
incurred even when workload 
reduces. 

 Recruitment difficulties with 
specialist staff. 

 Doesn’t fit with Strategic 
Commissioning Council model. 

2 – Tender 
each project 

 Greater market choice. 

 Ultimate competition achieved 
with every project open to the 
entire market. 

 Time and resources required to 
procure a contractor for each 
project would be cost and 
programme prohibitive. 

 Potential non-compliance with 
Contract rules and EU regulations 
regarding sub-division of similar 
work and aggregated spend. 

 Provides no ongoing relationship, 
so cannot develop a partnership 
approach with continuous 
improvement in line with 
Government Best Practice. 

 Limited transparency where 
contractors are repeatedly used. 

3 – CEC 
Framework 

 Tailored to suit CEC’s particular 
requirements, values and 
Government best practice etc. 

 Tailored to suit the requirements 
of the Council’s Alternative 
Service Delivery Vehicles. 

 Ability to benchmark performance, 
develop ongoing relationships, 
build specific loyalty to CEC within 
a clear mechanism for continuous 
improvement. 

 Maintains competitive tension 
amongst Framework contractors. 

 Allows the ability to directly 
appoint in certain circumstances 
speeding up the procurement 
process. 

 Of interest to regional companies. 

 Costs and resources associated 
with bespoke procurement of CEC 
framework (estimated £43k or 
0.32% of Framework contracts 
value). 

 Need to have sufficient throughput 
to maintain the interests of 
contractors. 

 The appetite to bid may be reduced 
as there is no guarantee of work. 

 

4 – External  
Frameworks 
(CIF 
Framework, 
DfE 
Framework, 
LHC, 
PAGABO, 
PNW lite, 
SCAPE, STAR 
etc.) 

 Maintains competitive tension 
amongst framework contractors 
(where more than one contractor). 

 Allows ability to directly appoint in 
certain circumstances speeding 
up the procurement process. 

 Potential for reduced costs by 
avoiding costly one off 
procurements. 

 Frameworks not tailored to CEC 
operational requirements. 

 Framework contractor loyalty can 
be divided or skewed towards the 
“host” authority. 

 There is a fee to access external 
frameworks albeit the charge may 
be hidden in the contractors 
overheads charge. 

 Contractors tend to be large 
national companies. 

 Frameworks operate differently and 
could introduce consistency issues. 

 
 
 
 

Page 345



 

OFFICIAL 
2 

5 – Single 
Service 
provider 

 A single point of contact. 

 No delays in appointing at the 
earliest opportunity for each 
project. 

 Ultimate opportunity to build 
partnership working with ongoing 
relationships and shared 
objectives. 

 May attract the interest of  national 
contractors with consequently 
higher preliminaries and overhead 
values. 

 Need to have sufficient throughput 
to maintain the interest of the 
contractor. 

 Volume of contracts of a short 
period could create capacity 
issues. 

 Difficult to address complacency by 
the single provider when 
competitive tension is not present 
during the life of the contract. 

6 – 
Programme of 
work through a 
higher value 
Framework 

 A single point of contact. 

 No delays in appointing at the 
earliest opportunity for each 
project. 

 Good opportunity to build 
partnership working with ongoing 
relationships and shared 
objectives. 

 Opportunity to include competitive 
tension at the end of each 
programme of work. 

 Difficult to address complacency by 
the single provider when 
competitive tension is not present 
during the programme of works. 

 Difficulty in getting departments to 
agree a programme of works at the 
outset. 

 Will not provide for one- off 
projects. 

 
 
A RAG rating assessment follows below:- 
 
 
 

Page 346



 

OFFICIAL 
3 

Risk Analysis of Procurement Options  

 
 

Assessment Criteria for RAG Scoring 

 

RAG Score Quality Time Cost 

 
Green 

 
Alignment with CEC’s 

requirements and values. 
Opportunity for continuous 

improvement. 
Same teams on similar 

projects. 
 

 
Able to appoint 

contractor very quickly. 
 

 
Competition between 

contractors. 
Size of contractor is 

appropriate for scheme 
values. 

Minimal costs to procure. 

 
Amber 

 
Some alignment with CEC’s 
requirements and values. 

Some opportunity for 
continuous improvement. 
Similar teams on similar 

projects. 
 

 
Able to appoint 

contractor quickly. 
 

 
Limited competition 

between contractors. 
Size of Contractor less 

appropriate for scheme 
values. 

Some costs to procure. 

 
Red 

 
Limited alignment with 
CEC’s requirements and 

values. 
Limited opportunity for 

continuous improvement. 
New teams on each 

project. 
 

 
Contractor appointment 
requires lengthy tender 

process. 

 
No competition between 

contractors. 
Size of contractor not 

appropriate for scheme 
values. 

Cost to procure extensive. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 347



 

OFFICIAL 
4 

The assessments of each of the identified procurement options are detailed in the following tables: 

 Risk Profile 

Procurement 
Option 1 

Quality Time Cost 

 
In-house provision 

 
Direct control over 
resources and priorities. 
 
Familiarity and greater 
understanding of CEC 
processes, values and ways 
of working. 
 
Same teams working 
together, sharing lessons 
learned into future 
projects. 
 
Recruitment difficulties 
with specialist staff. 
 
Doesn’t fit with Strategic 
Commissioning Council 
model. 
 

 
Able to appoint very 
quickly. 
 

 
Inflexible resource levels 
with costs incurred even 
when workload reduces. 

Amber Green Red 

Overall RAG Assessment = Amber 

 

 Risk Profile 

Procurement 
Option 2 

Quality Time Cost 

 
Tender each project 

 
Greater market choice. 
 
Potential non-compliance 
with Contract rules and EU 
regulations regarding sub-
division of similar work and 
aggregated spend. 
 
Provides no ongoing 
relationship, so cannot 
develop a partnership 
approach with continuous 
improvement in line with 
Government Best Practice. 
 
Limited transparency 
where contractors are 
repeatedly used. 
 

 
Time and resources 
required to procure a 
contractor for each 
project would be cost 
and programme 
prohibitive. 

 
Ultimate competition 
achieved with every 
project open to the entire 
market. 

Green Red Green 

Overall RAG Assessment = Amber 

 

Page 348



 

OFFICIAL 
5 

 Risk Profile 

Procurement 
Option 3 

Quality Time Cost 

 
CEC Framework 

 
Tailored to suit CEC’s 
particular requirements, 
values and Government 
best practice etc. 
 
Tailored to suit the 
requirements of the 
Council’s Alternative 
Service Delivery Vehicles. 
 
Ability to benchmark 
performance, develop 
ongoing relationships, 
build specific loyalty to CEC 
within a clear mechanism 
for continuous 
improvement. 
 
 

 
Allows the ability to 
directly appoint in 
certain circumstances 
speeding up the 
procurement process. 

 
Costs and resources 
associated with bespoke 
procurement of CEC 
framework (estimated 
£43k or 0.32% of 
Framework contracts 
value). 
 
Need to have sufficient 
throughput to maintain 
the interests of 
contractors. 
 
The appetite to bid may be 
reduced as there is no 
guarantee of work. 
 
Maintains competitive 
tension amongst 
Framework contractors. 
 
Of interest to regional 
companies. 
 

Green Green Amber  

Overall RAG Assessment = Green 

 

 Risk Profile 

Procurement 
Option 4 

Quality Time Cost 

 
External Frameworks 

 
Frameworks not tailored to 
CEC operational 
requirements. 
 
Framework contractor 
loyalty can be divided or 
skewed towards the “host” 
authority. 
 
Frameworks operate 
differently and could 
introduce consistency 
issues. 
 
 

 
Allows ability to directly 
appoint in certain 
circumstances speeding 
up the procurement 
process. 

Maintains competitive 
tension amongst 
framework contractors 
(where more than one 
contractor). 
 
Potential for reduced costs 
by avoiding costly one off 
procurements. 
 
There is a fee to access 
external frameworks albeit 
the charge may be hidden 
in the contractors 
overheads charge. 
 
Contractors tend to be 
large national companies. 

Amber Green Amber 

Overall RAG Assessment = Amber 

 

Page 349



 

OFFICIAL 
6 

 Risk Profile 

Procurement 
Option 5 

Quality Time Cost 

 
Single service provider 

 
A single point of contact. 
 
Ultimate opportunity to 
build partnership working 
with ongoing relationships 
and shared objectives. 
 
Volume of contracts of a 
short period could create 
capacity issues. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
No delays in appointing 
at the earliest 
opportunity for each 
project. 

 
May attract the interest of 
national contractors with 
consequently higher 
preliminaries and 
overhead values. 
 
Need to have sufficient 
throughput to maintain 
the interest of the 
contractor. 
 
Difficult to address 
complacency by the single 
provider when 
competitive tension is not 
present during the life of 
the contract. 
 

Amber Green Amber 

Overall RAG Assessment = Amber 

 
 
 

 Risk Profile 

Procurement 
Option 6 

Quality Time Cost 

 
Programme of works 

 
A single point of contact. 
 
Good opportunity to build 
partnership working with 
ongoing relationships and 
shared objectives. 
 
Difficulty in getting 
departments to agree a 
programme of works at the 
outset. 
 
Will not provide for one off 
projects. 
 

 
No delays in appointing 
at the earliest 
opportunity for each 
project. 
 

 
Opportunity to include 
competitive tension at the 
end of each programme of 
work. 
 
Difficult to address 
complacency by the single 
provider when 
competitive tension is not 
present during the 
programme of works. 
 

Amber Green Amber 

Overall RAG Assessment = Amber 

 
 

 

Page 350



Document is Restricted

Page 351 Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 363
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 385
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Notice of Motion - Council Tax Protocol
	NOM - Council Tax Protocol - app 1
	NOM - Council Tax Protocol - app 2

	7 Crewe Hub Station Update
	Crewe Hub Station Update - app 1
	Crewe Hub Station Update - app 4

	8 Crewe Hub Area Action Plan Report - Publication Draft Plan
	Crewe Hub Area Action Plan - app 1
	Crewe Hub Area Action Plan - app 2

	9 Department for Transport funded Safer Road Fund Schemes
	10 Municipal Waste Management Strategy Review
	Waste Strategy - appendix

	11 Re-procurement of Low Value Construction Services Framework 2021-2025
	Re-procurement of Low Value Construction Services - app 1
	Re-procurement of Low Value Construction Services - app 2

	13 Alliance Environmental Services Ltd - Final Phase
	Alliance Environmental Services - app 1
	Alliance Environmental Services - app 2


